TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN FAKULTÄT FÜR CHEMIE

Biomarker-based dosimetry for e-cigarette users using stable-isotope labeled precursors and MS/MS analysis

Anne Heidi Landmesser

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät für Chemie der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

> Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

> > genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender: Prüfer der Dissertation: Prof. Dr. Michael Schuster1. Prof. Dr. Reinhard Nießner2. Prof. Dr. Martin Elsner

Die Dissertation wurde am 19.04.2021 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät für Chemie am 08.06.2021 angenommen.

Plagiarism Declaration

Declaration:

I, hereby declare that this Thesis was prepared by me independently only using the references and resources stated. This work has not been part of another examination process. Parts of this work have been published in scientific journals.

Erklärung:

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel verwendet habe. Die Arbeit wurde bisher keiner anderen Prüfungskommission vorgelegt. Teile dieser Arbeit wurden in wissenschaftlichen Zeitschriften veröffentlicht.

Anne Heidi Landmesser München, den 07.04.2021

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Prof Reinhard Nießner for the supervision of my PhD project on behalf of the TUM. Secondly, I would like to thank Prof Gerhard Scherer, Director of the ABF GmbH, for offering such an interesting and challenging project to me.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Max Scherer, General Manager of the ABF GmbH, who guided me throughout this project on behalf of the ABF GmbH. I would also like to thank Dr. Nikola Pluym, General Manager of the ABF GmbH, for the support and the discussion.

I wish to show my appreciation to Altria Client Service for sponsoring my project, especially Mohamadi Sarkar, Ph.D., Jeffery Edmiston, Ph.D., and Sandy Miller.

I wish to acknowledge the help provided by the whole ABF team: Brigitte Strötzel, Dennis Gössler, Dinamis Janket, Dušán Krnáč, Freya Wanderer, Gerhard Gilch, Dr. Heinz-Werner Hagedorn, Janina Mütze, Josephine Taucher, Karl-Heinz Zeidler, Kirsten Riedel, Lena Thurnes, Marita Scherer, Dr. Markus Stöckelhuber, Marta Latawiec, Dr. Michael Göttel, Dr. Patrick Schlenger, Phillip Peslaz, Stefan Stromer, Dr. Therese Burkhardt and Wolf Petreanu. A special thanks goes to Brigitte for labeling the countless vials, Dennis for the support during development of the aerosol methods, Freya for introducing me into the ABF lab, Gerhard for support on the different HPLC systems, Heinz and Kirsten for solving the GC problems and validation issues, Benei for traveling with me the endless kilometers to Hamburg and the sample shipment, Lena and Phillip for the help during sample preparation and sample management, and Michael and Markus, my fellow doctoral students, for interesting scientific discussions and the support during my PhD project.

I wish to extend my special thanks to my family, my mother, Heidi; my father, Holger, and my sister, Maria. They kept me going on and this work would not have been possible without their input and their loving support.

Keywords

E-cigarette Stable labeled isotopes Biomarker Aerosol anaylsis Propylene glycol Glycerol Nicotine Carbonyles Epoxides Mercapturic acids (Methyl)-thiazolidine carboxylic acid

Publications

Parts of this thesis have already been published and will be published in scientific journals:

A. Landmesser, M. Scherer, N. Pluym, M. Sarkar, J. Edmiston, R. Niessner, and G. Scherer. "Biomarkers of exposure specific to e-vapor products based on stable-isotope labeled ingredients". In: Nicotine & Tobacco Research (2019), Vol. 21 (3) pp. 314–322.

A. Landmesser, G. Scherer, N. Pluym, R. Niessner, M. Scherer. "A novel quantification method for sulfur containing biomarkers of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde exposure in human urine and plasma samples". In: Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry (2020), Vol. 412 (27) pp. 7535-7546.

A. Landmesser, M. Scherer, G.Scherer, M. Sarkar, J. Edmiston, R. Niessner, N. Pluym. "Assessment of the potential vaping-related exposure to carbonyls and epoxides using stable isotope-labeled precursors in the e-liquid". In: Nicotine & tobacco research (2021), Vol. 95 (8) pp. 2667-2676.

Contents

Pla	Plagiarism Declaration I					
Ac	know	ledgements	Π			
Ke	ywor	ds	Π			
Pu	blicat	ions	V			
Gl	ossar	y I	X			
Li	st of F	ligures	XI			
Li	st of T	Yables XI	Π			
1	Intro	oduction	1			
2	Fune	lamentals	3			
	2.1	E-Cigarettes	3			
		2.1.1 Composition of the e-liquid	4			
		2.1.2 Composition of the aerosol	6			
		2.1.3 Thermal decomposition products	8			
	2.2	Stable-isotope labeled precursors	10			
	2.3	Biomarker	12			
		2.3.1 Nicotine and its metabolites	14			
		2.3.2 Tobacco specific nitrosamines	15			
		2.3.3 Mercapturic acids	16			
		2.3.4 Biomarkers of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde	16			
	2.4	Analytical methodologies	19			
		2.4.1 Adaption	19			
		2.4.2 Development	19			
	2.5	Method validation	21			
3	Rese	arch Aims	26			
4	Exne	erimental	27			
-	4.1	Clinical Study	27			
		4.1.1 E-Cigarette, e-liquid and cigarette	27			
		4.1.2 Study design	27			
		4.1.3 Sampling	29			
	4.2	Liquid and aerosol characterization	31			
		4.2.1 Propylene glycol. Glycerol and Nicotine	31			
		4.2.1.1 Chemicals and solutions	31			
		4.2.1.2 Instrument and software	32			
		4.2.1.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology	32			
		4.2.1.4 Validation	33			
		4.2.2 Carbonyls	33			
		4.2.2.1 Chemicals	33			
		4.2.2.2 Instrument and software	34			
		4.2.2.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology	34			

			4.2.2.4	Validation	5
		4.2.3	Epoxides	8	6
		4.2.4	Tobacco	specific nitrosamines	7
			4.2.4.1	Chemicals	7
			4.2.4.2	Instrument and software	7
			4.2.4.3	Sample preparation and analytical methodology	7
			4.2.4.4	Validation	8
	4.3	Bioma	rker analy	sis	0
		4.3.1	Nicotine	and its metabolites	0
			4.3.1.1	Urinary metabolites	0
			4.3.1.2	Nicotine and metabolites in plasma and saliva	-2
		4.3.2	Propylen	e glycol and Glycerol	4
			4.3.2.1	Chemicals and solutions	4
			4.3.2.2	Instrument and software	4
			4.3.2.3	Sample preparation and analytical methodology	4
			4.3.2.4	Validation 4	.5
		4.3.3	Mercapti	uric acids	.7
			4331	Chemicals 4	.7
			4332	Instrument and software 4	.7
			4333	Method adaption 4	.8
		434	Biomark	er of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde	.9
		1.5.1	4341	Chemicals and solutions	.9
			4347	Instrument and software	0
			4343	Sample preparation and analytical methodology	0
			4.3.4.3 4.3.4.4	Validation 5	1
		435	т.э.т.т Торассо	specific nitrosamines	2
		1.5.5	4351	Chemicals and solutions 5	$\frac{2}{2}$
			4352	Instrument and software	2
			4353	Method adaption 5	2
		436	Determir	nation of creatinine	1
		ч.э.о	4361	Chemicals 5	1
			4362	Instrument and software 5	1
			1363	Method description 5	7
	44	Statisti	cal metho	de 5	т 6
	т.т	Statisti		us	0
5	Resu	ılts		5	7
	5.1	Clinica	al Study .		7
	5.2	Liquid	and aeros	ol characterization	9
		5.2.1	Propylen	e glvcol. Glvcerol and Nicotine	9
		5.2.2	Carbony	ls	0
		5.2.3	Tobacco	specific nitrosamines	2
	5.3	Nicotii	ne and its i	metabolites	3
		5.3.1	Urinary 1	metabolites	3
		532	Nicotine	and metabolites in plasma and saliva	4
	54	Pronvl	ene glycol	and Glycerol	7
	55	Merca	oturic acid		$\dot{0}$
	5.5	Bioma	rker of for	maldehvde and acetaldehvde 7	3
	5.0	Tobacc	no specific	nitrosamines 7	5
	5.7	Part R	5 specific	7	6
	2.0	I MIL D			\sim

6	Discussion	79		
	 6.1 Test products 6.2 Uptake of nicotine by vaping 6.3 Uptake of propylene glycol and glycerol by vaping 6.4 Thermal decomposition products and their corresponding biomarkers 6.5 Part B 6.6 Limitations 	. 79 . 81 . 84 . 87 . 90 . 92		
7	Conclusion	93		
8	Perspectives	95		
9	Abstract	96		
10	10 Kurzzusammenfassung 98			
11	11 References 102			
Ар	Appendix A 12			
Ар	Appendix B 134			
Ар	Appendix C 14			
Ар	Appendix D 14			
Ар	Appendix E 14			

Glossary

2-HPMA	N-Acetyl-S-(2-hydroxypropyl)cysteine			
3-HPMA	N-Acetyl-S-(3-hydroxypropyl)cysteine			
AA	Acetaldehyde			
ACR	Acrolein			
AUC	Area under curve			
CC	Conventional cigarettes			
CI	Confidence interval			
CNO	Cotinine-N-oxide			
CO	Carbon monoxide			
Cot	Cotinine			
Cot-gluc	Cotinine-glucuronide			
CRO	Crotonaldehyde			
DHPMA	Dihydroxypropyl-mercapturic acid (metabolite of glycidol)			
EC	E-cigarette			
EI	Electron impact			
ESI	Electrospray ioniziation			
FA	Formaldehyde			
G	Glycerol			
GC	Gas chromatography			
GC-MS/(MS)	Gas chromatography with (tandem) mass spectrometry			
GLY	Glycidol			
HEMA	N-Acetyl-S-(2-hydroxyethyl)-L-cysteine			
HMPMA	N-Acetyl-S-(3-hydroxypropyl-1-methyl)-L-cysteine			
HvPvBut	4-Hydroxy-4-(3-pyridyl)-butanoic acid			
IS	Internal standard			
LC	Liquid chromatography			
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry			
LLE	Liquid-liquid extraction			
LOD	Limit of detection			
LLOO	Limit of quantification			
MA	Mercapturic acid			
max	Maximum			
min	Minimum			
MRM	Multiple reaction monitoring			
MS	Mass spectrometry			
MTCA	2-Methyl-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (metabolite of AA)			
MTCG	2-Methyl-thiazolidine-4-carbonyl-glycine (metabolite of AA)			
NAR	N-Nitrosoanabasin			
NAT	N-Nitrosoanatabin			
Nic	Nicotine			
Nic-gluc	Nicotine-glucuronide			
NNAL.	4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol			
NNK	4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone			
NNN	N-Nitrosonornicotine			
NNO	Nicotine-N-oxide			
NorCot	Norcotinine			
NorNic	Nornicotine			
	Tormeounic			

OH-Cot	trans-3'-Hydroxycotinine
OH-Cot-gluc	trans-3'-Hydroxycotinine-glucuronide
PAH	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
PG	Propylene glycol
PO	Propylene oxide
QC	Quality control
SD	Standard deviation
SOP	Standard operating procedure
SPE	Solid phase extraction
TCA	Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (metabolite of FA)
TCG	Thiazolidine-4-carbonyl-glycine (metabolite of FA)
TSNAs	Tobacco-specific nitrosamines
UPLC	Ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography
VOC	Volatile organic compound
W	Wattage

List of Figures

1	Scheme of the first e-cigarette invented by Herbert A. Gilbert [44]	3
2	Scheme of an e-cigarette of the fourth generation	4
3	Overview of the thermal degradation products formed from ${}^{13}C_3$ -propylene glycol	
	and ${}^{13}C_3$ -glycerol	8
4	Labeling of the main ingredients of the e-liquid used in this study	10
5	Metabolism of labeled nicotine and its major urinary metabolites according to [74].	14
6	Formation of NNK (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone), NNAL (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol) and NNN (N-Nitrosonornicotine) from	
	labeled nicotine	15
7	Scheme of the formation of mercapturic acids in cells from Ramsay et al. [148]	16
8	Formation of the labeled (methyl)-thiazolidine carboxylic acid (M)TCA and of the labeled (methyl)-thiazolidine carbonylglycine (M)TCG in the human body by cy-	
	clization of FA and AA, respectively, with Cys(-Gly) [156–158]	17
9	Outline of the study design	28
10	Time scheme for sampling of the clinical study	29
11	Scheme of the aerosol/smoke trapping	31
12	Comparison of the unlabeled (top) and the labeled (bottom) carbonyl amounts per	
	puff in e-cigarette aerosol and main stream smoke (black = 10 W; orange = 18 W) and smoke (green)	61
13	Time pattern for the excretion of labeled and unlabeled total nicotine equivalents in	
	two vaping groups and one smoking subgroup during Part A of the clinical study	64
14	Comparison of the nicotine uptake in plasma.	65
15	Salivary concentrations of labeled and unlabeled cotinine (a) and OH-Cot (b) \ldots	66
16	Plasma concentrations of propylene glycol (PG) and glycerol (G)	67
17	Salivary levels of labeled and unlabeled PG and G in two vaping (10 and 18 W) and	
	one smoking subgroup.	68
18	Urinary levels of labeled and unlabeled PG and G in two vaping subgroups and one smoking subgroup	69
19	Boxplot diagram for excreted masses of HEMA and HMPMA over 48 h in all three	07
	groups	70
20	Boxplot diagram for excreted mass of ${}^{13}C_3$ -2-HPMA over 48 h in all three groups	71
21	Boxplot diagram for excreted mass of ${}^{13}C_3$ -3-HPMA ver 48 h in all three groups	71
22	Boxplot diagram for excreted mass of ${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA over 48 h in all three groups	72
23	Plasma concentrations of Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (TCA), thiazolidine-4-carboxylic	1
	glycine (TCG), 2-Methylthiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (MTCA) and 2-Methylthiazolidi	ine-
	4-carboxyl glycin	73
24	Box plots of the total amounts of the biomarkers excreted over 48 h after controlled	
	vaping /smoking	74

25	Time pattern of unlabeled and labeled biomarker levels for PG in plasma , salivary		
	PG and PG in urine under free vaping conditions of Part B of the clinical study	76	
26	Time pattern of unlabeled and labeled (orange) biomarker levels for nicotine in		
	plasma, cotinine in plasma and saliva as well as hydroxy-cotinine in saliva under		
	free vaping conditions of Part B of the clinical study.	77	
27	The role of CYP2D6 in the nicotine metabolism.	81	
28	Plasma concentration of d ₇ -nicotine and d ₇ -cotinine	82	
29	Metabolism of propylene glycol according to Miller et al. [55] and Rudney et al. [212]	85	
30	Metabolism of glycerol according to Hellerud, C. et al. [217]	86	

List of Tables

1	Biomarkers of exposure to toxicants, which (theoretically) may be formed from the
	major precursors in e-liquid PG, G and N
3	MS/MS-parameters for the labeled and unlabeled carbonyl-DNPH-derivates and their
	corresponding internal standards sorted by retention time (RT)
4	Mass transition and retention time (RT) of labeled and unlabeled N-Nitrosoanabasin
	(NAB), N-Nitrosoanatabin (NAT), N-Nitrosonornicotin (NNN), 4-(Methylnitrosamino)-
	1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK)
5	Mass transition and retention time (RT) of labeled nicotine and its 10 metabolites 41
6	MS/MS-parameters for the labeled and unlabeled propylene glycol (PG) and glycerol
	(G) and their corresponding internal standards
7	Mass transitions of the labeled and unlabeled mercapturic acids and their internal
	standards
8	Quantifier and qualifier mass transitions of ((methyl-)thiazolidine carboxylic acid
	((M)TCA) and (methyl-)thiazolidine carbonyl glycine ((M)TCG)
9	Mass transition and retention time (RT) of labeled and unlabeled N-Nitrosoanabasin
	(NAB), N-Nitrosoanatabin (NAT), N-Nitrosonornicotin (NNN), 4-(Methylnitrosamino)-
	1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK)
10	Mass percentages of the unlabeled and the labeled liquids as well as the final spiked
	liquid which was used in the clinical study
14	Comparison of the aerosol and e-liquid data in concern of the recovery from the
	e-liquid in the aerosol
15	Mean yields (standard deviations) of unlabeled and ¹³ C-labeled carbonyls on a per
	puff basis in smoke and aerosol (ng/puff)
16	Mean (standard deviation) amounts excreted in urine of smokers and EC users (vapers)
	over 48 hours (μ g) of the unlabeled and ¹³ C-labeled biomarkers of exposure 89
17	Validation data of PG/G/Nic in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid
18	Validation data of formaldehyde, acetaldehyde and acrolein in aerosol/smoke and
	e-liquid
19	Validation data of crotonal dehyde and methacrolein in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid 124 $$
20	Validation data of acetone and propionaldehyde in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid 125
21	Validation data of N-Nitrosonornicotine (NNN) and 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-
	1-butanone (NNK) in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid
22	Validation data of N-nitrosoanatabine (NAT) and N-nitrosoanabasine (NAB) in aerosol/
	smoke and e-liquid
23	Validation data of glycerol and propylene glycol in plasma and urine
25	Validation data of thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine
24	Validation data of nicotine, cotinine and OH-cotinine in plasma
26	Validation data of methyl thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine 131
27	Validation data of thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine

28	Validation data of methyl thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine 133
29	Adverse events during the clinical study (ordered by subject number)
30	Deviations to the study protocol
31	Results for the three subgroups in Part A of the clinical study, mean \pm SD / Median
	(range)
32	Results for 19 vapers in Part B of the clinical study, mean ± SD/Median (range) 147
33	Correction of the contribution of 12 C-isotopes to the 13 C-labeled metabolites 149

1 Introduction

The use of e-cigarettes (e-cigs) has increased over the past years [1–4]. A reason for this increase might be the growing awareness on health by consumers since e-cigs are predominantly discussed as harm-reduced alternative to smoking and cessation aid by both the consumers and the public health community [5, 6]. This rising interest in e-cigs led to a controversial public health dispute [6–11]. There are a number of issues with the use of e-cigs (vaping) including: (i) Exposure of the active vaper or bystanders to toxicants, which are released or generated from the e-liquids during vaping thus increasing the health risk or exposed people [8, 9]; (ii) e-cigs may prevent smokers from quitting the smoking habit altogether; (iii) e-cigs may newly generate or maintain an existing addiction to nicotine [12]; (iv) young people may start vaping and then switch to conventional cigarettes (gateway effect) [13]; (v) e-cigs may make smoking socially acceptable again [14].

This thesis deals with the first issue of the above list. In particular, it was the aim of the investigations to characterize and quantify the internal exposure dose received by vapers under natural use (real life) conditions. The composition of the inhaled vapor and the absorbed dose is dependent on a variety of factors, including (a) the e-liquid composition, (b) coil temperature during vaporization of the e-liquid, (c) relative humidity, (d) ambient temperature (e) consumption of e-liquid per day, (f) vaping topography, (g) inhalation pattern.

Basically, e-liquids are composed 1,2-propylene glycol (PG) and/or glycerol (G) to which nicotine (0 – 20 mg/ml) and flavors have been added [13, 15–17]. These major e-liquid components also appear in the aerosol (vapor), are taken into the mouth and inhaled by the consumer. In many studies, a multitude of minor components including many toxicants in e-liquid and vapor of e-cigs have been identified and quantified [8, 17–20]. In a recent, comprehensive study, 150 chemicals were investigated in the aerosol of an e-cigarette with replaceable cartridges containing an e-liquid with tobacco aroma [20]. In total, 16 chemicals were identified to be generated by the e-cigarette, including the major components of the e-liquid (PG, G, nicotine), 3 nicotine impurities (myosmine, cotinine, NNN), 8 carbonyls and alcohols related to PG and G (allyl alcohol, formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, butyraldehyde, acrolein, glyoxal, methylglyoxal, acetone as well as chromium (probably from the heating coil) and chrysene (unknown origin).

The generation of carbonyls and other compounds from PG and G by heating has been studied by several authors [21–25]. Farsalinos [21, 22] observed formaldehyde in e-vapor only upon dry puff conditions, in which the e-liquid overheats. Sleiman et al. [25] reported the formation of following additional toxicants as thermal decomposition products from PG and G (in addition to those found by Margham et al. [20]): Propylene oxide, propenal, glycidol, acetol and diacetyl. The yields of these harmful chemicals increase upon increasing the voltage for vaping. Jensen et al. [23] performed NMR investigations with a single e-cig puff and could identify those PG/G-related chemicals mentioned above, as well as hydroxyacetone, dihydroxyacetone, lactaldehyde, glycolaldehyde and glyceraldehyde. Furthermore, this research group also observed the formation of relatively high amounts of hemiacetals of formaldehyde with PG and G upon high voltage vaping [23, 24, 26]. PG-and G-hemiformals are formaldehyde releasing agents. How these compounds behave in the respiratory tract, however, is unknown.

Apart from the device-related variables (points a and b above), vapers have available other, behaviorrelated variables (points c – e above), for varying and controlling the vaping (and nicotine) dose. As a common measure for daily e-cig use, the average e-liquid consumption per day is beginning to be established [27]. Variation in daily liquid consumption is in about the same range as the variation in daily cigarette consumption [28]. Furthermore, the vaping dose can efficiently be varied by topographic parameters such as puff volume, interval and duration [29–34]. For example, Kim et al. [35] in a review on e-cigs, reported averages from 5 studies of 51-118 ml/puff, 10-29.6 s and 1.8-4.3 s for puff volume, interval and duration, respectively. In a week long study of the topography of 20 e-cig users in their natural environment, high intra- and inter-individual variation in puff volume (mean \pm SD: 65.4 \pm 70.1 ml), flow rate (30.4 \pm 11.4 ml/min) and duration (2.0 \pm 1.8 s) was observed [33]. On average, vapers were observed to take larger and longer puffs compared to smokers of conventional cigarettes (CC) [36]. The inhalation pattern in vapers, in particular depth and duration, which are significant determinants of the absorbed dose have not yet been investigated systematically.

The considerations above suggest that dosimetry for e-cig users could most likely be achieved by measuring suitable biomarkers of exposure for the major constituents (PG, G and nicotine) and the other potential constituents formed under natural usage conditions in body fluids such as plasma, urine and saliva. The biomonitoring approach is assumed to be superior to measuring machine-derived emissions, since it takes into account the actual vaping behavior which decisively affects the absorption dose. A major problem with the biomonitoring approach is the fact that the chemicals of interest such as PG, G, nicotine, aldehydes, etc. have many sources and are not specific for the use of e-cigs.

To get around this problem, stable isotope-labeled major e-liquid constituents (PG, G and nicotine) could be applied. Stable isotopes have been commonly used to study dynamic metabolism. Studies using stable-isotope tracers were introduced in mass spectrometry as the "gold" standard method for understanding kinetics, uptake and distribution of various compounds in living organisms [37–43]. The advantage of this approach is that no interference from other sources (particularly diet and smoking of conventional cigarettes) would occur.

A clinical study was performed, in which experienced vapers used e-cigs stocked with e-liquids containing stable isotope-labeled PG, G and nicotine under both controlled and free (ad libitum) conditions. In this thesis, the performed clinical study is described together with the biomarker results for PG, G, nicotine and its major metabolites in various body fluids. Additionally, biomonitoring results for other aerosol potential constituents derived from PG and G (mainly carbonyls and epoxides) and nicotine (NNK and NNN) will be reported.

2 Fundamentals

2.1 E-Cigarettes

E-cigarettes are battery-powered vaporizers which simulate smoking without the combustion of the tobacco. The first e-cigarette was invented by Herbert A. Gilbert who patented "a smokeless non-tobacco cigarette" in 1965 [44]. This e-cigarette already consisted of a tank, a battery and had a cigarette-like shape (Figure 1). The tank could be filled with liquid, which could then be vaporized with the help of the battery. Despite the mature technology it never went into production. In the following decades further attempts were made to develop a combustion-free cigarette. These were mainly focused on the vaporization of nicotine and were not electronic in their nature.



Figure 1: Scheme of the first e-cigarette invented by Herbert A. Gilbert [44]

Tariq Scheikh developed the "Cartomizer". The "Cartomizer" is a combination of vaporizer and depot which can be placed directly on the battery carrier of the e-cigarette. The tank, in which the e-liquid is stored, is filled with cotton wool. The cotton wool in the depot absorbs the liquid and then slowly releases it to the vaporizer and the heating coil inside. So the highlight of the "Cartomizer" was that the heating coil was integrated directly into the liquid container. Due to the cotton wool in the depot, the level of the liquid could not be seen, which could lead to problems like the "Dry Puff". The "Dry Puff" is a very unpleasant and health-dangerous experience for the e-cigarette user, because it tastes like burnt cotton wool and it includes a high amount of thermal degradation products. To

In 2003 the idea of Gilbert was taken up again by the Chinese Hon Lik, pharmacist at the company "Golden Dragon Holdings" later "Ruyan Electronics". He developed the "first generation e-cigarette". This first model did not have the typical heating coil, which is needed to vaporize the liquid. Instead, he used a piezoelectric element that emitted ultrasonic waves. With the help of these ultrasonic waves, the liquid is vaporized. At that time, the liquid contained only propylene glycol and nicotine and was completely free of flavors. The use of a piezoelectric element was not suitable for mass production because of the size required. Therefore, Lik did further research and discovered that resistance heat gave a better result. This improved e-cigarette appeared on the Chinese market in 2004 and was exported worldwide in 2005. Due to the lack of a patent until 2007, it was copied and further developed by various companies. Until 2007, e-cigarettes were one unit.

In 2006/2007 the British company Umer and

solve this problem the "Clearomizer" was developed. The Clearomizer does not use cotton, making the tank transparent (hence the name "clear") and allowing the level of the e-liquid to be closely monitored. Thus a puff without liquid ("Dry Puff") can be avoided. This type of e-cigarette is the third generation of e-cigarettes which has still the look of a cigarette. The fourth and latest genera-

tion looks more like a box. The fourth generation of ecigarettes (Figure 2) is characterized by stronger batteries, larger tanks, higher vaporizers as well as more extensive adjustment possibilities (e.g.: the power, temperature). From this development process three main categories are on the market: (i) cigalikes, which resemble conventional cigarettes in shape and size; (ii) eGos, which are larger than cigalikes, usually with a removable tank system which can be refilled with e-liquids; and (iii) mods, which are almost endlessly customizable and larger than eGos [45].

The e-cigarette used in this study belongs to the second group, the so called "eGos". The e-cigarette consists of the rechargeable battery and the clearomizer. The clearomizer is divided into a airflow adjustment ring, a replaceable vaporizer, a clear liquid tank and a drip tip. The airflow adjustment ring regulates the inhaled air resistance to the vapor. The device has four different sized airflow holes with



Figure 2: Scheme of an e-cigarette of the fourth generation

a diameter of 0.9 mm, 1.1 mm, 1.4 mm or 1.8 mm. The larger the diameters is, the more air can flow into the device and the drawing resistance is lowering. Above the flow adjustment ring is the replaceable vaporizer. The replaceable vaporizer is a bottom vertical coil (BVC). BVC means that the coil runs vertically from bottom to top. The coil is a thin wire around which the cotton wool is wrapped. Around the vaporizer is the clear liquid tank which consists of Pyrex glass. The e-liquid is placed in the liquid tank where it is absorbed by the cotton wool. The cotton-wrapped wire transforms the applied current from the battery module into heat through its resistance. This heat evaporates the liquid that is in the cotton and forms so the aerosol. The amount of the generated aerosol can be adjusted by the power settings.

2.1.1 Composition of the e-liquid

E-liquids are a mixture of four basic components: The diluent (consisting usually of the ingredients propylene glycol and glycerol), nicotine, flavor compounds and water [13, 15–17]. The composition of propylene glycol and glycerol can vary depending on whether a liquid is propylene glycol-based (larger proportion of propylene glycol) or glycerol-based (larger proportion of glycerol). The maximum nicotine concentration in the liquid in Europe is according to Tobacco Products Directive (2014/40/EU) 2 mg/ml [46], whereas there are no restriction in the United States. The added flavors vary from tobacco-like flavors over the fruity flavors to biscuit flavors (like straw-

berry cheese cake and gingerbread). In 2014, a study counted 7764 unique flavors from 466 different brands [47]. There are a large variety of chemicals which are used to generate the different tastes (e.g.: 2,3-pentanedione, isobutyl acetate, ethyl butyrate, butyl butyrate, isoamyl acetate, 2,3-dimethylpyrazine, 3-methyl-1-butanol, limonene, 2,3,5-trimethylpyrazine, benzaldehyde, (Z)-3hexen-1-ol, menthol, 2-acetylpyrrole, benzyl alcohol, methyl salicylate, cinnamaldehyde, methyl anthranilate, (+)-aromadendrene, cinnamyl alcohol, methyl cinnamate, maltol, ethyl maltol, and coumarin).

Propylene glycol (propane-1,2-diol) is a diol alcohol. It is a hygroscopic, tasteless, odorless and colorless clear oily liquid. Due to its various miscibility with other solvents (e.g.: water, acetone, chloroform) it is widely used in industry (e.g.: cosmetic industry as preservative, humectant and spreader [48]; food industry to prevent fermentation and mold growth [49–51]; intravenous, oral, topical pharmaceutical preparations; chemical industry[48, 52, 53], ingredients of e-cigarettes). After absorption, propylene glycol is metabolized to carbon dioxide and water through metabolic intermediates including lactic and pyruvic acids. In addition, a portion of the drug is excreted unchanged via the renal pathway [54, 55].

Glycerol (propane-1,2,3-triol) is a triol alcohol. It is a colorless, odorless, viscous liquid which has a sweet taste. Glycerol is widely used in the food industry as sweetener [56, 57] and humectant [58] and in pharmaceutical formulations [59–61]. It has also an important role in triglyceride formation. The three-carbon substance forms the backbone of the triglycerides where the fatty acids react with the hydroxy-group of the glycerol [59]. When the body uses stored fat as source of energy, glycerol and fatty acids are released into the bloodstream. Glycerol can be converted by the liver into glucose which provides energy for the cellular metabolism, so called gluconeogenesis. Another metabolic pathway is the glycolysis where glycerol is metabolized to pyruvate. The amounts of unchanged glycerol in urine depend on the uptake of glycerol [62, 63]. Glycerol shows very little acute toxicity and very high oral doses or acute exposures can be tolerated.

Nicotine is an alkaloid which is naturally produced in the nightshade family of plants, like potatoes, tomatoes, eggplants and tobacco [64]. Apart from nicotine uptake by tobacco, nicotine uptake by the other nightshade plants is of minor importance [64]. It has a pale yellowish, slightly fish-smelling, oily liquid. Nicotine acts as a receptor agonist at nicotinic acetylcholine receptors except for two nicotinic receptor subunits where it acts as an antagonist [65]. Because of these properties nicotine has a stimulating effect and is a parasympathetic drug. Nicotine is addictive [66, 67] and toxic [68]. It is mainly used in medicine [69], as pesticide [70, 71] and as recreational drug including cigarettes, chewing tobacco, e-cigarettes, snuff etc. [67, 72]. Nicotine is diversely metabolized by different enzymes including cytochrome P450 enzymes, aldehyde oxidase, flavin-containing monooxygenase 3, amine N-methyltransferase, and UDP-glucuronosyltransferases [73]. The metabolites and nicotine occur in various matrices, like plasma, urine, saliva and sputum [74–80].

2.1.2 Composition of the aerosol

An aerosol is a collection of solid or liquid particles suspended in gas [81]. Hence, they are a twophase system (e.g. dust, fume, smoke, mist, fog, haze clouds, and smog). Therefore, the two matrices of interest in this work are aerosols: Vaporized e-liquid by an e-cigarette and mainstream smoke of the conventional cigarette.

In this work, "aerosol" will refer to the vaporized e-liquid of the e-cigarette. Whereas, the main stream smoke of the cigarette will be refereed as "smoke".

The three substances described in Section 2.1.1 are combined with the flavor chemicals in various proportions to produce the e-liquid. By heating these e-liquids in the e-cigarette an aerosol is formed. Depending on the power and the resulting temperature, other thermal decomposition products may be formed in addition to the main components propylene glycol, glycerol, nicotine and flavor chemicals (see Section 2.1.3). The aerosol with the substances obtained is absorbed through the mucous membranes of the respiratory tract. The amount of uptake is highly dependent on the user, the e-cigarette and the vaping conditions (puff duration, generated amount of aerosol).

The generated aerosols are collections of droplets surrounded by a gas phase [82]. The distribution of each substances between the gas and the droplet phase depends on their volatility, the type of the solvent, temperature and the pH-value. In polar substances, like propylene glycol and glycerol, hydrophilic substances, like nicotine, tobacco specific nitrosamines, are more likely to be solved in the particle phase [83]. Whereas hydrophobic substances, like propanal, formaldehyde, benzene are more likely to be in the gas phase [84]. The compound dependent equilibrium gas/particle coefficient $K_{p,i}$ is defined as [84]:

$$K_{p,i}[m^3/\mu g] = \frac{c_{p,i}[\mu g/\mu g]}{c_{g,i}[\mu g/m^3]}$$
(1)

$$K_{p,i}[m^3/\mu g] = \frac{RT}{10^6 \overline{\mathrm{MW}} \zeta_i p_{L,i}^{\circ}}$$
(2)

 $c_{p,i}[\mu g/\mu g]$: concentration in the particle phase

$$c_{g,i}[\mu g/m^3]$$
: concentration in gas phase
R $\left[\frac{m^3 atm}{mol K}\right]$: gas constant $\left(8.2 \cdot 10^{-5} \frac{m^3 atm}{mol K}\right)$
 $T[K]$: Temperature

 $\overline{\text{MW}}\left[\frac{g}{mol}\right]$: average molecular weight of the absorbing liquid phase ζ_i : mol-fraction-scale activity coefficient in the liquid (L) phase

 $p_{L,i}^{\circ}[atm]$: vapor pressure of pure liquid at temperature T

Although the formation of a complete equilibrium during a puff is unlikely, this coefficient serves as an indication of the distribution of the substances under investigation in the gas and particle phase [85].

Therefore different methods for determination of the substances of interest were developed taking into account the distribution in gas and particle phase, respectively. Additionally, the uptake of these substance were monitored through the different biomarkers.

2.1.3 Thermal decomposition products

Thermal decomposition (thermolysis or pyrolysis) is a chemical decomposition caused by heat [86]. The reaction can be either endothermic or exothermic (e.g.: oxidation) to break the chemical bond. The decomposition temperature of a substance is substance-dependent and defines the temperature at which the substance chemically decomposes.

Thermal decomposition of the components in the e-liquid (PG, G, nicotine, water and flavors) can occur at high power or high temperature, respectively. The aerosol is formed by heating the e-liquid. During this process the constituents may be decomposed into toxicants such as carbonyls, epoxides or nitrosamines. The formation highly depends on the type of e-cigarette [87], the applied power/temperature [88, 89] and the vaping behavior of the user [90]. The amount of the formed thermal decomposition products is diversely discussed in the literature [20, 22, 25, 30, 42, 91–100]. A growing number of studies have also investigated the emissions of some cigarette smoke toxicants from e-cigarettes, such as tobacco-specific nitrosamines [101, 102], tobacco alkaloids and nicotine decomposition products [103], volatile organic compounds [104, 105], aromatic amines [106], carbon monoxide [106], polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) [107] phenolics [102], metal compounds [108] and carbonyls [23, 87, 89, 96, 98, 109, 110]. Most of these studies report aerosol emission levels of toxicants that are either undetectable or a few percent of those found in cigarette smoke, and comparisons have also been made to room air [106]. Nevertheless, there also studies which state that there are higher amounts of thermal decomposition products, especially concerning the carbonyls [22].



Figure 3: Overview of the thermal degradation products formed from ${}^{13}C_3$ -propylene glycol (${}^{13}C_3$ -PG) and ${}^{13}C_3$ -glycerol (${}^{13}C_3$ -G). The thickness of the arrows represent the contribution of ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG and ${}^{13}C_3$ -G to the formation of the degradation products ${}^{13}C$ -formaldehyde (${}^{13}C_3$ -FA), ${}^{13}C_2$ -acetaldehyde (${}^{13}C_2$ -AA), ${}^{13}C_3$ -acrolein (${}^{13}C_3$ -ACR), ${}^{13}C_3$ -propionaldehyde (${}^{13}C_3$ -PA), ${}^{13}C_2$ -acetaldehyde (${}^{13}C_2$ -AA), ${}^{13}C_3$ -acrolein (${}^{13}C_3$ -ACR), ${}^{13}C_3$ -propionaldehyde (${}^{13}C_3$ -PA), ${}^{13}C_2$ /4-crotonaldehyde (${}^{13}C_2$ /4-CR), ${}^{13}C_3$ -glycidol (${}^{13}C_3$ -GLY), and ${}^{13}C_3$ -propylene oxide (${}^{13}C_3$ -PO) according to Sleiman et al. and Uchiyama et al. [25, 98]. The corresponding biomarkers ${}^{13}C$ -((methyl-)thiazolidine carboxylic acid (${}^{13}C$ -(M)TCA), ${}^{13}C$ -(methyl-)thiazolidine carboxyl glycine (${}^{13}C$ -(M)TCG), ${}^{13}C_3$ -2,3-dihydroxypropylmercapturic acid (${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA), ${}^{13}C_3$ -3-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid (${}^{13}C_3$ -3-HPMA), ${}^{13}C_3$ -2-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid (${}^{13}C_3$ -2-HPMA), are shown in brackets.

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) such as the aldehydes formaldehyde (FA), acetaldehyde (AA), acrolein (ACR), or the epoxides propylene oxide (PO) and glycidol are of particular interest in the risk assessment of e-cigarettes due to their possible formation from G and PG in the aerosol according to Figure 3. The thermal degradation of PG and G in aerosol from e-cigarettes was recently investigated by Sleiman et al. [25] and Melvin et al. [41]. These authors reported the decomposition of glycerol to glycidol and acrolein, while acetaldehyde, formaldehyde, methyl glyoxal, propylene oxide, and propanal were formed from propylene glycol (Figure 3). Moreover, it is postulated that crotonaldehyde (CRO) may be generated by aldol condensation of acetaldehyde. Lastly, ethylene oxide may also be formed during pyrolysis. The aforementioned VOCs are constituents of the gas phase of cigarette smoke but also originate from various other environmental and endogenous sources resulting in high background levels, especially for FA and AA [111–118]. Reported FA and AA concentrations in e-cigarette aerosol highly vary depending on the used e-cigarette but also on the methodology and issues with background levels are frequently discussed [22, 88, 109]. Hence, introducing the stable-isotope labeled constituents ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG and ${}^{13}C_3$ -G into the e-liquid as potential precursors helps to unequivocally assess the formation of VOCs specific to the use of the electronic e-cigarettes.

Additionally, the presence of the nicotine-derived carcinogens N-nitrosonornicotine ketone (NNK) and N-nitrosonornicotine (NNN), possibly formed either under vaping conditions or by endogenous nitrification can also be assessed through this approach by measuring the corresponding labeled biomarkers in urine.

2.2 Stable-isotope labeled precursors

Isotopes are atoms with the same number of protons but different numbers of neutrons. They have the same atomic number and therefore represent the same element, but have different mass numbers. There are stable and unstable isotopes. Unstable isotopes are transformed into other elements by radioactive decay according to their substance-specific half-life.

Stable isotopes (e.g.: oxygen, hydrogen, sulfur, nitrogen and carbon) are used exemplarily in geochemistry, analytical chemistry and kinetic studies. In the mass spectrometry, the stable-labeled isotopes (e.g.: labeled with $^{2}H = D$ or ^{13}C) have an important role. They are mainly used as internal standards, but also as the "gold" standard method in clinical studies for understanding kinetics, uptake , distribution, metabolism and elimination of various compounds in living organisms [37–39, 43].

For avoiding interference from PG, G and N and/or their pyrolysis products taken up from other sources (diet, environment, tobacco products, etc.) a certain percentage of the major e-liquid constituents was replaced by stable-isotope labeled analogues. The suitable percentage for the described purpose was estimated to be 10 % of the originally present amount of PG, G and N in the e-liquid. The applied labeled replacement compounds are shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Labeling of the main ingredients of the e-liquid used in this study

Using these labeled components an e-cigarette-specific uptake of the main constituents and the formation of metabolites as well as the uptake and metabolism of potentially toxicants can be deduced. In order to show that the applied methodology is capable of assessing the pyrolytic formation of the toxicants of interest from the labeled precursors, a positive control was introduced in the experimental approach. Smokers, smoking CC spiked with labeled PG, G and N, were considered as suitable positive control, since the burning conditions in a cigarette make the pyrolytic/pyrosynthetic formation of labeled FA, AA, ACR, CRO, ethylene oxide, propylene oxide, glycidol, as well as NNK and NNN highly likely. Therefore, the analytical detection of labeled metabolites of these toxicants (or at least part of them) formed during combustion (1) are regarded as proof of concept of the scientific approach.

The work with labeled and same unlabeled components simultaneously raises the problem of the isotopic overlap. The influence of the isotopic overlap depends on the used labeling and mass difference between the unlabeled and the labeled. Therefore the results of the labeled component has to be corrected, the so called isotopic correction. The procedure of isotope correction was performed according to Scherer et al. [119]. The procedure of the isotopic correction will be explained exem-

plarily for TCA (the remaining metabolites are summarized in Appendix E). The mass transitions for TCA (m/z 262 > 174) and ¹³C-TCA (m/z 263 > 175) differ only by a single mass unit. Given the fact that the established chromatography provides co-elution of both isomers, isotope correction needs to be considered to achieve accurate results. In this case, the isotopic overlap derived from the charged fragment ion of unlabeled TCA needs to be considered. The isotope distribution for this analyte can be described as follows: ¹³C (1.07 %), ²H (0.015 %), ¹⁵N (0.37 %), ¹⁷O (0.0385 %) and ³³S (0.75 %). The theoretical contribution of this fragment to the signal intensity of the ¹³C-TCA was calculated at 9.1 %. In order to validate this approach, the isotopic overlap was determined experimentally. Therefore a calibration curve with unlabeled TCA was analyzed with respect to the overlap to ¹³C-TCA. The overlap was determined by measuring both mass transitions, labeled and unlabeled. The area of the ¹³C-TCA was divided by the area of the ¹²C-TCA and the ratio was determined as the experimental isotopic overlap over the whole concentration range. I found excellent agreement between the theoretical overlap calculated value of 9.1 % by Analyst 1.6.3 (SCIEX, Darmstadt, Germany) and the overlap experimentally determined value of 8.8 %.

Thus, for an accurate quantification of the 13 C-labeled biomarkers, the isotopic overlap needs to be considered by using the following equation:

$$L_{corrected} = L - U \cdot A \tag{3}$$

 $L_{corrected}$: corrected area ratio of the labeled fragment L: area ratio of the labeled fragment U: area ratio of the unlabeled fragment A: calculated percentage of the isotopic distribution

The A-values of the other analytes are summarized in Appendix E in Table 33. The experimental A-values were used for the isotopic correction in this thesis.

2.3 Biomarker

Biomarkers are specific biological characteristics that can be used as a reference for processes and disease states in the body. Therefore, they are of great interest for the biomonitoring. In the biomonitoring, biomarkers are divided into two different categories, the biomarker of exposure and the biomarker of effect. Biomarkers of exposure are chemicals or their direct metabolites, determined after exposure to the substances in the body. Biomarkers of effect originate from endogenous pathways that are altered by an exogenous effect. As a result, the response time is much longer compared to biomarker of exposure.

For answering the questions of this work, the focus was on the biomarker of exposure. The screening of these biomarkers can be performed in various body fluids. Urine, plasma, saliva and sputum were collected in this study. Urine and saliva are non-invasive biomarkers which increases the willingness and the compliance of the subjects to participate. Unfortunately, the entire biomarker profile is not reflected in saliva and urine. For this reason plasma, as an invasive matrix, has to be investigated additionally. Furthermore, sputum was considered as an interesting matrix to investigate the different biomarkers in the lung of the smoker and the vaper.

Table 1: Biomarkers of exposure to toxicants, which (theoretically) may be formed from the major precursors in e-liquid PG, G and N. The common carbon backbone in the precursors, toxicants and biomarkers are shown in red. ΔT : thermal decomposition by high temperature; ((methyl-)thiazolidine carboxylic acid ((M)TCA);(methyl-)thiazolidine carbonyl glycine ((M)TCG); 2,3-dihydroxypropylmercapturic acid (DHPMA); 3-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid (3-HPMA), 2-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid (2-HPMA), hydroxymethyl-propylmercapturic acid (HMPMA).

Precursor in	Hypothetical	Toxicant formed	Biomarker for the toxicant
e-liquid	mechanism	Toxicant formed	Diomarker for the toxicant
OH HOOH Glycerol	ΔΤ	H H Formaldehyde	$H_2C' \qquad OH \\ H_2C' \qquad OH \\ TCA \\ H_2C' \qquad OH \\ TCG \\ H_2C' \qquad OH \\ H \\ OTCG $
	ΔΤ	О Glycidol	OH NH OH DHPMA



Continuation of Table 1: Biomarkers of exposure to toxicants, which (theoretically) may be formed from the major precursors in e-liquid PG, G and N.

The underlying assumptions for the analysis of biomarkers of exposure to toxicants potentially derived from precursors in the e-liquid are shown in Table 1. In general, thermal decomposition (pyrolysis, ΔT) of PG and G may lead to a series of toxicants (mostly carbonyls and epoxides), which in turn are metabolized after uptake, leading to the formation of the biomarkers. In case of nicotine, the formation of NNK (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone) and NNN (N-Nitrosonornicotine) by a pyrosynthetic process is possible. The corresponding biomarkers NNAL (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol) and NNN in urine could unequivocally show prove or disprove whether pyrosynthesis or endogenous formation takes place.

2.3.1 Nicotine and its metabolites

Nicotine is an alkaloid which occurs in the nightshade family plants. One of the most popular nightshade plants is tobacco [120]. Tobacco is one vehicle for the absorption of nicotine in the human body by smoking cigarettes [67]. The absorbed amounts and the metabolism is well examined for the smokers [121–123]. Additional nicotine delivery products are released on the markets [69], like nicotine sprays [124, 125], transdermal patches [126] or the e-liquids [16, 72]. Most recent e-liquid entered the public markets. The e-liquids are heated by using an e-cigarette and form an aerosol. The composition of the aerosol varies depending on the e-cigarette, e-liquid and the user. Therefore, the uptake of nicotine upon vaping (e-cigarette use) depends on the amounts in the e-liquids as well as on the vaping pattern and experience of the user [30, 127, 128]. To clearly assign the nicotine uptake to vaping, the e-liquid was spiked with deuterated nicotine in this study.



Figure 5: Metabolism of labeled nicotine and its major urinary metabolites according to [74]. CYP: Cytrochrome P450; FMO: Flavin-containing monooxygenase; UGT: Uridin-5'-diphospho-glucuronosyltransferase.

Nicotine is primarily metabolized by the cytrochrome P450 2A6 (CYP2A6) which is a liver enzyme [129]. Furthermore, nicotine is metabolized by N-oxidation (primarly by FMO3) forming nicotine-N-oxide; by glucuronidation (mainly by UGT2B10) resulting in nicotine-N-glucuronide and some other enzymes which contribute less to the nicotine metabolism [73]. Cotinine is the major metabolite of nicotine. Cotinine is further metabolized by the same enzymes as nicotine forming for instance

hydroxycotinine, cotinine-N-oxide, cotinine-N-glucuronide. The detailed metabolism of the labeled nicotine is shown in Figure 5 including the participating enzymes.

The formation of hydroxycotinine from cotinine involves exclusively CYP2A6 [130]. The catalytic activity of CYP2A6 displays large inter-individual differences due to polymorphism in the CYP2A6 gene [131]. The polymorphism occurs by different mutations like point mutation and gene deletion. These nucleotide changes show a high inter-ethnic variability resulting in different phenotype groups: (i) 'poor' metabolizer (no active CYP2A6 alleles, homozygous for inactive alleles), (ii) 'slow' (one inactive or two decreased activity alleles), (iii) 'intermediate' metabolizer (heterozygous with one decreased activity alleles) [132–136]. As a measure of CYP2A6 enzymatic activity, the ratio between 3-hydroxycotinine and cotinine is used. This ratio is known as nicotine metabolite ratio (NRM) [137, 138].

2.3.2 Tobacco specific nitrosamines

Tobacco-specific nitrosamines (TSNAs) are a component of young tobacco leaves [139–142]. However, in the leaves are only traces of TSNAs. They are mainly formed by nitrosation of the alkaloids in tobacco, for example nicotine, anatabin and anabasin. The formation of TSNAs is largely due to different drying and fermentation processes of raw tobacco [139, 143, 144]. Nitrosamine levels also increase as tobacco is burned. In addition, they may be produced via endogenous nitrosation processes in the human body [145, 146].



Figure 6: Formation of NNK (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone), NNAL (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol) and NNN (N-Nitrosonornicotine) from labeled nicotine. Adapted from [147]. The red colored "H" represent the position of the deuterium.

Due to the presence of nicotine in the e-liquids, tobacco-specific nitrosamines (TSNAs) might be found in the e-liquid and aerosol [22]. The formation of the TSNAs from labeled nicotine is shown

in Figure 6. These compounds represent one of the most carcinogenic groups in the tobacco products, so the present in the aerosol of an e-cigarette or in the e-liquid is crucial for any risk assessment. The evaluation of TSNAs was restricted to NNK (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone) and NNN (N-Nitrosonornicotine). These two TSNAs are directly formed from nicotine. They can unequivocally be traced back to the nicotine from the e-liquid due to the labeled nicotine. Additionally NNAL (4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol) was evaluated in the urine sample because NNAL is the biomarker of NNK.

2.3.3 Mercapturic acids

Mercapturic acids are the condensation products of N-acetyl-cysteine with electrophilic compounds (Figure 7), such as carbonyles or epoxides . They are formed in the liver and excreted in urine. Endogenous or exogenous electrophilic compounds (EC) are (1) absorbed by the cells. The following conjugation with glutathione (GSH) is catalyzed by glutathione S-transferases.

The generated GSH-conjugate (EC-[Glu-Cys-Gly]) is (3) transported to the extra-cellular space by ATP-binding proteins. In the extra-cellular space the (4) glutamate and (5) glycine residues can be hydrolyzed by the membranebound extra-cellular enzymes (4) glutamyl transpeptidades (GGT) and (5) dipeptidases (Pept.), forming cysteinyl-glycine (EC-[Cys-Gly]) and cysteine-conjugates. The newly formed cysteine-conjugate are (6) reabsorbed by the cell which depends on multiple importers (Impt, e.g., organic anion transporting polypeptides and cysteine-conjugate is (7) N-acetylated by N-acetyltransferases, gen-



Figure 7: Scheme of the formation of mercapturic acids in cells from Ramsay et al. [148]. For illustrative reasons the process is shown in a single cell.

erating the final mercapturic acid N-acetylcysteine-conjugate (EC-[NAC]). (8) The mercapturic acid is further transported to the extracellular space by exporter proteins (Expt., e.g., organic ion transporter 1), and excreted from the organism.

This work focused on the determination of mercapturic acids of propylene oxide (2-HPMA), acrolein (3-HPMA), glycidol (DHPMA), crotonaldehyde (HMPMA), and ethylene oxide (HEMA) in urine since they could be possible formed from the precursors PG and G (cf. Section 2.1.3).

2.3.4 Biomarkers of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde

Formaldehyde (FA) is classified as carcinogenic to humans (Group 1) and acetaldehyde (AA) as possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B) by the International Agency of Research on Cancer (IARC) [149, 150]. FA is an extremely reactive chemical that interacts with various functional groups, such as primary and secondary amino [151], hydroxyl, thiol and amido moieties of biological macro-
molecules. This can lead to the formation of DNA, RNA and protein adducts as well as crosslinks [152]. Except for crosslinking, AA chemically reacts in a similar way.

FA and AA are widely used as basic chemicals or as intermediates in the chemical industry. In addition FA is frequently used as disinfectant and preservative [153–155]. Apart from its use in the chemical industry, FA occurs as endogenous compound in most living organisms [111–113]. Concentrations of FA in outdoor air range from 0.001 (remote and rural areas) to 0.02 mg/m³ (urban areas) [114]. Indoor air FA concentrations are even higher and usually range from 0.01 to 0.1 mg/m³ [115]. AA is a product of combustion of organic material and photo-oxidation of hydrocarbons in the atmosphere [116, 117]. Furthermore, AA is an intermediate product in the metabolism of ethanol and sugars [118]. Therefore, suitable biomarkers of exposure to FA and AA are of great interest. However, given their almost ubiquitous occurrence makes the biomonitoring of FA and AA a challenging task with respect to attribution to specific sources of exposure.



Figure 8: Formation of the labeled (methyl)-thiazolidine carboxylic acid (M)TCA and of the labeled (methyl)-thiazolidine carbonylglycine (M)TCG in the human body by cyclization of FA and AA, respectively, with Cys(-Gly) [156–158]

FA and AA are rapidly metabolized but can also react virtually instantly with nucleophiles in the organism [118, 159-163], yielding reaction products suitable for biomonitoring. Frequently used biomarkers are formate and acetate [164-168]. Analytical methods for these markers include GC-MS methods with or without derivatization prior to analysis [166, 167, 169] as well as enzymatic assays [170]. Large intra- and inter-individual variance in the physiological levels of these metabolites limits their suitability as biomarkers of exposure [115, 171]. Formate is involved in a number of endogenous processes [172–174]. Thus, the exposure to formaldehyde may influence the formate body concentration only to a small extent, rendering formate useless as a biomarker of exposure to formaldehyde. Acetate is consumed during the citric cycle (in the form of acetyl-CoA) [175] and produced during hydrolysis of acetylated metabolites. Due to these different influences on acetate and formate concentrations in blood and urine, they are not suitable as biomarkers of exposure to these aldehydes. Sulfur containing metabolites have been described as specific biomarkers for the exposure to formaldehyde and acetaldehyde [156–158, 176–178]. These sulfur containing metabolites are reportedly formed by a non-enzymatic condensation reaction of FA/AA with cysteine [156–158, 176, 177] or the glutathione metabolite cysteinylglycine (Figure 8) [178]. The cyclization reaction results in the biomarkers 4-thiazolidine carboxylic acid (TCA) and 4-thiazolidine carbonylglycine (TCG) for FA as well as 2-methyl-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (MTCA) and 2-methyl-thiazolidine-4carbonylglycine (MTCG) for AA. The occurrence of MTCA, as biomarker of acetaldehyde, was

already observed after ethanol consumption [157], overcoming the high variability of acetate. However the high endogenous and exogenous levels of FA and AA remain a problem. This prompted me to develop an analytical method for the systematic evaluation of the absorption of FA and AA into the human body by cigarette smoking and e-cigarette vaping, respectively. The approach using $^{13}C_3$ -labeled PG and G should be able to overcome the high endogenous and exogenous levels of FA and AA.

2.4 Analytical methodologies

During this thesis it was essential to adapt existing methods for the stable-isotope labeled precursors, their labeled thermal decomposition products and the resulting metabolites as well as to develop new methods for the missing analytes. The calibration was always conducted with the unlabeled analyte. If the analyte was available in the labeled form, it was checked whether the linearity of calibration between the labeled and unlabeled analyte matched. For the tested analytes the slope of the calibration curve fitted well together for the unlabeled and the labeled analyte.

The complexity of the different matrices (body fluids, aerosol, smoke and e-liquid) as well as the quantification of labeled alongside with unlabeled compounds needed a combination of separation technology with a sensitive and selective detection technology. Tandem mass spectrometry combined with liquid or gas chromatography was the methodology of choice for these analysis. The liquid and gas chromatography, respectively, offered the possibility to separate the analytes from the other matrix components by using different solid and mobile phases (liquid or gas phase). Whereas the tandem mass spectrometry offers the mass selective detection of the different analytes and through the different fragmentation pattern of each analyte a good specificity. Therefor the analysis were mainly conducted with tandem mass spectrometry combined with liquid chromatography (LC-MS/MS) and mass spectrometry combined with gas chromatography (GC-MS).

In the present research project, the available methods were modified so that the labeled biomarkers could be also measured. Furthermore, the expected lower levels of labeled compounds in body fluids required a significant increase in the sensitivity of the analytical methods.

2.4.1 Adaption

The methods based on validated in-house methods. For the adaption of these methods, the fragmentation pattern for the analytes had to be elucidated. There were two different approaches: (i) the labeled compound was available; (ii) the labeled analyte was not available such as some of the metabolites or decomposition products. If the compound was available, the analyte has been tuned by infusion to the mass spectrometer. If the analyte was not obtainable, the fragmentation pattern was resolved based on the literature. For the following analytes was an in-house method available:

- Nicotine and its 10 metabolites in urine
- Tobacco specific nitrosamines
- Mercapturic acids
- Creatinine

2.4.2 Development

The required methods were developed in different matrices, like bodyfluids, aerosol and e-liquid. Therefore different sample preparation procedure, as well as different instruments were needed. Due to the simultaneous determination of labeled and unlabeled analytes, mass spectrometers (MS) were instrument of choice. Because of the different types of analyte and the determination of the different

2 FUNDAMENTALS

analytes the MS was coupled to either an high performance liquid chromatography or to a gas chromatography. During this thesis, the following methods were developed for the quantitative detection of the following substances in different matrices:

- Propylene glycol, glycerol, nicotine in e-liquid, aerosol
- Propylene glycol and glycerol in various bodyfluids
- Nicotine, cotinine and nornicotine in plasma and saliva
- Carbonyles in aerosol and e-liquid
- Biomarkers of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde in plasma and urine
- Tobacco specific nitrosamines in aerosol

The methods mentioned above are described in detail in Section 4. They were validated according the FDA Guidelines for Bioanalytical Methods for Industry [179, 180].

2.5 Method validation

For preforming a method validation, the different authorities and council, such as the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)[180], European Medicines Agency (EMA)[181], Eurachem [182] and International Council for Harmonization (ICH)[183] have released guidelines for bioanalytical method validations. The main objective of method validation is to demonstrate the reliability of a particular method for the determination of an analyte concentration in the desired matrix.

The methods described in this work were validated according to the FDA Guideline Bioanalytical Methods for Industry 2013 and 2018, respectively [179, 180]. The guideline includes the following parameter limit of detection (LOD); limit of quantification (LLOQ); selectivity; calibration range; carryover; accuracy and precision; stability including short-term stability, freeze-thaw stability, post-preparative stability, long-term stability and stability of stock solutions; matrix effect; recovery and dilution effects. In the following section the interpretation of each parameter will be explained and the used acceptance criteria are pointed out.

Reference material

The reference material, if available, was purchased as certified reference material with an certificate of analysis. These certificate of analysis contained at least the source, the lot number, storage conditions, purity and the expiration date. If the standards were prepared internally, the identity was confirmed with tandem mass spectrometry and the purity by UV/VIS.

The already existing methods were additionally checked by interlaboratory tests, if they are available (e.g.: the methods for the mercapturic acids, nicotine and cotinine in urine and creatinine).

Limit of detection and limit of quantification

The limit of detection (LOD) describes the smallest possible value for a qualitative determination. It is accessed by determining the signal-to-noise ratio. This must be ≥ 3 . The limit of quantification (LLOQ) is the theoretical value up to which a value can be quantified. This can also be determined from the signal-to-noise ratio (≥ 9), but it had to meet other criteria. This may result in the LLOQ of a method being higher than the theoretically determined value.

Acceptance criteria

- LLOQ signal had to be ≥ 5 times the signal from the S0.
- Accuracy and precision did not deviate more than ±20 % from the nominal value. (Verification is performed as part of the determination of accuracy and precision (see Section Accuracy and Precision)).

Selectivity

Selectivity should demonstrate that the substance of interest and its internal standard can be quantified unhindered by matrix components. For methods with several analytes, it has to be eliminated that they influence each other during the measurement. For this purpose, 6 empty matrix samples (blanks), if possible from different sources, were analyzed. In addition, these 6 matrix samples were spiked in the lower calibration range and their accuracy, as well as their quantifier/qualifier ratio were determined. If no qualifier could be determined, the quantifier/qualifier ratio for the respective analyte was omitted. If no analyte-free matrix was available, only the accuracy of the spiking and the interference of the internal standard in the matrix sample were evaluated.

Acceptance criteria

- In the empty matrix samples there were no interference to the retention time of the analyte; the trace of the internal standard was not disturbed by more than 5% of the mean value of the internal standard from the calibration.
- The Quan/Qual ratio may deviate ± 25 % from the average Quan/Qual ratio from the calibration.
- The accuracy of the spiking may deviate ± 15 % from the nominal spiked concentration.

Determination of the linearity range

The calibration curve had to include at least one blank (without analyte and internal standard; S00), one calibrator with internal standard only (S0) and 6 additional calibrators. The calibration curve covered the entire calibration range in each run, including the LLOQ. All blanks and calibrators were prepared in the same matrix as the expected study samples. If this is not possible, a surrogate matrix was used. This surrogate matrix had to have the same behavior as the matrix of the study samples.

Acceptance criteria

- The calibrators, except S00 and S0, did not deviate more than \pm 15 % from the nominal concentration with the exception of the calibrator at LLOQ; this may deviate by \pm 20 %.
- 75% of the calibrators and at least 6 calibrators had to meet the above criteria in each run.

Carryover

Carryover can occur when the concentration of a sample is high. This carryover then affects the result of the subsequent measurement. To determine carryover, the highest calibrator was injected 5 times, followed by a blank sample. Then the highest calibrator was injected 5 times again, followed by a blank sample. The procedure was repeated once more. If the carryover was large than 20% of the area of the lowest calibrator, the calibration range must be adjusted accordingly.

Acceptance criteria

• The area of the signal in the blank had to be less than 20 % of the area of the lowest calibrator.

Accuracy and precision

The accuracy and precision of a method were determined over the entire calibration range. Accuracy is a measure of the correlation between the measured value (x_i) and the reference value (x_{Ref}) . Precision, on the other hand, indicates the variation of the measured values among each other (\bar{x}) .

Accuracy =
$$\frac{|x_i - x_{Ref}|}{x_i}$$
 (4)

Standard deviation (s) =
$$\sqrt{\frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - \bar{x})^2}$$
 (5)

Variation coefficient (v) =
$$\frac{s}{\bar{x}}$$
 (6)

Verification of accuracy and precision was performed on 3 different days (interday) and 5 replicates per day (intraday). For this purpose, blank samples were spiked with 4 different concentrations of the analyte (at the LLOQ, in the lower (L), middle (M) and upper (H) calibration range). This was done on a daily basis and for each sample individually. The measurement results were evaluated using these formulas (4), (5) and (6) and then evaluated using the following acceptance criteria.

Acceptance criteria

- Accuracy: The deviation from the nominal value did not exceed ± 15 %, except at LLOQ where ± 20 % applies.
- Precision: The coefficient of variation did not deviate by more than ± 15 %, except at LLOQ, where ± 20 % applies.

Stability

In the following, 5 different criteria are explained which were used to check the stability of the analyte in the matrix, in the stock solution, and in the processed sample. Different temperature ranges and storage periods were considered. The selection of the criteria depends on the method. However, short-term stability and freeze-thaw stability were performed in any case.

Short-term stability: For the determination of the short-term stability, 3 low-spiked and 3 high-spiked samples were left overnight (> 16 h) at room temperature. The next day, these samples were processed with a fresh calibration and the nominal concentration were compared to the measured concentration.

Freeze-thaw stability: To determine the freeze-thaw stability, 3 low-spiked and 3 high-spiked samples were freshly prepared and measured. The samples were frozen overnight (> 16 h) and thawed during the day. This is one cycle. 6 cycles should be performed. If fewer freeze-thaw cycles were required within the method, this was justifiably adjusted. Sample concentrations were measured and compared with a fresh calibration.

Post-preparative stability: Post-preparative stability reflects the stability of the sample after processing and storage. 6 processed samples (3 low-spiked and 3 high-spiked each) remained in the autosampler or freezer. The maximum time of stay was evaluated in this experiment. The re-injected samples were analyzed with a fresh calibration and compared to the initial value.

Long-term stability: Long term stability covers the time period from initial sample collection to analysis. 3 low-spiked and 3 high-spiked samples were stored at the expected storage temperature and tested against a fresh calibration at the expected time interval.

Stability of stock solutions: The stock solution was prepared fresh from reference material. The fresh stock solution and the stock solution to be tested were diluted into the calibration range and compared.

Acceptance criteria for the above described parameters

- Accuracy: The deviation from the nominal value must not exceed ± 15
- Precision: The coefficient of variation must not deviate by more than ± 15 %.

Matrix effect

The matrix may have various influences on the ionization of the analyte (ion suppression or increased ionization). These influences should be compensated by the choice of a suitable internal standard. To demonstrate this compensation, both the internal standard and the analyte are spiked at low and high concentrations into a matrix sample and into a reference solution. The signal areas obtained from the matrix sample and the reference solution are compared and a recovery is calculated. A suitable internal standard should be within $\pm 15\%$ of the analyte recovery.

If an analyte-free matrix was not available, an infusion experiment was performed. In an infusion experiment, the reference solution and the matrix sample are measured consecutively. During these measurements, the analyte or internal standard is permanently infused into the MS. For this purpose, the analyte and the internal standard (in 2 different concentrations) are diluted in a reference solvent and infused directly into the LC flow after the chromatographic separation. The signal intensity of the analyte or internal standard from the reference solution is compared to those from the matrix sample. The increase or decrease, respectively, of the signal was used to determine the matrix effect. This deviation between the analyte and its internal standard should not be more than 15 %.

Recovery

Recovery was determined if an extraction step was included in the sample preparation. 3 samples without internal standard at each level (low, medium high) were processed. In addition, 9 blank samples are processed and after extraction the were spiked with the analyte at the same levels (low, medium, high). Internal standard is added to all samples immediately prior to measurement.

Dilution effects

The dilution effects were determined if dilution was planned as part of the sample preparation. For this purpose, 3 different solutions were prepared with different concentrations above the calibration range. These 3 solutions are diluted in 3 different dilution steps (which are also necessary within the method). Each dilution step must be measured in a 5-fold determination.

Acceptance criteria

- Accuracy: The deviation from the nominal value did not exceed ± 15 %, except at LLOQ where ± 20 % applies.
- Precision: The coefficient of variation did not deviate by more than ± 15 %, except at LLOQ, where ± 20 % applies.

Quality Controls

The quality controls (QCs) were prepared in the same matrix as the study samples. Where possible, QCs were prepared from authentic material. For this reason, matrix samples with similar concentration were pooled to get 3 different concentration which covered the whole calibration range. If there were no matrix samples in 3 different concentrations, the matrix samples were either diluted or additionally spiked with the analytes to the desired concentration.

The QCs should document the accuracy and precision of a method throughout the measurement. Within a measurement, there were at least 6 QCs (low (L), medium (M), and high (H) concentration range) with 3 different concentrations covering the entire calibration range. For larger numbers of study samples, 5 % of the study samples were QCs.

Acceptance criteria

- \geq 67 % of the QCs deviate less than \pm 15 % from the theoretical value (unless the concentration of the QC sample was at the LLOQ, in which case the deviation did not exceed \pm 20 %).
- \geq 50 % of a QC level deviate less than \pm 15 % from the theoretical value (unless the concentration of the QC sample was at the LLOQ, in which case the deviation did not exceed \pm 20 %)

3 Research Aims

The present research project should provide answers to the following two primary questions:

- What are the pharmacokinetics and the uptake dose of the major e-liquid constituents PG, G and N in vapers under controlled and free vaping conditions in relation to the electrical power (wattage) of the e-cigarette used?
- Do vapers take up toxicants such as formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, acrolein, ethylene oxide, propylene oxide, glycidol, crotonaldehyde, NNN and NNK, which, at least theoretically, can be formed from the precursors PG, G and N in e-liquid?

In addition, the following secondary questions should be answered:

- How do pharmacokinetics and exposure doses compare to smokers of conventional cigarettes (CC)?
- Which body fluids (blood, saliva, urine) are suitable for measuring the vaping-related biomarkers?
- Can the major e-liquid constituents PG, G and N be found in sputum samples of vapers, and if so, how long are they retained in the respiratory tract?
- Can the (theoretically) assumed toxicants formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, acrolein, ethylene oxide, propylene oxide, glycidol, crotonaldehyde, NNN and NNK be detected in the e-cigarette aerosol, when generated by a smoking machine under high and low wattage conditions and, if so, what are the yields?

4 Experimental

4.1 Clinical Study

4.1.1 E-Cigarette, e-liquid and cigarette

The e-cigarette is a tank-based e-cig which consists of the rechargeable battery vaporizer Eleaf iStick TC 40W (Irvine CA, USA) and the tank system Aspire Nautilus mini 2 ml 1.8 Ω (Kent, WA, USA). The vaporizer has a power range from 1 to 40 W. The tank system consists of a liquid glass tank and a replaceable vaporizer. The liquid tank has a capacity of 2 ml. The replaceable atomizer has a resistor of 1.8 Ω . All parts are manufactured in agreement with EU legislation and they are CE labeled.

Custom-made e-liquids were supplied by the company 'Happy Liquid' (Munich, Germany). The targeted composition of the e-liquid was PG/G (50:50, w/w), 12 mg/ml nicotine and an American blend tobacco aroma. All materials used were EP grade. For use in the clinical study, 10 % of the e-liquid were replaced with a mixture of ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG, ${}^{13}C_3$ -G and nicotine-d₇ in the same proportions as the unlabeled e-liquid. Labeled reference standards ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG (isotopic purity: 97 %), ${}^{13}C_3$ -G (isotopic purity: 99 %) and nicotine-d₇ (isotopic purity: 97 %) were purchased from Synthèse AptoChem Inc. (Montreal Canada). Certificates of analysis (CoAs) for the stable-isotope labeled compounds comprise water content, residual solvents, identity, chromatographic purity, "as is" potency, lot number, manufacturing date, and expiration date. The CoAs also contain a statement that these compounds can be used in e-cigarettes as part of a clinical study. Prior to use in the study, the final e-liquid was analyzed for the unlabeled and labeled major components (described in Section 4.2).

As a 'positive control' (in terms of pyrolytic formation of toxicants for the labeled precursors PG, G and nicotine), non-filter cigarettes from the German market (ISO yields: 10 mg tar, 0.32 mg nicotine, 10 mg carbon monoxide) were spiked with 13.4 mg ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG, 13.6 mg ${}^{13}C_3$ -G, and 2.4 mg nicotined₇ dissolved in 100 µl ethanol. The spiking solution was evenly distributed along the central axis of the tobacco rod, using a needle-armed syringe. Subsequently, the spiked CCs are dried at room temperature for 24 hours in order to evaporate the residual ethanol.

4.1.2 Study design

A clinical study was conducted at the Clinical Trial Center (CTC) North (Hamburg, Germany). Ethical approval was received according to the Helsinki declaration [184] by the Ethical Commission of the Medical Chamber of Hamburg (Germany). The study included 25 healthy male Caucasian volunteers aged 21 to 60 years and a body mass index (BMI) between 18 and 30 kg/m^2 . Five regular current smokers of ≥ 10 cigarettes/d and 20 experienced vapers with a regular consumption of ≥ 1.5 ml of nicotine containing e-liquid per day and without use of other nicotine products (cigarettes, chewing gum, patch, inhaler) were recruited for the study. The clinical study was divided into two study parts (Part A = stationary phase and Part B = ambulatory phase). In Part A, the subjects stayed for 84 h in the clinic (from afternoon of Day -1 until the morning of Day 4). After the subjects arrived in the clinic they were not allowed to smoke or vape until Day 1 of the study. On Day 1, half of the vapers (N=10, randomly assigned) consumed the provided labeled e-liquid (described above) at high wattage conditions (18 W, 18 W vaper) during 10 defined vaping sessions, each comprising 10 puffs at intervals of 0.5 minutes. The other 10 vapers consumed the e-liquid under the same conditions apart from the wattage, which was set to 10 W (low wattage conditions, 10 W vaper). Wattage conditions are selected in a manner that resembles popular, usual and convenient e-cigarette vaping conditions of this e-cigarette type. The 5 smoker consumed 10 non-filter cigarettes spiked with ¹³C-labeled PG and G as well as deuterated nicotine (nicotine-d₇) as a 'positive control'. Controlled vaping and smoking session took place at 9, 10, 11, 12 a.m. and at 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 p.m. on Day 1. After the 10 sessions, the subjects were prohibited to vape or smoke for the remaining Part A (evening of Day 1 until morning of Day 4). There was a wash out period of at least seven days between the Part A and B. In the ambulatory Part B, only the 20 vapers (the same subjects which participated in Part A) were provided with the same type of e-cigarette as used in Part A (including the stable-isotope labeled e-liquid). Subjects were advised to vape ad libitum during the duration of Part B of the study (72 h) with the provided product only. Actual vaping in terms of time of the day, number of puffs taken and wattage adjustment was recorded in protocol forms (see Appendix B) by the subjects. Subjects came to the clinic on each evening of the 3 study days as well as on the evening of Day -1 (start of Part B). The time lines of the entire study per subject are visualized in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Outline of the study design

The stationary Part A was conducted under strictly controlled dietary conditions to minimize nutritional effects. During the stationary visits, three meals were served during the day; breakfast at 9 a.m., lunch at 12 a.m., and dinner at 7 p.m. The caloric intake was normalized to the weight of the subjects in five groups according to the Harris-Benedict equation [185]. Therefore, the amount of lunch was adjusted, while all subjects were served the same breakfast and dinner. The nutrition composition was served as defined prior to the study, comprising 72 % carbohydrates, 14 % proteins, and 14 % fat. For standardization purposes the subjects were asked to consume the complete quantity served. Deviations concerning the food uptake were documented. Subjects were only allowed to drink water without any restriction concerning the amount. During the ambulatory Part B, the subjects were not restricted in terms of food and drinks.

4.1.3 Sampling

Urine, plasma, saliva and sputum samples were collected for the determination of biomarkers in both parts of the clinical study at the time points shown in Figure 10. In Part A, baseline urine samples (U0, spot urine) were collected at 8 a.m. Subjects were advised to completely collect all urine voids between 9 a.m. and 9 p.m., preferably with intervals of 1-2 h in separate bottles on Days 1, 2 and 3. The last urine sample was collected in the morning of Day 4. The individual urine voids were divided into 6 intervals (U1-Ux) between 9 a.m. and 9 p.m. each two hours long. Exact collection times and masses were recorded. Blood samples were drawn immediately before and after the 10 vaping/smoking sessions as well as 1 and 2 h after the last session on Day 1. On Day 2 and 3 of Part A, the samples were drawn only three times per day, at 8 a.m., 1 p.m. and 9 p.m.. The last blood sample was collected in the morning of Day 4. All blood samples were drawn in EDTA monovettes (4.9 ml, Sarstedt, Nuembrecht, Germany) and centrifuged within 1 h. Saliva samples of about 2 ml were collected at virtually the same time points as the blood samples in Part A according to the method of Navazesh [186]. Subjects were not allowed to eat, drink (except water) or use any oral care products 20 min prior to saliva sampling. Immediately before the collection, subjects rinsed their oral cavity three times with water. Non-induced sputum samples were collected according a clinical routine procedure [187] at about 8 a.m. and 9 p.m. on Day 1, 2 and 3 as well as in the morning of Day 4 of Part A of the clinical study under supervision of the medical staff. All obtained samples were immediately stored at -20 °C until analysis.





Figure 10: Time scheme for sampling of the clinical study. Lines 1 - 10 indicate time points for the vaping/smoking session. Sample collection is marked with various symbols.

In Part B of the clinical study, subjects provided spot urine samples at their ambulatory visits in the evening of study Days -1, 1, 2 and 3. The morning urine samples of Days 1, 2 and 3 were collected at home, stored in a cooling bag at 4 - 6 °C until the samples were brought to the clinic in the evening. Saliva samples in Part B were collected at about similar time points as the spot urine samples according to the procedure described for Part A. Blood samples in Part B were collected under supervision in the evenings of Days -1 and 3 of Part B. All sampling times were recorded and samples were stored as described for Part A.

4.2 Liquid and aerosol characterization

For the analysis of the aerosol and smoke, respectively, a combined setup was used. This setup is schematically shown in Figure 11. It includes Cambridge filters (44 mm, Borgwaldt, Hamburg, Germany), two glass impingers and a 1-channel smoking machine (RM1, Borgwaldt, Hamburg, Germany). The analytes were trapped either on the Cambridge filter or in the glass impinger depending on their properties. The aerosol/smoke was generated by applying 55-ml puff volume, 4-s puff duration and a 30-s puff interval according to the vaping/smoking patterns during the clinical study. The amount of the trapped puffs vary between the different methods due to the detection limits of the analytes. The e-cigarette tank with the e-liquid is weighted before and after the trapping procedure. The amount of consumed e-liquid, besides the numbers of puff, is another way to normalize the data.



Figure 11: Scheme of the aerosol/smoke trapping. Showing the filter holder with a Cambridge filter, two glass impingers with derivatization agent and the smoking machine with the adjustable parameters

All the described methods were developed, validated and established during this project and will be presented in the following sections.

4.2.1 Propylene glycol, Glycerol and Nicotine

4.2.1.1 Chemicals and solutions

Glycerol (\geq 99 %), nicotine (\geq 99 %), propylene glycol (\geq 99.5 %) and butane-1,2,4-triol (> 97 %) were purchased from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany). d₆-propylene glycol (\geq 98 %) and d₃-nicotine (\geq 96 %) were obtained from CDN Isotopes Inc. (Quebec, Canada). ¹³C₃-Glycerol (99 %), ¹³C₃-propylene glycol (\geq 96 %) and nicotine-d₇ (\geq 98 %) were purchased from Synthèse AptoChem (Montréal, Canada). Ethanol (Optigrade) was obtained from Promochem (Wesel, Germany). Ultrapure water was prepared by arium[®] pro ultrapure water system (Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany). The Cambridge filter (44 mm) were purchased from Borgwaldt (Hamburg, Germany).

A standard stock solution (SL) of PG and G (10 mg/ml) in ethanol and their ¹³C-labeled analogues (1 mg/ml) in DI water as well as the SL of nicotine-d₇ (1 mg/ml) were prepared. Nicotine was purchased as a SL in methanol (1 mg/ml). The calibration solution was prepared by adding 500 µl of PG-SL and G-SL, 1 ml ¹³C₃-PG-SL and ¹³C₃-G-SL, 150 µl of N-SL and 50 µl N-d₇ to a 5-ml flask and diluting to the mark with ethanol. This calibration was achieved by diluting the calibration solution 1:2 until they reached the concentration 30 µg/ml PG/G and 0.9 µg/ml N or 3 µg/ml ¹³C₃-PG/¹³C₃-G and 0.09 µg/ml N-d₇, respectively. Due to some interference of the deuterated G, butane-1,2,4-triol was used as internal standard for G. PG-d₆ and N-d₃ were combined with the butane-1,2,4-triol to the IS-Mix (PG-d₆: 1 mg/ml; N-d₃: 0.05 mg/ml; butane-1,2,4-triol: 0.5 mg/ml).

4.2.1.2 Instrument and software

The GC-MS system is a combination of the GC 6890N (Agilent, Waldbronn, Germany) with the Cooled Injection System CIS 4 (Gerstel, Mühlheim an der Ruhr, Germany), the autosampler MPS 2 (Gerstel, Mühlheim an der Ruhr, Germany) and the detector MSD 5975 (Agilent, Waldbronn, Germany).

For the generation and the processing of the data Agilent ChemStation 2.0 (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA) and MassHunter Workstation Software B.07.00 (Agilent, Santa Clara, USA) were used.

4.2.1.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology

The labeled e-liquid mixture (prepared as described in Section 4.1.1) was analyzed for its content of labeled and unlabeled PG, G as well as nicotine by means of a GC-MS method. The e-liquid was diluted 1:1000 with ethanol and 20 μ l IS-Mix was added to 200 μ l of the diluted sample. One μ l was injected into a GC-MS system operated in the electron ionization mode at 70 eV with a filament delay of 2.4 min. The analytes were quantified in the selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode using mass fragments m/z 61 (PG/G), 63 ($^{13}C_3$ -PG/ $^{13}C_3$ -G), 133 (N) and 139 (N-d₇), as well as 57 and 136 for the IS butane-1,2,4-triol, and d₃-nicotine, respectively. Analytes were separated on a mid polarity cross bond phase RTX-1701 column (30 m x 0.25 mm i.d. 0.25 μ m df, Restek, Bad Homburg, Germany) using helium as carrier gas at a constant flow of 1.5 ml/min. The split/splitless injector was set to 230 °C and operated at a split of 1/2. The temperature program of the GC oven was used as follows: the initial oven temperature was set to 65 °C for 1 min, then it was raised to 185 °C with a rate of 40 °C per min. Subsequently the temperature was raised to 240 °C with a rate of 20 °C per min and it was held for 7.75 min.

The aerosol/smoke was trapped on a Cambridge filter using the puff regime described in Section 4.2. 20 puffs of the e-cigarette at both wattage conditions (10 and 18 W) as well as a single cigarette were trapped on separate 44-mm Cambridge filters (Borgwaldt, Hamburg, Germany). The filters were extracted for 40 min with 8 ml ethanol and afterwards they were diluted 1:10. The diluted extracts were analyzed for labeled and unlabeled PG, G as well as nicotine with the GC-MS method described above.

4.2.1.4 Validation

The analytical work flow was validated according to the FDA Guideline 2018 [180] with slight modi-fications due to the matrix and sampling procedure. The validation does not cover the trapping efficiency during the sample collection. Only the carryover to a second filter or glass impinger was tested with the result that one filter is sufficient for trapping. The three analytes were not detected on the second filter and the first impinger. During this work, it was investigated that 50 % of the e-liquid is lost in the (e.g.: through condensation in the tubing, see Section 6.1).

The following validation criteria were investigated for the trapped analytes: selectivity, linearity, range, accuracy, precision, recovery, matrix effect and stability.

The specificity of the method was ensured by the fact that no interfering signals at the expected RT in extracted analyte-free filters were detected for the quantifier mass.

Intra- and interday precision along with the accuracies of extracts of spiked filters were tested at 4 different concentration levels at 3 different days. The precisions across all analytes were better than 9 % (at LLOQ: 14%). The accuracies of the high and medium levels were within the range 95 - 114% and for the low levels between 83% and 118%.

The LODs and LLOQs were defined as S/N ratios 3:1 and 9:1, respectively. The LODs were calculated by the software using the signal-to-noise algorithm (PG: $0.4 \ \mu g/ml$, G: $3.4 \ \mu g/ml$ and N: $0.2 \ \mu g/ml$) The LLOQs are more than a factor 3 higher than the LODs due to the background contamination from the environment and the used material. The LLOQ was set to 30 $\ \mu g/ml$ for PG and G and 0.9 $\ \mu g/ml$ for N.

The recovery rate was for all analytes between 93 % and 106 % by comparing the extract from the filter and an ethanol solution with the expected concentration. In both matrices (aerosol/smoke), matrix effect was not detected.

The calibration ranged from 0.03 mg/ml to 1 mg/ml for PG/G and from 0.9 - 30μ g/ml for N which covers the expected amounts of the analytes in the e-liquids. No carryover was observed from the highest calibrator to a blank sample.

The stability was characterized by means of the short-term and post-preparative stability as well as one freeze-thaw cycle. All analytes were found to be stable for 16 h at room temperature. The post-preparative stability was even proven for 16 days in the autosampler (15 $^{\circ}$ C). The freeze-thaw cycle was tested with the non-extracted filter for one cycle. It was found that all analytes are stable. The detailed validation protocol is summarized in Appendix A Table 17.

4.2.2 Carbonyls

4.2.2.1 Chemicals

Acetaldehyde-DNPH (99.9%), acetone-DNPH (99.7%) acrolein-DNPH (99.8%), formaldehyde-DNPH (99.9%), crotonaldehyde-DNPH (99.6%), methacrolein-DNPH (96.7%) and propionaldehyde-DNPH (98.3%) were purchased from Neochema (Bodenheim, Germany). 3,5,6-d₃-acetaldehyde-DNPH (99%), 3,5,6-d₃-acetone-DNPH (99%), 3,5,6-d₃-acrolein-DNPH (99%), 3,5,6-d₃-formaldehyde-DNPH (98.8%), 3,5,6-d₃-crotonaldehyde-DNPH (99%) and 3,5,6-d₃-propionaldehyde-DNPH (98.6%) were obtained from CDN Isotopes Inc. (Quebec, Canada). 2,4-Dinitrophenylhydrazine (DNPH) for HPLC derivatization (> 99 %), perchloric acid (70 %) and pyridine (anhydrous, 99.8 %) were purchased from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany). Acetonitrile (ULC/MS grade) was obtained from Biosolve BV (Valkenswaad, Netherlands). Ultrapure water was prepared by arium[®] pro ultrapure water system (Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany). The concentration of the standards and the internal standards are based on the calculated concentration of the free aldehyde (see formula 7).

$$c \text{ (free aldehyde)} = c \text{ (aldehyde-DNPH-derivate)} * \frac{M \text{ (free aldehyde)}}{M \text{ (aldehyde-DNPH-derivate)}}$$
(7)
$$c = \text{concentration [g/l]}$$
$$M = \text{molar mass [g/mol]}$$

The standards were diluted to two different working solutions AL I and AL II in acetonitrile with a concentration of 500 ng/ml and 10 ng/ml, respectively. The deuterated internal standards were desolved in acetonitrile and each diluted to 500 ng/ml (IS-Mix).

An acidic 2.5 mM DNPH solution was prepared by solving 124 mg DNPH in 250 ml acetonitrile. 40 µl perchloric acid were added to this solution.

4.2.2.2 Instrument and software

A Shimadzu Nexera X2 UPLC system including a binary pump, an autosampler, a degasser and a column oven (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan) and a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer QTRAP[®] 6500⁺ equipped with a Turbo V ion spray source, operating in negative ESI mode, was used for detection (AB Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany). High purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7%) was produced by a nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany).

For the generation and the processing of the data Analyst[®] 1.6.3 (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) was used.

4.2.2.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology

Since the acetaldehyde, acetone, acrolein, crotonaldehyde, formaldehyde, methacrolein and propionaldehyde are highly volatile and reactive, they are derivatized upon trapping, followed by dilution. According to Miller et al. [188], 10 puffs of the e-cigarette or a single cigarette (puffing regime according to section 4.2) were drawn through two glass impingers which both contained 20 ml of an acidic 2.5 mM DNPH derivatization solution. After the trapping experiment, 200 µl pyridine were added to stop the derivatization. The trapped derivatives were diluted 1:10 (1:100 for the cigarette). Prior to the UPLC-MS/MS analysis, 10 µl IS-Mix were added to 100 µl of the diluted sample. For the determination of the background contamination an aliquot was drawn on a daily basis and analyzed with the samples.

Additionally the e-liquid was tested for carbonyl formation during storage. 100 μ l e-liquid were diluted with 900 μ l acidic 2.5 mM DNPH solution and agitated for 5 min. 10 μ l pyridine were added to stop the derivatization and 100 μ l sample were transferred into a microvial containing 10 μ l IS-Mix. 5 μ l of the sample were injected on a Kinetex[®] 5 μ m EVO C18 column (150 x 2.1 mm, 5 μ m, Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany). The chromatographic separation was achieved with water (eluent A) and acetonitrile (eluent B) following this gradient elution: : 0-5.0 min: 35-55 % B; 5.0-7.0 min: 70 % B; 7.0-7.1 min: 70-35 % B; 7.1 – 10.0 min: 35 % B. The column was kept at 50 °C with a flow rate of 0.7 ml/min. The turbo-ion spray source settings were as follows: ion spray voltage = -4000 V, heater temperature = 600 °C, source gas 1 = 4.8 bar, source gas 2 = 5.5 bar, CAD gas = medium and curtain gas = 2.8 bar. Labeled and unlabeled analytes as well as their corresponding internal standards were monitored in the multiple reaction monitoring mode (MRM, Table 3) with a MRM detection window of 60 sec using negative electrospray ionization (ESI⁻).

	RT	Quantifier	Qualifier		IS MRM	
		MRM MRM				
Analyte	[min]	$[\text{m/z} \rightarrow \text{m/z}]$	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	IS	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	
Formaldehyde	2.1	209 ightarrow 163	209 ightarrow 151	d Formaldahyda	$212 \rightarrow 166$	
¹³ C-Formaldehyde	2.1	$210 \rightarrow 164$	210 ightarrow 151	u ₃ -Formaidenyde	$212 \rightarrow 100$	
Acetaldehyde	20	$223 \rightarrow 163$	$223 \rightarrow 151$	d Acataldahuda	226 166	
¹³ C ₂ -Acetaldehyde	2.0	$225 \rightarrow 164$	225 ightarrow 151	u ₃ -Acetaidenyde	$220 \rightarrow 100$	
Acetone	26	$237 \rightarrow 151$	$237 \rightarrow 207$	d Apatona	240 . 154	
¹³ C ₃ -Acetone	5.0	$240 \rightarrow 151$	240 ightarrow 210	d ₃ -Acetone	$240 \rightarrow 134$	
Acrolein	27	235 ightarrow 163	235 ightarrow 158	d Aproloin	228 166	
¹³ C ₃ -Acrolein	5.7	$238 \rightarrow 164$	238 ightarrow 158	d3-Acrolem	$230 \rightarrow 100$	
Propionaldehyde	4.0	237 ightarrow 163	237 ightarrow 179	d Duonianal daha da	240 166	
¹³ C ₃ -Propionaldehyde	4.0	$240 \rightarrow 164$	240 ightarrow 180	d3-Propionaldenyde	$240 \rightarrow 100$	
Crotonaldehyde		$249 \rightarrow 172$	$249 \rightarrow 151$			
¹³ C ₂ -Crotonaldehyde	4.6	251 ightarrow 173	$251 \rightarrow 151$			
¹³ C ₄ -Crotonaldehyde		253 ightarrow 173	$253 \rightarrow 151$	d. Crotonaldahyda	252 175	
Methacrolein		249 ightarrow 163	$249 \rightarrow 122$	u ₃ -Crotonaidenyde	$232 \rightarrow 173$	
¹³ C ₂ -Methacrolein	5.0	$251 \rightarrow 164$	251 ightarrow 122			
¹³ C ₄ -Methacrolein		$253 \rightarrow 164$	253 ightarrow 122			

Table 3: MS/MS-parameters for the labeled and unlabeled carbonyl-DNPH-derivates and their corresponding internal standards sorted by retention time (RT). (IS: internal standard, MRM: multiple reaction monitoring)

4.2.2.4 Validation

The analytical work flow was validated according to the FDA Guideline 2018 [180] with slight modi-fications due to the matrix and sampling procedure. The validation does not cover the trapping efficiency during the sample collection. Only the carryover to a second glass impinger was tested with the result that one impinger is sufficient for trapping. The measured concentration of the carbonyles in the second impinger were as large as the daily determined background concentration in the DNPH-solution. The following validation criteria were investigated: selectivity, linearity, range, accuracy, precision, matrix effect and stability.

The specificity of the method was ensured by the fact that no interfering signals at the expected RT

of the internal standard were found and that the spiked amounts were found in the matrix within an accuracy of 90 and 115 %.

Intra- and interday precision along with the accuracies were tested at 4 different concentration levels at 3 different days in the undiluted and diluted (1:10, 1:100) DNPH solution . The precision across all analytes were better than 13 %. The accuracy of the high and medium levels were within the range 90 - 115 % and for the low levels between 80 % and 120 %.

The LODs and LLOQs were defined as S/N ratios 3:1 and 9:1, respectively. The LODs were calculated by the software using the signal-to-noise algorithm (LOD: 0.03 ng/ml). The LLOQ was set to 0.1 ng/ml for all analytes. The calibration ranged from 0.1 ng/ml to 500 ng/ml. No carryover was observed from the highest calibrator to a blank sample.

Accuracy and precision after dilution were determined in the two different matrices (smoke and aerosol) at three different levels. The accuracy was within 86 and 111 % and the coefficient of variation was lower than 10 %.

The stability was characterized by means of the short-term and post-preparative stability as well as freeze-thaw cycles. All analytes were found to be stable for 16 h at room temperature. The post-preparative stability was even proven for 10 days in the autosampler (10 °C) except for formaldehyde. Formaldehyde is enriched as soon as the vials are punctured, so there is no post-preparative stability. If the sample must be measured repeatedly, a new dilution must be made from the original sample. In addition, the blank must also be determined again. All analytes are stable for 3 freeze-thaw cycles with the exception of acetone. In the undiluted solution, acetone is stable for only one freeze-thaw cycle. Therefore, a 1:10 diluted aliquot must be prepared in sufficient quantity before the first freeze-thaw cycle. The stability of the stock solutions was checked for formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, crotonaldehyde and acrolein. The stock solution for the other carbonyls has not yet been checked. To check the stability of the stock solutions, stock solutions from 2016 and current stock solutions (2019) were identically diluted and compared. The stock solutions are stable for 2.5 years.

The matrix effect was determined in different matrices (cigarette, e-cigarette and DNPH-solution) in 2 different concentrations. 100 μ l of the solution was spiked with 10 μ l standard solution. As reference 100 μ l ACN were spiked with 10 μ l reference solution. No matrix effect was observed. The detailed validation protocol is summarized in Appendix A, Table 18 - 20.

4.2.3 Epoxides

Various trapping agents and chromatographic conditions were tested for the determination of the epoxides ethylene oxides (EO), propylene oxide (PO) and glycidol (GLY) in e-cig aerosol and main-stream smoke. The analytical method showing the best performance with regard to the sensitivity and recovery used the trapping agent toluene and the polar GC column a PoraBOND Q (25 m x 0.25 mm, 0.25 µm; Agilent, Waldbronn, Germany). However, the sensitivity of the final method with an LLOQ of 0.05 µg/ml was still not sufficient for the quantification of EO, PO and GLY in this project.

4.2.4 Tobacco specific nitrosamines

4.2.4.1 Chemicals

N-Nitrosoanabasin (NAB, 98 %), N-Nitrosoanatabin (NAT, 98 %), N-Nitrosonornicotin (NNN, 98 %), 4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK, 98 %) and NNK-d₃ (98 %) were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals Inc. (North York, Canada). Ammonium acetate (UPL/MS grade) and acetonitrile with 0.1 % formic acid (UPL/MS grade) was obtained from Biosolve BV (Valkenswaad, Netherlands). Ultrapure water was prepared by arium[®] pro ultrapure water system (Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany). The Cambridge filter (44 mm) were purchased from Borgwaldt (Hamburg, Germany).

The IS-Mix contains only NNK-d₃ (12.5 μ g/ml) because the corresponding deuterated internal standards of NAB, NAT and NNN are potentially occurring decomposition products of nicotine-d₇. 3.9 g of ammonium acetate were dissolved in 500 ml ultrapure water yielding a 100 mM ammonium acetate buffer.

4.2.4.2 Instrument and software

A Shimadzu Nexera X2 UPLC system including a binary pump, an autosampler, a degasser and a column oven (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan) and a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer QTRAP[®] 6500⁺ equipped with a Turbo V ion spray source, operating in positive ESI mode, was used for detection (AB Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany). High purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7%) was produced by a nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany).

For the generation and the processing of the data Analyst[®] 1.6.3 (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) was used.

4.2.4.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology

Prior to the trapping, 10 μ l IS-Mix were spiked on the Cambridge filter. 20 puffs of the e-cigarette or a single cigarette were trapped on a filter (puff regime described in Section 4.2). The filter was extracted with 10 ml 100 mM ammonium acetate buffer by rolling the sample for 40 min. 100 μ l are transferred into a microvial.

The e-liquid was analyzed by dilution $100 \,\mu$ l e-liquid with $900 \,\mu$ l $100 \,\mu$ M ammonium acetate buffer. $10 \,\mu$ l IS-Mix are added to $100 \,\mu$ l of the diluted e-liquid.

10 µl of the sample were injected on a Kinetex[®] 5 µm EVO C18 column (150 x 2.1 mm, 5 µm, Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany). The chromatographic separation was achieved with 0.1 % ammonium acetate buffer (eluent A) and acetonitrile with 0.1 % formic acid (eluent B) following this gradient elution: : 0-0.5 min: 10 % B; 0.5-2.0 min: 10 - 75 % B; 2.0-3.5 min: 75 % B; 3.5 – 6.0 min: 10 % B. The column was kept at 50 °C with a flow rate of 0.45 ml/min. The turbo-ion spray source settings were as follows: ion spray voltage = 5500 V, heater temperature = 500 °C, source gas 1 = 4.8 bar, source gas 2 = 5.5 bar, CAD gas = medium and curtain gas = 3.4 bar. Labeled and unlabeled analytes as well as the internal standard were monitored in the MRM mode (Table 4) using positive electrospray ionization (ESI⁺).

Analyte	RT	Quantifier MRM	Qualifier MRM	
	[min]	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	
NAB	2 70	$192 \rightarrow 162$	$192 \rightarrow 106$	
NAB-d ₄	2.70	$196 \rightarrow 166$	-	
NAT	2.65	$190 \rightarrow 160$	$190 \rightarrow 79$	
NAT-d ₄	2.05	$194 \rightarrow 164$	-	
NNK		208 ightarrow 122	208 ightarrow 148	
NNK- d7	2.5	$215 \rightarrow 126$	215 ightarrow 152	
NNK- d_4 (IS)		$211 \rightarrow 122$	-	
NNN	2.4	$178 \rightarrow 148$	178 ightarrow 120	
NNN- d ₄	2.4	$182 \rightarrow 152$	-	

Table 4: Mass transition and retention time (RT) of labeled and unlabeled N-Nitrosoanabasin (NAB), N-Nitrosoanatabin (NAT), N-Nitrosonornicotin (NNN), 4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK). MRM: multiple reaction monitoring.

4.2.4.4 Validation

Assay validation was carried out according to FDA guidelines for bioanalytical methods validation [180]. The following validation criteria were investigated: selectivity, linearity, range, accuracy, precision, recovery, matrix effect and stability. The selectivity was proven by different experiments. First, 6 different filters were checked for interference from the analyte and the internal standard. There was no interference on the retention time of either the analyte or the internal standard. In addition, accuracy was determined at LLOQ, which ranged from 87 to 117% for all analytes. Peak identity is confirmed by comparing the quantifier/qualifier ratio in six different matrix samples. For this purpose, the ratio described after determination from the calibration standards is compared with that of several selected matrix samples. The ratios determined differed less than 25% from the comparison value from standard solutions. Additionally, matrix effect was not observed.

The calibration range is between 2.5 and 1000 pg per filter. To determine the limit of detection, 3 different filters were spiked at the LLOQ and the signal-to-noise (S/N) ratio was calculated using the analysis software (Analyst®, Sciex). The averaged concentration at a calculated S/N=3 is defined as the LOD. The theoretical limit of quantification (LLOQ) is calculated from a signal-to-noise ratio of 9 (3 x LOD). The LLOQs of this method are 2.5 pg per filter for all analytes. Carryover effect was not observed at 1000 pg per filter.

The precision was determined by spiking all analytes onto the filters at 4 different concentrations (LLOQ (S1), L (S2), M (S5), H (S8)). For precision on one day ("intraday"), five filters per level were freshly prepared and processed separately. This was repeated on three days ("interday"). The coefficients of variation of the intraday and interday precision determinations are below 10.3 % (at LLOQ: 14.7 %) (intraday) and below 10.0 % (at LLOQ: 10.6 %) (interday) for all analytes. The accuracy was determined for all analytes analogous to the precision. The criteria for accuracy (medium and high level: 85 - 115 %, low level at LLOQ: 80 - 120 %) were met for all analytes and in the respective concentration ranges and were between 98 % and 111 % for the medium and high levels and between 94 % and 109 % for the low levels.

The recovery was determined at 3 different concentration levels (5.0, 50.0 and 500.0 pg per filter). The recovery was consistent over the complete concentration range for each analyte, but it varies between the different analytes (NAB: 25 %; NAT: 28 %; NNN and NNK: 10 %).

Four different tests are used to determine the stability of the analytes: the short-term stability test, the freeze-thaw stability test, the stability of the stock solutions and the post-preparative stability. Two matrix samples of different concentrations (5.0 and 500 pg per filter) are used to determine the sample parameters. The accuracy of the determinations should be between 85 % and 115 % (80 % - 120 % to 3 x LLOQ). The short-term stability is determined at room temperature and a storage time of about 16 h, which is supposed to simulate a maximum residence time of the sample during work-up at room temperature and during collection. All analytes show sufficient stability for up to 16 h at room temperature. Freeze-thaw stability is determined using 6 filters (3 x 5.0 and 3 x 500.0 pg per filter) for one freeze-thaw cycle. Stabilities for all analytes were confirmed for one freeze-thaw cycle. Post-preparative stability verifies the stability of the analytes after work-up. For this purpose, the processed sample was left in the autosampler for 2 and 14 days and then reinjected. For all analytes, except NNK, stability is shown over 14 days in the autosampler. NNK is stable for only 2 days in the autosampler due presumably to D-H exchange of the internal standard. The stability of the stock solutions in methanol showed a stability of several years for both the analyte and the internal standard. The detailed validation protocol is summarized in appendix A in Table 21 and 22.

4.3 Biomarker analysis

Three new methods were developed during this project and three existing methods were adapted for the labeled metabolites. The newly developed methods are described in detail and the summarized validation data are presented at the end of each section (the detailed validation results are shown in Appendix A). For the existing methods, there are method summaries and the adaption presented including the additional mass transitions and the adaption of the sample preparation. All of the seven methods were fully validated methods according the FDA Guideline 2013 [179] or the FDA Guideline 2018 [180].

The measurement was also conducted according to the FDA Guidelines [179, 180]. This includes the measurement of a calibration with at least 6 non-zero calibrators levels (plus a blank (S00) and a zero (S0)) per analytical run, a sufficient amount of QC samples (5 % of the unknown study samples at 3 levels, but at least 6 in each analytical run) and washes. Further details regarding the acceptance criteria and the amount of samples are described in Section 2.5.

4.3.1 Nicotine and its metabolites

4.3.1.1 Urinary metabolites

The complete set of urine samples from Part A and B of the clinical study was used for analysis to show the excretion kinetic of nicotine (Part A) and for comparing controlled use and ad libitum use (Part B). In total 980 urine samples were analysed using the following summarized method.

4.3.1.1.1 Chemicals

Cotinine ($\geq 98 \%$), nicotine ($\geq 99 \%$), ammonium formate (for HPLC, $\geq 99 \%$) and ammonium hydroxide solution ($\geq 25 \%$ in water) were purchased from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany). (3'R, 5'S)-3'-hydroxycotinine-O- β -d-glucuronide (N-CD₃) were from Syntheselabor Dr. Mark (Worms, Germany). Cotinine-methyl-d₃ ($\geq 98 \%$), (3'R, 5'S)-3'-hydroxycotinine ($\geq 99 \%$), trans-3'-hydroxycotinine methyl-d₃ ($\geq 95 \%$), nicotine-N- β -glucuronide ($\geq 98 \%$), nicotine-N- β -glucuronide methyl-d₃ ($\geq 96 \%$), cotinine-N- β -glucuronide ($\geq 98 \%$), cotinine-N- β -glucuronide methyl-d₃ ($\geq 98 \%$), 4-hydroxy-(3-pyridyl)-butanoic acid ($\geq 98 \%$), 4-hydroxy-(3-pyridyl)-butanoic acid-d₄ ($\geq 98 \%$), (1'S, 2'S)-nicotine 1'-oxide ($\geq 98 \%$), (1'S, 2'S)-nicotine 1'-oxide methyl-d₃ ($\geq 98 \%$), (R,S)-nornicotine ($\geq 97 \%$) and (R,S)-norcotinine ($\geq 98 \%$) were obtained from Toronto Research Chemicals (Ontario, Canada). Nicotine-d₃ ($\geq 96 \%$) was from CDN Isotopes Inc. (Quebec, Canada). Ammonium acetate (ULC/MS grade) and methanol (ULC/MS grade) were obtained from Th. Geyer (Renningen, Germany). Oasis MCX cartridges (60 mg, 3 ml) were obtained from Waters Corp. (Milford, MA, USA).

4.3.1.1.2 Instrument and software

A Shimadzu Nexera X2 UPLC system including a binary pump, an autosampler, a degasser and a column oven (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan) and a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer QTRAP[®]

6500⁺ equipped with a Turbo V ion spray source, operating in positive ESI mode, was used for detection (AB Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany). High purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7%) was produced by a nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany).

For the generation and the processing of the data Analyst[®] 1.6.3 (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) was used. The data evaluation was conducted with Office 2013 (Microsoft, Redmond, US) and Graph Pad Prism 8 (San Diego, US)

4.3.1.1.3 Method adaption

Nicotine and its 10 major metabolites in urine were determined according to a published and fully validated method of Piller et al. [74]. The quantification of nicotine- d_7 and its labeled metabolites required some minor modifications, including that 1 ml (instead of 0.5 ml) urine was used. Furthermore the internal standards for the nornicotine and norcotinine were replaced by nicotine- d_3 and cotinine- d_3 , respectively, because nicotine- d_7 yields nornicotine- d_4 and norcotinine- d_3 . The solid phase extraction using the Oasis MCX cartridges is fully described in [74]. The extract was evaporated to dryness and reconstituted in methanol. To improve the sensitivity the analysis was performed on a QTRAP[®] 6500⁺ in positive electrospray ionization mode. The gradient elution and mass transitions of the unlabeled substances were kept according to Piller et al. [74].

Analyte	RT	Quantifier MRM	Qualifier MRM	LLOQ
	[min]	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	[ng/ml]
Nicotine-d ₇	7.3	170 ightarrow 135	170 ightarrow 133	1.5
Cotinine-d ₇	6.4	$184 \rightarrow 84$	184 ightarrow 101	0.51
OH-Cotinine-d ₇	5.7	200 ightarrow 84	200 ightarrow 137	0.63
Nornicotine-d ₄	5.6	$153 \rightarrow 134$	153 ightarrow 136	1.20
Norcotinine-d ₄	6.0	$167 \rightarrow 84$	-	0.63
Nicotine-N-glucuronide-d7	4.9	$346 \rightarrow 170$	-	0.51
Cotinine-N-glucuronide-d7	2.5	360 ightarrow 184	-	0.99
OH-Cotinine-N-glucuronide-d7	4.9	$376 \rightarrow 200$	-	1.50
Nicotine-N-oxide-d7	5.3	186 ightarrow 133	$186 \rightarrow 121$	0.21
Cotinine-N-oxide-d ₇	4.8	200 ightarrow 84	200 ightarrow 102	1.50
Hydroxy-(pyridyl)-butanoic acid-d ₄	4.3	$182 \rightarrow 152$	-	0.63

Table 5: Mass transition and retention time (RT) of labeled nicotine and its 10 metabolites. MRM: multiple reaction monitoring, LLOQ: lower limit of quantification.

Additionally, the mass transition of the metabolites for nicotine- d_7 were implemented into the existing method (Table 5). These mass transitions were defined by clarifying the fragmentation pattern of the unlabeled and replacing the hydrogen with deuterium. The area of the unlabeled and labeled analytes were normalized to the area of the corresponding signal of their d_3 -labeled analogues. The labeled analytes were evaluated with the calibration slope of the unlabeled analytes. This was validated by comparing the calibration slopes of nicotine and nicotine- d_7 , nornicotine and nornicotine- d_4 as well as norcotinine and norcotinine- d_3 . The calibration slopes of each analyte pair was within the acceptances criteria (\pm 15 %).

The calibrations were performed using the the standard addition method with weighting. For this purpose, increasing amounts of the unlabeled standard compound were spiked into analyte-free matrix pool urine. The calibration ranges from 1.5 to 5000 ng/ml.

4.3.1.2 Nicotine and metabolites in plasma and saliva

The biological samples (plasma and saliva) from both Parts (A and B) were used for analysis of the pharmakokinetic of nicotine and cotinine in plasma. Additionally, the ratio between the plasma cotinine concentration and the saliva cotinine concentration were compared between the smokers and the vapers. For this purpose, the plasma and saliva samples were selected resulting in 1432 samples.

4.3.1.2.1 Chemicals

Cotinine (\geq 98 %), nicotine (\geq 99 %) sodium hydroxide (\geq 99 %) and ammonium formate (for HPLC, \geq 99 %) were purchased from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany). Cotinine-methyl-d₃ (\geq 98 %), (3'R, 5'S)-3'-hydroxycotinine (\geq 99 %), trans-3'-hydroxycotinine methyl-d₃ (\geq 95 %) were obtained from Toronto Research Chemicals (Ontario, Canada). nicotine-d₃ (\geq 96 %) was obtained from CDN Isotopes Inc. (Quebec, Canada). Formic acid (ULC/MS grade) and acetonitril (ULC/MS grade) were obtained from Biosolve BV (Valkenswaad, Netherlands). Ethyl acetate (for trace analysis) was purchased from Th. Geyer (Renningen, Germany).

For sample cleanup, different solutions were prepared. These were a 6 M sodium hydroxide solution and a 100 mM ammonium formate buffer (pH = 3.5) as eluent.

Additionally, four differently concentrated working solutions (AL 1: 1 ng/ml N; 5 ng/ml (OH)-Cot; AL 2: 10 ng/ml N; 50 ng/ml (OH)-Cot; AL 3: 100 ng/ml; N; 500 ng/ml (OH)-Cot; AL 4: 1 μ g/ml N; 5 μ g/ml (OH)-Cot) were prepared for the calibration. The IS-Mix containing 20 ng/ml N-d₃, 50 ng/ml (OH)-Cot-d₃ was prepared from methanol stock solutions.

4.3.1.2.2 Instrument and software

The utilized UPLC-MS/MS system consists of the Xevo TQ-S Triple Quadrupol mass spectrometer with electrospray ionization and the Acquity UPLC I-Class System with the modules: binary solvent manager, sample manager, sample organizer and column manager (Waters, Eschborn, Germany). High purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7 %) (was produced by a nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany) and the argon collision gas was provided by a compressed gas cylinder (Linde Gas, Pullach, Germany).

4.3.1.2.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology

Labeled and unlabeled nicotine, cotinine in plasma as well as labeled and unlabeled cotinine and

3'-trans-hydroxcotinine (OH-Cot) in saliva were determined by means of an UPLC-MS/MS based on [79]. To 100 µl plasma or saliva, 20 µl IS-Mix and 4 µl 6 M sodium hydroxide were added. The mixture was extracted with 1 ml ethyl acetate for 30 min. Subsequently the samples were centrifuged (15000 rpm, 4 °C, 15 min) and 900 µl of the supernatant were evaporated almost to dryness. The residue is reconstituted in 100 µl acetonitrile, of which 10 µl were injected into the UPLC-MS/MS system. Chromatographic separation was performed on an Acquity UPLC BEH HILIC column (2.1 x 150 mm, 1.7 µm; Waters, Eschborn, Germany). The elution was isocratic with 100 mM ammonium formiate buffer (pH = 3.5, eluent A) and acetonitril (eluent B) with a ratio of 20 % A and 80 % B. The column was isotherm at 40 °C with a flow of 0.4 ml/min. The source parameters were optimized to capillary voltage 3000 V, source offset 30 V, desolvation temperature 350 °C, desolvation gas 650 l/h, cone gas 150 l/h and the nebulizer 7 bar. Analytes and IS were ionized in the ESI positive mode. For quantification, the following mass transitions were utilized: m/z 163 \rightarrow 132 (nicotine), m/z 177 \rightarrow 80 (cotinine), m/z 193 \rightarrow 80 (OH-Cot), m/z 170 \rightarrow 135 (nicotine-d₇), m/z 284 \rightarrow 84 (cotinine-d₇), m/z 200 \rightarrow 84 (OH-Cot-d₇), m/z 166 \rightarrow 130 (nicotine-d₃), m/z 180 \rightarrow 80 (cotinine-d₃), m/z 196 \rightarrow 80 (OH-Cot-d₃). For the labeled and unlabeled analytes LLOQs were 0.1 ng/ml for nicotine and 0.5 ng/ml for cotinine and OH-cotinine. The calibrations were performed using the the standard addition method with weighting. For this purpose, increasing amounts of the unlabeled working solutions were spiked in ultrapure water. Water was used as a replacement because there was no analyte-free matrix available. The calibration ranges from 0.1 to 100 ng/ml for nicotine and from 0.5 to 500 ng/ml for cotinine and hydroxy-cotinine.

4.3.1.2.4 Validation

Assay validation was carried out according to FDA guidelines for bioanalytical methods validation [180]. The following validation criteria were investigated: selectivity, linearity, range, accuracy, precision, recovery, matrix effect and stability.

The specificity of the method was ensured by the fact that no interfering signals at the expected RT of the standard and internal standard were found and that the spiked amounts at LLOQ were found in the matrix within an accuracy of 80 and 120%.

Intra- and interday precision along with the accuracies were tested at 4 different concentration levels at 3 different days. The precisions across all analytes were better than 8% (at LLOQ: 16%). The accuracies of the high and medium levels were within the range 95 - 114% and for the low levels between 86 and 113%.

The LODs and LLOQs were defined as S/N ratios 3:1 and 9:1, respectively. The LODs were calculated by the software using the signal-to-noise algorithm (N: 0.02 ng/ml, Cot: 0.003 ng/ml and OH-Cot: 0.02 ng/ml) The LLOQs are more than a factor 3 high than the LODs due to the background contamination from the environment and the used material. The LLOQ was set to 0.1 ng/ml for N and 0.5 ng/ml for Cot and OH-Cot, respectively.

The recovery rate was for N and Cot between 59 % and 67 % and for OH-Cot between 29 and 39 %. The recovery was determined by comparing the extract from the plasma/saliva samples and the stock solutions in ACN with the expected concentration. In both matrices (aerosol/smoke) was not a matrix effect detected.

The calibration ranged from 0.1 ng/ml to 100 ng/ml for N and from 0.5 to 500 ng/ml for Cot and OH-Cot which. No carryover was observed from the highest calibrator to a blank sample. The stability was characterized by means of the short-term, long-term stability of the analytes in matrix and post-preparative stability as well as six freeze-thaw cycles. All analytes were found to be stable for 16 h at room temperature. The post-preparative stability was even proven for 5 days in the autosampler (10 °C). The freeze-thaw cycles were tested with the unprepared samples for six cycles and it was found that all analytes are stable. The long-term stability for N and Cot in matrix were proven for 14 months. The stability of the stock solution was given for 17 months for N and Cot. The detailed validation protocol is summarized in Appendix A Table 24.

4.3.2 Propylene glycol and Glycerol

The samples (urine, plasma and saliva) from Part A an B of the clinical study were used for analysis of the time-dependent uptake and excretion in different matrices. For this reason, 2410 samples were analyzed using the method described below.

4.3.2.1 Chemicals and solutions

Propylene glycol (\geq 99.5%), glycerol (\geq 99%), glycine (\geq 99%), sodium hydroxide (\geq 98%) and benzoyl chloride (Reagent Plus, \geq 99%) were purchased from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany). Glycerol-d₅ (\geq 99%) and propylene glycol-d₆ (\geq 99%) were obtained from CDN Isotopes Inc. (Quebec, Canada). ¹³C₃-Glycerol (99%) and ¹³C₃-propylene glycol (\geq 96%) were obtained from Synthèse Synthèse AptoChem (Montréal, Canada). Formic acid (ULC/MS grade) and acetonitril (ULC/MS grade) were purchased from Biosolve BV (Valkenswaad, Netherlands). Pentan (Chromanorm[®]) was obtained from VWR.

For sample cleanup, different solutions were prepared. These were a 4 M sodium hydroxide and a 10% glycine solution.

Furthermore, the stock solutions (SL) were prepared by weighing in each standard and internal standard and dissolve them in ethanol. Further dilution for the working solutions AL 1 (250 μ g/ml) and AL 2 (10 μ g/ml) were made in ultrapure water. PG-d₆ and G-d₅ were also further diluted with ultrapure water to a concentration of 5 μ g/ml for the IS-Mix.

4.3.2.2 Instrument and software

The LC-MS/MS system consists of the HPLC system HP 1100 (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) with the following modules: binary high pressure pump, column oven and degasser; the autosampler HTC PAL (Axel Semrau, Sprockhövel, Germany) and tandem quadrupol mass spectrometer API 4000[™] (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany). High purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7%) was produced by a nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany). For the generation and the processing of the data Analyst[®] 1.5.2 (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) was used.

4.3.2.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology

The determination of PG and G in plasma, urine and saliva is based on the Schotten-Baumann re-

action [189, 190]. The Schotten-Baumann method in aqueous solution using a strongly alkaline medium is well described for the benzoylation of glycols [191–194]. In this study the derivatization procedure was also used for trivalent alcohol glycerol. The benzoyl derivatives were prepared and extracted following the methods in the previous papers [194] with some modifications. 10 µl IS-Mix was spiked to 25 µl of biological sample. 500 µl 4 M sodium hydroxide solution, 100 µl benzoyl chloride and 2 ml pentane were added to the samples and mixed thoroughly for 15 min using a multishaker. To neutralize the excess of the derivatization agent 500 μ l glycine solution (10 % w/w) was added and agitated again for 15 min. Before transferring the supernatant (pentane layer), the sample was centrifuged (10 min. 4000 rpm, 10 °C). The pentane extract was evaporated to dryness. The residue was taken up in 100 µl ACN. 10 µl of the sample was injected in the LC-MS/MS system. The separation was performed on a on a Kinetex[®] 5 µm EVO C18 column (150 x 2.1 mm, 5 µm, Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany) setting the flow rate to 1.0 ml/min and the oven temperature to 40 °C. The gradient elution was conducted with a mobile phase water with 0.1 % formic acid (eluent A) and ACN (eluent B) (0-0.6 min: 50 % B; 0.7-2 min: 40 % B; 2.1-4.0 min: 20 % B; 4.1-6.0 min: 5 % B; 6.1-8.0 min: 50 % B). The tandem mass analysis was performed on the triple quadrupole MS (API 4000, Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) in positive mode with an electrospray ionization (ESI) using the following parameter of the Turbo V Ion Source: curtain gas: 2.1 bar, source gas 1; 4.1 bar, source gas 2: 3.4 bar, ion spray voltage: 5500 V, source temperature: 300 °C and collision gas: 0.7 bar. Labeled and unlabeled analytes as well as their corresponding internal standards were monitored in scheduled MRM mode (sMRM, Table 6) with a detection window of 60 sec.

The calibrations were performed using the the standard addition method with weighting. For this purpose, increasing amounts of the unlabeled standard compound were spiked in water. The calibration ranges from 0.1 to 150 μ g/ml. LLOQs for the ¹³C-labeled PG and G were 0.10 and 0.05 μ g/ml, respectively. LLOQs for the unlabeled PG and G were 0.1 μ g/ml.

Analyte	RT	Quantifier MRM	Qualifier MRM	IS	IS MRM	
	[min] $[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$		$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$		$[\text{m/z} \rightarrow \text{m/z}]$	
PG	2.1	285 ightarrow 163	285 ightarrow 105	d DC	$201 \rightarrow 160$	
$^{13}C_3$ -PG	2.1	$288 \rightarrow 166$	288 ightarrow 105	u ₆ -r0	$291 \rightarrow 109$	
G	2.1	$405 \rightarrow 283$	405 ightarrow 105	4 C	410 > 288	
¹³ C ₃ -G	3.1	408 ightarrow 286	408 ightarrow 105	u5-0	410→ 288	

 Table 6: MS/MS-parameters for the labeled and unlabeled propylene glycol (PG) and glycerol (G) and their corresponding internal standards (IS). RT: retention time, MRM: multiple reaction monitoring.

4.3.2.4 Validation

Assay validation was carried out according to FDA guidelines for bioanalytical methods validation [179] with minor modifications, mainly due to the lack of analyte-free matrix. The following validation criteria were investigated: selectivity, linearity, range, accuracy, precision and stability. The method shows high selectivity by using the LC-MS/MS technique, since at least one specific

mass transition is measured for each analyte. Peak identity is confirmed by comparing the quantifier/qualifier ratio in six different matrix samples. For this purpose, the described ratio in the matrix is compared to the ratio of the calibration standards in water. The determined ratios did not deviate significantly from those of the standard solutions (< 25 %). At the same time, the mass transitions of the analogous internal standards were checked for interference in matrix samples. No interference was observed. To confirm selectivity, matrix samples of different origins (N=6) are spiked at a medium concentration. The accuracy of the spiking was between 89.6 and 108.0 %.

Since no analyte-free matrix is available, the limit of detection (LOD) is determined by measuring 3 different matrix samples whose signal-to-noise ratio should not exceed the value 30. The signal-to-noise ratio is calculated using the script "S/N using 3 x Std Deviation" of the Analyst software version 1.5.2 (Sciex,Darmstadt, Germany). The theoretical limit of quantification (LLOQ) is calculated from a signal-to-noise ratio of 9 (3 x LOD). The verification and thus the determination of the actual LLOQ is done by measuring three different matrix samples concentrated at the LLOQ, whose precision (CV) in a 6-fold determination must be within \pm 20%. In addition, a concentration corresponding to the LLOQ is then spiked onto these samples. The accuracy of this addition must be between 80 and 120% in a 6-fold determination. The concentration of the smallest calibrator should also be selected so that it corresponds to the LLOQ. For this method the following confirmed LLOQs were obtained: PG: 0.1 µg/ml; G: 0.1 µg/ml. The linearity of the method was determined by calibration experiments in water. The calibration curve ranged from 0.1 - 100 µg/ml. A carryover effect was not observed until a concentration of 150 µg/ml.

Serial ("intraday") and day-to-day ("interday") precision were performed for all analytes in human urine and plasma, respectively. For serial precision, urine or plasma pools were used and analyzed five times each at three different concentrations. Day-to-day precision was measured by single determination (diluted, native or spiked with standard solutions) on six different days (criteria: medium and high level: $CV \le 15 \%$, low level up to a maximum of 3 x LLOQ: $CV \le 20 \%$). The coefficients of variation of the intraday precision determination ranged from 2.0 to 18.0 % for both analytes. The coefficients of variation of the interday precision determination range from 3.1 to 15.2 % for both analytes. The accuracy was determined for all analytes in water, for this purpose the water was spiked with standard solutions at three different concentrations and analyzed five times each. The criteria for accuracy (medium and high level: 85 - 115 %, low level at LLOQ: 80 - 120 %) were met for both analytes and in the respective concentration ranges and were between 92.0 and 106.4 %. For the 5-fold determination of accuracy, the same CV tolerances apply as for precision. These were also met.

Four different tests were conducted to determine the stability of the analytes: short-term, long-term, freeze-thaw, and post-preparative stability. In addition, the stability of the stock solutions is documented. Two matrix samples of different concentrations (one low level, one high level) are used to determine the sample parameters. The determined accuracy must be between 85 and 115%, and between 80 and 120% for concentrations $\leq 3 \times$ LLOQ. Short-term stability is determined at room temperature and a storage period of at least 16 h. This is intended to simulate a maximum storage time of the sample during processing at room temperature and during urine collection. All analytes showed stability at room temperature for up to 24 h. Freeze-thaw stability is determined with the

same sample processed and measured in triplicates after thawing twice, four times and six times. PG and G show stability over up to 6 freeze-thaw cycles. Post-preparative stability provides an indication of the stability of the final extracts under real storage conditions in the autosampler (approximately 10 °C). For this purpose, the extracts are immediately measured after sample preparation and then they remain in the autosampler. Both analytes did not show any changes in concentration after storage for 9 days in the autosampler (10 °C). The stock solutions in water are stable for 24 months. The long stabilities of matrix samples vary between 8 months and 21 months depending on the analyte and the matrix.

The detailed validation protocol is summarized in Appendix A Table 23.

4.3.3 Mercapturic acids

The mercapturic acids represent the uptake of the carbonyls, acrolein and crotonaldehyde, and the epoxides, ethylene oxide, propylene oxide and glycidol, which are associated among other things with smoking. To compare the amount of smoke-associated and vape-associated carbonyls/epoxides with each other, 669 urine samples were analysed. The 669 samples include the samples of the first 48 hours of Part A and the whole set of Part B.

4.3.3.1 Chemicals

N-Acetyl-S-(3-hydroxypropyl)cysteine (3-HPMA), ¹³C₃-¹⁵N-N-acetyl-S-(3-hydroxypropyl)cysteine (3- ¹³C₃- ¹⁵N-HPMA), and N-acetyl-S-(2-hydroxypropyl)cysteine (2-HPMA) were purchased from Synthèse AptoChem (Montreal, Canada). N-Acetyl-S-(2-hydroxypropyl)cysteine-d₃ dicyclohexylammonium salt (2-HPMA-d₃), N-acetyl-S-(3,4-dihydroxybutyl)-L-cysteine-d₇ (DHBMA-d₇), N-acetyl-S-(2-hydroxyethyl)-L-cysteine sodium salt (HEMA), N-acetyl-S-(2-hydroxyethyl-d₄)-L-cysteine (HEMA-d₄), N-acetyl-S-(3-hydroxypropyl-1-methyl)-L-cysteine dicyclohexylammonium salt (HMPMA), N-acetyl-d₃-S-(3-hydroxypropyl-1-methyl)-L-cysteine dicyclohexylammonium salt (HMPMA-d₃) were obtained from Toronto Research Chemicals (Ontario, Canada). Acetic acid, ammonium formate, formic acid, and sodium hydroxide were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Taufkirchen, Germany). Acetonitrile with 0.1 % formic acid (ULC/MS grade), acetonitrile (ULC/MS grade) and ammonium acetate (ULC/MS grade) were purchased from Biosolve BV (Valkenswaad, Netherlands).

4.3.3.2 Instrument and software

Method 1: The LC-MS/MS system consists of the two HPLC systems and tandem quadrupol mass spectrometer API 5000TM (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) equipped with a Turbo VTM. The first HPLC system, a HP 1200 (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) with the modules: binary high pressure pump, column oven and degasser; the HTC PAL autosampler (CTC Analytics, Zwingen, Switzerland) was used for the gradient elution and the second system, a HP 1100 (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) with a quaternary pump and a degasser for the online purification step. Method 2: Liquid chromatography was performed with a Nexera X2 System including a binary pump, an autosampler and a column oven (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan). A triple quadrupole mass

spectrometer QTRAP[®] 6500⁺ (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) equipped with a Ion Drive[™]Turbo V source, operating in negative ESI mode, was used for detection. Both methods used high purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7 %) which was produced by the nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany). For the generation and the processing of the data Analyst[®] 1.5.2 and 1.6.3 (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) were used.

4.3.3.3 Method adaption

The determination of the mercapturic acids is published by Pluym et al. [195] and divided into two different methods.

Method 1 (MA I, comprising among other MAs HEMA and HMPMA) includes an online purification step by means of column-switching. Urine samples are injected into the LC-MS/MS-system after dilution. Online-extraction using a restricted access material phase (LiChrosphere reversed-phase C8, 25 μ m, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) for clean-up and enrichment is followed by chromatographic separation on a Luna C8 (2) column (150 x 4.6 mm, 3 μ m, Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany). The method was fully validated for 10 MAs and published in 2015 [195]. The LLOQ for the labeled and unlabeled analytes are: (¹³C₂-)HEMA): 0.2 ng/ml; (¹³C₄)-HMPMA: 5.0 ng/ml.

Table 7: Mass transitions of the labeled and unlabeled mercapturic acids and their internal standards (IS). MRM: multiple reaction monitoring, $({}^{13}C_{3}$ -)2,3-dihydroxypropylmercapturic acid ((${}^{13}C_{3}$ -) DHPMA), (${}^{13}C_{3}$ -)3-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid ((${}^{13}C_{3}$ -3-HPMA)), (${}^{13}C_{3}$ -)2-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid ((${}^{13}C_{3}$ -3-HPMA)), (${}^{13}C_{3}$ -)2-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid ((${}^{13}C_{2}$ -)+

Method	Analyte	Quantifier MRM	Qualifier MRM	IS	IS MRM	
		$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$		$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	
	HEMA	$206 \rightarrow 77$	206 ightarrow 75	HEMA A	$210 \rightarrow 81$	
	¹³ C ₂ -HEMA	208 ightarrow 79	208 ightarrow 77			
MA I	НМРМА	$234 \rightarrow 105$	234 ightarrow 103			
	¹³ C ₂ -HMPMA	236 ightarrow 107	236 ightarrow 105	HMPMA-d ₃	$237 \rightarrow 105$	
	¹³ C ₄ -HMPMA	238 ightarrow 109	238 ightarrow 107			
	2-HPMA	$220 \rightarrow 91$	$220 \rightarrow 89$		$222 \rightarrow 01$	
	¹³ C ₃ -2-HPMA	223 ightarrow 94	-	2- H FWIA-U ₃	$223 \rightarrow 91$	
MA II	3-HPMA	$220 \rightarrow 91$	$220 \rightarrow 89$	13C. 15N 2 HDMA	$224 \rightarrow 01$	
MA II	¹³ C ₃ -3-HPMA	223 ightarrow 94	-	С3- N-5-ПРИА	$224 \rightarrow 91$	
	DHPMA	236 ightarrow 107	$236 \rightarrow 128$	DHDMA d	257 79	
	¹³ C ₃ -DHPMA	238 ightarrow 107	$238 \rightarrow 130$		$231 \rightarrow 18$	

The mercapturic acids 2-HPMA, 3-HPMA, and DHPMA are measured with Method II (MA II) by LC-MS/MS after evaporation of the urine sample and resuspension in 100 μ l methanol. 2 μ l of the resuspension was injected onto an Acquity UPLC BEH C18 column (150 x 3 mm; 1.7 μ m, Waters,

Eschborn, Germany). The method was fully validated for 8 MAs and published in 2015 [195]. DH-PMA was implemented into the existing method MA II, since glycidol (the precursor for DHPMA) was reported as a pyrolysis product of glycerol [25] (see Table 1). DHBMA was used as internal standard for DHPMA because the commercially available internal standard was ¹³C₃-DHPMA which is also the labeled analyte of interest. The method MA II was transferred on an UHPLC-MS/MS system (QTRAP 6500+/Shimadzu Nexera) in order to improve sensitivity for the intended purpose resulting in the following LLOQs: (¹³C₃-)2-HPMA: 0.5 ng/ml; (3-HPMA): 10 ng/ml; (¹³C₃-3-HPMA): 0.5 ng/ml; (DHPMA): 10 ng/ml; (¹³C₃-DHPMA): 0.8 ng/ml.

The mass transitions for both methods of the labeled analytes were selected according to the published fragmentation pathways of mercapturic acids [196] and they are summarized in Table 7.

4.3.4 Biomarker of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde

4.3.4.1 Chemicals and solutions

2-Methyl-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (98 %) was obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas,TX, USA). L-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (98 %), ${}^{13}C_3$ - ${}^{15}N$ -L-cysteine (98 %), Cys-Gly (\geq 85 %), hydrochloric acid (\geq 37 %), propyl chloroformate (98 %), isooctane (\geq 99.5 %), n-propanol (\geq 99.9 %), anhydrous pyridine (99.8 %), formaldehyde solution (37 wt. % in water), acetaldehyde (\geq 99.5 %) and ammonium formate for trace analysis were purchased from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany). Chloroform for residue analysis was from Promochem (Wesel, Germany). Methanol for residue analysis was obtained from Th. Geyer (Renningen, Germany). Formic acid (ULC/MS grade), methanol (ULC/MS grade) and acetonitrile (ULC/MS grade) were purchased from Biosolve BV (Valkenswaad, Netherlands). Ultrapure water was prepared by arium[®] pro ultrapure water system (Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany). Oasis MCX cartridges (150 mg, 6 ml) were obtained from Waters Corp. (Milford, MA, USA).

The internal standards ${}^{13}C_3$ - ${}^{15}N$ -thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (TCA) and ${}^{13}C_3$ - ${}^{15}N$ -2-methyl-thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (MTCA) as well as the dipeptides thiazolidine-4-carbonyl-glycine (TCG) and 2-methyl-thiazolidine-4-carbonyl-glycine (MTCG) were self-synthesized. The synthesis was performed according to Anni et al. [156]. Briefly, the ${}^{13}C_3$ - ${}^{15}N$ -cysteine or the cysteinylglycine was dissolved in 10 mM phosphate puffer (pH = 7.4). To the reaction mixture, FA and AA, respectively, was added and incubated at 37 °C for one hour. The samples were deep frozen (- 80 °C) and subsequently lyophilized. The received conjugate was purified by means of two different highperformance liquid chromatography methods coupled to UV/Vis detector. The structural analysis of the products were performed by electrospray ionization and an ion trap mass spectrometer (QTRAP[®] 6500⁺, Sciex). The purity was determined by UV/VIS.

For sample cleanup, different solutions were prepared. The propyl chloroformate solution contained 17.4 % propyl chloroformate, 11 % isooctane and 71.6 % chloroform. The concentration of the standards were corrected by the purity of the standards. The working solutions were prepared in water at 4 different concentrations: 100 µg/ml, 5 µg/ml, 200 ng/ml and 10 ng/ml for TCA and MTCA as well as 200 µg/ml, 10 µg/ml, 400 ng/ml and 20 ng/ml for TCG and MTCG. The IS-Mix had a concentration of 100 ng/ml of ${}^{13}C_{3}$ - ${}^{15}N$ -TCA and ${}^{13}C_{3}$ - ${}^{15}N$ -MTCA in water.

4.3.4.2 Instrument and software

Liquid chromatography was performed with a Nexera X2 System including a binary pump, an autosampler and a column oven (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan). A triple quadrupole mass spectrometer QTRAP[®] 6500⁺ (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) equipped with a Turbo V source, operating in positive ESI mode, was used for detection. High purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7%) was produced by the nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany).

4.3.4.3 Sample preparation and analytical methodology

Aliquots of 200 μ l of plasma were mixed with 20 μ l of IS-Mix and 500 μ l water. The derivatization was performed by adding 300 μ l n-propanol/pyridine (4:1; v/v) and 200 μ l propyl chloroformatsolution to the sample mixture, followed by mixing thoroughly. 2 ml isooctane are added and the samples are agitated for 5 min. After centrifugation (10 min, 4000 rpm, 10 °C) the upper organic phase was transferred into another vial and evaporated to dryness in a concentrator. The samples were reconstituted in 100 μ l 100 mM ammonium acetate / methanol (95:5; v/v) and 10 μ l of the solution was injected into the UPLC-MS/MS system.

Urine samples were prepared according to the plasma sample with some modifications. Prior to the derivatization step the urine samples were purified by solid phase extraction (SPE). Aliquots of $500 \,\mu$ l of urine were mixed with 50 μ l of IS-Mix and the pH was reduced to approximately 1 by adding 4 μ l fuming hydrochloric acid (HCl). SPE columns were preconditioned with 5 ml each methanol and 0.1 M HCl. The acidified urine samples were loaded on the SPE columns and then washed with 5 ml each 0.1 M HCl and methanol. Analytes were eluted with 2 ml methanol/ammonium hydroxide (90/10; v/v) under strong basic conditions (pH 12). The eluate was evaporated to dryness in a concentrator and reconstituted in 500 μ l water. The derivatization was performed as described for the plasma samples above.

Analyte	RT	Quantifier MRM	Qualifier MRM	IS	IS MRM	
	[min]	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$		$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	
TCG	2.5	$319 \rightarrow 174$	$319 \rightarrow 88$			
¹³ C-TCG	2.5	320 ightarrow 175	320 ightarrow 89	13C. 15N TCA	266 ightarrow 177	
ТСА	4.0	$262 \rightarrow 174$	262 ightarrow 88	C_3 - N-ICA		
¹³ C-TCA	4.9	263 ightarrow 175	263 ightarrow 88			
MTCG	27	$333 \rightarrow 188$	$333 \rightarrow 102$			
$^{13}C_2$ -MTCG	5.7	$335 \rightarrow 190$	$335 \rightarrow 104$	13C 15N MTCA	290×101	
MTCA	6.2	276 ightarrow 188	$276 \rightarrow 102$	C ₃ - IN-MICA	$280 \rightarrow 191$	
$^{13}C_2$ -MTCA	0.2	278 ightarrow 190	$278 \rightarrow 102$			

Table 8:	Quantifier	and qualifi	er mass t	ransitions	of (((m	ethyl-)tl	hiazolidine	carbo	xylic acid	((M)TCA	.) and
(methyl-)	thiazolidine	carbonyl g	glycine ((N	M)TCG) a	nd the	internal	standards	(IS) v	vith their	retention	times
(RT). MF	M: multiple	reaction n	nonitoring								

Chromatographic separation was achieved by gradient elution on a Kinetex ® 1.7 µm Phenyl-Hexyl (100 mm x 2.1 mm, Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany) with 0.1 % formic acid in water (eluent A) and a mixture of MeOH and ACN (3:7; v/v) with 0.1 % formic acid (eluent B) as mobile phases. Gradient elution started with 30 % B for 1 min, followed by a linear increase to 45 % until 6.5 min, a step to 100 % B within 0.01 min. 100 % B was held for 2.5 min before the column was re-equilibrated for 3 min at 30 % B. The flow rate was set to 0.75 ml/min throughout the entire run. The column oven was maintained at 50 °C. The turbo-ion spray source was operated in positive ionization mode using the following settings: ion spray voltage: 5500 V, ion source heater temperature: 600 °C, source gas 1: 4.8 bar, source gas 2: 5.5 bar, and curtain gas: 3.4 bar. The mass transitions were monitored in scheduled multiple reaction monitoring (sMRM) mode, applying a retention time window of 60 s. Quadrupoles Q1 and Q3 were operated in unit resolution. Quantifier and qualifier mass transitions and retention time are summarized in Table 8.

The calibrations were performed using the the standard addition method with weighing. For this purpose, increasing amounts of the working solutions were spiked in water. The calibration ranges from 0.5 to 200 ng/mL for (M)TCA and 1.0 to 400 ng/mL for (M)TCG, respectively.

4.3.4.4 Validation

Method validation was performed according to the FDA guidelines [180] for bioanalytical method validation with minor modifications, mainly due to the lack of analyte-free matrix. Method performance was evaluated by determining the following parameters.

Quantification was performed with the standard addition method. The calibration was obtained by spiking increasing amounts of analyte into water. Calibration slopes of water and urine were found to be in the similar range (water against urine CV: 5.9 % (TCA); 10.1 % (MTCA); 7.3 % (TCG); 14.6 % (MTCG) water against plasma CV: 3.5 % (TCA); 7.8 % (MTCA); 5.4 % (TCG); 11.3 % (MTCG)), proving the applicability of water as surrogate matrix.

The linear range was found to be from 0.5 to 200 ng/ml for (M)TCA and 1.0 to 400 ng/ml for (M)TCG, respectively. Least squares weighted (1/x) linear regression of the analyte/IS peak ratios was employed to determine the calibration curve (y = A + B * x), with the parameters: A as intercept, B as slope, y as peak area relative to IS and × the concentration (ng/ml) of the analyte. The mean coefficient of determination (r^2) was 0.998 ± 0.002 (N = 5) for the 4 different analytes. The LODs were defined as a signal-to-noise ratio of 3:1 and the resulting LLOQ were set to 0.5 and 1.0 ng/ml, respectively. LLOQs were verified in five replicates analysed on three different days with respect to the accuracy and precision.

The method specificity was determined by assessing the accuracy of spiked matrix samples as well as the Quan/Qual ratio for each analyte. The accuracy of the spiking was found to be in the range of 87 - 113 % across all analytes. The deviation of the Quan/Qual ratio between the aqueous solution and the matrix samples was below 25 % for all analytes in both matrices (plasma, urine). Intra- and interday accuracy in spiked matrix samples were found to be within 85 - 115 % and the precision expressed as the coefficient of variation (CV) was < 12 %.

The recovery rate was determined in urine which covers only the SPE-step due to the lack of purified

derivatized standard. The recovery rate ranged from 66 % for TCA and MTCA (CV < 15 %) and 33 % for MTCG and TCG (CV < 15 %). The matrix effect was determined by a post-column infusion experiment due to the lack of analyte-free matrix. Ion suppression by matrix interference was in the range of -33 % and -60 % for plasma and urine, respectively. However, it was demonstrate that the internal standards fully compensate for the ion suppression (data not shown). No carryover was observed from a highly concentrated standard to a blank sample.

The analytes proved to be stable under all testing conditions except for the long-term stability of MTCA. Stability experiments included 6 freeze-thaw cycles, post-preparative stability over 5 days in an autosampler (10 °C), short-term stability overnight at room temperature as well as the long-term stability. The long-term stability was conducted after 2 months and 21 months. TCA is stable until 21 months. In contrast, stability for MTCA could only be proven for 2 months, showing a decline to 60 % compared to the reference standard after 21 months.

4.3.5 Tobacco specific nitrosamines

The analysis of the TSNAs in urine samples was conducted with a subset of 75 samples. The subset included three samples of each subject: the morning urine, the urine spot after 24 h and the last urine spot of Part B (vaper) or the last urine spot of Part A (smoker).

4.3.5.1 Chemicals and solutions

N-Nitrosoanabasin (NAB, 98 %), N-Nitrosoanatabin (NAT, 98 %), N-Nitrosonornicotin (NNN, 98 %), 4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol (NNAL, 98 %) and 4-(Methyl-d3-nitrosamino)-1-(3pyridyl)-1-butanol (NNAL-d₃, 98 %) were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (Ontario, Canada). Ammonium hydroxide solution (\geq 25 % in water), disodium hydrogen phosphate (\geq 99.5 %), potassium phosphate dibasic (\geq 98 %), heptane (Chromasolv[®] Plus for HPLC 99 %), hydrochloric acid (\geq 37 %), and toluene (Chromasolv[®] Plus for HPLC \geq 99.9 %) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Taufkirchen, Germany). Dichloromethane (Picograde[®]) and hexane (Pico-grade[®]) were supplied by LGC GmbH (Wesel, Germany). Methanol (for residue analysis) was purchased from Th. Geyer (Renningen, Germany). β -Glucuronidase (E.Coli, 500 kUnits) were from Megazyme (Bray, Ireland). Acetonitrile with 0.1 % formic acid (ULC/MS grade) and ammonuim acetate (ULC/MS grade) were purchased from Biosolve BV (Valkenswaad, Netherlands). SupelMIPTMTSNA SPE cartridge (50 mg, 10 ml) was obtained from Supelco (Bellefonte, USA). Oasis MCX cartridges (60 mg, 3 ml) were obtained from Waters Corp. (Milford, MA, USA).

For sample cleanup, different solutions were prepared. These were a 10 mM ammonium acetate buffer, a 0.1 M hydrochloric acid solution and a 0.67 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). Additionally the following working solutions and IS Mix were prepared: AL I: 10 μ g/ml NAB, NAT, NNN, NNAL in water; AL II: 100 ng/ml NAB, NAT, NNN, NNAL in water; 10 ng/ml NAB, NAT, NNN, NNAL in water; 200 pg/ml; IS-Mix: 25 ng/ml NNAL-d₃ in ultrapure water.

4.3.5.2 Instrument and software

Liquid chromatography was performed with a Nexera X2 System including a binary pump, an au-
tosampler and a column oven (Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan). A triple quadrupole mass spectrometer QTRAP[®] 6500⁺ (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) equipped with an Ion Drive[™]Turbo V source, operating in positive ESI mode, was used for detection. High purity nitrogen (purity: 99.7%) was produced by the nitrogen generator NGM 22-LC/MS (cmc Instruments, Eschborn, Germany).

For the generation and the processing of the data Analyst[®] 1.6.3 (Sciex, Darmstadt, Germany) was used.

4.3.5.3 Method adaption

The method is a fully validated and well established method in our laboratory. Therefore the method will be only summarized briefly and the method adaption will be shown.

1.5 ml phosphate buffer (pH 7.2), 20 µl IS-Mix and 40 µl β -glucuronidase (155 units/µl) were added to 8 ml urine. After the incubation (37°C, over night) the samples were centrifuged for 20 min at 3300 g. The first of the two solid phase extractions were performed with the SupelMIPTMTSNA SPE cartridges. The SPE cartridges were preconditioned with 10 ml 10 % MeOH in DCM, 1 ml MeOH and 1 ml water. The enzymatically cleaved urine sample was loaded onto the cartridge and was washed with 10 mM ammonium acetate buffer, 2 ml heptane and 1 ml hexane. After drying of the cartridge the sample was eluted with DCM/toluene (1:1, v/v). The eluate was dried in a concentration and the residue reconstituted in phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). The second solid phase extraction was performed with the Oasis MCX cartridges. The cartridges were preconditioned 2 ml MeOH, 1 ml 10 % ammonium hydroxide solution in MeOH and 2 ml water. The reconstituted samples were loaded to the SPE cartridges. The cartridges were washed with 2 ml water, 2 ml 0.1 N hydrochloric acid and 2 ml MeOH. The analytes were eluted with 2 ml 10 % ammonium hydroxide solution in MeOH and evaporated to dryness in a concentrator.

Table 9: Mass transition and retention time (RT) of labeled and unlabeled N-Nitrosoanabasin (NAB), N-
Nitrosoanatabin (NAT), N-Nitrosonornicotin (NNN), 4-(Methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanol (NNAL),
MRM: multiple reaction monitoring.

Analyte	RT	Quantifier MRM	Qualifier MRM	LLOQ	IS	IS MRM
	[min]	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$	[pg/ml]		$[m/z \rightarrow m/z]$
NAB	2.65	$192 \rightarrow 162$	$192 \rightarrow 106$	5.0		
NAB-d ₄	2.05	196 ightarrow 166	-	5.0		
NAT	2.60	190 ightarrow 160	190 ightarrow 79	2.0		
NAT-d ₄	2.00	194 ightarrow 164	-	2.0	2.0 NNAL d.	212 182
NNAL	2 12	210 ightarrow 180	210 ightarrow 93	2.0	ININAL-U3	$213 \rightarrow 103$
NNAL-d ₇	2.12	$217 \rightarrow 187$	-	2.0		
NNN	2 30	178 ightarrow 148	$178 \rightarrow 120$	0.5		
NNN-d ₄	2.30	182 ightarrow 152	-	0.5		

The residue was taken up in 100 μ l MeOH/water (1:4, v/v) and 10 μ l of the extract were injected on an Acquity UPLC HSS T3 column (100 mm x 2.1 mm, 1.8 μ m, Waters, Eschborn, Germany).

The gradient elution was performed with water with 0.1 % ammonium acetate (pH 6.2 - 6.4, eluent A) and acetonitrile with 0.1 % formic acid (eluent B) following this gradient: 0-1 min: 10 % B, 1-2 min: 10 - 50 % B, 2-4 min: 50 % B and 4-7 min: 10 % B. The column was kept isotherm at 45 °C and with a flow of 0.6 ml/min.

The tandem mass analysis was performed on the triple quadrupol mass spectrometer QTRAP[®] 6500⁺ in positive mode with an IonDriveTMTurbo V source using positive electrospray ionization. The parameters of the source are summarized in the following: curtain gas: 2.4 bar, source gas 1: 3.1 bar, source gas 2: 3.1 bar, ionspray voltage: 5500 V, source temperature: 500 °C and collision gas: high. The labeled and unlabeled analytes were monitored in MRM mode. The internal standard for all analytes was NNAL-d₃ due to the fact that the other corresponding internals standard are potential degradation products of nicotine-d₇. The mass transitions, retention times and LLOQs are summarized in Table 9.

The calibrations were performed using the standard addition method with weighting. For this purpose, increasing amounts of the unlabeled standard compound were spiked in water. The calibration ranges from 0.5 to 1500 pg/ml.

4.3.6 Determination of creatinine

Creatinine was determined for the option to normalize the urine samples. For this purpose, all urine samples including Part A and B were analyzed resulting in 978 samples.

4.3.6.1 Chemicals

Creatinine (\geq 98 %, anhydrous) and an aqueous picric acid solution (0.9-1.1 %) was supplied by Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, Missouri, United States of America). Sodium hydroxide solution (5 mol/l in water), hydrochloric acid (31.5 % in water) and water (Emsure grade) were obtained from Merck KGaA (Darmstadt, Germany). For sample cleanup, different solutions were prepared. These were a 1 g/l creatinine solution, a 0.1 mol/l hydrochloric acid and a 0,25 mol/l sodium hydroxide solution.

4.3.6.2 Instrument and software

The microplate reader Genios (Tecan, Krailsheim, Germany) was used for the creatinine determination. The data processing and evaluation was conducted with the software MagellanTM(Tecan, Krailsheim, Germany) and Excel 2013 (Microsoft, Redmond, USA).

4.3.6.3 Method description

Sample preparation and measurements were performed according to a validated SOP and DFG method [197]. Briefly, the urine samples were 1:51 diluted with water. Subsequently, the samples were centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 5 min at ambient temperature. All samples were measured in duplicates on 96-well plates. 50 μ l sample were transferred into a well and 200 μ l of a freshly prepared 1:1 solution of the sodium hydroxide solution and picric acid solution were added. The 96-well plate was closed with a lid and placed in the plate reader for incubation and measurement. After 45 minutes at 36 °C the plates were stirred for 60 s and the absorption measurement at 492 nm with 60 scans was started.

Quantification was performed with the standard addition method. Calibration was performed with a set of 8 calibrators to achieve an appropriate calibration range (2 - 70 μ g/ml). Due to the lack of analyte-free matrix samples, the calibration was prepared in ultrapure water as surrogate matrix.

4.4 Statistical methods

Data evaluation was performed for all subjects and group comparisons were done for the vaping subgroups (10 W and 18 W). Note that dosimetric data based on labeled precursors obtained from vapers should not be compared to those of the smokers of the positive control group due to the completely different product designs. Urinary excretion kinetics were evaluated on an individual basis while plasma and saliva PK analysis was assessed both on an individual level as well as group-wise. The data set was too small to evaluate normal distribution, yet, it was postulated that the data is not normally distributed. Therefore, a non-parametric test (Kruskal-Wallis test) for group comparisons was applied . The described statistical tests and the data plotting was conducted with GraphPad Prism 8 (San Diego, US). Raw data were evaluated with regard to mean \pm SD; median; min; max; AUC (if applicable); confidence intervals (CI 95) were calculated using GraphPad Prism 8 (San Diego, US), SPSS (IBM, Armonk, US) and Microsoft Excel 2013 (Microsoft, Redmond, US).

5 Results

5.1 Clinical Study

The clinical study was performed between 11-Nov-2016 and 18-Feb-2017 at the clinical research organization (CRO) CTC North in Hamburg, Germany. Ethical approval was received on 13-Sep-2016 according to the Helsinki declaration [184] by the ethical commission of the Medical Chamber of Hamburg (Germany).

25 healthy male subjects participated in the clinical study; five of them were experienced smokers and the other 20 experienced vapers. The 20 vapers were randomly assigned to either the high wattage group (18 W) or the low wattage group (10 W) and divided into 5 subgroups (SG 2-6). The e-vaper subgroups completed successfully Part A. One subject in SG 3 refused to participate in Part B of the study due to personal reasons. Consequently, only 19 of the 20 vapers participated in Part B. Subgroup 1 included five smoker (positive control group) who completed only the Part A of the study according to the study plan.

The participants of the study were between 21 and 56 years old (mean age 39.4). The mean age of 20 vapers was 38.0 (21 - 56) years, that of the 10 subjects vaping with 10 W in Part A 37.7 (24 - 56) years and of the 10 subjects vaping with 18 W was 38.3 (21 - 50) years. The mean age of the 5 cigarette smokers ('positive control' in Part A) was 44.6 (25 - 53) years. Mean ages between the various subgroups were not significantly different.

The vapers in the clinical study self-reported 90 (15 - 245) puffs/d resulting in a mean e-liquid consumption of 11.6 (1.5 - 50) ml/d. The cigarette smokers stated a mean daily cigarette consumption of 29 (15 - 40). In Part A (controlled vaping) of the study, 10 W vapers consumed, on average, 1.26 (range: 0.74 - 1.66) g/10 sessions. The corresponding values for the 18 W vapers were 1.48 (0.60 - 3.11) g/10 sessions. The difference was statistically not significant. In each session 10 puffs were taken resulting in 100 puffs over the day. During Part B (free vaping of the e-cigarette with labeled liquid), the average e-liquid consumption was 1.69 (0.08 - 4.65) g/d and the chosen wattage was 10.8 (5.0 - 20.0) W.

The sampling was largely carried out according to the study plan. One blood sample in SG 1 (123: smoker) could not be collected due to difficulties with the venipuncture. In the same group two urine container were interchanged (121 and 124: smoker) and an exact assignment to respective subject was not possible anymore. The two urine samples were excluded from the analysis. The biggest issue was the sputum collection. The sputum collection was executed non-induced. During the SG2 it was decided to limit the generation of sputum to two due to the exhaustion of the subjects. Therefore only a little number (instead of 216) of sputum samples were collected. Overall the smoker had less difficulties with collecting sputum samples than the vaper. Another problem of the collection of non-induced sputum is the differentiation between sputum and saliva. Thus the matrix sputum was not analyzed during this thesis. A detailed summary of deviation is shown in Appendix C in Table 30.

Adverse effects

The smokers did not report any adverse event which were related to the study procedure. Adverse events were reported for four subjects in SG 2. One subject (104; 10 W) fainted during the blood

draw, which most likely was an effect of the blood drawing process rather than the vaping. The subject had to lay down for the following blood draws. No further adverse events were reported for this subject. The second subject (105; 18 W) vomited during the fourth vaping session. He was asked if he would like to abort the study which he denied. Furthermore, he was encouraged to change his rather intensive vaping behavior, in order to better cope with the inhaled vapor. The study PI was informed and gave his approval to continue the study. The third subject (101; 18 W) reported heartburn after vaping during both Part A and B of the study. Another subject (103: 18 W) stated to feel pressure in the head after the first vaping session. The feeling disappeared on the second study day and did not reappear in Part B of the study. Two subjects developed a thrombophlebitis in their elbows due to the vein catheter. The effect was resolved by removing the catheter and some concomitant medication. Still, the blood draw could be continued. A summary of adverse events is provided in Appendix C Table 29.

5.2 Liquid and aerosol characterization

5.2.1 Propylene glycol, Glycerol and Nicotine

The labeled reference standards purchased from Synthèse AptoChem and the 100 % labeled liquid containing ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG, ${}^{13}C_3$ -G, and N-d₇ prepared in-house were quality controlled with regard to purity and amount/abstinence of unlabeled compound by means of the newly developed GC-MS method (Section 4.2.1). Isotopic purity was confirmed for all three analytes. In analogy, the composition of the e-liquid used for this study supplied by Happy Liquid was confirmed regarding its PG, G and N content. The study e-liquid containing 10 % of labeled PG, G and N, intended for use in the clinical study was quality controlled (Table 10). Analysis of the applied study e-liquid yielded 41.4, 47.0 and 1.0 % of unlabeled PG, G and nicotine, respectively. The corresponding percentages for the labeled constituents were 5.1, 5.4 and 0.1 %. Characterization of the prepared e-liquid proved the correct composition of PG, G, and N in the unlabeled as well as in the labeled form. The clinical study was performed using the same lot of custom-made liquid. Using identical e-cigarette devices and e-liquid derived from the same production lot ensured comparability throughout the entire study for all vaping subgroups.

	PG	${}^{13}C_3$ -PG	G	$^{13}C_3-G$	Ν	N-d ₇
	[% (w/w)]		[% (w/w)]		[% (w/w)]	
Unlabeled e-liquid	11.8	-	53.9	-	1.2	-
(Happy Liquid)	44.0					
Labeled e-liquid						
(100 % labeled	-	50	-	50	-	1.3
e-liquid)						
Study e-liquid		5.1	47.0	5.4	1.0	0.1
(Unlabeled e-liquid	41.4					
spiked with 10 %	41.4					
labeled e-liquid)						

Table 10: Mass percentages (% (w/w)) of the unlabeled and the labeled liquids as well as the final spiked liquid which was used in the clinical study. PG: propylene glycol; G: glycerol; N: nicotine.

The same method as for the e-liquids was applied to stable-isotope labeled e-liquid aerosols. The aerosol was generated by means of a 1-channel-smoking machine at 10 W and 18 W and trapped on a Cambridge filter (CF). The measurements were conducted for the two different powers and the spiked non-filter cigarette including 8 replicates. The average consumption of e-liquid was 1.54 g per 100 puffs (10 W) and 2.72 g per 100 puffs. The e-cig aerosol obtained under the conditions described in Section 4.2 contained 4.04 mg PG, 3.30 mg G, 0.087 mg nicotine, 0.46 mg $^{13}C_3$ -PG, 0.45 mg $^{13}C_3$ -G, and 0.008 mg nicotine-d₇ per puff when vaped with 10 W. Corresponding values for vaping with 18 W were 4.67, 6.58, 0.138, 0.56, 0.87, 0.86 and 0.012 mg/puff. Non-filter cigarettes spiked with 13.4 mg $^{13}C_3$ -PG, 13.6 mg $^{13}C_3$ -G, 0.32 mg nicotine-d₇ yielded 0.13, 0.18 and 0.013 mg/puff of the labeled PG, G and nicotine, respectively. In general, higher levels of labeled PG and

G were obtained in e-liquid aerosols compared to the non-filter cigarette smoke under the applied conditions.

The e-liquid manufacturer was asked to provide an e-liquid with 50:50 PG:G including 1.2 % nicotine. The results of the analysis showed that the e-liquid met this expectations. The labeled e-liquid and the study e-liquid were internally prepared and also met requirements. All the six analytes were quantifiable in aerosol of the study e-liquid and mainstream smoke of the spiked cigarette. The obtained ratio fitted well to the desired values.

5.2.2 Carbonyls

Seven aldehydes (formaldehyde (FA), acetaldehyde (AA), acrolein (ACR), crotonaldehyde (CR), propionaldehyde (PA), acetone (AT) and methacrolein (MA)) were measured in e-cigarette aerosol and cigarette mainstream smoke as well as in the e-liquid in their labeled and unlabeled form. Due to the high background contamination of the carbonyls, especially for FA, AA and AT, all presented data are background corrected. The carbonyl concentrations was assessed in a ten-fold determination.

In cigarette mainstream smoke, all carbonyls which were expected to be formed from labeled PG and G according to Figure 3 were detected (labeled FA, AA, ACR, CR and PA). In addition, ¹³C-labeled AT and MA were observed. Mean concentrations ranged from 6.3 ng/puff for ¹³C-FA to 290 ng/puff for ¹³C₃-AT (Table 15). The corresponding unlabeled compounds were mostly obtained at much higher amounts in smoke between 74 ng/puff (FA) and 31,000 ng/puff for AA.

The observed per puff amounts in the aerosol of the EC were lower than in the cigarette smoke by several orders of magnitude both for the labeled and unlabeled carbonyls, except for FA where the difference was less pronounced (2- to 4-fold higher levels in smoke). Only ¹³C-FA, ¹³C₂-AA and ¹³C₃-ACR were quantifiable in the aerosol, averaging 2.4 and 4.4 ng/puff, 0.23 and 0.55 ng/puff as well as 0.7 and 1.1 ng/puff for the 10 W and 18 W vaping conditions, respectively. Notably, the increase of these carbonyls in the 18 W compared to the 10 W vaping conditions was around 1.6- to 2.3-fold. ¹³C-labeled CR, MA and PA were not detectable (below the LOD) and ¹³C₃-AT was below the LLOQ in EC aerosol. In analogy to the labeled carbonyls, vaping at 10 W yielded lower amounts than at 18 W for the unlabeled analytes. The following rank order was observed for unlabeled carbonyls: methacrolein (< LLOQ) < crotonaldehyde (< LLOQ at 10 W and 0.27 ng/puff at 18 W) < propionaldehyde < acetone ≈ acrolein < formaldehyde ≈ acetaldehyde (see Figure 12). A ratio (R = amount unlabeled/amount labeled) of around 10 was observed for FA and ACR in aerosol reflecting the 10 % replacement of PG and G in the e-liquid, while AA yielded a significantly higher ratio of 81 to 84 (Table 15).

Besides the calculation per puff for the sake of comparison with the mainstream smoke data, the concentrations of labeled FA, AA, and ACR were also determined based on the e-liquid consumption as ng/g e-liquid. This normalization takes into account the variability in aerosol generation due to the differing wattage applied. Thus, concentrations on a per gram e-liquid basis should be better suited to compare aerosol amounts between studies regardless of the puffing regime applied [94].



Figure 12: Comparison of the unlabeled (top) and the labeled (bottom) carbonyl amounts per puff in ecigarette aerosol (aerosol) and main stream smoke (smoke) (black = 10 W; orange = 18 W) and smoke (green); background corrected. The bar graphs illustrate the mean with the 95 % confidence interval. Formaldehyde (FA); acetaldehyde (AA); acrolein (ACR); crotonaldehyde (CR), propionaldehyde (PA); acetone (AT) and methacrolein (MA).

There were no significant differences in the concentrations based on e-liquid consumption between the two power settings with highest concentrations found for labeled FA (150 and 162 ng/g e-liquid) followed by labeled ACR (80 and 80 ng/g e-liquid) and AA (15 and 20 ng/g e-liquid).

Additionally, the carbonyl concentration of the study liquid was assessed in a ten-fold determination. Unlabeled FA and AA were detected in amounts of 100 ng/g liquid and 265 ng/g liquid. The other five carbonyls were not detected (< LOD). Small amounts of labeled AA were measured in the study liquid. But labeled FA were not found in the liquid.

The formation of FA, AA and ACR during e-cigarette use can be attributed to PG and G because these three analytes were quantifiable in their labeled form. The spiked cigarette work as positive control since the formation of the seven labeled carbonyls were observed.

5.2.3 Tobacco specific nitrosamines

In order to assess the thermal decomposition of nicotine to tobacco specific nitrosamines, NNN, NNK, NAB and NAT were analysed in smoke, aerosol and the e-liquid. Labeled and unlabeled TSNA were not detected in e-liquid and the aerosol of the e-liquid. In the mainstream smoke, only the unlabeled TSNAs were detected (NAB: 6.34 ± 1.56 ng/puff; NAT: 34.80 ± 5.19 ng/puff; NNK: 28.29 ± 5.75 ng/puff; NNN: 62.47 ± 15.25 ng/puff). The measured amounts fit well with previous publications [139, 198, 199].

5.3 Nicotine and its metabolites

5.3.1 Urinary metabolites

The urinary metabolites include nicotine (N) and its ten metabolites (cotinine (Cot); 3'-trans-hydroxycotinine (OH-Cot); glucuronides of nicotine (N-Gluc), cotinine (Cot-Gluc) and 3-OH-Cot (OH-Cot-Gluc); nicotine-N-oxide (NNO); cotinine-N-oxide (CNO); nornicotine (NorN); norcotinine (Nor-Cot); 4-hydroxy-(3-pyridyl)-butanoic acid (HyPyBut)). All analytes were quantifiable in their unlabeled and labeled form except for CNO-d₇. The measured metabolites cover almost of 95 % of the nicotine uptake [74].

The ratio between the labeled and unlabeled metabolites exceeded mainly the factor ten due to the long half-life of the metabolites with exception of nicotine. Smokers excreted, on average, the lowest amounts of labeled metabolites and the highest amounts of unlabeled metabolites of the 3 subgroups. A significant difference between the two vaper groups was not observed. The labeled N, Cot, NorN, NorCot, N-gluc, NNO, HyPyBut were within the observation period fully excreted (< LLOQ after 61 h). The other three cotinine metabolites were still quantifiable.

Additionally, the total nicotine equivalents (TNE) were calculated for the three subgroups. TNE is the molar sum of nicotine and its 10 major metabolites expressed as nicotine mass (see equation 8).

TNE
$$[\mu g] = \sum \frac{\text{excreted mass (metabolite)}}{M (\text{metabolite})} * M (\text{nicotine}) + \text{excreted mass (nicotine)}$$
(8)

TNE = total nicotine equivalentsM = molar mass

The time pattern for the excretion of TNE is shown in Figure 13. The shown data encompassed the urine samples of Part A of the study (72 h). The amounts of labeled and unlabeled TNE excreted in urine show the following rank order for the 3 subgroups: labeled TNE: cigarette smokers < 10 W vapers ≈ 18 W vapers; unlabeled TNE: 10 W vapers ≈ 18 W vapers < cigarette smokers; Figure 13. The elimination half-lives of the urinary nicotine metabolites (12 – 20 h, [200] prevent that 10-times of the labeled TNE amounts reach the actually measured amounts of unlabeled TNE (Figure 13). The total amount of labeled TNE after the 10 vaping/smoking sessions amounted to 760, 810 and 470 µg for the 10 W, 18 W vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively, corresponding to 7.6, 8.1 and 13.2 mg nicotine (labeled TNE was not complete after 72 h (62 h after the last vaping/smoking session) due to the above mentioned analytes.



Figure 13: Time pattern for the excretion of labeled and unlabeled total nicotine equivalents (TNE) in two vaping groups (10W (black/grey) and 18 W (orange/red)) and one smoking subgroup (green) during Part A of the clinical study. The labeled TNEs are multiplied by 10 for the vapers (according to the spiking) and 28 for the smokers (deduced form nicotine plasma concentrations). Error bars are not shown for a better clarity.

5.3.2 Nicotine and metabolites in plasma and saliva

Nicotine, its major metabolite cotinine and trans-3'-hydroxycotinine were determined in plasma and saliva (Figures 14, 15). Mean nicotine plasma concentrations (both labeled and unlabeled) for all 3 subgroups (vapers with 10 W, vapers with 18 W, cigarette smokers) are shown in Figure 14 (a). After each vaping/smoking session, a peak in the nicotine level was observed resulting in a sawtooth-shaped curve with ten maxima. A longer decline was observed between the fourth and the fifth vaping (smoking) session which was caused by the lunch break of approximately two hours. Range of maximum concentrations of 0.91 - 3.35 ng/ml (mean: 1.39 ng/ml) for nicotine-d₇ was obtained in the vapers of the 10 W group. In the 18 W group, the corresponding values were moderately, but not significantly higher (range: 0.40 - 5.47, mean: 1.90 ng/ml). The area under curve (AUC over the time period of 72 h of Part A) for labeled/unlabeled nicotine in plasma was calculated to amount to 0.73/7.17, 0.89/8.56, 0.45/12.45 ng/ml * h for low wattage, high wattage vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively. In the vapers, plasma levels of unlabeled nicotine were 10 times higher than that of the labeled alkaloid, reflecting the ratio in the e-liquid. In the smokers, the ratio of unlabeled to labeled nicotine in plasma was about 28. Higher variations in the high wattage compared to the low wattage group was observed. Smokers showed slightly lower concentrations of labeled nicotine, whereas levels of unlabeled nicotine were higher as compared to the vapers. The highest mean nicotine plasma levels (unlabeled + labeled) were observed after the last (10th) vaping session and amounted to 16.5 and 19.8 ng/ml for the 10 and 18 W vapers, respectively. The 5 smokers reached the mean maximum of 31.5 ng/ml after the 8th cigarette. Plasma levels of labeled nicotine decreased

within 48 h (36 h after the last vaping/smoking session) below the LOD of the analytical method. Plasma levels of labeled and unlabeled cotinine for all three subgroups are shown in Figure 14 (b). Vaping/smoking session-dependent peaks for cotinine, if any, were only observed for the labeled metabolite. Maximum cotinine plasma concentrations for all subgroups were reached about 2 h after the last vaping/smoking session. Labeled plasma cotinine increased from zero (prior to the first vaping/smoking session) to maximum levels of 3.5, 4.4 and 2.5 ng/ml in 10 W vapers, 18 W vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively. Cotinine (labeled and unlabeled) was still measurable in the last blood sample drawn (61 h after the last session). AUC for labeled cotinine amounted 3.46, 4.92 and 3.02 ng/ml * h for low wattage, high wattage vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively.



Figure 14: Comparison of the nicotine uptake of vapers (black/grey = 10 W (Low W); orange/red = 18 W (High W)) and smokers (light green/dark green) in plasma. The labeled (lab = d_7 -labeled analyte) concentrations are multiplied by 10 for the vapers (reflecting the spiked amount) and 28 for the smokers. Figure a shows the results for nicotine and Figure b illustrates the results for cotinine over 72 hours. Error bars are not shown for a better clarity.

Cotinine and trans-3'-hydroxycotinine (3-OH-Cot) were measured as metabolites of nicotine in saliva. Time patterns for salivary concentrations of cotinine (labeled and unlabeled) were very similar to those in plasma (Figure 15). Prior the first vaping session unlabeled cotinine started with relatively high background. Whereas the labeled cotinine start at 0.0 ng/ml. The time pattern for salivary co-tinine resembles that of plasma cotinine, however, no distinct peaks for labeled cotinine in saliva of vapers were observed. Mean maximum levels of labeled cotinine at the end of Day 1 amounted to 1.8, 2.4 and 1.2 ng/mL for 10 W vapers, 18 W vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively. Corresponding AUCs for labeled cotinine in saliva were 2.4, 3.1, and 1.7 ng/ml * h. Differences between the two vaping groups for salivary cotinine data were not significant.

OH-Cot concentrations in saliva show similar time patterns for Part A (Figure 3) as the corresponding cotinine levels. Since OH-Cot is secondary metabolite of nicotine (cotinine is a primary metabolite), peak levels of labeled OH-Cot appeared almost 12 h later than those for labeled cotinine (Figure

15b). The highest concentrations of labeled 3-OH-Cot in saliva occurred significantly later than that for labeled cotinine (14 h after the last vaping/smoking session). The maximum concentrations of the labeled OH-Cot were 3.00 ± 0.69 ng/ml, 2.96 ± 0.76 and 4.46 ± 0.70 for the 10 W vaper, 18 W and smoker, respectively. AUC values for labeled OH-Cot in saliva amounted to 0.43, 0.42 and 0.31 ng/ml * h for 10 W, 18 W vapers and cigarette smokers. The differences for the two vaping groups were not statistically significant. In the sample subset of one subject, nor cotinine neither OH-cotinine were measurable in plasma and saliva.



Figure 15: Salivary concentrations of labeled and unlabeled cotinine (a) and OH-Cot (b) in two vaping (black/grey = 10 W; orange/red = 18 W) and one smoking (light green/dark green) subgroup during Part A of the clinical study. Note that the labeled compounds were multiplied by 10 and 28, respectively. (Low W = 10 W group, High W = 18 W group, lab = d_7 -labeled analyte). Error bars are not shown for a better clarity.

In the vapers, plasma levels of unlabeled nicotine were 10 times higher than that of the labeled alkaloid, reflecting the ratio in the e-liquid. In the smokers, the ratio of unlabeled to labeled nicotine in plasma was about 28. Apart from nicotine, all the other unlabeled metabolites were measurable at the start of the clinical study. Using the nicotine-d₇ as precursor allowed the unequivocal assignment of the metabolites to the study e-liquid. The nicotine uptake during the clinical was quiet similar for both power settings (10 W and 18 W).

5.4 Propylene glycol and Glycerol

Labeled and unlabeled PG and G levels were measured in 3 different bodyfluids (plasma, saliva, urine) of the 3 different groups. The shown data is already multiplied with the factors defined by the nicotine uptake (vaper: 10 and smoker: 28) representing the spiking levels.

G did not show a vaping-session dependent increase neither in plasma of vapers nor smokers. Plasma levels of the unlabeled G stayed at a level of $30 - 40 \,\mu$ g/ml in all three subgroups, independent of the vaping/smoking sessions (Figure 16, right). Labeled G in plasma were at or below the LOD of the method in all 3 subgroups.

Plasma PG levels in vapers showed defined peaks after each session for both labeled and unlabeled PG. Corresponding levels for smokers were much lower and were less distinct after smoking a cigarette. PG yielded labeled maximum concentration (c_{max}) of 0.20 µg/ml (10 W), 0.21 µg/ml (18 W) and 0.075 µg/ml (smoker). Maximum concentrations of PG were reached after the last (10th) vaping session ($t_{max} = 10.8$ h). In case of unlabeled PG, a background level between 0.5 and 1 µg/ml was observed while no background was detected for ¹³C₃-labeled PG. After 24 h (equivalent to a time period of 13 hours after the last vaping session), plasma levels of labeled PG were below the LOD of the analytical method. AUC for labeled plasma PG over 24 h were calculated to amount to 0.078, 0.091 and 0.031 µg/mL * h in 10 W vapers, 18 W vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively. Ratios of unlabeled plasma PG (10 W: 13.7; 18 W: 14.4; smoker: not applicable) to labeled PG were significantly higher than 10, due to the background of unlabeled PG caused by sources other than the e-cigs. However, no differences with reference to the applied power were found.



Figure 16: Plasma concentrations of propylene glycol (PG) and glycerol (G) over 72 hours in vapers (black/grey = 10 W; orange/red = 18 W) and smokers (light green/green). The ${}^{13}C_3$ -labeled concentrations are multiplied by 10 (vapers) and 28 (smokers) based on the results of plasma nicotine concentrations. For G are only the unlabeled concentrations are shown because the ${}^{13}C_3$ -labeled were not quantifiable. Error bars are not shown for a better clarity.

PG and G were also determined in saliva . No vaping/smoking session-dependent pattern (meaning no increase after each session was observed) for both analytes (neither labeled nor unlabeled) was found (Figure 17). The labeled concentrations were increased from zero (prior first session) to 25 to 40 μ g/ml after the first session. For the next 10 h the ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG varies between 8 and 40 μ g/ml with no association to the consumed product. Vapers, in general, were observed to have higher unlabeled PG in saliva compared to smokers on Day 1, when the vaping/smoking sessions took place. The labeled PG in the smoker showed fairly the same time curve as for the vaper. The unlabeled G is unvarying at a concentration between 0.5 and 3 μ g/ml over the whole study time except for the high power group. They show at Day 1 an increase after the first session comparable to the PG time curve. Overall, high variability is observed in the saliva data in all 3 subgroups.



Figure 17: Salivary levels of labeled and unlabeled PG and G in two vaping (10 and 18 W) and one smoking subgroup. Note that the labeled results already multiplied by ten due to the 10% replacement of the e-liquid.(Low W = 10 W group, High W = 18 W group, lab = ${}^{13}C_3$ -labeled analyte). Error bars are not shown for a better clarity.

Urinary excretion kinetics of PG and G for all 3 subgroups are shown in Figure 18. The peak excretion of PG (labeled and unlabeled) in all groups was reached shortly after the last vaping/smoking session. The excretion occurring from the study device was completed about 36 h after the last exposure since the levels of ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG were no longer detectable. The unlabeled PG concentration goes back to the initial concentration during the same time period. It is noteworthy that no ${}^{13}C_3$ -G was detectable in any of the subgroups. Unlabeled G in urine showed no relationship to the vaping/smoking sessions.



Figure 18: Urinary levels of labeled and unlabeled PG and G in two vaping (10 and 18 W) and one smoking subgroup (Part A). Note that the labeled results already multiplied by ten due to the 10% replacement of the e-liquid. (Low W = 10 W group, High W = 18 W group, lab = ${}^{13}C_3$ -labeled analyte)

Propylene glycol is a suitable biomarker for recent e-cigarette use except for saliva. The halflife seems to be similar to nicotine. Glycerol is not a suitable biomarker because the labeled glycerol was not quantifiable in the body fluids and the unlabeled glycerol stayed at the same level over the whole observation period.

5.5 Mercapturic acids

HEMA (biomarker of ethylene oxide) and HMPMA (biomarker of crotonaldehyde) were measured together in MA I (cf. Section 4.3.3). Both unlabeled analytes were detected in the urine samples over 48 h. The excretion of HEMA was similar between the two vaping groups (Mean: 10W: 7.7 μ g, 18 W: 6.8 μ g). Compared to the smoker (Mean: 12.1 μ g), the excreted amount was only half as large (Figure 19, left). The excreted amounts varied from 8.4 to 16.6 μ g for the smoker and 3.2 to 12.6 μ g for the vaper. HMPMA showed a similar behavior. The vaper excretions were in the same range (88 - 312 μ g) and the smoker excreted in the same observation period twice as much (363 - 455 μ g, Figure 19, right). The labeled analogues of both analytes were not detected in any of the study groups, including the positive control group.



Figure 19: Boxplot diagram excreted masses of HEMA (N-Acetyl-S-(2-hydroxyethyl)-L-cysteine, biomarker of ethylene oxide) and HMPMA (N-Acetyl-S-(3-hydroxypropyl-1-methyl)-L-cysteine, biomarker of crotonaldehyde) over 48 h in all three groups (vapers (10 W and 18 W) and smokers (S)). The whiskers represent the 95 % confidence interval.

The other three mercapturic acids (2-HPMA, 3-HPMA and DHPMA) were analysed using the MA II (cf. Section 4.3.3). 2-HPMA, the mercapturic acid of propylene oxide, was found in the two vaper groups in similar amounts (10 W: 20.4 - 53.4 μ g, 18 W: 15.8 - 43.7 μ g). The results do not indicated a power associated increase. In comparison to the smoker the excreted amounts were approximately half as large (Smoker: 26.2 - 84.6 μ g). For ¹³C₃-2-HPMA, amounts between 2.8 and 78.1 μ g excreted after 48 hours in urine were observed in the smoking group (Figure 20). In contrast, no ¹³C₃-2-HPMA was detectable in the urine samples of the vaping groups despite the highly sensitive determination which was applied (LLOQ of ¹³C₃-2-HPMA: approx. 1.25 ng/ml). The excretion was completed 24 h after the last smoking session (Figure 20 right top). The highest excretion rate were reached shortly after the last vaping session.



Figure 20: Boxplot diagram for excreted mass of ${}^{13}C_3$ -2-HPMA over 48 h in all three groups (left). The whiskers represent the 95 % confidence interval. Representative excretion rates of ${}^{13}C_3$ -2-HPMA for smokers (upper right) and vapers (lower right) over 48 h.

Similarly, 3-HPMA, as metabolic product of acrolein in urine, was detected in the same pattern as 2-HPMA but with distinct higher concentrations (Smoker: 700 - 1491 μ g; 10 W: 219 - 670 μ g; 18 W: 240 - 568 μ g). ¹³C₃-3-HPMA was detected (96.2 – 197.5 μ g total amount excreted after 48 hours) in the smokers. ¹³C₃-3-HPMA levels were lower (mostly < LLOQ) in the vaping subgroups (0.1 – 1.5 μ g total amount excreted after 48 hours). Nevertheless, vaping-dependent excretion kinetics were found for ¹³C₃-3-HPMA in most of the vapers (Figure 21, right, bottom). Yet, it has to be noted that the concentration ranges found in the vapers were far lower compared to the smokers. Urinary levels of ¹³C₃-3-HPMA were about 300 times lower in vapers compared to smokers. There was not a power associated increase of 2-HPMA formation in the two vaper groups observed (Figure 21, left)



Figure 21: Boxplot diagram for excreted mass of ${}^{13}C_3$ -3-HPMA over 48 h in all three groups (left). The whiskers represent the 95 % confidence interval. Representative excretion rates of ${}^{13}C_3$ -3-HPMA for smokers (upper right) and vapers (lower right) over 48 h.

Finally, the highest labeled MA concentrations in e-cigarette vapers were found for ¹³C₃-DHPMA,

the MA of glycidol (Figure 22, left). It was found that $2.4 - 8.7 \mu g$ total amount of labeled DHPMA was excreted within 48 hours in vapers, indicating a moderate formation and subsequent metabolism of glycidol specifically attributed to vaping. In comparison, ${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA formation during combustion of spiked CC was significantly higher, as can be concluded from urinary ${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA concentrations in the smoking subgroup (10.8 – 31.7 µg total amount excreted within 48 hours). As for labeled 3-HPMA, a session-dependent excretion kinetic in urine was observed for ${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA in both vapers and smokers (Figure 22, right). Average amounts of ${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA excreted by the vaping groups with 10 and 18 W were similar. Hence, there is not a power dependent increase observed.



Figure 22: Boxplot diagram for excreted mass of ${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA over 48 h in all three groups (left). The whiskers represent the 95 % confidence interval. Representative excretion rates of ${}^{13}C_3$ -DHPMA for smokers (upper right) and vapers (lower right) over 48 h. The whiskers represent the 95 % confidence interval.

These results show that ¹³C₃-acrolein (¹³C₃-3-HPMA) and ¹³C₃-glycidol (¹³C₃-DHPMA) are formed during aerosolization from ¹³C₃-propylene glycol and ¹³C₃-glycerol, respectively. In contrast the other investigated biomarkers (¹³C₂-HEMA, ¹³C_{2/4}-HMPMA, ¹³C₃-2-HPMA) were not quantifiable in the vapers. ¹³C₃-2-HPMA (biomarker of propylene oxide) was detected in the urine samples of smokers, suggesting that propylene oxide is formed during pyrolysis from propylene glycol. ¹³C₂HEMA (biomarker of ethylene oxide) and ¹³C_{2/4}-HMPMA (biomarker of crotonaldehyde) also were not quantifiable in smokers.

5.6 Biomarker of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde

Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (TCA) and thiazolidine-4-carboxyl glycine (TCG) are specific biomarkers of exposure of formaldehyde. 2-Methylthiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (MTCA) and 2-Methylthiazolidine-4-carboxyl glycine (MTCG) are both specific biomarkers of exposure of acetaldehyde. All four biomarkers were measured in urine and plasma.

Their unlabeled forms did not show a session dependent increase for any of the subgroups in plasma (Figure 23). In addition, there was no difference in the concentrations of the unlabeled analytes between the vaping and the smoking groups. The plasma concentrations ranged from 1.1 to 6.5 ng/ml for TCA and 2.7 to 28.1 ng/ml for TCG. MTCA and MTCG showed a similar high inter-individual variation as TCG/TCA resulting in 3.08 ± 0.41 ng/ml (vaper) and 2.37 ± 1.23 ng/ml (smoker) for MTCA as well as 0.98 ± 0.21 ng/ml (vaper) and 0.77 ± 0.40 ng/ml (smoker) for MTCG. The presented data for the both vaper groups (10 W and 18 W) were combined for a better overview. The concentration of the ¹³C₃-labeled analogues were below the LOD of the analytical method in plasma.



Figure 23: Plasma concentrations of Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (TCA), thiazolidine-4-carboxyl glycine (TCG), 2-Methylthiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (MTCA) and 2-Methylthiazolidine-4-carboxyl glycin in vaper (orange) and smoker (green) over 72 h. The vaping/smoking sessions took place between 1 and 12 h. This area is stretched for a better visualization. The two vaper groups were combined for a better overview.

The excreted amounts of the unlabeled biomarkers over 50 h across all groups were from 175 to $786 \,\mu g$ for TCA and 987 to 5012 μg for TCG, respectively. There was no difference observed between the smoker and the vaper. Significant differences were observed between smokers and vapers for the labeled TCA and TCG. Figure 24 shows a significant accumulation in smokers and a slight

accumulation in vapers. The urinary excretion of ${}^{13}C_3$ -labeled TCA and TCG was completed 14 hours after the last cigarette which indicates a smoking session dependence. For vapers, concentrations were mostly obtained below the LLOQ. Hence, the smoking group which served as a control group clearly proved the applicability of the analytical approach in case of formaldehyde (TCA). In contrast to TCA, no measurable excretion of labeled MTCA was observed after the vaping/smoking sessions. The three different groups showed similar trends, both for labeled and unlabeled MTCA. However, the concentration of the labeled MTCA was mostly below the LOD for all subjects. During method development it appeared that MTCA was not stable over time, neither in standard solutions nor in QC material (urine). A significant decline in MTCA concentrations was already observed within one week in urine. Therefore, the missing response to vaping/smoking for MTCA could be attributed to the lack of stability and does not necessarily reflect the absence of the formation of acetaldehyde from PG or G during vaping/smoking.



Figure 24: Box plots of the total amounts of the biomarkers excreted over 48 h after controlled vaping (10 W, 18 W)/smoking (S). Lines and boxes represent the median and the 25th/75th percentile, respectively. Error bars illustrate the 5th and 95th percentile.

Thiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (TCA) and thiazolidine-4-carboxyl glycine (TCG) are suitable urinary biomarkers of formaldehyde since both were formed in their labeled as well as unlabeled form in smokers and vapers after exposure to the study e-liquid and the spiked cigarette. Consequently, the formation of formaldehyde from propylene glycol and glycerol through thermal decomposition was proven. The discovered amounts in the vapers are clearly lower than in smokers. 2-Methylthiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid (MTCA) and 2-Methylthiazolidine-4-carboxyl glycine (MTCG) were only detected in their unlabeled form and did not show a difference between the smoker and the vapers. The lack of labeled MTCA and MTCG in urine might be due to the discovered instability of both substances during sample storage.

5.7 Tobacco specific nitrosamines

Based on the results of the aerosol, it was not expected any TSNA formation from labeled N as a precursor. Therefore, only a small subset of urine samples was analyzed comprising the first eight collected urine voids for smokers and two urine samples for the vapers (urine void before the first vaping session and the last urine sample of Day 1 in which one would expect the highest levels according to the study design). No labeled NNAL or NNN were detected in the selected urine samples. Unlabeled TSNAs were only measurable in the urine samples of smokers, as expected due to the fact that the precursors (NNK and NNN) are formed during tobacco production (curing) and are transferred to mainstream smoke.

These results strongly suggest that nicotine in e-liquid is not a precursor for TSNAs during vaping. Furthermore, the results with the smokers of N-spiked cigarettes suggest that nicotine in tobacco is also not a precursor for NNK and NNN in smoke.

5.8 Part B

Nineteen of the 20 vapers who participated in Part A also took part in Part B. The subjects collected the saliva samples in the morning at home and stored them in a cooling bag. Another saliva sample was collected at the clinical site in the afternoon. The urine samples were collected be the subjects themselves over the whole day and stored in cooling bag. The plasma sample was collected in the afternoon. In this different matrices, nicotine and its 10 metabolites, propylene glycol, glycerol, mercapturic acids and the biomarkers of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde were analyzed.

During Part B (ad libitum vaping of the e-cigarette with labeled liquid), the average daily e-liquid consumption amounted to 1.81 (0.08 - 4.54), 1.69 (0.19 - 4.65) and 1.58 (0.09 - 4.31) g on Day 1, 2 and 3, respectively. Use pattern was evaluated by means of the subjects' diaries for Part B (Appendix B). Mean puff number per day was 66.7 - 111.1 puffs in 24 hours. Mean wattage applied was 10.8 W which is slightly higher than the 10 W applied in the low wattage group during Part A. The maximum wattage setting in the free part was 20 W which was above the conditions for high wattage group in Part A (18 W). Hence, the wattage conditions specified in the controlled Part A reflected the range preferred by the subjects during free use rather well.

Propylene glycol and glycerol

In Part B, the subjects were asked to collect in the morning on their own saliva and urine samples. In the afternoon at the clinical site saliva and urine samples and additionally plasma samples were collected. The time patterns shown in Figure 25 represent the PG time curve under free vaping conditions. Note that the levels for the labeled metabolites were multiplied by 10, so that the orange curves should approach the blue curves during the course of Part B of the study, provided that the subjects used exclusively the e-cigarette with the spiked e-liquid (ratio unlabeled/labeled = 10). There is not a background contamination of the ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG at the first time point in the plasma samples. At following 3 days the ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG remains quiet stable at a concentration between 0.00 µg/ml and 4.1 µg/ml in plasma. The ratio between the labeled and the unlabeled results in 60.8.



Figure 25: Time pattern of unlabeled (blue) and labeled (orange) biomarker levels for propylene glycol (PG) in plasma (A), salivary PG (B) and PG in urine (normalized to creatinine (crea)) under free vaping conditions of Part B of the clinical study. Note that the levels for the labeled metabolites were multiplied by 10, so that the orange curves should approach the blue curves during the course of Part B of the study, provided that the subjects used exclusively the e-cigarette with the spiked e-liquid (ratio unlabeled/labeled = 10) and that there were also no other sources for the uptake of PG.

In contrast the PG concentration in saliva shows a high inter- and intra-individuality which is rep-

resented be the high error bars. In time pattern of saliva (Figure 25 B) a clear vaping dependent increase can be observed. In the afternoon (24 h, 48 h and 72h), the ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG concentration fits well to the PG concentration which can be deduced to e-cigarette consumption immediately before the sample collection. A similar behavior was observed in Part A. This indicates again that PG in saliva might not be a suitable biomarker.

The average urinary ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG increased from 0.00 mg/g crea (before receiving the test e-cigarette) to 2.48 mg/g crea within the first 24 h. On the following days the average urinary ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG decrease to 1.19 mg/g crea even so the subject where allowed the use the test device. The single values show also for some subject that they did not use the test device because their ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG is 0.00 mg/g crea over all the three days.

Nicotine and its metabolites

The labeled nicotine plasma concentrations allow the calculation of a vaping-derived total plasma nicotine level of 9.0 ng/ml (Appendix D Table 32). Vaping-derived concentration is calculated from the measured labeled concentration multiplied by 10. In contrast, the mean unlabeled plasma nicotine levels reached a concentration of 14.5 ng/ml on Day 3 (Appendix D Table 32), resulting in difference between the labeled and unlabeled nicotine of 5.5 ng/ml. The ratio between labeled and unlabeled nicotine is 16.1 which is clearly higher than in Part A.



Figure 26: Time pattern of unlabeled (blue) and labeled (orange) biomarker levels for nicotine (N) in plasma (A), cotinine (Cot) in plasma (B) and saliva (C) as well as hydroxy-cotinine (OH-Cot) in saliva (D) under free vaping conditions of Part B of the clinical study. Note that the levels for the labeled metabolites were multiplied by 10, so that the orange curves should approach the blue curves during the course of Part B of the study, provided that the subjects used exclusively the e-cigarette with the spiked e-liquid (ratio unlabeled/labeled = 10).

Plasma cotinine concentrations attributable to use of the experimental e-cig in Part B (= level of labeled cotinine x 10) was 41.6 ng/ml on Day 3 compared to 202.7 ng/ml of unlabeled plasma (Fig-

ure 26). Total plasma cotinine levels (labeled + unlabeled) at the end of Part B was 206.8 ng/ml. Concentration of salivary cotinine at the end of Part B were 25 ng/mL (due to use of the experimental e-cig) and 130 ng/mL (total unlabeled cotinine) (Figure 26), thus confirming the ratios observed for plasma cotinine. Salivary OH-Cot behaved similar as cotinine.

Assuming a creatinine excretion rate of 1.5 g/d, it can be estimated that 7.5 mg/d TNE were excreted on Day 3 of Part B due to the subjects' e-cig consumption (Appendix D Table 32), which is very close to the nicotine uptake of the vapers with 10 W during the 10 experimental vaping sessions of Part A. The excretion of unlabeled TNE on Day 3 of Part B can be estimated to amount to 15 mg/d.

Thermal decomposition products

For the thermal decomposition products (MA, TSNA, MTCA/TCA), the spot urine samples did not show any trends or differences in-between vaping groups concerning the investigated biomarkers in Part B. As for Part A, labeled ¹³C₃-3-HPMA and ¹³C₃-DHPMA were found in all subjects whereas ¹³C₃-2-HPMA, ¹³C₃-HEMA, and ¹³C_{2/4}-HMPMA were not observed. The unlabeled MTCA and TCA showed mainly higher values in Part B than in Part A. The labeled ¹³C-TCA and ¹³C₂-MTCA were mostly below the LLOQ of the analytical method (Appendix A Table 25 and 26).

6 Discussion

The applicability of the labeled e-liquid ingredients PG, G and nicotine was investigated in a clinical study with 20 experienced male vapers. In Part A of the study, subjects vaped an e-cigarette equipped with an e-liquid with 10 % of the unlabeled PG, G and nicotine replaced with ¹³C-PG, ¹³C-G, and d₇-nicotine, respectively, under controlled conditions. Vaping took place on Day 1 of Part A in 10 sessions, each comprising 10 puffs with a frequency of 2/min. Blood, saliva, urine and sputum samples were collected prior, during and after the vaping day until the morning of Day 4 (72 h after start of controlled vaping). As a (positive) control, 5 male smoked 10 non-filter cigarettes each, spiked with a mixture of labeled PG, G and nicotine parallel to the 10 vaping sessions.

6.1 Test products

Propylene glycol (PG) and glycerol (G) are the main ingredients in the e-liquid. In the cigarette is usually low amounts of PG and G which are used are humectant. For establishing the cigarettes as positive control in the clinical study, they needed to be spiked with a similar amount of ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG and $^{13}C_3$ -G as the consumed e-liquid per session (10 puffs). The cigarette was spiked with the labeled main ingredients over the whole length of the tobacco rod using a syringe (see Section 4.1.1). Different cigarette types were tested for this purpose. Filtered cigarette showed a very low recovery of the labeled compounds which was not exceptionally explainable with thermal decomposition. Therefore, non-filter cigarette were tested. They showed much better recoveries of the labeled ingredients. This indicates that most of the labeled compounds are absorbed by the filter of the cigarette. Additionally, many experiments were conducted with different amounts of labeled e-liquid spiked to the nonfiltered cigarette. The starting point was 6.5 mg ¹³C₃-PG, 6.5 mg ¹³C₃-G and 0.16 mg N. To increase the sensitivity, the amount was doubled and quadrupled. Interestingly, the increase did not show an increase in the main stream concentration of the cigarette smoke, except for nicotine. The missing increase in labeled PG/G when using twice as much stable-isotope spike in non-filter cigarettes might be a hint for thermal decomposition of PG and G during cigarette smoking. In contrast, the concentration of N-d7 showed an increase. However the increase was not proportional to the increase in the amount spiked to the non-filter cigarettes. N levels in smoke of the double-spiked cigarettes were comparable to the amounts found in the aerosol of the e-cigarettes used at high wattage conditions (18 W). Thus, the higher spiking levels were used for the non-filtered cigarettes in the clinical study. Hence, in the clinical study non-filtered cigarette was spiked with 13.4 mg ${}^{13}C_3$ -PG, 13.6 mg ${}^{13}C_3$ -G and 0.32 mg N (see Table 14).

The composition of the aerosol was also investigated prior to the clinical study. The average consumption of e-liquid was 1.54 g per 100 puffs (10 W) and 2.72 g per 100 puffs. The consumption of the 10 W conditions go with the average amount consumed by the subjects in the low wattage group (1.26 ± 0.29 mg). In contrast, the consumed e-liquid in the high wattage group (1.56 ± 0.95 mg) of the clinical study was only slightly higher than in low wattage group. The inadequate comparability between the machine consumed e-liquid and the consumption within the study might be a problem of the taste of the product and the lack of familiarization with the system.

In general, higher levels of labeled PG and G were obtained in e-liquid aerosols compared to the

non-filter cigarette smoke under the applied conditions. Around 50 % of the consumed e-liquid are trapped on the filter (Table 14). Further experiments showed that approximately 20 % are lost in the apparatus and about 25 % lost in the tank system by condensation. Since it is not clear whether the system behaves similar under usual vaping condition, the results are reported for the aerosol trapped on the filter without any correction. In the validation, the recovery of the extraction was between 93 and 106 %. Therefore the extraction procedure of the method is not the limitation. The recovery of the cigarette was even lower (around 10 %) which is probably due to the thermal decomposition. This will be further shown in section 6.4.

Moreover, we observed a higher increase in G for the higher wattage condition as compared to PG in the e-cigarette aerosol (see Table 14). This is true for both the labeled and unlabeled PG and G. An explanation could be the different boiling points and vapor pressures of the two compounds (PG: 188 °C /0.11 hPa; G: 290 °C /< 0.1 Pa) and the dependency of the vapor pressure on an increase in temperature with higher wattage.

Table 14: Comparison of the aerosol and e-liquid data in concern of the recovery from the e-liquid in the aerosol. The presented data reflect the results for 100 puffs with the e-cigarette and one spiked non-filtered cigarette.

	e-liquid ingredients	expected amounts	actual amounts	recovery	ratio of the actual
				(actual/	amount
				expected)	(ratio of the e-liquid)
		[mg]	[mg]	[% (w/w)]	[% (w/w)]
10 W	PG	637	404	63	48.4 (41.4)
	${}^{13}C_3$ -PG	78.5	46.0	59	5.5 (5.1)
	G	723	330	46	39.5 (47.0)
	${}^{13}C_3$ -G	83.2	45.0	54	5.4 (5.4)
	Nic	15.4	8.7	56	1.0 (1.0)
	Nic-d ₇	1.54	0.8	52	0.10 (0.10)
	Total	1540	834.5	54	100
18 W	PG	1126	468	42	36.4 (41.4)
	${}^{13}C_3$ -PG	138	56.0	41	4.4 (5.1)
	G	1278	658	51	51.2 (47.0)
	$^{13}C_{3}$ -G	147	87	59	6.8 (5.4)
	Nic	27.2	13.8	51	1.1 (1.0)
	Nic-d ₇	2.72	1.20	44	0.09 (0.10)
	Total	2720	1284	47	100
Cig	$^{13}C_3$ -PG	13.4	1.04	7.8	40.2 (49.0)
	$^{13}C_{3}-G$	13.6	1.44	10.6	55.7 (49.7)
	Nic-d ₇	0.32	0.104	32.5	4.0(1.22)
	Total	27.32	2.58	9.5	100

6.2 Uptake of nicotine by vaping

Due to its short half-life of about 2 h, concentrations of both unlabeled and labeled nicotine were virtually zero prior to the start of the first vaping/smoking sessions (Section 5.3.2 Figure 14) [201]. Peak of nicotine plasma levels were observed after each session for all three subgroups (vapers with 10 and 18 W, cigarette smokers). For the vapers, the ratio of unlabeled/labeled nicotine ($\approx 10:1$) reflects the ratio in the e-liquid. Vapers with 18 W showed, on average, consistently higher labeled and unlabeled plasma nicotine concentrations than vapers with 10 W. Total (sum of unlabeled and labeled) peak nicotine plasma levels in 10 W vapers (15.77 ng/ml), 18 W vapers (19.58 ng/ml) and cigarette smokers (36.03 ng/ml) were in the same range as levels reported in the literature [31, 34, 127, 202–207].

As expected, labeled plasma cotinine concentrations increased from zero (prior to the first vaping/smoking session) to maximum levels after 12 h of 3.5, 4.4 and 2.5 ng/ml in 10 W vapers, 18 W vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively (Section 5.3.2 Figure 14), corresponding to vaping-derived cotinine concentrations of 35 ng/ml (10 W vapers) and 44 ng/ml (18 W vapers). This is significantly lower than the measured unlabeled plasma cotinine levels of 221 ng/ml (10 W) and 230 ng/ml (18 W) at the end of Day 1 in Part A (Section 5.3.2 Figure 14). The reason for this observation is the long half-life of cotinine (18 h [201]). The high levels of unlabeled cotinine in plasma are caused by prior use of nicotine products. They were still elevated at the end of Day 1 of Part A.

Time patterns for salivary concentrations of cotinine (labeled and unlabeled) were very similar to those in plasma (Section 5.3.2 Figure 15). OH-Cot concentrations in saliva show similar time patterns for Part A (Section 5.3.2 Figure 15) as the corresponding cotinine levels. Since OH-Cot is a secondary metabolite of nicotine, peak levels of labeled OH-Cot appeared almost 12 h later than those for labeled cotinine.

The saliva data revealed an interesting fact in terms of metabolic polymorphism. For Subject 118 (10 W group) very low concentrations of OH-Cot (< 0.2 ng/ml) and no labeled OH-Cot was measurable in saliva samples. The observed amounts of cotinine compared to the other subjects in this group across all time points were also very low. Resulting in an extremely high Cot/OH-Cot ratio in saliva of approximately 300, while the median (min – max) level for this ratio was 5.4 (2 – 40) for the other subjects. Since CYP 2A6 is the most important enzyme for the metabolism of nicotine (Figure 27 [129]), it can be assumed that this subject might exhibit a genetic polymorphism in form of a CYP 2A6 gene deletion or mutation. The results for nicotine in plasma for Subject 118 supported the hypothesis of a CYP 2A6 polymorphism, since the plasma nicotine levels were twice as high as compared to the other subjects in the same group.



Figure 27: The role of CYP2D6 in the nicotine metabolism.

The amounts of labeled and unlabeled TNE excreted in urine show the same rank order for the three subgroups as the other nicotine biomarkers (labeled TNE: cigarette smokers < 10 W vapers \approx 18 W vapers; unlabeled TNE: 10 W vapers \approx 18 W vapers < cigarette smokers; Section 5.3.1 Figure 13). The amount of total TNE derived from the labeled TNE in urine (by multiplying with 10 and 28 respectively) are lower than the actually measured levels. The reason is that even after 84 h of abstinence from other nicotine products the wash-out of nicotine metabolites from the use of these products was not complete due to the long elimination half-lives of the various urinary nicotine metabolites (12 – 20 h) [200]. The total amount of labeled TNE after the 10 vaping/smoking sessions amounted to 860, 930 and 480 µg for the 10 W, 18 W vapers and cigarette smokers, respectively, corresponding to 8.6, 9.3 and 13.44 mg nicotine (labeled + unlabeled) taken up from the experimental vaping/smoking sessions. With these data, it can be estimated that the nicotine uptake per puff amounted to 86 µg (10 W vapers), 93 µg (18 W vapers) and 134 µg (cigarette smokers). This is in rather good agreement with other reports in the literature [100, 208].

Vapers consumed on average 1.26 (10 W) and 1.56 g of e-liquid during the 10 vaping sessions in Part A. This corresponds to the release of 15.17 (10 W) and 17.76 (18 W) mg nicotine by vaping. The applied method represent almost 95 % of the internal nicotine dose [74] in urine. Therefore, the 10 W vapers absorbed 53 % and the 18 W vapers 50 % of the nicotine released by the e-cig. Since there is no evidence for substantial thermal decomposition of nicotine during vaping, it can be assumed that about 50 % of the non-absorbed nicotine are lost through mouth spill and exhalation.



Figure 28: Plasma concentration of d_7 -nicotine and d_7 -cotinine. The graphs on the left side include all the subjects of the high wattage group (18 W). The graphs on the right side include only 5 vapers who did not report any trouble with the device concerning the taste, temperature etc.

There is quite a large variation in the nicotine uptake results obtained from 20 vapers and 5 smokers (SD and ranges in Appendix D Table 31), even under controlled conditions (Part A). A major contribution to this variation certainly comes from the individual puffing and inhalation behavior of the subjects. Additionally, five subjects from the high wattage (18 W) group reported problems using the product under the given conditions. When excluding those five subjects, the difference between both vaping groups became more obvious (Figure 28). Nevertheless, all subjects were included into the data evaluation for all the measured metabolites.

Apparently, the uptake of N-d₇ increased with the wattage applied during vaping. In general, the results suggest that nicotine uptake in vapers increase with the wattage appointed. It is also important to note that the plasma profiles (t_{max} and c_{max}) cannot be used for product characterization with reference to other e-vapor products as this was beyond the scope of the current project and a different study design in terms of sample collection times and product use would be required.

Labeled TSNAs were measured nor in vapers neither in smokers. Only unlabeled TSNAs were measurable in the urine samples of smokers, as expected due to the fact that the precursors (NNK and NNN) are formed during tobacco production (curing) and are transferred to mainstream smoke. These results strongly suggest that nicotine in e-liquid is not a precursor for TSNAs during vaping. Furthermore, the results with the smokers of N-spiked cigarettes suggest that nicotine in tobacco is also not a precursor for NNK and NNN in smoke.

6.3 Uptake of propylene glycol and glycerol by vaping

The time pattern for plasma PG (labeled and unlabeled) for vapers during Part A of the study resembled that for plasma nicotine for vapers. An exception being the fact that there were significant background levels at time point zero (0.5 -1 μ g/ml) attributable to other sources for PG than the eliquid. However, no differences with reference to the applied wattage were found. This would have been expected due to the aerosol data which show the factor 1.8 between the two different vaping groups. A reason for the similar time patterns in both groups might be the different vaping behavior due to the taste or nicotine concentration. The differing vaping behavior within the high wattage group was reflected in the high intra-group variations.

Smokers' PG levels were significantly lower compared to that of the vapers although the uptake of N was comparable between smokers and vapers. The time pattern observed for plasma PG suggest that PG has a half-life close to that of nicotine (≈ 2 h), which is in agreement the with the literature [209, 210].

Salivary PG (both labeled and unlabeled) showed no association with the vaping/smoking sessions on Day 1 of Part A (Figure 17) suggesting that these levels originate from residual external PG in the oral cavity, rather than from systemic PG. Since this happened despite the request to the subjects to extensively flush the oral cavity with water immediately before saliva collection, it has to be noted that saliva is not a suitable biological matrix for measuring unmetabolized (parent) compounds as biomarkers of exposure through the mouth (ingestion or inhalation).

Labeled and unlabeled excretion of PG in urine showed a steep increase with the vaping session and a rapid decrease on the following day to background levels after 36 h (Figure 18). Time curves for unlabeled and 10 x labeled PG concentrations were very close together, indicating that other sources for PG (e.g. diet) were of minor importance during Part A. For the cigarette smokers, a similar time pattern was only observed for labeled PG.

Total labeled PG excreted in urine in Part A amounted to 2.94 and 4.16 mg for 10 W and 18 W vapers, respectively. These data indicate that in low wattage vapers (10 W) 29.4 mg and in high wattage vapers (18 W) 41.6 mg $^{13}C_3$ -PG were excreted during the 10 experimental vaping sessions, which corresponded to per puff PG uptake of 294 and 416 µg, respectively. Vapers with 10 W consumed 1.26 g e-liquid in Part A, corresponding to an amount of 622 mg PG. Respective values for vapers with 18 W were 1.56 ml e-liquid and 771 mg PG. From the urinary PG results, it can be deduced that in human vapers only about 5 % of the generated PG from the e-cig appear as unchanged PG in urine. Two major factors might be responsible for the significantly lower recovery rate of unchanged PG compared to nicotine (recovered as TNE: 50 %): (i) PG is extensively metabolized to lactic acid, pyruvic acid and also carbon dioxide [211] (see Figure 29), presently it is not known, which percentage of the dose appears as unchanged PG in urine; (ii) absorption of PG through the buccal mucosa and the lung alveoli might be less effective than that for nicotine.

Propylene glycol can be oxidized to lactic acid via one of two pathways, depending on whether the glycol is phosphorylated [55, 212]. In in-vitro studies with rat liver, the free glycol was successively oxidized to lactaldehyde, methylglyoxal (pyuvaldehyde), and lactic acid (see pathway 1, Figure 29) [55, 213], while the phosphorylated glycol followed the pathway of acetyl phos-

phate, lactaldehyde phosphate, lactyl phosphate, and lactic acid ([214]; see pathway 2, Figure 29).



Figure 29: Metabolism of propylene glycol according to Miller et al. [55] and Rudney et al. [212]

Lactate is subsequently converted to pyruvate, which enters the citric acid cycle and/or the gluconeogenesis pathway [214, 215]. 1,2-Propanediol oxidation is not restricted to lactate or pyruvate formation. The corresponding deoxyaldehyde, as well as propionaldehyde, lactaldehyde, phospholipids, formate, and acetate can be formed [214]; forming glucose and carbon dioxide as metabolic end product.

These different metabolic products of propylene glycol are also formed by other xenobiotics as well as endogenous substances. Therefore their background concentration is relatively high. Even so, $^{13}C_3$ -labeled PG was used in the study, there are too many possible biomarkers to measure them due to the lack of stability and sensitivity of the analytical methods.

In contrast to PG and N, no vaping-dependent time pattern was found for G in urine or plasma for neither the unlabeled nor the labeled analyte (Section 5.4, Figure 16 - 18). Unlabeled G already showed high basal levels of approximately $20 - 50 \mu$ g/ml in plasma (Figure 16). The maximum uptake of G using the study e-cigarette was estimated to lead to an increase of plasma levels of around $3 - 6 \mu$ g/ml based on the results for PG in plasma taking into account that PG and G are present in equal amounts in the e-liquid and in similar concentrations in the aerosol

(cf. Table 14). Thus, the uptake was much lower compared to the basal level of G and, therefore, no increase in plasma levels was to be observed. Labeled ${}^{13}C_3$ -G was not detected in plasma or urine at all. The most plausible explanation for this observation is that the amounts taken up by vaping and smoking were too small in comparison to the large physiological body pool of G and that the metabolism of G is too fast [216] to detect labeled G for example in urine (metabolic scheme in Figure 30).

Glycerol is metabolized via the glycolytic pathway after it has been converted in the liver to glycerol-3-phosphate. Glycerol-3-phosphate is then oxidized to yield dihydroxyacetone phosphate, which is isomerized to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate, eventually yielding pyruvic acid. Pyruvic acid follows two primary routes of metabolism. Under aerobic conditions, it is converted to acetyl coenzyme A and enters the citric acid cycle. Under anaerobic conditions, primarily in muscles as a result of strenuous physical activity, pyruvic acid is reduced by lactic dehydrogenase to lactic acid. Lactic acid diffuses through muscle tissue and is transported to the liver in the bloodstream. In the liver, it is converted to glucose by gluconeogenesis. Lactic acid can also be further catabolized in the lactic acid cycle (also known as the Cori cycle).



Figure 30: Metabolism of glycerol according to Hellerud, C. et al. [217]

The findings of G levels in plasma and urine are in agreement with a report in the literature showing that oral intake of G below 0.05 g/kg BW (equivalent to 4 g/ 80 kg person) had no impact on the common physiological G levels in plasma and urine [63].

Salivary G addresses the same problem as for PG. The measured amounts could be a result of the exogenous contamination through the improper rinsing of the mouth. The results clearly show that G in body fluids (either labeled or unlabeled) is not suitable as a biomarker of exposure to this e-liquid ingredient. However, labeled G is a useful precursor to investigate the uptake of thermal decomposition products such as acrolein and other aldehydes.

6.4 Thermal decomposition products and their corresponding biomarkers

The presented data unequivocally confirm the formation of formaldehyde (FA), acetaldehyde (AA), and acrolein (ACR) from the precursors PG and G in e-liquid during vaping, which is in line with previous studies [25, 91, 105, 218]. Geiss et al. who used a second-generation vaporizer device similar to the EC used in this study, found comparable levels of FA, AA, and ACR, [218] while most studies reported higher aldehyde concentrations which may result from the different device characteristics and varying puffing regimes used throughout the studies as discussed in detail by Farsalinos et al. [94]. Interestingly, the higher carbonyl concentrations per puff at 18 W (Section 5.2.2) are clearly related to increased aerosol generation as can be deduced from the fact that the amounts of carbonyls per mass consumed e-liquid were found to be identical for both wattages. This observation indicates that, at least under the vaping conditions we applied, increasing the power from 10 to 18 W elevated the amount of aerosol produced but not the percentage of PG and G which is converted to carbonyls.

Table 15: Mean yields (standard deviations) of unlabeled and ¹³C-labeled carbonyls on a per puff basis in smoke and aerosol (ng/puff). Note that only 10 % of the e-liquid were replaced with ¹³C-propylene glycol and ¹³C-glycerol (50:50 (v/v)). (FA = formaldehyde, AA = acetaldehyde, ACR = acrolein, CR = crotonaldehyde, AT = acetone, MA = methacrolein, PA = propionaldehyde). R: Ratio between unlabeled and labeled concentrations in the aerosol, averaged for the amounts received at 10 W and 18 W.

	Mainstream smoke of cigarettes	EC Aerosol (10 W)	EC Aerosol (18 W)	R in aerosol 10 W	R in aerosol 18 W
FA ¹³ C FA	73.8 (26.1)	22.6 (8.23)	39.1 (8.40)	9.6	8.9
AA ¹³ Ca-AA	30600 (3650) 194 (49 5)	18.8 (5.10) 0.23 (0.05)	45.9 (0.03) 45.9 (15.4) 0.55 (0.16)	81	84
ACR ¹³ C ₃ -ACR	1310 (316) 61.2 (18.2)	6.36 (3.43) 0.66 (0.22)	10.2 (5.98) 1.10 (0.60)	9.6	9.3
$\frac{CR}{^{13}C_2-CR}$	914 (181) 88.1 (35.8)	0.13 (0.09) < LOD	0.27 (0.19) < LOD	n.a.	n.a.
AT ¹³ C ₃ -AT	16600 (2160) 288 (39.3)	8.66 (4.83) < LLOQ	8.66 (4.33) < LLOQ	n.a.	n.a.
MA ¹³ C4-MA	212 (55.4) 59.1 (10.9)	< LLOQ < LOD	< LLOQ < LOD	n.a.	n.a.
PA ¹³ C ₃ -PA	2160 (255) 58.4 (12.5)	1.80 (0.32) < LOD	3.95 (1.79) < LOD	n.a.	n.a.

The introduction of labeled PG and G allowed the assessment of the formation of carbonyls specifically formed from these e-liquid constituents. The ratio of the unlabeled to the ¹³C-labeled PG and G in the e-liquid of 10:1 was well reflected in the EC aerosol for FA and ACR (Table 15), indicating that both aldehydes are mainly (or almost exclusively) formed from PG and G during vaping. In contrast, for AA a ratio of around 80 was observed, while CR, AT and PA were only detected in their unlabeled form. This suggests that other sources than PG and G contribute to a major extent to the formation of AA. Sugars and flavors were recently discussed as possible sources for carbonyl emissions in EC aerosols [219, 220]. The use of stable isotope-labeled flavoring ingredients and sugars could be a useful strategy in future studies to further evaluate their chemical fate with regard to vaping.

All seven ¹³C-labeled aldehydes investigated in our study were found in cigarette mainstream smoke indicating that the formation of AA, CR, AT, and PA from PG and G is possible, albeit at higher temperatures than achievable under common vaping conditions (up to 350 °C [89]). Apparently, AA, AT and PA (C_2 and C_3 compounds) are formed due to decomposition of PG and G [98]. CR (4 carbon atoms) is more likely to be formed after decomposition of PG and G from AA by aldol condensation (Section 2.1.3 Figure 3) implying the need for harsher conditions – in this case higher temperatures [221].

Labeled biomarker analysis in urine allowed us to link the machine-derived aerosol data with actual human exposure values. The difference in smoke and vapor yields was clearly reflected in the biomarker levels for FA and ACR since the respective labeled biomarkers ¹³C-TCA, ¹³C-TCG and ¹³C₃-3-HPMA were detected at much higher levels in smokers. Hence, the approach using stable isotope-labeled precursors was capable of detecting exposure to FA and ACR specifically from vaping at a daily intake of approx. 1.1 to 2.2 μ g based on the aerosol data and the average e-liquid consumption of 1.4 g per day. Unfortunately, the labeled biomarkers of AA exposure, MTCA and MTCG, respectively, could not be determined due to insufficient long-term stability in urine of only two months. Thus, MTCA and MTCG are not suited to assess AA exposure from smoking and vaping.

Furthermore, it was assumed that PG and G may also serve as precursors for the epoxides propylene oxide (PO) and glycidol (GLY) [98]. For methodological problems, the expected (labeled) epoxides could not be determined, neither in mainstream smoke of conventional cigarettes nor in aerosol of ECs. Analysis of the corresponding labeled biomarkers in urine revealed exposure to PO (2-HPMA) exclusively in smokers while glycidol exposure (DHPMA) was detected both in the case of smoking and vaping, at approx. 3-fold lower amounts in the EC vapers (Table 16). Thus, PO seemed to be formed from the precursors PG and G under pyrolytic (smoking) conditions only, while GLY was observed at appreciable amounts already under vaping conditions as can be concluded from the biomarker analysis. Moreover, there was no difference in biomarker levels between subjects using the EC at 10 and 18 W despite the higher per puff carbonyl yields in the aerosol at 18 W. In contrast, excretion rates of PG in urine correlated with the increased wattage. Presumably, the generally low exposure to carbonyls in this study was not sufficient to discriminate the vaper subgroups in terms of biomarker excretion rates. These findings emphasize the importance of biomarker analysis in addition to machine-derived aerosol data for a comprehensive exposure and risk assessment.

The difference in the ratio between the unlabeled and labeled biomarkers of exposure was much more pronounced (R = 110 - 6,500) compared with the ratios found for aerosol (9 - 84) (Table 16). Moreover, the estimated EC-specific uptake in vapers compared to the overall exposure in vapers and smokers demonstrated that EC use only accounted for approximately 0.4 %, 1.0 %, and 8 % of
the overall exposure to formaldehyde (TCA/TCG), acrolein (3-HPMA) and glycidol (DHPMA) in vapers while no EC specific uptake of PO (2-HPMA) and CR (HMPMA) was observed. This indicates other sources than vaping, like diet and endogenous formation, contribute primarily to the observed biomarker levels of TCA/TCG, 3-HPMA and DHPMA in exclusive vapers [222–228]. For example, vegetable oils and fats were recently identified as a major source of glycidol exposure [229].

Table 16: Mean (standard deviation) amounts excreted in urine of smokers and EC users (vapers) over 48 hours (μg) of the unlabeled and ¹³C-labeled biomarkers of exposure. TCA/TCG metabolites of FA; MTCA/MTCG: metabolites of AA; 3-HPMA: metabolite of ACR; DHPMA: metabolite GLY; 2-HPMA: metabolite of PO; HMPMA: metabolite of CR. R: Ratio between unlabeled and labeled biomarker in urine of vapers.

	C I	Vaj	per	R in v	vapers
	Smoker	10 W	18 W	10 W	18 W
TCA	171.3 (16.5)	198.3 (44.7)	218.5 (67.6)	1.6	65
¹³ C-TCA	1.56 (0.55)	0.12 (0.14)	0.03 (0.04)	1,0	0,3
TCG	912.8 (328.3)	2039 (1158)	1562 (579.9)	2.4	2.4
¹³ C-TCG	6.31 (2.97)	0.60 (0.58)	0.66 (0.58)	3,4	2,4
MTCA	40.3 (20.1)	40.4 (9.0)	46.2 (16.5)		
¹³ C ₂ -MTCA	<lod< td=""><td>< LOD</td><td>< LOD</td><td>п.а.</td><td>п.а.</td></lod<>	< LOD	< LOD	п.а.	п.а.
MTCG	15.2 (6.9)	17.9 (4.2)	15.6 (4.2)		n 0
¹³ C ₂ -MTCG	< LOD	<lod< td=""><td>< LOD</td><td>n.a.</td><td>n.a.</td></lod<>	< LOD	n.a.	n.a.
3-HPMA	1057 (221.1)	381.7 (91.8)	368.9 (101.0)	Q10	1.2
¹³ C ₃ -3HPMA	143.2 (32.8)	0.47 (0.39)	0.28 (0.19)	810	1,5
DHPMA	562.0 (122.6)	635.1 (141.1)	529.4 (69.6)	140	110
¹³ C ₃ -DHPMA	15.8 (7.78)	4.59 (1.35)	4.74 (2.36)	140	110
2-HPMA	51.6 (17.2)	32.6 (6.7)	26.5 (7.0)	6.5 (7.0)	
¹³ C ₃ -2-HPMA	43.2 (33.6)	< LOD	< LOD	п.а.	п.а.
HMPMA	391.6 (31.1)	150.7 (49.7)	191.9 (56.8)	n 0	n 0
¹³ C _{2/4} -HMPMA	< LOD	<lod< td=""><td>< LOD</td><td>11.a.</td><td>II.a.</td></lod<>	< LOD	11.a.	II.a.

6.5 Part B

In Part B of the clinical study (free use of experimental e-cigs), the labeled nicotine plasma concentrations suggest a vaping-derived total plasma nicotine level of about 9 ng/ml, which is well within the range of plasma nicotine levels in vapers reported in the literature [31, 34, 127, 202–207]. Taking into account also the mean unlabeled plasma nicotine levels (14.5 ng/ml, Section 5.8 Figure 26) yielded a total nicotine level in plasma of 15.4 ng/ml, which is comparable with concentrations in medium cigarette smokers [230–232]. Furthermore, the data reveals that part of the nicotine absorption observed in Part B of the study originated from other sources than the experimental e-cig. 6.4 ng/ml (15.4 ng/ml - 9.0 ng/ml) representing 42 % of the total nicotine plasma level are resulting from other sources.

Plasma cotinine concentrations attributable to use of the experimental e-cig in Part B (= level of labeled cotinine x 10) was 41.5 ng/ml on Day 3 compared to 203 ng/ml of unlabeled plasma (Section 5.8 Figure 26), again indicating the additional use of other nicotine products during Part B of the study. Total plasma cotinine levels (labeled + unlabeled = 235 ng/ml) at the end of Part B were in agreement with those reported for regular cigarette smokers [232]. From the plasma cotinine results, it can be estimated that about 80 % of the nicotine uptake during Part B was related to the use of other nicotine/tobacco products. The discrepancy to the plasma nicotine-based estimate (42 %) can be explained with the short half-life of nicotine, reflecting the more recent use of the provided e-cig prior to the blood collection in the clinic.

Assuming a creatinine excretion rate of 1.5 g/d, it can be estimated that 18.8 mg PG/d in urine were attributable to vaping the experimental e-cig. From the e-liquid consumption (1.58 g/d, Appendix D 32), it can be calculated that 788 mg PG were taken in by vaping, thus 4.2 % of the PG measurable in urine caused by vaping, which is in fair agreement with results from Part A and also in accordance with clinical data.

Glycerol showed in all matrices the same behavior as in Part A. There was not a vaping-dependent association meaning that the levels were constantly over the whole time period.

According to the vaping diaries for Part B, all subjects consumed the study e-cigarette (containing labeled PG, G and N in the e-liquid) within a short time period before visiting the clinic for sample collection on each study day of Part B. Thus, plasma N and PG ratios (unlabeled-labeled) should be the most reliable endpoint to evaluate compliance. Two criteria were set in this evaluation: Firstly, a ratio of < 14 for N and < 30 for PG as higher ratios were most likely attributed to dual-use. A higher ratio was applied for PG compared to N because several exogenous sources except for e-cigarettes might increase the ratio. Secondly, non-compliance was assumed, if labeled N or PG was not detectable with simultaneous detection of the unlabeled compound > 20x LLOQ as this unequivocally proves consumption of a N- and/or PG-containing product different from the stable-isotope labeled e-liquid (almost no use of the Clinical Study e-cigarette). However, discrimination between non-compliance due to cigarette consumption or use of an alternative e-vapor product was rather difficult. Nine out of 19 subjects were identified as non-compliant according to the criteria given above. Three of the nine non-compliant subjects used the study e-cigarette only to a very low extent on at least one of the three study days. Although they reported a regular use pattern throughout all three days

in their diary. According to the rating of the study device in the diaries (Appendix C), most of the subjects were not satisfied with the taste of the e-liquid. In general, vape production of the device was stated to be 'alright' to 'satisfactory', however, most subjects reported that they were craving for their common e-cigarette and e-liquid brand. The rather negative overall rating of the study product may explain the high non-compliance rate of the participants.

6.6 Limitations

The results of this study should be considered in the context of the limitations. First, the relatively small sample size only of males limits the generalizability of the results, however this study does provide proof of the concept that stable-isotope labeled constituents in the e-liquid represent a suitable approach to evaluate exposure from e-liquid constituents. The use behavior may not totally reflect the real-world settings since the study participants did not use their own products and were in an in-clinic setting during the Part A.

However, this study has several advantages. The randomized controlled study design with the inclinic setting allows a structured approach of controlled conditions of use limiting confounding factors and other sources of exposure. The design allows us to obtain direct evidence regarding uptake of constituents through measurement of consumed e-liquid and levels of stable isotope labeled constituents. The measurement of multiple biofluids allows for relatively complete characterization of the fate of the major constituents in the e-liquids.

Additionally, the sputum collection was rather difficult. For avoiding interference with medication of the induced sputum, the sputum was collected without inducing. At the clinical site, they reported to had good experience with the collection of non-induced sputum and provided a protocol. For the smoker the protocol was quiet fine but the vaper did not cope well with this procedure. Therefore, it was decided that the subject should try three times to collect the samples. If the sample collection was not possible, this time point will be excluded. Therefore, only half of the samples were collected. However, in the collected sample it was rather difficult to distinguish between saliva and sputum. Hence, the analysis of the sputum samples was neglected.

7 Conclusion

This is the first ever study that utilizes stable isotope ingredients to characterize the exposure of ecig users. This approach overcomes limitations caused by uptake of these ingredients from other sources. The results show that replacing 10% of the unlabeled with labeled chemicals (nicotined₇ and ¹³C₃-PG) is sufficient for quantifying the vaping-specific uptake of these ingredients. The labeled biomarkers nicotine, cotinine and PG in plasma, cotinine and OH-Cot in saliva, TNE (total nicotine equivalents based on nicotine + 10 major metabolites) in urine turned out to be highly suitable for assessing the vaping-derived uptake of nicotine and PG, even if other nicotine or tobacco products are used in parallel ('dual' users). Saliva, in general, is not suitable for measuring the parent compounds PG and G as internal dose markers, due to external PG and G in the oral cavity derived from vaping and other sources.

Labeled and unlabeled G in the investigated body fluids are not suitable biomarkers for the vapingderived uptake of G, probably due to the high physiological levels of G and its fast metabolism. However, labeled G may be a useful precursor to investigate thermal decomposition products such as acrolein and other aldehydes as well as their biomarkers like mercapturic acids.

Additionally, this approach allows the unambiguous determination of the formation and exposure to various carbonyls and epoxides. They are formed by decomposition of propylene glycol and glycerol under smoking and vaping conditions. The formation of several toxicants such as crotonaldehyde, methacrolein and acetone was only observed during combustion of conventional cigarettes while propylene glycol and glycerol can also be decomposed to formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, acrolein and glycidol under common vaping conditions, although to a much lower degree compared to smoking.

These results were supported by the biomarker determination. The mercapturic acids derived from acrolein (3-HPMA) and to a much higher extent from glycidol (DHPMA) were found in their labeled form in urine of the vapers proving strong evidence for the formation of these toxicants upon vaping. This is the first study to prove the EC specific uptake of glycidol due to the degradation of propylene glycol and glycerol during vaping. Hence, these compounds may be important biomarkers of exposure with regard to the toxicological evaluation of this new product category.

TCA as a biomarker of exposure to formaldehyde showed an uptake-dependent increase in urine of smokers for its labeled form proving the formation of formaldehyde from the precursors PG and G during combustion. Results for the labeled TCA in urine of vapers suggest at most an uptake of trace amounts of formaldehyde by vaping. The increase after smoking was not observed for the unlabeled TCA due to the high background of unlabeled formaldehyde derived from various exogenous and endogenous sources.

These findings prove the suitability of the stable-isotope labeling approach, especially for the specific exposure to glycidol and formaldehyde which could not have been assessed by measurement of the unlabeled biomarkers due to the ubiquitous adsorption of glycidol and formaldehyde from various sources. However, vaping appears to be a minor source with respect to the general exposure to formaldehyde, acrolein and glycidol.

Also, a positive control group was successfully implemented in order to examine the potential formation and metabolism of pyrolysis products during combustion by inclusion of smokers of stableisotope spiked cigarettes. This positive control group proved the suitability of the general approach and in particular of the analytical methods applied in terms of sensitivity and selectivity. In summary, these data will help to elucidate the formation of toxicologically relevant by-products due to vaping and to determine the e-vapor product specific uptake of the main constituents.

8 **Perspectives**

Several new questions arose during the evaluation of the study data and also after publication of novel reports in the e-cigarette-related research area. Clearly, the use of the stable-isotope labeling approach can be further extended with respect to the analysis of other compounds of interest. One report stated the generation of ¹³C-benzene in aerosol from ¹³C₃-PG and ¹³C₃-G containing e-liquid [42]. Thus, the samples from the Clinical Study can be used to determine both benzene in aerosol/smoke and the benzene-specific mercapturic acid SPMA (S-phenyl-mercapturic acid) in urines. This approach could prove or disprove these findings.

Moreover, further aerosol experiments under harsher conditions (> 20 W; dry-puff) could be conducted to evaluate potential decomposition products. Several dicarbonyls like diacetyl, pentane-2,3-dione, methylglyoxal and others were recently reported in literature [233–235]. These compounds and their metabolites in labeled form could be analyzed as well as other carbonyls of interest (propanal, acetol) in urine and other body fluids.

The application of the stable-isotope labeling approach may pave the way to specific biomarkers of exposure to electronic vapor products. Stable-isotope labeling can be an elegant way to circumvent false positive results due to dual use and hence help to find specific biomarkers of exposure to EVP. Also this approach can be used for PK analysis and toxicological assessment of new e-vapor products. Moreover, the approach can be extended with regard to other e-liquid constituents like flavors of common use in e-liquids to address the absorption, metabolism and excretion of those compounds via the route of inhalation. The use of stable isotope-labeled flavoring ingredients and sugars could be a useful strategy in future studies to further evaluate their chemical fate with regard to vaping.

Additionally, a untargeted approach could be conducted with different nicotine delivery products. For this approach a the labeling of compounds is not necessary. Using a high resolution mass spectrometer the differences in the metabolic profile could be investigated between the different users of the nicotine delivery products. This approach might also reveal product-specific biomarkers for a better discrimination between the different users and for a better understanding of the metabolic fate.

9 Abstract

The use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigs) has steadily increased worldwide over the past decade. The potential implicated risks for the users, bystanders and the general population are topics of discussion in the scientific and public health communities. An important basis for risk estimation is a well founded dosimetry of the ingredients and other potential constituents absorbed by the users (vapers) and second-hand vapers. Based on experience with smokers, the application of biomarkers for assessing the internal dose is the most suitable approach for this purpose. A major problem is applying actually specific biomarkers for the chemicals of interest which are not derived from other sources. One way to circumvent this problem is to use stable isotope-labeled ingredients in the e-liquid.

Therefore, a clinical study with 20 subjects (refereed as vaper), vaping e-cigs equipped with e-liquids containing labeled propylene glycol (PG), glycerol (G) and nicotine under both controlled (Part A) and free conditions (Part B) was conducted. The vaper were additionally divided into two groups: Vapers using the e-cigarette with a power of 10 W (10 W vapers) and vapers using the e-cigarette with a power of 10 W (10 W vapers) and vapers using the e-cigarette with a power of 18 W (18 W vapers). In addition, five smokers, smoking 10 non-filter cigarettes each, spiked with labeled PG, G and nicotine, served as (positive) control during Part A. Various body fluids were collected and analysed by MS/MS. Additionally, the aerosol, smoke and the e-liquid were analysed to get the whole overview.

In this thesis, dosimetric results for PG, G and nicotine in various body fluids are reported. Furthermore, the formation of thermal decomposition products such as tobacco specific nitrosamines, carbonyls, epoxides and their biomarkers was investigated. Mean consumption of e-liquid of 10 vapers using an e-cig power of 10 W was 1.26 ml/10 sessions (range: 0.74 - 1.66 ml). E-liquid consumption was slightly, but not significantly higher for 10 vapers applying 18 W: 1.48 (0.60 - 3.11) ml/10 sessions.

Plasma nicotine levels peaked after each vaping (comprising 10 puffs) and smoking session (comprising 1 cigarette) in all 3 subgroups (vapers using an e-cig power of 10 and 18 W, smokers). The highest mean nicotine plasma levels (unlabeled + labeled) were observed after the last (10th) vaping session and amounted to 16.5 and 19.8 ng/ml for the 10 and 18 W vapers, respectively (difference not significant). The 5 smokers reached the mean maximum of 31.5 ng/ml after the 8th cigarette. In the vapers, levels of plasma unlabeled nicotine were 10 times higher than that of the labeled alkaloid, reflecting the ratio in the e-liquid. Labeled cotinine concentrations in plasma and saliva steadily increased over the 10 vaping/smoking sessions and then fell to undetectable levels after 2 days without vaping/smoking. The same pattern was observed for salivary trans-3'-hydroxycotinine with a shift of the peak level by several hours. The amount of labeled nicotine equivalents (nicotine + 10 major metabolites) in urine samples of Part A of the study was 810, 860 and 480 µg over 72 h for 10 W vapers, 18 W vapers and smokers, respectively.

Plasma propylene glycol levels in vapers showed defined peaks after each session for both labeled and unlabeled PG. Corresponding levels for smokers were much lower and were less distinct after smoking a cigarette. Levels of unlabeled G in plasma were similar throughout Part A for all three subgroups with no observable influence of vaping or smoking on plasma and urinary G levels. Concentrations of labeled G in plasma and urine were below the detection limit for all three subgroups. The G findings are in accordance with the fact that a large pool of physiological G exists in the body which is not influenced by the uptake of G (either unlabeled or labeled) by vaping or smoking. Salivary PG and G showed no clear association with either vaping or smoking. The results suggest that some external PG and G might have gotten into the saliva, despite of extensive rinsing of the oral cavity before saliva samples were collected.

In Part B (ambulatory part), vapers were asked to use the same e-cigs (equipped with the labeled e-liquids) as in Part A, but were free in the set-up of the device and in the vaping pattern. Vaping the provided e-cig resulted in plasma nicotine and cotinine levels of 9 and 40 ng/ml. It could be estimated that total nicotine equivalents amounted 7.5 mg/d caused by the uptake of nicotine from the experimental e-cig. Almost all subjects used other nicotine products apart from the provided e-cig during Part B of the study.

Additionally, seven carbonyls (formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, acrolein, acetone, crotonaldehyde, methacrolein, propionaldehyde) were measured in the aerosol and the mainstream smoke. Corresponding biomarkers of exposure were determined in urine samples by LC-MS/MS. ¹³*C*-labeled formaldehyde, acetaldehyde and acrolein were found in e-cig aerosol, while all seven labeled carbonyls were detected in smoke. The labeled biomarkers of exposure to formaldehyde (¹³*C*-thiazolidine carboxylic acid and ¹³*C*-N-(1,3-thiazolidine-4-carbonyl)glycine), acrolein (¹³*C*₃-3-hydroxypropylmercapturic acid) and glycidol (¹³*C*₃-dihydroxypropylmercapturic acid) were present in the urine of vapers indicating an e-cig use-specific exposure to these toxicants, albeit at much lower amounts compared to smokers. In general, the e-cig use-specific uptake only contributes to 0.4 and 1.0 % to the overall exposure to formaldehyde and acrolein and to 8 % with respect to glycidol. Other thermal decomposition products, like tobacco specific nitrosamines were not determined in the aerosol of the e-liquid unlike the cigarette. Therefore the biomarkers were not found in the vapers, neither labeled nor unlabeled.

In conclusion, the application of labeled e-liquid ingredients was shown to allow the accurate quantification of the absorption dose of nicotine and PG, but not of G, also when other nicotine and tobacco products are used simultaneously. Their resulting labeled thermal decomposition products were found in the smoke and accordingly in the smokers which served as positive control. Whereas the number and the amount of the thermal decomposition products are clearly lower in the aerosol and vaper, respectively. Linking data for the native (unlabeled) and the labeled biomarkers revealed vaping as a minor source of exposure to these toxicants. Thermal decomposition of propylene glycol and glycerol to other toxicants such as crotonaldehyde only occurs during combustion in cigarettes rather than during vaping.

10 Kurzzusammenfassung

Elektronische Zigaretten (E-Zigs) haben in den letzten zehn Jahren weltweit stetig an Zuspruch gewonnen. Die damit verbundenen potentiellen Risiken für die Nutzer (Vaper), die Passiv-Nutzer und die allgemeine Bevölkerung werden in der Wissenschaft und im Gesundheitswesen kontrovers diskutiert. Eine wichtige Grundlage für die Risikoabschätzung ist eine fundierte Dosimetrie der Inhaltsstoffe und anderer potenzieller Bestandteile, die von den Vapern und von Passiv-Vapern aufgenommen werden. Ausgehend von den Erfahrungen mit Rauchern ist die Verwendung von Biomarkern zur Abschätzung der internen Dosis hierfür der geeignetste Ansatz. Eines der Hauptprobleme ist spezifische Biomarker für die Substanzen aus der E-Zigarette zu finden und dabei andere Quellen auszuschließen. Eine Möglichkeit, dieses Problem zu umgehen, ist die Verwendung stabiler, isotopenmarkierter Inhaltsstoffe im E-Liquid.

Im Rahmen dieser Arbeit wurde eine klinische Studie mit 25 Probanden durchgeführt: 20 Vaper und fünf Raucher. Die Vaper wurden zusätzlich in 2 Gruppen aufgeteilt. Die eine Gruppe verwendete die E-Zigarette mit einer Leistung von 10 W (10 W Vaper) und die die andere Gruppe verwendete die gleiche E-Zigarette mit einer Leistung von 18 W (18 W Vaper). Diese Studie bestand aus zwei Teilen: Einem kontrollierten Teil (Part A) und einem freiem Teil (Part B). In dieser Studie wurde ein E-Liquid mit markiertem Propylenglykol (PG), Glycerin (G) und Nikotin versetzt. Die fünf Raucher rauchten während Part A 10 ungefilterte Zigaretten, die mit markiertem PG, G und Nikotin dotiert waren. Sie dienten als (positive) Kontrolle während Teil A. Verschiedene Körperflüssigkeiten wurden gesammelt und mittel MS/MS analysiert. Um einen vollständigen Überblick zu erlangen, wurde zusätzlich noch das Aerosol der E-Zigarette, der Hauptstromrauch der Zigarette und das E-Liquid analysiert.

In dieser Arbeit werden dosimetrische Ergebnisse für PG, G und Nikotin in verschiedenen Körperflüssigkeiten vorgestellt. Außerdem wurde die Entstehung von thermischen Zersetzungsprodukten, wie tabakspezifische Nitrosamine, Carbonyle, Epoxide und deren Biomarker untersucht. Der durchschnittliche E-Liquidverbrauch der 10 Vaper bei einer Leistung von 10 W betrug 1,26 ml/10 Sitzungen (Bereich: 0,74 - 1,66 ml). Der E-Liquidverbrauch der anderen 10 Vaper bei einer Leistung von 18 W war leicht, aber nicht signifikant höher: 1,48 (0,60 - 3,11) ml/10 Sitzungen. Der Nikotinspiegel im Plasma erreichte in allen 3 Untergruppen (Vaper mit 10 und 18 W, Raucher) nach jedem Vaping-Sitzung (mit 10 Zügen) und jeder Rauchersitzung (mit je 1 Zigarette) sein Maximum. Die höchsten mittleren Nikotin-Plasmaspiegel (unmarkiert + markiert) wurden nach der letzten (10.) Vaping-Sitzung beobachtet und betrugen 16,5 und 19,8 ng/ml für die 10 bzw. 18 W Vaper (Unterschied nicht signifikant). Die 5 Raucher erreichten nach der 8. Zigarette das mittlere Maximum von 31,5 ng/ml. Der Gehalt an unmarkiertem Nikotin im Plasma war bei den Vapern zehnmal höher als der des markierten Alkaloids, was das Verhältnis in dem E-Liquid widerspiegelt. Die Konzentrationen von markiertem Cotinin in Plasma und Speichel stiegen während der 10 Vaping-/Rauchsitzungen stetig an und fielen dann nach 2 Tagen ohne Vaping/Rauchen auf nicht nachweisbare Werte. Das gleiche Muster wurde für Trans-3'-Hydroxycotinin im Speichel mit einer Verschiebung des Spitzenwertes um mehrere Stunden beobachtet. Die Gesamtmenge an markierten Nikotinäquivalenten (Nikotin + 10 Hauptmetaboliten) in Urinproben von Teil A der Studie betrug 810, 860 und 480 µg nach 72 h für

10 W-, 18 W-Vaper und Raucher.

Die Propylenglykol-Plasmaspiegel in Vapern zeigten nach jeder Sitzung sowohl für das markierte als auch für das unmarkierte PG definierte Spitzenwerte. Die entsprechenden Werte für Raucher waren viel niedriger und waren nach dem Rauchen einer Zigarette weniger ausgeprägt. Die Spiegel von unmarkiertem G im Plasma waren in allen drei Untergruppen in Teil A ähnlich, ohne dass ein Einfluss des Vapens oder Rauchens auf die Plasma- und Urin-G-Spiegel beobachtet werden konnte. Die Konzentrationen von markiertem G im Plasma und Urin lagen bei allen drei Untergruppen unter der Nachweisgrenze. Die G-Befunde stehen im Einklang mit der Tatsache, dass im Körper ein großer Pool an physiologischem G existiert, der nicht durch die Aufnahme von G (entweder unmarkiert oder markiert) durch Vapen oder Rauchen beeinflusst wird. Speichel-PG und G zeigten keine klare Assoziation mit Vapen oder Rauchen. Die Ergebnisse deuten darauf hin, dass etwas externes PG und G in den Speichel gelangt sein könnte, trotz ausgiebiger Spülung der Mundhöhle vor der Entnahme der Speichelproben.

In Part B (ambulanter Teil) wurden die Vaper gebeten, ausschließlich die gleichen E-Zigs (ausgestattet mit den markiertem E-Liquid) wie in Part A zu verwenden. Sie durften allerdings die E-Zig ohne Beschränkung der Zuganzahl und Nutzungsfrequenz verwenden. Aus dieser freien Nutzung der E-Zig ergab sich ähnliche Plasmakonzentrationen für das markierte Nikotin bzw. Cotinin. Die umarkierten Konzentrationen sind jedoch deutlich höher. Die PG-Konzentrationen in Plasma und Urin PG stimmen mit den Konzentrationen aus Part A gut überein. Daher liegt die Schlussfolgerung nahe, dass fast alle Probanden in Part B zusätzlich noch andere Nikotinprodukte verwendet haben.

Zusätzlich wurden sieben Carbonyle (Formaldehyd, Acetaldehyd, Acrolein, Aceton, Crotonaldehyd, Methacrolein, Propionaldehyd) im Aerosol der E-Zigarette und im Hauptstromrauch der Zigarette gemessen. Entsprechende Expositionsbiomarker wurden in Urinproben mittels LC-MS/MS bestimmt. ¹³*C*-markiertes Formaldehyd, Acetaldehyd und Acrolein wurden im Aerosol der E-Zigarette gefunden, während alle sieben markierten Carbonyle im Rauch nachgewiesen wurden. Die markierten Biomarker von Formaldehyd (¹³*C*-Thiazolidincarbonsäure und ¹³*C*-N-(1,3-Thiazolidin-4-carbonyl)glycin), Acrolein (¹³*C*₃-3-Hydroxypropylmercapturinsäure) und Glycidol (¹³*C*₃-3- Dihydroxypropylmercapturinsäure) waren im Urin von Vapern vorhanden, was auf eine E-Zig-spezifische Exposition gegenüber dieser Substanzen hinweist, wenn auch in wesentlich geringeren Mengen im Vergleich zu Rauchern. Im Allgemeinen trägt die anwendungsspezifische Aufnahme in der E-Zig nur zu 0,4 und 1,0 % zur Gesamtexposition gegenüber Formaldehyd und Acrolein und zu 8 % in Bezug auf Glycidol bei. Andere thermische Zersetzungsprodukte, wie tabakspezifische Nitrosamine, wurden im Aerosol der E-Liquid im Gegensatz zur Zigarette nicht bestimmt. Daher wurden die dazu gehörigen Biomarker in den Proben der Vaper nicht gefunden, weder markiert noch unmarkiert.

Zusammenfassend konnte gezeigt werden, dass die Anwendung von markierten E-Liquid-Inhaltsstoffen die genaue Quantifizierung der Absorptionsdosis von Nikotin und PG, nicht aber von G, auch bei gleichzeitigem Konsum anderer Nikotin- und Tabakprodukte ermöglicht. Ihre daraus resultierenden markierten thermischen Zersetzungsprodukte wurden im Rauch und dementsprechend bei den Rauchern gefunden, die als Positivkontrolle dienten, während die Anzahl und die Menge der thermischen Zersetzungsprodukte im Aerosol bzw. im Vaper deutlich geringer sind. Die Verknüpfung der Daten für die nativen (unmarkierten) und die markierten Biomarker ergab, dass Vaping eine geringe Expositionsquelle für diese Substanzen darstellt. Die thermische Zersetzung von Propylenglykol und Glycerin zu anderen Gefahrenstoffen wie z.B. Crotonaldehyd findet nur während der Pyrolyse in Zigaretten statt und nicht durch Vapen.

11 References

- [1] E. Beard, R. West, S. Michie, and J. Brown. "Association of prevalence of electronic cigarette use with smoking cessation and cigarette consumption in England: a time-series analysis between 2006 and 2017". In: *Addiction (Abingdon, England)* 115.5 (2020), pp. 961–974.
- H. Dai and A. M. Leventhal. "Prevalence of e-cigarette use among adults in the United States, 2014-2018". In: *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 322.18 (2019), pp. 1824– 1827.
- [3] A. Kapan, S. Stefanac, I. Sandner, S. Haider, I. Grabovac, and T. E. Dorner. "Use of electronic cigarettes in European populations: A narrative review". In: *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 17.6 (2020), p. 1971.
- [4] K. A. Cullen, A. S. Gentzke, M. D. Sawdey, J. T. Chang, G. M. Anic, T. W. Wang, M. R. Creamer, A. Jamal, B. K. Ambrose, and B. A. King. "E-cigarette use among youth in the United States, 2019". In: *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 322.21 (2019), pp. 2095–2103.
- [5] N. K. Cobb, M. J. Byron, D. B. Abrams, and P. G. Shields. "Novel nicotine delivery systems and public health: the rise of the "e-cigarette"". In: *American Journal of Public Health* 100.12 (2010), pp. 2340–2342.
- [6] G. St Helen and D. L. Eaton. "Public health consequences of e-cigarette use". In: *The Journal of the American Medical Association Internal Medicine* 178.7 (2018), pp. 984–986.
- [7] J. Drope, Z. Cahn, R. Kennedy, A. C. Liber, M. Stoklosa, R. Henson, C. E. Douglas, and J. Drope. "Key issues surrounding the health impacts of electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) and other sources of nicotine". In: *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 67.6 (2017), pp. 449–471.
- [8] K. E. Farsalinos and R. Polosa. "Safety evaluation and risk assessment of electronic cigarettes as tobacco cigarette substitutes: A systematic review". In: *Therapeutic Advances in Drug Safety* 5.2 (2014), pp. 67–86.
- [9] P. Hajek, J.-F. Etter, N. Benowitz, T. Eissenberg, and H. McRobbie. "Electronic cigarettes: Review of use, content, safety, effects on smokers and potential for harm and benefit". In: *Addiction (Abingdon, England)* 109.11 (2014), pp. 1801–1810.
- [10] M. Jankowski, G. Brożek, J. Lawson, S. Skoczyński, and J. E. Zejda. "E-smoking: Emerging public health problem?" In: *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health* 30.3 (2017), pp. 329–344.
- [11] A. Ratajczak, W. Feleszko, D. M. Smith, and M. Goniewicz. "How close are we to definitively identifying the respiratory health effects of e-cigarettes?" In: *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine* 12.7 (2018), pp. 549–556.
- [12] S. Cox and S. Jakes. "Nicotine and e-cigarettes: Rethinking addiction in the context of reduced harm". In: *The International Journal on Drug Policy* 44 (2017), pp. 84–85.

- [13] US Department of Health and Human Services. "E-Cigarette use among youth and young adults. A report of the Surgeon General". In: Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health 2016 ().
- [14] D. E. Schraufnagel, F. Blasi, M. B. Drummond, D. C. L. Lam, E. Latif, M. J. Rosen, R. Sansores, and R. van Zyl-Smit. "Electronic cigarettes. A position statement of the forum of international respiratory societies". In: *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 190.6 (2014), pp. 611–618.
- [15] E. E. DeVito and S. Krishnan-Sarin. "E-cigarettes: Impact of e-liquid components and device characteristics on nicotine exposure". In: *Current Neuropharmacology* 16.4 (2018), pp. 438– 459.
- [16] J. Hahn, Y. B. Monakhova, J. Hengen, M. Kohl-Himmelseher, J. Schüssler, H. Hahn, T. Kuballa, and D. W. Lachenmeier. "Electronic cigarettes: Overview of chemical composition and exposure estimation". In: *Tobacco Induced Diseases* 12.1 (2014), p. 23.
- [17] C. Pisinger and M. Døssing. "A systematic review of health effects of electronic cigarettes". In: *Preventive Medicine* 69 (2014), pp. 248–260.
- [18] M. Famele, J. Palmisani, C. Ferranti, C. Abenavoli, L. Palleschi, R. Mancinelli, R. M. Fidente, G. de Gennaro, and R. Draisci. "Liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry method for the determination of nicotine and minor tobacco alkaloids in electronic cigarette refill liquids and second-hand generated aerosol". In: *Journal of Separation Science* 40.5 (2017), pp. 1049–1056.
- [19] M. Famele, C. Ferranti, C. Abenavoli, L. Palleschi, R. Mancinelli, and R. Draisci. "The chemical components of electronic cigarette cartridges and refill fluids: Review of analytical methods". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 17.3 (2014), pp. 271–279.
- [20] J. Margham, K. McAdam, M. Forster, C. Liu, C. Wright, D. Mariner, and C. Proctor. "Chemical composition of aerosol from an e-cigarette: A quantitative comparison with cigarette smoke". In: *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 29.10 (2016), pp. 1662–1678.
- [21] K. E. Farsalinos, K. A. Kistler, A. Pennington, A. Spyrou, D. Kouretas, and G. Gillman. "Aldehyde levels in e-cigarette aerosol: Findings from a replication study and from use of a new-generation device". In: *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 111 (2018), pp. 64–70.
- [22] K. E. Farsalinos, G. Gillman, K. Poulas, and V. Voudris. "Tobacco-specific nitrosamines in electronic cigarettes: Comparison between liquid and aerosol levels". In: *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 12.8 (2015), pp. 9046–9053.
- [23] R. P. Jensen, W. Luo, J. F. Pankow, R. M. Strongin, and D. H. Peyton. "Hidden formaldehyde in e-cigarette aerosols". In: *The New England Journal of Medicine* 372.4 (2015), pp. 392– 394.
- [24] R. P. Jensen, R. M. Strongin, and D. H. Peyton. "Solvent chemistry in the electronic cigarette reaction vessel". In: *Scientific Reports* 7 (2017), p. 42549.

- [25] M. Sleiman, J. M. Logue, V. N. Montesinos, M. L. Russell, M. I. Litter, L. A. Gundel, and H. Destaillats. "Emissions from electronic cigarettes: Key parameters affecting the release of harmful chemicals". In: *Environmental Science & Technology* 50.17 (2016), pp. 9644–9651.
- [26] J. C. Salamanca, I. Munhenzva, J. O. Escobedo, R. P. Jensen, A. Shaw, R. Campbell, W. Luo, D. H. Peyton, and R. M. Strongin. "Formaldehyde hemiacetal sampling, recovery, and quantification from electronic cigarette aerosols". In: *Scientific Reports* 7.1 (2017), p. 11044.
- [27] K. E. Farsalinos, G. Romagna, D. Tsiapras, S. Kyrzopoulos, and V. Voudris. "Evaluation of electronic cigarette use (vaping) topography and estimation of liquid consumption: Implications for research protocol standards definition and for public health authorities' regulation". In: *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 10.6 (2013), pp. 2500–2514.
- [28] K. E. Farsalinos, G. Romagna, and V. Voudris. "Factors associated with dual use of tobacco and electronic cigarettes: A case control study". In: *The International Journal on Drug Policy* 26.6 (2015), pp. 595–600.
- [29] A. Cunningham, S. Slayford, C. Vas, J. Gee, S. Costigan, and K. Prasad. "Development, validation and application of a device to measure e-cigarette users' puffing topography". In: *Scientific Reports* 6 (2016), p. 35071.
- [30] K. Farsalinos. "Measuring aldehyde emissions in e-cigarettes and the contribution of flavors: A response to Khlystov and Samburova". In: *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 120 (2018), pp. 726–728.
- [31] M. Hiler, A. Breland, T. Spindle, S. Maloney, T. Lipato, N. Karaoghlanian, A. Shihadeh, A. Lopez, C. Ramôa, and T. Eissenberg. "Electronic cigarette user plasma nicotine concentration, puff topography, heart rate, and subjective effects: Influence of liquid nicotine concentration and user experience". In: *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology* 25.5 (2017), pp. 380–392.
- [32] H.-W. Lee, S.-H. Park, M.-W. Weng, H.-T. Wang, W. C. Huang, H. Lepor, X.-R. Wu, L.-C. Chen, and M.-S. Tang. "E-cigarette smoke damages DNA and reduces repair activity in mouse lung, heart, and bladder as well as in human lung and bladder cells". In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 115.7 (2018), E1560–E1569.
- [33] R. J. Robinson, E. C. Hensel, K. A. Roundtree, A. G. Difrancesco, J. M. Nonnemaker, and Y. O. Lee. "Week long topography study of young adults using electronic cigarettes in their natural environment". In: *Public Library of Science ONE* 11.10 (2016), e0164038.
- [34] T. R. Spindle, M. M. Hiler, A. B. Breland, N. V. Karaoghlanian, A. L. Shihadeh, and T. Eissenberg. "The influence of a mouthpiece-based topography measurement device on electronic cigarette user's plasma nicotine concentration, heart rate, and subjective effects under directed and ad libitum use conditions". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 19.4 (2017), pp. 469–476.

- [35] K.-H. Kim, E. Kabir, and S. A. Jahan. "Review of electronic cigarettes as tobacco cigarette substitutes: Their potential human health impact". In: *Journal of Environmental Science and Health. Part C, Environmental Carcinogenesis & Ecotoxicology Reviews* 34.4 (2016), pp. 262–275.
- [36] T. R. Spindle, A. B. Breland, N. V. Karaoghlanian, A. L. Shihadeh, and T. Eissenberg. "Preliminary results of an examination of electronic cigarette user puff topography: the effect of a mouthpiece-based topography measurement device on plasma nicotine and subjective effects". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 17.2 (2015), pp. 142–149.
- [37] B. J. Bequette, N. E. Sunny, S. W. El-Kadi, and S. L. Owens. "Application of stable isotopes and mass isotopomer distribution analysis to the study of intermediary metabolism of nutrients". In: *Journal of Animal Science* 84.suppl_13 (2006), E50–E59.
- [38] D. Darmaun and N. Mauras. "Use of stable isotopes to assess protein and amino acid metabolism in children and adolescents: A brief review". In: *Hormone Research* 64 Suppl 3 (2005), pp. 32–37.
- [39] R. P. Evershed, Z. M. Crossman, I. D. Bull, H. Mottram, J. A. J. Dungait, P. J. Maxfield, and E. L. Brennand. "13C-Labelling of lipids to investigate microbial communities in the environment". In: *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 17.1 (2006), pp. 72–82.
- [40] J.-P. Godin, A. B. Ross, S. Rezzi, C. Poussin, F.-P. Martin, A. Fuerholz, M. Cléroux, A.-F. Mermoud, L. Tornier, F. Arce Vera, E. Pouteau, Z. Ramadan, S. Kochhar, and L.-B. Fay. "Isotopomics: A top-down systems biology approach for understanding dynamic metabolism in rats using 1,2-(13)C(2) acetate". In: *Analytical Chemistry* 82.2 (2010), pp. 646–653.
- [41] M. S. Melvin, R. M. Ballentine, W. P. Gardner, W. J. McKinney, D. C. Smith, Y. B. Pithawalla, and K. A. Wagner. "Structure-activity relationships of propylene glycol, glycerin, and select analogs for carbonyl thermal degradation products". In: *Presented at the Coresta Congress in Kunming, China* (2018).
- [42] J. F. Pankow, K. Kim, K. J. McWhirter, W. Luo, J. O. Escobedo, R. M. Strongin, A. K. Duell, and D. H. Peyton. "Benzene formation in electronic cigarettes". In: *Public Library of Science ONE* 12.3 (2017), e0173055.
- [43] C. Wittmann. "Metabolic Flux Analysis Using Mass Spectrometry". In: *Tools and Applications of Biochemical Engineering Science*. Ed. by K. Schügerl, A.-P. Zeng, J. G. Aunins, A. Bader, W. Bell, H. Biebl, M. Biselli, M. J. T. Carrondo, L. R. Castilho, H. N. Chang, P. E. Cruz, C. Fuchs, S. J. Han, M.-R. Han, E. Heinzle, B. Hitzmann, D. Köster, I. Jasmund, N. Jelinek, S. Lang, H. Laatsch, J. Lee, H. Miirkl, L. Maranga, R. A. Medronho, M. Meiners, S. Nath, T. Noll, T. Scheper, S. Schmidt, K. Schügerl, E. Stäirk, A. Tholey, I. Wagner-Döbler, C. Wandrey, C. Wittmann, and S.-C. Yim. Vol. 74. Advances in Biochemical Engineering / Biotechnology. Berlin: Springer, 2002, pp. 39–64.
- [44] H. A. Gilbert. "Smokeless non-tobacco cigarette". US-Patent 3200819A. 1965.

- [45] K. E. Farsalinos, G. Romagna, D. Tsiapras, S. Kyrzopoulos, and V. Voudris. "Characteristics, perceived side effects and benefits of electronic cigarette use: a worldwide survey of more than 19,000 consumers". In: *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 11.4 (2014), pp. 4356–4373.
- [46] "Directive 2014/40/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 3 April 2014 on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States concerning the manufacture, presentation and sale of tobacco and related products and repealing Directive 2001/37/EC Text with EEA relevance". In: *Official Journal of the European Union* 2014.127 (29.4.2014), pp. 1–38.
- [47] S.-H. Zhu, J. Y. Sun, E. Bonnevie, S. E. Cummins, A. Gamst, L. Yin, and M. Lee. "Four hundred and sixty brands of e-cigarettes and counting: implications for product regulation". In: *Tobacco Control* 23 Suppl 3 (2014), pp. iii3–9.
- [48] D. L. Heine, P. F. Parker, and D. E. Francke. "Propylene glycol". In: American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy 7.1 (1950), pp. 8–17.
- [49] G. Jackson, R. T. Roberts, and T. Wainwright. "Mechanism of beer foam stabilization by propylene glycol alginate". In: *Journal of the Institute of Brewing* 86.1 (1980), pp. 34–37.
- [50] W. D. GRAY and C. SOVA. "Relation of molecule size and structure to alcohol inhibition of glucose utilization by yeast". In: *Journal of Bacteriology* 72.3 (1956), pp. 349–356.
- [51] F. Selenka. "The action of propylene glycol (1,2 propanediol) on bacteria: Effect on growth rate in liquid media". In: *Archiv für Hygiene und Bakteriologie* 147.2/3 (1963), pp. 189–200.
- [52] B. de Spiegeleer, E. Wattyn, G. Slegers, P. van der Meeren, K. Vlaminck, and L. van Vooren. "The importance of the cosolvent propylene glycol on the antimicrobial preservative efficacy of a pharmaceutical formulation by DOE-ruggedness testing". In: *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology* 11.3 (2006), pp. 275–284.
- [53] L. K. Golightly, S. S. Smolinske, M. L. Bennett, E. W. Sutherland, and B. H. Rumack. "Pharmaceutical excipients". In: *Medical Toxicology* 3.2 (1988), pp. 128–165.
- [54] W. van WINKLE. "Toxicity and actions of trimethylene glycol". In: *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 72.3 (1941), pp. 227–232.
- [55] O. N. Miller and G. Bazzano. "Propanediol metabolism and relation to lactic acid metabolism". In: *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 119.3 (1965), pp. 957–973.
- [56] T. Koseki, M. Koganezawa, A. Furuyama, K. Isono, and I. Shimada. "Stereospecificity of the receptor site for glycerol, a new sweetener, in a labellar sugar receptor cell of Drosophila". In: *Chemical Senses* 30 Suppl 1 (2005), pp. i277–8.
- [57] S. Paul, O. Adeniyi, Moses Olutoye. "Production and characterization of soymilk using locally prepared date paste (phoenix dactylifera), white sugar and glycerol as sweeteners". In: *Current Trends in Biomedical Engineering & Biosciences* 7.2 (2017), p. 555709.

- [58] W. S. Chen, D. C. Liu, M. T. Chen, and H. W. Ockerman. "Improving texture and storage stability of chinese-style pork jerky by the addition of humectants". In: *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences* 13.10 (2000), pp. 1455–1460.
- [59] E. Jungermann and N. O. Sonntag. *Glycerine: A key cosmetic ingredient*. 1st edition. Boca Raton, Florida, US: CRC Press, 1991.
- [60] L. R. Morrison. "Glycerol". In: Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology. Ed. by Lowen R. Morrison. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2000.
- [61] M. Lodén and H. I. Maibach, eds. Treatment of Dry Skin Syndrome: The Art and Science of Moisturizers. 1st edition. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- [62] D. B. ZILVERSMIT and E. L. C. McCandless. "Fate of intravenously administered glycerol". In: *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine* 95.4 (1957), pp. 755–757.
- [63] J. L. Nelson, M. E. Harmon, and R. A. Robergs. "Identifying plasma glycerol concentration associated with urinary glycerol excretion in trained humans". In: *Journal of Analytical Toxicology* 35.9 (2011), pp. 617–623.
- [64] B. Siegmund, E. Leitner, and W. Pfannhauser. "Determination of the nicotine content of various edible nightshades (Solanaceae) and their products and estimation of the associated dietary nicotine intake". In: *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 47.8 (1999), pp. 3113– 3120.
- [65] S. Kishioka, N. Kiguchi, Y. Kobayashi, and F. Saika. "Nicotine effects and the endogenous opioid system". In: *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences* 125.2 (2014), pp. 117–124.
- [66] R. Grana, N. Benowitz, and S. A. Glantz. "E-cigarettes: a scientific review". In: *Circulation* 129.19 (2014), pp. 1972–1986.
- [67] L. M. Siqueira. "Nicotine and tobacco as substances of abuse in children and adolescents". In: *Pediatrics* 139.1 (2017), e20163436.
- [68] B. Mayer. "How much nicotine kills a human? Tracing back the generally accepted lethal dose to dubious self-experiments in the nineteenth century". In: *Archives of Toxicology* 88.1 (2014), pp. 5–7.
- [69] J. Hartmann-Boyce, S. C. Chepkin, W. Ye, C. Bullen, and T. Lancaster. "Nicotine replacement therapy versus control for smoking cessation". In: *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 5 (2018).
- [70] M. Tomizawa and J. E. Casida. "Neonicotinoid insecticide toxicology: mechanisms of selective action". In: *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* 45 (2005), pp. 247–268.
- [71] I. Ujváry. "Nicotine and other insecticidal alkaloids". In: *Nicotinoid Insecticides and the Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor*. Ed. by I. Yamamoto and J. E. Casida. Tokyo: Springer Japan, 1999, pp. 29–69.

- [72] M. A. Rahman, N. Hann, A. Wilson, and L. Worrall-Carter. "Electronic cigarettes: patterns of use, health effects, use in smoking cessation and regulatory issues". In: *Tobacco Induced Diseases* 12.1 (2014), p. 21.
- [73] J. Hukkanen, P. Jacob, and N. L. Benowitz. "Metabolism and disposition kinetics of nicotine". In: *Pharmacological Reviews* 57.1 (2005), pp. 79–115.
- [74] M. Piller, G. Gilch, G. Scherer, and M. Scherer. "Simple, fast and sensitive LC-MS/MS analysis for the simultaneous quantification of nicotine and 10 of its major metabolites". In: *Journal of Chromatography B* 951-952 (2014), pp. 7–15.
- [75] T. J. Smyth, V. N. Ramachandran, A. McGuigan, J. Hopps, and W. F. Smyth. "Characterisation of nicotine and related compounds using electrospray ionisation with ion trap mass spectrometry and with quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry and their detection by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry". In: *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 21.4 (2007), pp. 557–566.
- [76] M. Pellegrini, E. Marchei, S. Rossi, F. Vagnarelli, A. Durgbanshi, O. Garcia-Algar, O. Vall, and S. Pichini. "Liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry assay for determination of nicotine and metabolites, caffeine and arecoline in breast milk". In: *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 21.16 (2007), pp. 2693–2703.
- [77] J. O. Ebbert, L. C. Dale, L. M. Nirelli, D. R. Schroeder, T. P. Moyer, and R. D. Hurt. "Cotinine as a biomarker of systemic nicotine exposure in spit tobacco users". In: *Addictive Behaviors* 29.2 (2004), pp. 349–355.
- [78] W. K. Al-Delaimy. "Hair as a biomarker for exposure to tobacco smoke". In: *Tobacco Control* 11.3 (2002), pp. 176–182.
- [79] I. A. Abdallah, D. C. Hammell, A. L. Stinchcomb, and H. E. Hassan. "A fully validated LC-MS/MS method for simultaneous determination of nicotine and its metabolite cotinine in human serum and its application to a pharmacokinetic study after using nicotine transdermal delivery systems with standard heat application in adult smokers". In: *Journal of Chromatography B* 1020 (2016), pp. 67–77.
- [80] H.-S. Shin, J.-G. Kim, Y.-J. Shin, and S. H. Jee. "Sensitive and simple method for the determination of nicotine and cotinine in human urine, plasma and saliva by gas chromatography– mass spectrometry". In: *Journal of Chromatography B* 769.1 (2002), pp. 177–183.
- [81] William C. Hinds. Aerosol technology: Properties, behavior, and measurement of airborne particles: Chapter 1: Introduction. 2nd edition. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.
- [82] J. F. Pankow, K. Kim, W. Luo, and K. J. McWhirter. "Gas/Particle partitioning constants of nicotine, selected toxicants, and flavor chemicals in solutions of 50/50 Propylene glycol/glycerol as used in electronic cigarettes". In: *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 31.9 (2018), pp. 985–990.

- [83] J. F. Pankow. "Calculating compound dependent gas-droplet distributions in aerosols of propylene glycol and glycerol from electronic cigarettes". In: *Journal of Aerosol Science* 107 (2017), pp. 9–13.
- [84] J. F. Pankow. "An absorption model of gas/particle partitioning of organic compounds in the atmosphere". In: *Atmospheric Environment* 28.2 (1994), pp. 185–188.
- [85] P. S. Liss and P. G. Slater. "Flux of gases across the air-sea interface". In: *Nature* 247.5438 (1974), pp. 181–184.
- [86] P. Muller. "Glossary of terms used in physical organic chemistry (IUPAC Recommendations 1994)". In: *Pure and Applied Chemistry* 66.5 (1994), pp. 1077–1184.
- [88] I. G. Gillman, K. A. Kistler, E. W. Stewart, and A. R. Paolantonio. "Effect of variable power levels on the yield of total aerosol mass and formation of aldehydes in e-cigarette aerosols". In: *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* 75 (2016), pp. 58–65.
- [89] O. Geiss, I. Bianchi, and J. Barrero-Moreno. "Correlation of volatile carbonyl yields emitted by e-cigarettes with the temperature of the heating coil and the perceived sensorial quality of the generated vapours". In: *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 219.3 (2016), pp. 268–277.
- [90] N. Beauval, M. Verrièle, A. Garat, I. Fronval, R. Dusautoir, S. Anthérieu, G. Garçon, J.-M. Lo-Guidice, D. Allorge, and N. Locoge. "Influence of puffing conditions on the carbonyl composition of e-cigarette aerosols". In: *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 222.1 (2019), pp. 136–146.
- [91] K. E. Farsalinos, K. A. Kistler, G. Gillman, and V. Voudris. "Evaluation of electronic cigarette liquids and aerosol for the presence of selected inhalation toxins". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 17.2 (2015), pp. 168–174.
- [92] K. E. Farsalinos, N. Yannovits, T. Sarri, V. Voudris, K. Poulas, and S. J. Leischow. "Carbonyl emissions from a novel heated tobacco product (IQOS): Comparison with an e-cigarette and a tobacco cigarette". In: Addiction (Abingdon, England) 113.11 (2018), pp. 2099–2106.
- [93] D. J. Conklin, M. A. Ogunwale, Y. Chen, W. S. Theis, M. H. Nantz, X.-A. Fu, L.-C. Chen, D. W. Riggs, P. Lorkiewicz, A. Bhatnagar, and S. Srivastava. "Electronic cigarette-generated aldehydes: The contribution of e-liquid components to their formation and the use of urinary aldehyde metabolites as biomarkers of exposure". In: *Aerosol Science and Technology* 52.11 (2018), pp. 1219–1232.
- [94] K. E. Farsalinos and G. Gillman. "Carbonyl emissions in e-cigarette aerosol: A systematic review and methodological considerations". In: *Frontiers in Physiology* 8 (2017), p. 1119.

- [95] K. E. Farsalinos, V. Voudris, A. Spyrou, and K. Poulas. "E-cigarettes emit very high formaldehyde levels only in conditions that are aversive to users: A replication study under verified realistic use conditions". In: *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 109.Pt 1 (2017), pp. 90–94.
- [96] J. L. Nitzkin, K. Farsalinos, and M. Siegel. "More on hidden formaldehyde in e-cigarette aerosols". In: *The New England Journal of Medicine* 372.16 (2015), pp. 1575–1577.
- [97] V. Samburova, C. Bhattarai, M. Strickland, L. Darrow, J. Angermann, Y. Son, and A. Khlystov.
 "Aldehydes in exhaled breath during e-cigarette vaping: Pilot study results". In: *Toxics* 6.3 (2018), p. 46.
- [98] S. Uchiyama, K. Ohta, Y. Inaba, and N. Kunugita. "Determination of carbonyl compounds generated from the e-cigarette using coupled silica cartridges impregnated with hydroquinone and 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine, followed by high-performance liquid chromatography". In: *Analytical Sciences* 29.12 (2013), pp. 1219–1222.
- [99] G. Bustamante, B. Ma, G. Yakovlev, K. Yershova, C. Le, J. Jensen, D. K. Hatsukami, and I. Stepanov. "Presence of the carcinogen N'-nitrosonornicotine in saliva of e-cigarette users". In: *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 31.8 (2018), pp. 731–738.
- [100] M. Laugesen. "Nicotine and toxicant yield ratings of electronic cigarette brands in New Zealand". In: *The New Zealand Medical Journal* 128.1411 (2015), pp. 77–82.
- [101] H.-J. Kim and H.-S. Shin. "Determination of tobacco-specific nitrosamines in replacement liquids of electronic cigarettes by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry". In: *Journal of Chromatography A* 1291 (2013), pp. 48–55.
- [102] K. E. Farsalinos, I. G. Gillman, M. S. Melvin, A. R. Paolantonio, W. J. Gardow, K. E. Humphries, S. E. Brown, K. Poulas, and V. Voudris. "Nicotine levels and presence of selected tobacco-derived toxins in tobacco flavoured electronic cigarette refill liquids". In: *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 12.4 (2015), pp. 3439–3452.
- [103] J. G. Lisko, H. Tran, S. B. Stanfill, B. C. Blount, and C. H. Watson. "Chemical composition and evaluation of nicotine, tobacco alkaloids, pH, and selected flavors in e-cigarette cartridges and refill solutions". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 17.10 (2015), pp. 1270– 1278.
- [104] E. Marco and J. O. Grimalt. "A rapid method for the chromatographic analysis of volatile organic compounds in exhaled breath of tobacco cigarette and electronic cigarette smokers". In: *Journal of Chromatography A* 1410 (2015), pp. 51–59.
- [105] M. L. Goniewicz, J. Knysak, M. Gawron, L. Kosmider, A. Sobczak, J. Kurek, A. Prokopowicz, M. Jablonska-Czapla, C. Rosik-Dulewska, C. Havel, P. Jacob, and N. Benowitz. "Levels of selected carcinogens and toxicants in vapour from electronic cigarettes". In: *Tobacco Control* 23.2 (2014), pp. 133–139.

- [106] R. Tayyarah and G. A. Long. "Comparison of select analytes in aerosol from e-cigarettes with smoke from conventional cigarettes and with ambient air". In: *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* 70.3 (2014), pp. 704–710.
- [107] R. M. Pellegrino, B. Tinghino, G. Mangiaracina, A. Marani, M. Vitali, C. Protano, J. F. Osborn, and M. S. Cattaruzza. "Electronic cigarettes: an evaluation of exposure to chemicals and fine particulate matter (PM)". In: *Annali di Igiene* 24.4 (2012), pp. 279–288.
- [108] M. Williams, A. Villarreal, K. Bozhilov, S. Lin, and P. Talbot. "Metal and silicate particles including nanoparticles are present in electronic cigarette cartomizer fluid and aerosol". In: *Public Library of Science ONE* 8.3 (2013), e57987.
- [109] C. Hutzler, M. Paschke, S. Kruschinski, F. Henkler, J. Hahn, and A. Luch. "Chemical hazards present in liquids and vapors of electronic cigarettes". In: *Archives of Toxicology* 88.7 (2014), pp. 1295–1308.
- [110] L. Kosmider, A. Sobczak, M. Fik, J. Knysak, M. Zaciera, J. Kurek, and M. L. Goniewicz. "Carbonyl compounds in electronic cigarette vapors: effects of nicotine solvent and battery output voltage". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 16.10 (2014), pp. 1319–1326.
- [111] T. Szarvas, E. Szatlóczky, J. Volford, L. Trézl, E. Tyihák, and I. Rusznák. "Determination of endogenous formaldehyde level in human blood and urine by dimedone-14C radiometric method". In: *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry Letters* 106.6 (1986), pp. 357–367.
- [112] I. V. Rosado, F. Langevin, G. P. Crossan, M. Takata, and K. J. Patel. "Formaldehyde catabolism is essential in cells deficient for the Fanconi anemia DNA-repair pathway". In: *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 18.12 (2011), pp. 1432–1434.
- [113] H. D. Heck, M. Casanova-Schmitz, P. B. Dodd, E. N. Schachter, T. J. Witek, and T. Tosun. "Formaldehyde (CH2O) concentrations in the blood of humans and Fischer-344 rats exposed to CH2O under controlled conditions". In: *American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal* 46.1 (1985), pp. 1–3.
- [114] Wood dust and formaldehyde: ... views and expert opinions of an IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenesis Risks to Humans, which met in Lyon, 11 - 18 October 1994.
 Vol. 62. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Lyon, 1995.
- [115] Debra A. Kaden, Corinne Mandin, Gunnar D. Nielsen, and Peder Wolkoff. WHO Guidelines for Indoor Air Quality: Selected Pollutants - Formaldehyde. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2010.
- [116] S. Guo and M. Chen. "13C isotope evidence for photochemical production of atmospheric formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, and acetone pollutants in Guangzhou". In: *Environmental Chemistry Letters* 11.1 (2013), pp. 77–82.

- [117] Pernilla Gustafson, Lars Barregard, Bo Strandberg, and Gerd Sällsten. "The impact of domestic wood burning on personal, indoor and outdoor levels of 1,3-butadiene, benzene , formaldehyde and acetaldehyde". In: *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 9.1 (2007), pp. 23–32.
- [118] G. MALORNY, N. RIETBROCK, and M. SCHNEIDER. "Die Oxydation des Formaldehyds zu Ameisensäure im Blut: Ein Beitrag zum Stoffwechsel des Formaldehyds". In: *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archiv fur experimentelle Pathologie und Pharmakologie* 250 (1965), pp. 419– 436.
- [119] M. Scherer, G. Schmitz, and G. Liebisch. "Simultaneous quantification of cardiolipin, bis-(monoacylglycero)phosphate and their precursors by hydrophilic interaction LC-MS/MS including correction of isotopic overlap". In: *Analytical Chemistry* 82.21 (2010), pp. 8794– 8799.
- [120] K. Fagerström. "Nicotine: Pharmacology, toxicity and therapeutic use". In: *Journal of Smoking Cessation* 9.2 (2014), pp. 53–59.
- [121] M. Russell. "Nicotine intake and its regulation". In: *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 24.5 (1980), pp. 253–264.
- [122] G. B. Gori, N. L. Benowitz, and C. J. Lynch. "Mouth versus deep airways absorption of nicotine in cigarette smokers". In: *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior* 25.6 (1986), pp. 1181–1184.
- [123] N. M. Krebs, A. Chen, J. Zhu, D. Sun, J. Liao, A. L. Stennett, and J. E. Muscat. "Comparison of puff volume with cigarettes per day in predicting nicotine uptake among daily smokers". In: *American Journal of Epidemiology* 184.1 (2016), pp. 48–57.
- [124] G. Sutherland, J. Stapleton, M. Russell, M. Jarvis, P. Hajek, M. Belcher, and C. Feyerabend.
 "Randomised controlled trial of nasal nicotine spray in smoking cessation". In: *The Lancet* 340.8815 (1992), pp. 324–329.
- [125] S. G. Gourlay and N. L. Benowitz. "Arteriovenous differences in plasma concentration of nicotine and catecholamines and related cardiovascular effects after smoking, nicotine nasal spray, and intravenous nicotine". In: *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 62.4 (1997), pp. 453–463.
- [126] T. Blondal, L. J. Gudmundsson, I. Olafsdottir, G. Gustavsson, and A. Westin. "Nicotine nasal spray with nicotine patch for smoking cessation: randomised trial with six year follow up". In: *British Medical Journal Clinical Research* 318.7179 (1999), pp. 285–288.
- [127] K. E. Farsalinos, A. Spyrou, C. Stefopoulos, K. Tsimopoulou, P. Kourkoveli, D. Tsiapras, S. Kyrzopoulos, K. Poulas, and V. Voudris. "Nicotine absorption from electronic cigarette use: Comparison between experienced consumers (vapers) and naïve users (smokers)". In: *Scientific Reports* 5 (2015), p. 11269.

- [128] K. E. Farsalinos, A. Spyrou, C. Stefopoulos, K. Tsimopoulou, P. Kourkoveli, D. Tsiapras, S. Kyrzopoulos, K. Poulas, and V. Voudris. "Nicotine absorption from electronic cigarette use: comparison between experienced consumers (vapers) and naïve users (smokers)". In: *Scientific Reports* 5 (2015), p. 11269.
- [129] N. L. Benowitz, J. Hukkanen, and P. Jacob. "Nicotine chemistry, metabolism, kinetics and biomarkers". In: *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* 192 (2009), pp. 29–60.
- [130] M. Nakajima, T. Yamamoto, K. Nunoya, T. Yokoi, K. Nagashima, K. Inoue, Y. Funae, N. Shimada, T. Kamataki, and Y. Kuroiwa. "Characterization of CYP2A6 involved in 3'hydroxylation of cotinine in human liver microsomes". In: *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 277.2 (1996), pp. 1010–1015.
- [131] Y. Rao, E. Hoffmann, M. Zia, L. Bodin, M. Zeman, E. M. Sellers, and R. F. Tyndale. "Duplications and defects in the CYP2A6 gene: Identification, genotyping, and in vivo effects on smoking". In: *Molecular Pharmacology* 58.4 (2000), pp. 747–755.
- [132] R. F. Tyndale and E. M. Sellers. "Genetic variation in CYP2A6-mediated nicotine metabolism alters smoking behavior". In: *Therapeutic Drug Monitoring* 24.1 (2002), pp. 163–171.
- [133] I. Johansson and M. Ingelman-Sundberg. "Genetic polymorphism and toxicology–with emphasis on cytochrome p450". In: *Toxicological Sciences* 120.1 (2011), pp. 1–13.
- [134] N. L. Benowitz, G. E. Swan, P. Jacob, C. N. Lessov-Schlaggar, and R. F. Tyndale. "CYP2A6 genotype and the metabolism and disposition kinetics of nicotine". In: *Clinical Pharmacol*ogy and Therapeutics 80.5 (2006), pp. 457–467.
- [135] V. Malaiyandi, S. D. Goodz, E. M. Sellers, and R. F. Tyndale. "CYP2A6 genotype, phenotype, and the use of nicotine metabolites as biomarkers during ad libitum smoking". In: *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention* 15.10 (2006), pp. 1812–1819.
- [136] K. A. Schoedel, E. B. Hoffmann, Y. Rao, E. M. Sellers, and R. F. Tyndale. "Ethnic variation in CYP2A6 and association of genetically slow nicotine metabolism and smoking in adult Caucasians". In: *Pharmacogenetics* 14.9 (2004), pp. 615–626.
- [137] G. St Helen, M. Novalen, D. F. Heitjan, D. Dempsey, P. Jacob, A. Aziziyeh, V. C. Wing, T. P. George, R. F. Tyndale, and N. L. Benowitz. "Reproducibility of the nicotine metabolite ratio in cigarette smokers". In: *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention* 21.7 (2012), pp. 1105–1114.
- [138] D. Dempsey, P. Tutka, P. Jacob, F. Allen, K. Schoedel, R. F. Tyndale, and N. L. Benowitz. "Nicotine metabolite ratio as an index of cytochrome P450 2A6 metabolic activity". In: *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 76.1 (2004), pp. 64–72.
- [139] S. S. Hecht and D. Hoffmann. "Tobacco-specific nitrosamines, an important group of carcinogens in tobacco and tobacco smoke". In: *Carcinogenesis* 9.6 (1988), pp. 875–884.
- [140] D. Hoffmann, M. Dong, and S. S. Hecht. "Origin in tobacco smoke of N'-nitrosonornicotine, a tobacco-specific carcinogen". In: *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 58.6 (1977), pp. 1841–1844.

- [141] S. Fischer, B. Spiegelhalder, J. Eisenbarth, and R. Preussmann. "Investigations on the origin of tobacco-specific nitrosamines in mainstream smoke of cigarettes". In: *Carcinogenesis* 11.5 (1990), pp. 723–730.
- [142] J. D. Adams, S. J. Lee, N. Vinchkoski, A. Castonguay, and D. Hoffmann. "On the formation of the tobacco-specific carcinogen 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone during smoking". In: *Cancer Letters* 17.3 (1983), pp. 339–346.
- [143] R. A. Andersen, H. R. Burton, P. D. Fleming, T. R. Hamilton-Kemp, and S. L. Gay. "Effects of air-curing environment on alkaloid-derived nitrosamines in burley tobacco". In: *International Agency for Research on Cancer Scientific Publications* 84 (1987), pp. 451–455.
- [144] M. V. Djordjevic, S. L. Gay, L. P. Bush, and J. F. Chaplin. "Tobacco-specific nitrosamine accumulation and distribution in flue-cured tobacco alkaloid isolines". In: *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 37.3 (1989), pp. 752–756.
- [145] S. S. Hecht and D. Hoffmann. "The relevance of tobacco-specific nitrosamines to human cancer". In: *Cancer Surveys* 8.2 (1989), pp. 273–294.
- [146] V. Cogliano, K. Straif, R. Baan, Y. Grosse, B. Secretan, and F. E. Ghissassi. "Smokeless tobacco and tobacco-related nitrosamines". In: *The Lancet Oncology* 5.12 (2004), p. 708.
- [147] K. D. Brunnemann, B. Prokopczyk, M. V. Djordjevic, and D. Hoffmann. "Formation and analysis of tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines". In: *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* 26.2 (1996), pp. 121–137.
- [148] E. E. Ramsay and P. J. Dilda. "Glutathione S-conjugates as prodrugs to target drug-resistant tumors". In: *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 5 (2014).
- [149] International Agency for Research on Cancer Working Group. A review of human carcinogens. Part F: Chemical agents and related occupations / IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans: Formaldehyde, Volume 100F. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press, 2012.
- [150] International Agency for Research on Cancer Working Group. Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine and hydrogen peroxide /IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans: Acetaldehyde, Volume 71. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press, 1999.
- [151] Kamps, Jos J. A. G., R. J. Hopkinson, C. J. Schofield, and T. D. W. Claridge. "How formaldehyde reacts with amino acids". In: *Communications Chemistry* 2.1 (2019), pp. 1–14.
- [152] L. B. Pontel, I. V. Rosado, G. Burgos-Barragan, J. I. Garaycoechea, R. Yu, M. J. Arends, G. Chandrasekaran, V. Broecker, W. Wei, L. Liu, J. A. Swenberg, G. P. Crossan, and K. J. Patel. "Endogenous formaldehyde is a hematopoietic stem cell genotoxin and metabolic carcino-gen". In: *Molecular Cell* 60.1 (2015), pp. 177–188.
- [153] M. Kunisada, A. Adachi, H. Asano, and T. Horikawa. "Anaphylaxis due to formaldehyde released from root–canal disinfectant". In: *Contact Dermatitis* 47.4 (2002), pp. 215–218.

- [154] H.-S. Jeong, H. Chung, S.-H. Song, C.-I. Kim, J.-G. Lee, and Y.-S. Kim. "Validation and determination of the contents of acetaldehyde and formaldehyde in foods". In: *Toxicological Research* 31.3 (2015), pp. 273–278.
- [155] M. Kireche, E. Gimenez–Arnau, and J.-.-P. Lepoittevin. "Preservatives in cosmetics: reactivity of allergenic formaldehyde–releasers towards amino acids through breakdown products other than formaldehyde*". In: *Contact Dermatitis* 63.4 (2010), pp. 192–202.
- [156] H. Anni, P. Pristatsky, and Y. Israel. "Binding of acetaldehyde to a glutathione metabolite: mass spectrometric characterization of an acetaldehyde-cysteinylglycine conjugate". In: *Al-coholism, Clinical and Experimental Research* 27.10 (2003), pp. 1613–1621.
- [157] R. J. Reischl, W. Bicker, T. Keller, G. Lamprecht, and W. Lindner. "Occurrence of 2-methylthiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid, a condensation product of cysteine and acetaldehyde, in human blood as a consequence of ethanol consumption". In: *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 404.6-7 (2012), pp. 1779–1787.
- [158] Y. Kera, T. Kiriyama, and S. Komura. "Conjugation of acetaldehyde with cysteinylglycine, the first metabolite in glutathione breakdown by glutamyltranspeptidase". In: *Agents and Actions* 17.1 (1985), pp. 48–52.
- [159] L. Uotila and M. Koivusalo. "Multiple forms of formaldehyde dehydrogenase from human red blood cells". In: *Human Heredity* 37.2 (1987), pp. 102–106.
- [160] H. d. Heck and M. Casanova. "The implausibility of leukemia induction by formaldehyde: a critical review of the biological evidence on distant-site toxicity". In: *Regulatory Toxicology* and Pharmacology 40.2 (2004), pp. 92–106.
- [161] E. L. Smith. Principles of biochemistry: General aspects. 7. ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1983.
- [162] A. A. Klyosov, L. G. Rashkovetsky, M. K. Tahir, and W. M. Keung. "Possible role of liver cytosolic and mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenases in acetaldehyde metabolism". In: *Biochemistry* 35.14 (1996), pp. 4445–4456.
- [163] W. Neely. "The metabolic fate of formaldehyde-14C intraperitoneally administered to the rat". In: *Biochemical Pharmacology* 13.8 (1964), pp. 1137–1142.
- [164] D. H. Smyth. "The rate and site of acetate metabolism in the body". In: *The Journal of Physiology* 105.4 (1947), pp. 299–315.
- [165] P. Damian and O. G. Raabe. "Toxicokinetic modeling of dose-dependent formate elimination in rats: in vivo-in vitro correlations using the perfused rat liver". In: *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 139.1 (1996), pp. 22–32.
- [166] S. G. Lamarre, L. MacMillan, G. P. Morrow, E. Randell, T. Pongnopparat, M. E. Brosnan, and J. T. Brosnan. "An isotope-dilution, GC-MS assay for formate and its application to human and animal metabolism". In: *Amino Acids* 46.8 (2014), pp. 1885–1891.

- [167] S. Kage, K. Kudo, H. Ikeda, and N. Ikeda. "Simultaneous determination of formate and acetate in whole blood and urine from humans using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry". In: *Journal of Chromatography B* 805.1 (2004), pp. 113–117.
- [168] A. Sokoro, D. Lehotay, J. Eichhorst, and R. Treble. "Quantitative Endogenous Formate Analysis in Plasma Using Headspace Gas Chromatography Without a Headspace Analyzer". In: *Journal of Analytical Toxicology* 31.6 (2007), pp. 342–346.
- [169] L. K. Silva, G. A. Hile, K. M. Capella, M. F. Espenship, M. M. Smith, V. R. de Jesús, and B. C. Blount. "Quantification of 19 aldehydes in human serum by headspace SPME/GC/highresolution mass spectrometry". In: *Environmental Science & Technology* 52.18 (2018), pp. 10571– 10579.
- [170] G. Triebig and K. H. Schaller. "A simple and reliable enzymatic assay for the determination of formic acid in urine". In: *Clinica Chimica Acta* 108.3 (1980), pp. 355–360.
- [171] P. Chiarella, G. Tranfo, D. Pigini, and D. Carbonari. "Is it possible to use biomonitoring for the quantitative assessment of formaldehyde occupational exposure?" In: *Biomarkers in Medicine* 10.12 (2016), pp. 1287–1303.
- [172] A. Macchiarulo, E. Camaioni, R. Nuti, and R. Pellicciari. "Highlights at the gate of tryptophan catabolism: a review on the mechanisms of activation and regulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), a novel target in cancer disease". In: *Amino Acids* 37.2 (2009), pp. 219–229.
- [173] K. Sen and J. C. Hackett. "Peroxo-iron mediated deformylation in sterol 14alpha-demethylase catalysis". In: *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 132.30 (2010), pp. 10293–10305.
- [174] J. Fishman. "Biochemical mechanism of aromatization". In: *Cancer Research* 42.8 Suppl (1982), 3277s–3280s.
- [175] S. E. Knowles, I. G. Jarrett, O. H. Filsell, and F. J. Ballard. "Production and utilization of acetate in mammals". In: *The Biochemical Journal* 142.2 (1974), pp. 401–411.
- [176] K. Hemminki. "Urinary sulfur containing metabolites after administration of ethanol, acetaldehyde and formaldehyde to rats". In: *Toxicology Letters* 11.1-2 (1982), pp. 1–6.
- [177] S. Kallama and K. Hemminki. "Urinary excretion products after the administration of 14C-acetaldehyde to rats". In: *Journal of Applied Toxicology* 3.6 (1983), pp. 313–316.
- [178] L. Wlodek, H. Rommelspacher, R. Susilo, J. Radomski, and G. Höfle. "Thiazolidine derivatives as source of free L-cysteine in rat tissue". In: *Biochemical Pharmacology* 46.11 (1993), pp. 1917–1928.
- [179] Office of Clinical Pharmacology in the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Center for Veterinary Medicine. "Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Validation". In: US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (2013), pp. 1–35.
- [180] Office of Clinical Pharmacology in the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Center for Veterinary Medicine. "Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Validation". In: US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (2018), pp. 1–41.

- [181] Committee for Medical Products for Human Use and European Medicines Agency. "Guidline on bioanalytical method validation". In: *European Medicines Agency (EMA)* (2011), pp. 1–23.
- [182] B. Magnusson and U. Örnemark. Eurachem Guide: The fitness for purpose of analytical methods: A laboratory guide to method validation and related topics. 2nd ed. Teddington: Eurachem, 2014.
- [183] ICH Expert Working Group. "ICH harmonised guideline: Bioanalytical method validation M10". In: *International Council for Harmonisation (ICH)* (2019), pp. 1–60.
- [184] World Medical Association. "Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects". In: *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 310.20 (2013), pp. 2191–2194.
- [185] A. M. Roza and H. M. Shizgal. "The Harris Benedict equation reevaluated: resting energy requirements and the body cell mass". In: *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 40.1 (1984), pp. 168–182.
- [186] M. Navazesh. "Methods for collecting saliva". In: Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 694 (1993), pp. 72–77.
- [187] S. D. Sagel, J. F. Chmiel, and M. W. Konstan. "Sputum biomarkers of inflammation in cystic fibrosis lung disease". In: *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society* 4.4 (2007), pp. 406– 417.
- [188] J. H. Miller, W. P. Gardner, and R. R. Gonzalez. "UHPLC separation with MS analysis for eight carbonyl compounds in mainstream tobacco smoke". In: *Journal of Chromatographic Science* 48.1 (2010), pp. 12–17.
- [189] C. Schotten. "Ueber die Oxydation des Piperidins". In: Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft 17.2 (1884), pp. 2544–2547.
- [190] E. Baumann. "Ueber eine einfache Methode der Darstellung von Benzoësäureäthern". In: *Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft* 19.2 (1886), pp. 3218–3222.
- [191] A. Borno, L. Foged, and G. van Hall. "Glucose and glycerol concentrations and their tracer enrichment measurements using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry". In: *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* 49.10 (2014), pp. 980–988.
- [192] R. N. Gupta, F. Eng, and M. L. Gupta. "Liquid-chromatographic determination of ethylene glycol in plasma". In: *Clinical Chemistry* 28.1 (1982), pp. 32–33.
- [193] M. Holčapek, H. Virelizier, J. Chamot-Rooke, P. Jandera, and C. Moulin. "Trace determination of glycols by HPLC with UV and electrospray ionization mass spectrometric detections". In: *Analytical Chemistry* 71.13 (1999), pp. 2288–2293.
- [194] B. N. Tran, R. Okoniewski, A. Bucciferro, R. Jansing, and K. M. Aldous. "Determination of trace amounts of ethylene glycol and its analogs in water matrixes by liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry". In: *Journal of Association of Official Agricultural Chemists International* 97.1 (2014), pp. 232–237.

- [195] N. Pluym, G. Gilch, G. Scherer, and M. Scherer. "Analysis of 18 urinary mercapturic acids by two high-throughput multiplex-LC-MS/MS methods". In: *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 407.18 (2015), pp. 5463–5476.
- [196] W. Stanek, E. W. H. Hayek, P. Krenmayr, and E. R. Schmid. "Tandem mass spectrometric studies of mercapturic acid derivatives". In: *Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 340.4 (1991), pp. 201–206.
- [197] M. Blaszkewicz and K. Liesenhoff–Henze. "Creatinine in urine [Biomonitoring Methods, 2010]". In: *The MAK–Collection for Occupational Health and Safety*. American Cancer Society, pp. 169–184.
- [198] M. E. Counts, M. J. Morton, S. W. Laffoon, R. H. Cox, and P. J. Lipowicz. "Smoke composition and predicting relationships for international commercial cigarettes smoked with three machine-smoking conditions". In: *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* 41.3 (2005), pp. 185–227.
- [199] S. H. Edwards, L. M. Rossiter, K. M. Taylor, M. R. Holman, L. Zhang, Y. S. Ding, and C. H. Watson. "Tobacco-specific nitrosamines in the tobacco and mainstream smoke of U.S. commercial cigarettes". In: *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 30.2 (2017), pp. 540–551.
- [200] F. K. St. Charles, J. McAughey, and C. J. Shepperd. "Methodologies for the quantitative estimation of toxicant dose to cigarette smokers using physical, chemical and bioanalytical data". In: *Inhalation Toxicology* 25.7 (2013), pp. 383–397.
- [201] G. Scherer, L. Jarczyk, W. D. Heller, A. Biber, G. B. Neurath, and F. Adlkofer. "Pharmacokinetics of nicotine, cotinine, and 3'-hydroxycotinine in cigarette smokers". In: *Klinische Wochenschrift* 66 Suppl 11 (1988), pp. 5–11.
- [202] G. St Helen, K. C. Ross, D. A. Dempsey, C. M. Havel, P. Jacob, and N. L. Benowitz. "Nicotine delivery and vaping behavior during ad libitum e-cigarette access". In: *Tobacco Regulatory Science* 2.4 (2016), pp. 363–376.
- [203] T. L. Wagener, E. L. Floyd, I. Stepanov, L. M. Driskill, S. G. Frank, E. Meier, E. L. Leavens, A. P. Tackett, N. Molina, and L. Queimado. "Have combustible cigarettes met their match? The nicotine delivery profiles and harmful constituent exposures of second-generation and third-generation electronic cigarette users". In: *Tobacco Control* 26.e1 (2017), e23–e28.
- [204] A. Marsot and N. Simon. "Nicotine and cotinine levels with electronic cigarette: A Review". In: *International Journal of Toxicology* 35.2 (2016), pp. 179–185.
- [205] A. A. Lopez, M. M. Hiler, E. K. Soule, C. P. Ramôa, N. V. Karaoghlanian, T. Lipato, A. B. Breland, A. L. Shihadeh, and T. Eissenberg. "Effects of electronic cigarette liquid nicotine concentration on plasma nicotine and puff topography in tobacco cigarette smokers: A pre-liminary report". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 18.5 (2016), pp. 720–723.
- [206] N. Vélez de Mendizábal, D. R. Jones, A. Jahn, R. R. Bies, and J. W. Brown. "Nicotine and cotinine exposure from electronic cigarettes: A population approach". In: *Clinical Pharmacokinetics* 54.6 (2015), pp. 615–626.

- [207] A. R. Vansickel and T. Eissenberg. "Electronic cigarettes: Effective nicotine delivery after acute administration". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 15.1 (2013), pp. 267–270.
- [208] M. J. Schroeder and A. C. Hoffman. "Electronic cigarettes and nicotine clinical pharmacology". In: *Tobacco Control* 23.suppl 2 (2014), pp. ii30–ii35.
- [209] D. K. Yu, W. F. Elmquist, and R. J. Sawchuk. "Pharmacokinetics of propylene glycol in humans during multiple dosing regimens". In: *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 74.8 (1985), pp. 876–879.
- [210] P. A. Speth, T. B. Vree, N. F. Neilen, P. H. de Mulder, D. R. Newell, M. E. Gore, and B. E. de Pauw. "Propylene glycol pharmacokinetics and effects after intravenous infusion in humans". In: *Therapeutic Drug Monitoring* 9.3 (1987), pp. 255–258.
- [211] J. S. LaKind, E. A. McKenna, R. P. Hubner, and R. G. Tardiff. "A review of the comparative mammalian toxicity of ethylene glycol and propylene glycol". In: *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* 29.4 (1999), pp. 331–365.
- [212] H. RUDNEY. "The metabolism of 1,2-propanediol". In: Archives of Biochemistry 29.1 (1950), pp. 231–232.
- [213] S.-m. Ting, O. N. Miller, and O. Z. Sellinger. "The Metabolism of lactaldehyde". In: *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 97.3 (1965), pp. 407–415.
- [214] J. A. Ruddick. "Toxicology, metabolism, and biochemistry of 1,2-propanediol". In: *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 21.1 (1972), pp. 102–111.
- [215] J. S. Wittman and R. R. Bawin. "Stimulation of gluconeogenesis by propylene glycol in the fasting rat". In: *Life Sciences* 15.3 (1974), pp. 515–524.
- [216] B. Phillips, B. Titz, U. Kogel, D. Sharma, P. Leroy, Y. Xiang, G. Vuillaume, S. Lebrun, D. Sciuscio, J. Ho, C. Nury, E. Guedj, A. Elamin, M. Esposito, S. Krishnan, W. K. Schlage, E. Veljkovic, N. V. Ivanov, F. Martin, M. C. Peitsch, J. Hoeng, and P. Vanscheeuwijck. "Toxicity of the main electronic cigarette components, propylene glycol, glycerin, and nicotine, in Sprague-Dawley rats in a 90-day OECD inhalation study complemented by molecular endpoints". In: *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 109.Pt 1 (2017), pp. 315–332.
- [217] C. Hellerud, A. Burlina, C. Gabelli, J. R. Ellis, P.-G. Nyholm, and S. Lindstedt. "Glycerol metabolism and the determination of triglycerides–clinical, biochemical and molecular findings in six subjects". In: *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine* 41.1 (2003), pp. 46– 55.
- [218] O. Geiss, I. Bianchi, F. Barahona, and J. Barrero-Moreno. "Characterisation of mainstream and passive vapours emitted by selected electronic cigarettes". In: *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 218.1 (2015), pp. 169–180.

- [219] P. Fagan, P. Pokhrel, T. A. Herzog, E. T. Moolchan, K. D. Cassel, A. A. Franke, X. Li, I. Pagano, D. R. Trinidad, K.-L. K. Sakuma, K. Sterling, D. Jorgensen, T. Lynch, C. Kawamoto, M. C. Guy, I. Lagua, S. Hanes, L. A. Alexander, M. S. Clanton, C. Graham-Tutt, and T. Eissenberg. "Sugar and aldehyde content in flavored electronic cigarette liquids". In: *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 20.8 (2018), pp. 985–992.
- [220] A. Khlystov and V. Samburova. "Flavoring compounds dominate toxic aldehyde production during e-cigarette vaping". In: *Environmental Science & Technology* 50.23 (2016), pp. 13080– 13085.
- [221] S. Luo and J. L. Falconer. "Aldol condensation of acetaldehyde to form high molecular weight compounds on TiO2 ." In: *Catalysis Letters* 57.3 (1999), pp. 89–93.
- [222] E. Eckert, K. Schmid, B. Schaller, K. Hiddemann-Koca, H. Drexler, and T. Göen. "Mercapturic acids as metabolites of alkylating substances in urine samples of German inhabitants". In: *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 214.3 (2011), pp. 196–204.
- [223] A. I. Cederbaum. "Alcohol metabolism". In: *Clinics in Liver Disease* 16.4 (2012), pp. 667–685.
- [224] J. O'Sullivan. "Semicarbazide-Sensitive Amine Oxidases: Enzymes with Quite a Lot to Do". In: *NeuroToxicology* 25.1-2 (2004), pp. 303–315.
- [225] A. de Groot, J. Geier, M.-A. Flyvholm, G. Lensen, and P.-J. Coenraads. "Formaldehydereleasers: relationship to formaldehyde contact allergy. Part 2: Metalworking fluids and remainder". In: *Contact Dermatitis* 63.3 (2010), pp. 129–139.
- [226] S. S. Dhareshwar and V. J. Stella. "Your prodrug releases formaldehyde: should you be concerned? No!" In: *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 97.10 (2008), pp. 4184–4193.
- [227] H. Hou and H. Yu. "Structural insights into histone lysine demethylation". In: Current Opinion in Structural Biology 20.6 (2010), pp. 739–748.
- [228] P. A. C. Cloos, J. Christensen, K. Agger, and K. Helin. "Erasing the methyl mark: histone demethylases at the center of cellular differentiation and disease". In: *Genes & Development* 22.9 (2008), pp. 1115–1140.
- [229] K. Abraham, J. Hielscher, T. Kaufholz, H. Mielke, A. Lampen, and B. Monien. "The hemoglobin adduct N-(2,3-dihydroxypropyl)-valine as biomarker of dietary exposure to glycidyl esters: a controlled exposure study in humans". In: *Archives of Toxicology* 93.2 (2019), pp. 331–340.
- [230] G. Stehlik, J. Kainzbauer, H. Tausch, and O. Richter. "Improved method for routine determination of nicotine and its main metabolites in biological fluids". In: *Journal of Chromatography B* 232.2 (1982), pp. 295–303.
- [231] R. A. Davis and M. Curvali. "Determination of nicotine and its metabolites in biological fluids: in vivo studies". In: Analytical Determination of Nicotine and Related Compounds and their Metabolites. Elsevier, 1999, pp. 583–643.

- [232] Office of the Surgeon General and Office on Smoking and Health (US). *The health consequences of smoking: A report of the surgeon general.* Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US), 2004.
- [233] M. S. Melvin, K. C. Avery, R. M. Ballentine, J. W. Flora, W. Gardner, G. D. Karles, Y. B. Pithawalla, D. C. Smith, K. D. Ehman, and K. A. Wagner. "Formation of diacetyl and other alpha-dicarbonyl compounds during the generation of e-vapor product aerosols". In: *American Chemical Society Omega* 5.28 (2020), pp. 17565–17575.
- [234] B. de Falco, A. Petridis, P. Paramasivan, A. D. Troise, A. Scaloni, Y. Deeni, W. E. Stephens, and A. Fiore. "Reducing toxic reactive carbonyl species in e-cigarette emissions: testing a harm-reduction strategy based on dicarbonyl trapping". In: *Royal Society of Chemistry Advances* 10.36 (2020), pp. 21535–21544.
- [235] C. A. Vas, A. Porter, and K. McAdam. "Acetoin is a precursor to diacetyl in e-cigarette liquids". In: *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 133 (2019), p. 110727.

Validation data

Parameter	r			Glyc	terol			Propyleı	ne glycol			Nicoti	ine		
LOD				3.4 μ	g/ml			0.4 μ	g/ml			0.2 µg	/ml		
DOTT				30 µ;	g/ml			30 µ,	g/ml			0.9 µg	/ml		
Calibratio	In range			30 – 100 (5.	0 µg/ml ©			30 – 10C (5.	00 µg/ml			0.9 - 30	hg/ml		
Selectivity	~		No interference Av	e at the retentic internal : ccuracy of spil	on time of the standard cing: 97 - 115	analyte and the %	No interferenc Ac	e at the retentic internal : ccuracy of spik	on time of the a standard ing: 109 - 113	analyte and the %	No interference Ac	at the retention internal sta couracy of spiki	time of the an andard ng: 97 - 108%	alyte and the	and the
Accuracy (N=3)	(A) and Pre	ecision (P) after dilution	Dilution 1	Dilut	ion 2 5)	Dilution 3 (1/10)	Dilution 1	Dilut	ion 2 5)	Dilution 3 (1/10)	Dilution 1 (1/2)	Dilutio	n2 I	bilution 3	ion 3 10)
		A [%]	66	10	6(101	107	10	8(103	101	109		120	0
Mat	I XLI	P [%]	7.1	.6	9	2.4	6.6	.3.	8	3.3	9.1	9.8		0.0	0
1 m	, ,	A [%]	103	1()1	102	104	11	11	110	103	103		108	8
Mat	7 XLD	P [%]	5.7		3	1.2	2.1	4	9	1.5	2.6	4.2		6.7	2
Mat		A [%]	101	1(8(100	106	11	14	103	103	113		113	3
INTAL	C XIII	P [%]	8.0	7.	0	0.2	2.6	4.	1	4.2	2.8	3.8		2.8	×
Carry ove	ŗ			1000 µg/n	ıl: < LOD			1000 µg/n	nl: < LOD			1000 µg/ml	: < LOD		
Accuracy	(A) and Pre	ecision (P)	DOTT	Low	Med	High	DOTT	Low	Med	High	DOTT	Low	Med	High	High
Intra-day	1	[%] V	111	111	112	108	111	111	114	101	104	104	106	96	96
(N = 5)		P [%]	2.6	2.5	1.5	1.5	1.3	1.5	1.0	1.2	2.2	4.0	2.7	1.2	1.2
Intra-day	2	[%] V	108	107	113	109	83	86	113	107	109	112	105	95	95
(N = 5)		P [%]	6.6	4.5	1.7	5.3	6.0	8.1	1.4	5.6	3.0	3.3	5.8	4.7	4.7
Intra-day	3	[%] V	107	110	113	103	87	95	109	100	118	105	106	102	102
(N = 5)		P [%]	6.0	5.0	1.6	7.1	4.4	5.1	2.3	3.6	1.5	3.3	2.4	1.3	1.3
Inter-day		A [%]	109	109	113	107	94	101	112	103	110	107	106	98	98
(CI = N)		P [%]	5.3	4.2	1.6	5.3	14.2	8.8	2.6	4.9	5.8	4.6	3.8	4.2	4.2
Recovery	(9=0) [0/0]		ī	95	101	101	I	104	106	66	1	93	66	66	66
Stability (N=3)	Short term	1 [%] (24h, 21°C)	ı	106	ı	110	I	101	ı	100	ı	102	ı	94	94
	Freeze-tha	i W [%] (1 cycle)	ı	113	ı	105	ı	103	ı	101	ı	98	ı	76	97
	Postprepai autosampler)	rative stability [%] (16 days,	ı	109	T	109	ı	100	T	101	1	107	1	96	96
Re-Injecti (N=3 at 3 differe	on (CV[%]	(ı	8.0	ı	9.0	1	8.4	ı	2.6		3.7	-	1.8	1.8
Matrix eff	[ect [%]		,	108	ı	98	ı	96	ı	98		95	ı	91	91

Table 17: Validation data of PG/G/Nic in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid

Parameter	L			Forma	ıldehyde			Acetalo	lehyde			Acro	lein	
LOD				0.03	ng/ml			0.03 1	lm/gr			0.03 n	g/ml	
DOTI				0.1	ng/ml			0.1 n	g/ml			0.1 ng	g/ml	
Calibratio (CV [%] of 3	on range 3 calibrations)			0.1-5	00 ng/ml 2.0)			0.1 – 50 (7.	0 ng/ml 0)			0.1 - 50(2.5)) ng/ml 2)	
Selectivity	*		No interfere A	ence at the rete the interr Accuracy of spi Quan/Qual R	ntion time of that all standard king: 106 - 10 ation: 80 - 98 %	e analyte and 9%	No interferenc A	e at the retentic internal ; ccuracy of spik Quan/Qual Rat	on time of the standard ing: 98 – 115 io: 97 - 119 %	malyte and the %	No interferenc A	e at the retentio internal s ccuracy of spik Quan/Qual Rati	n time of the a tandard ing: 96 - 103 o: 97 - 120 %	inalyte and the %
Accuracy (N=3)	y (A) and Precis	sion (P) after dilution	Dilution 1	Dilut	ion 2	Dilution 3	Dilution 1	Dilut	ion 2	Dilution 3	Dilution 1	Diluti	on 2	Dilution 3
10	igarette	A [%]	111	×	6	****	66	6	5	****"	100	95		96
(1/10; 1	1/100; 1/1000)	P [%]	0.5	3.	6	****"	0.5	.2	0	****	0.4	0.	-	7.3
Ε	Cigarette	A [%]	101	1	01	109	86	6	~	96	96	8		94
(1/5;	1/50; 1/500)	P [%]	1.1	3.	3	4.1	1.2	.2	8	0.4	1.1	2.5	•	3.2
Carry ove	зr			500 ng/1	nl: < LOD			500 ng/m	l: <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>500 ng/ml</th><th>: < LOD</th><th></th></lod<>			500 ng/ml	: < LOD	
			LLOQ (0.1 ng/ml)	Low (2 ng/ml)	Med (5 ng/ml)	High (200 ng/ml)	LLOQ (0.1 ng/ml)	Low (2 ng/ml)	Med (5 ng/ml)	High (200 ng/ml)	LL0Q (0.1 ng/ml)	Low (2 ng/ml)	Med (5 ng/ml)	High (200 ng/ml)
Stability (N=3)	Short term [%	6] (24h, 21°C)		94	'	102	-	76		100	-	102		102
	Freeze-thaw [%] (3 Cycles)		108 (1:10) 113 (und.)	'	102 (1:10) 100 (und.)	,	107 (1:10) 114 (und.)		97 (1:10) 97 (und.)		108 (1:10) 105 (und.)		97 (1:10) 95 (und.)
				No post prep.	arative stabilit	/								
	FOST preparat (10 days, autosamplet	LVE STADILLY [%]	There is an enri must be measu original sample	chment as soon as red repeatedly, a <i>n</i> . In addition, the b	the vials are broad new dilution must lank must also be	thed. If the sample be made from the determined again.	ı	100	ı	108		96	,	109
	Stability of stoc	ck solution [%] (2,5 Years)		16	12 %			104	%	-	-	102	%	
Re-Injecti	ion (CV [%]) (N=3	3 at 3 different days)	1	89***	'	2.4	,	2.1		4.7		4.3		1.9
Matrix efi	fekt [%] (E-Cigar	rette)		112^{**}	,	66		101^{**}		95		111^{**}		66
Matrix eff	fekt [%] (Cigaret	(te)	ı	109^{**}	,	101	1	112^{**}		66		109^{**}		102
Matrix efi	fekt [%] (DNPH-;	Solution)	1	102^{**}	1	97		95**		94		103^{**}		97
Re-Injecti	ion (CV [%]) (N=3	3 at 3 different days)	ı	105^{**}	1	100		103^{**}		96		108^{**}		100

Table 18: Validation data of formaldehyde, acetaldehyde and acrolein in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid

	e	TT00	Low	Med	High	TL00	Low	Med	High	1100	Low	Med	High
Accuracy (A) and 1	rrecision (r)	(0.1 ng/ml)	(0.25 ng/ml)	(5 ng/ml)	(200 ng/ml)	(0.1 ng/ml)	(0.25 ng/ml)	(5 ng/ml)	(200 ng/ml)	(0.1 ng/ml)	(0.25 ng/ml)	(5 ng/ml)	(200 ng/ml)
Intra-day 1	A [%]	*,	93	106	109	88	95	104	111	91	102	103	101
(N = 5), 1:100	P [%]	*''	14.3	3.0	2.1	3.0	2.4	1.1	2.0	8.1	3.7	2.6	3.1
Intra-day 2	A [%]	* '	102	95	111	95	101	105	109	98	66	102	107
(N = 5), 1:100	P [%]	*,	9.8	6.2	1.3	8.4	2.1	1.2	0.8	8.0	3.7	2.5	1.7
Intra-day 3	A [%]	* '	98	76	102	96	105	106	107	90	91	95	92
(N = 5), 1:100	P [%]	*'	6.6	8.1	7.0	4.1	3.4	3.8	7.1	10.3	6.5	4.1	6.8
Inter-day	[%] V	* '	67	66	108	93	100	105	109	93	98	100	100
(N = 15), 1:100	P [%]	*,	10.5	7.4	5.3	6.7	5.2	2.3	4.2	9.1	6.6	4.6	7.6
Intra-day 1	[%] V	* '	67	106	107	103	66	105	107	105	105	66	102
(N = 2), 1:10	P [%]	* '	13.1	2.2	2.8	15.1	6.3	2.4	3.7	10.2	3.6	2.5	3.9
Intra-day 2	A [%]	* '	105	98	108	92	105	104	105	110	109	107	113
(N = 5), 1:10	P [%]	*''	12.6	4.1	1.8	12.1	12.0	2.0	1.7	4.4	3.8	1.2	1.2
Intra-day 3	A [%]	* '	100	100	109	109	104	112	114	93	96	95	93
(N = 5), 1:10	P [%]	*'	12.6	5.0	2.7	13.6	10.5	2.6	1.5	10.0	5.2	2.1	1.2
Inter-day	[%] V	*''	100	100	109	101	103	107	109	102	103	100	103
(N = 15), 1:10	P [%]	*"	12.6	5.0	2.7	14.6	9.7	4.1	4.3	10.7	6.5	5.8	8.4
Intra-day 1	A [%]	*''	* '	105	108	*''	*''	100	107	113	109	110	103
(N = 5) undiluted	P [%]	*,	* '	2.4	3.5	*,	* '	3.6	2.8	6.7	4.1	1.5	2.7
Intra-day 2	[%] V	*''	* '	64	112	*"	*'	103	113	104	87	115	98
(N = 5) undiluted	P [%]	* 1	* '	8.8	1.1	* '	* '	3.0	3.6	10.8	7.3	0.4	4.2
Intra-day 3	A [%]	*''	* '	95	109	*"	*''	108	103	100	100	96	93
(N = 5) undiluted	P [%]	*''	* '	7.6	3.5	*'	-*	5.9	4.4	7.6	8.3	3.0	4.0
Inter-day	[%] V	* '	* '	86	110	* '	*'	104	107	106	86	107	98
C = N	P [%]	*-	* '	8.1	3.2	*'	-*	5.3	5.0	9.5	11.4	7.6	5.3
* Due to the high ba	ckground level in th	he DNPH solution	n, these levels cou	ld not be determi	ined. However, it	was shown that th	e concentration ii	n ACN is reprodu	ıcible.				
** Due to the high E *** The sample can	background exposur	e to the analyte, the how range It	he matrix effect w must he diluted ao	as only determin the origonal section	ied using the inter- rinal solution In a	nal standard. Iddition a blank o	f the measuring o	dav must also he	diluted with new				
**** Dilution factor	too high	ure row range. n	muse oc amarca ag	gun mon mo	guiai solution. In c			ady must and oc					

 Table 18 Continuation:
 Validation data of formaldehyde, acetaldehyde and acrolein in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid

						Methaerolein				
Parameter			Crotona	ldehyde		Methacrolein				
LOD			0.03	ng/ml			0.02 1	ng/ml		
LLOQ			0.1 r	ıg/ml			0.1 n	g/ml		
Calibratio	n range		0.1 - 50			0.1 – 500 ng/ml				
(CV [%] of 3 c	alibrations)		(3	.9)			(5.	.5)		
Selectivity		No inter ana	ference at the alyte and the i	e retention t internal star	ime of the idard	No inter ana	ference at the lyte and the i	retention ti nternal stan	me of the dard	
		Ace	curacy of spil	king: 107 - 1	110%	Accuracy of spiking: 93 – 98 %				
		(Quan/Qual Ra	tio: 95 - 10	5%	Q	uan/Qual Rat	io: 83 – 117	7 %	
Accuracy dilution (N	(A) and Precision (P) after =3)	Dilution	1 Dilut	ion 2	Dilution 3	Dilution	1 Dilut	ion 2	Dilution 3	
Cigarett	te A [%]	99	9	4	_*	105	9	5	_*	
(1/10; 1/10) 1/1000)	^{0;} P [%]	2.8	1	.1	_*	1.5	10	0.2	-*	
E-Cigare	tte A [%]	103	10)4	99	95	9	3	92	
(1/5; 1/50; 1/2	⁵⁰⁰⁾ P [%]	3.1	1	.3	2.1	2.0	3.	.0	3.5	
Carry ove	r		500 ng/m	l: < LOD			500 ng/m	l: < LOD		
Accuracy	(A) and Precision (P)		Low (0.25 ng/m ¹)	Med (5 pg/ppl)	High (200 ng/ml)		Low (0.25 ng/ml)	Med (5 ng/ml)	High (200 ng/m ¹)	
Intra-day 1	A [%]	(0.1 lig/illi) 94	100	104	110	(0.1 lig/iii) 95	93	(3 lig/lill) 90	105	
(N = 5), 1:100	P [%]	4.6	7.0	4.1	3.7	9.9	5.4	4.1	3.2	
Intra-day 2	A [%]	97	102	102	101	95	100	98	101	
(N = 5), 1:100	P [%]	7.2	1.6	1.0	1.0	6.6	4.0	1.7	1.1	
Intra-day 3	A [%]	98	98	110	105	100	100	107	105	
(N = 5), 1:100	P [%]	4.2	5.5	3.9	7.0	0.8	2.5	3.9	7.1	
Iter-day	A [%]	96	100	105	105	97	98	99	104	
(N n = 15), 1:1	⁰⁰ P [%]	5.5	5.0	4.5	5.6	6.8	5.1	8.0	4.7	
Intra-day 1	A [%]	107	96	106	107	97	91	94	105	
(N = 5), 1:10	P [%]	4.2	7.2	3.0	2.8	5.0	5.8	2.2	5.0	
Intra-day 2	A [%]	102	104	102	101	100	100	98	102	
(N = 5), 1:10	P [%]	1.2	4.3	0.7	1.6	1.8	4.3	0.5	1.5	
Intra-day 3	A [%]	100	102	107	104	100	104	106	105	
(N = 5), 1:10	P [%]	8.0	5.0	2.1	1.4	5.3	4.2	2.1	1.7	
Inter-day	A [%]	103	100	105	104	100	99	100	104	
(N = 15), 1:10	P [%]	5.8	6.2	3.1	3.2	4.3	7.1	5.3	3.2	
Intra-day 1	A [%]	94	99	106	113	119	109	100	108	
(N = 5) undilut	P [%]	6.1	1.0	1.7	2.7	10.2	4.7	2.3	2.5	
Intra-day 2	A [%]	104	111	99	105	91	99	99	108	
(N = 5) undilut	P [%]	8.2	7.4	2.9	4.1	5.7	7.8	0.8	3.6	
Intra-day 3	A [%]	88	102	105	102	114	109	107	106	
(N = 5) undilut	P [%]	2.2	1.0	2.6	4.3	4.9	2.5	2.7	3.8	
Inter-day	A [%]	95	104	103	107	108	106	102	107	
(N = 5) unditut	P [%]	9.3	6.8	4.0	5.7	13.9	6.5	3.9	3.2	
Stability	Short term [%] (24h, 21°C)	-	110	-	104	-	111	-	100	
(14-3)	Freeze-thaw [%] (3 Cycles)	-	108 (1:10) 105 (und.)	-	96 (1:10) 95 (und.)	-	115 (1:10) 115 (und.)	-	100 (1:10) 100 (und.)	
	Postpreparative stability [%] (10 days, autosampler)	-	89	-	98	-	87	-	98	
	Stability of stock solution [%]		110) %						
Re-Injecti	on (CV [%]) (N=3 at 3 different days)	-	8.4	-	7.4	-	6.1	-	5.0	
Matrix eff	ekt [%] (E-Cigarette)	-	115**	-	95	-	115**	-	97	
Matrix eff	ekt [%] (Ugarette)	-	119***	-	98	-	119**	-	99	
* Dilution f	actor too high	1	.15	1	70	1	.10		,,	

Table 19: Validation data of crotonaldehyde and methacrolein in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid

* Due to the high background concentration of the analytes the internal standards were used to determine the matrix effect.
| Parameter | | | Ace | ton | | | Propiona | aldehyde | | |
|------------------------------|---|-----------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------|---|--------------------------|--------------------------|--|
| LOD | | | 0.03 | ng/ml | | | 0.01 1 | ng/ml | | |
| LLOQ | | | 0.1 n | g/ml | | | 0.1 n | g/ml | | |
| Calibratio | n range | | 0.1 - 50 | 0 ng/ml | | | 0.1 - 50 | 0 ng/ml | | |
| (CV [%] of 3 c | alibrations) | | (5 | .9) | | | Image: Propositional version of the second | | | |
| Selectivity | | No inter
ana | ference at the
lyte and the i | retention t
nternal star | ime of the
ndard | No inter
ana | ference at the
lyte and the i | retention tinternal stan | ime of the
idard | |
| | | | uan/Qual Ra | tio: 91 - 11 | 5% | | Projem Jet by Jet 10.1 - 500 rg/ml
(2.6)No interformation of the standard | | | |
| | | | zuan/Quan Ka | 10. 91 - 11 | 570 | Ŷ | Proponal dehyae 0.01 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 - 5/0 0.1 arc 0.1 10.0 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 10.1 | | | |
| Accuracy
dilution (N | (A) and Precision (P) after
=3) | Dilution | 1 Dilut | ion 2 | Dilution 3 | Dilution | 1 Dilut | ion 2 | Dilution 3 | |
| Cigarett | A [%] | 103 | 9 | 9 | -* | 97 | 9 | 4 | 95 | |
| 1/1000) | ^{0,} P [%] | 1.4 | 1. | .6 | _* | 0.9 | 3. | 4 | 0.2 | |
| E-Cigare | tte A [%] | 87 | 8 | 8 | 93 | 95 | 9 | 6 | 99 | |
| (1/5; 1/50; 1/2 | 500) P [%] | 3.1 | 1. | .3 | 2.1 | 2.0 | 3. | 0 | 3.5 | |
| Carry over | r | | 500 ng/m | l: < LOD | | | 500 ng/m | l: < LOD | | |
| Accuracy | (A) and Precision (P) | | Low
(0.25 ng/ml) | Med | High
(200 ng/ml) | LLOQ | Low
(0.25 ng/ml) | Med
(5 ng/ml) | High
(200 ng/ml) | |
| Intra-day 1 | A [%] | 88 | 108 | 100 | 93 | 93 | 103 | 102 | 105 | |
| (N = 5), 1:100 | P [%] | 8.6 | 3.0 | 2.3 | 2.7 | 11.6 | 5.2 | 1.8 | 2.1 | |
| Intra-day 2 | A [%] | 103 | 113 | 111 | 106 | 103 | 114 | 112 | 111 | |
| (N = 5), 1:100 | P [%] | 14.6 | 7.6 | 2.3 | 2.1 | 10.7 | 2.1 | 2.0 | 1.0 | |
| Intra-day 3 | A [%] | 102 | 98 | 98 | 99 | 104 104 | | 109 | 109 | |
| (N = 3), 1:100 | P [%] | 14.3 | 12.8 | 4.5 | 7.1 | 4.7 | 4.7 4.5 | | 6.7 | |
| Iter-day | A [%] | 98 | 106 | 103 | 99 | 100 | 107 | 108 | 108 | |
| (11 = 15), 1.100 | P [%] | 14.4 | 10.0 | 6.2 | 7.2 | 10.0 | 6.2 | 5.0 | 4.5 | |
| Intra-day 1 | A [%] | 103 | 91 | 101 | 92 | 80 | 85 | 100 | 101 | |
| (11 = 5), 1.10 | P [%] | 12.3 | 8.9 | 4.5 | 1.6 | 7.2 | 5.7 | 1.1 | 3.1 | |
| Intra-day 2
(N = 5), 1:10 | A [%] | 99 | 102 | 110 | 109 | 95 | 111 | 106 | 110 | |
| | P [%] | 15.1 | 13.7 | 2.7 | 1.6 | 13.4 | 10.0 | 1.0 | 1.6 | |
| Intra-day 3
(N = 5), 1:10 | A [%] | 102 | 104 | 97 | 100 | 103 | 101 | 105 | 108 | |
| | P [%] | 14.7 | 5.9 | 2.3 | 2.2 | 9.1 | 6.8 | 1.4 | 1.7 | |
| Inter-day
(N = 15), 1:10 | A [%] | 101 | 99 | 103 | 100 | 93 | 99 | 103 | 106 | |
| | P [%] | 13.1 | 10.9 | 6.4 | 7.4 | 14.4 | 13.5 | 2.9 | 4.3 | |
| (N = 5) undilut | A [%] | -** | -** | 90 | 108 | _** | _** | 97 | 100 | |
| Intro day 2 | P [%] | -** | -** | 7.1 | 2.9 | _** | -** | 3.0 | 1.8 | |
| (N = 5) undilut | ed D [9/1] | -** | -** | 100 | 94 | -**
** | -**
** | 108 | 113 | |
| Intra-day 3 | | ** | ** | 12.5 | 07 | ** | ** | 108 | 1.2 | |
| (N = 5) undilut | ed P [9/1 | ** | ** | 14.3 | 23 | ** | ** | 3.7 | 37 | |
| Inter-day | | ** | ** | 100 | 100 | - ** | ** | 104 | 107 | |
| (N = 5) undilut | ed P [%] | _** | _** | 14.0 | 6.4 | _** | _** | 5.8 | 5.6 | |
| Stability | Short term [%] (24b, 21°C) | - | 95 | - | 105 | - | 111 | - | 100 | |
| (N=3) | Freeze-thaw [%] (3 Cycles) | - | 105 (1:10)
111 ⁺ (unv.) | - | 108 (1:10)
115 ⁺ (uny.) | - | 107 (1:10)
96 (unv.) | - | 103 (1:10)
101 (unv.) | |
| | Postpreparative stability [%]
(10 days, autosampler) | - | 92 | - | 101 | - | 104 | - | 109 | |
| | Stability of stock solution [%] | | | | | | - | | | |
| Re-Injecti | on (CV [%]) (N=3 at 3 different days) | - | 2.4 | - | 4.0 | - | 4.0 | - | 2.0 | |
| Matrix eff | ekt [%] (E-Cigarette) | - | 2.4 | - | 4.0 | - | 4.0 | - | 2.0 | |
| Matrix eff | ekt [%] (DNPH-Solution) | - | 100*** | - | 105 | - | 110*** | - | 102 | |
| | | | 1 | | | | | | | |

Table 20: Validation data of acetone and propionaldehyde in aerosol/smoke and e-liquid

*** Due to the high background concentration of the analytes the internal standards were used to determine the matrix effect.

+ The stability was only proven for one cycle. After the first cycle an enrichment was observed. The enrichment was not observed in the dilution 1:10. Therefore a sufficient amount of an aliquot of the dilution 1:10 needs to be prepared before the first freeze-thaw cycle.

Parameters	3		N	NN		NNK					
LOD			0.03 ng	per filter			NNK $0.02 \text{ ng per filter}$ $0.1 \text{ ng per filter}$ $0.1 - 500 \text{ ng per filter}$ $0.1 - 500 \text{ ng per filter}$ $0.1 - 500 \text{ ng per filter}$ $0 \text{ interference at the retention time of the analy The interference at the retention time of the analy Accuracy of spiking: 88 - 98\% Quan/Qualifier Ratio: 91 - 116\% LOO 0.1 \text{ ng} 0.0 \text{ ng per filter: < LOD} LOQ 0.1 \text{ ng} 0.1 \text{ ng} 0.106 0.1 \text{ ng} 0.1 \text{ ng}$				
LLOQ			0.1 ng p	er filter			0.1 ng p	er filter			
calibration	range		0.1 - 500 n	g per filter			NNK 0.02 ng per filter 0.1 ng per filter 0.1 - 500 ng per filter 0.1 - 500 ng per filter (8.5) No interference at the retention time of the analy The interference at the retention time of the analy Accuracy of spitng: 88 - 98% Quan/Qualifier Ratio: 91 - 116% The interference at the retention time of the analy S00 ng per Filter: < LOD LOO Quan/Qualifier Ratio: 91 - 116% Quan/Qualifier Ratio: 91 - 116% (0.1 ng) Med (5 ng) Quan/Qualifier Ratio: 91 - 116% (0.1 ng) (0.2 ng				
(CV of 3 calibr	rations [%])		(2	.8)			(8	.5)			
Selectivity		No interfer A Qu	ence at the ref and the inter ccuracy of sp an/Qualifier I	tention time o rnal standard iking: 89 - 93 Ratio: 94 - 10	of the analyt % 0%	No interferent The inte i Au Qu	ence at the rel rference at the internal stand ccuracy of sp an/Qualifier I	ention time o e retention tim ard is < 0.1 % iking: 88 - 98 Ratio: 91 - 11	f the analyt ne of the % 6%		
Verschlepp	ung		200 ng per f	ilter: < LOD		LLOQ (0.1 ng) Low (0.2 ng) Med (5 ng) High (200 ng) 111 95 95 105 7.0 5.8 4.2 2.2 99 98 93 102 5.7 6.0 4.5 1.8 117 108 91 101 1.9 6.0 2.8 1.8					
Accuracy 8	& Presicion	LLOQ (0.1 ng)	Low (0.2 ng)	Med (5 ng)	High (200 ng)	LLOQ Low Med (0.1 ng) High (0.2 ng) (5 ng) (200 ng (200 ng) 111 95 95 105 7.0 5.8 4.2 2.2 99 98 93 102 5.7 6.0 4.5 1.8 117 108 91 101 1.9 6.0 2.8 1.8 109 101 93 102 8.5 7.8 3.9 2.4 - 111 103 109					
Intra-day 1	A [%]	113	101	94	107	111	NNK 0.02 ng per filter 0.1 ng per filter 0.1 - 500 ng per filter (8.5) interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and The interference at the retention time of the and Colspan= 30% Quan/Qualifier Ratio: 91 - 116% COQ Low Med Med Higg 10 102 The interference at the retention of the and Theage 10 10				
(N = 5)	P [%]	6.2	9.0	5.7	3.2	7.0	5.8	4.2	2.2		
Intra-day 2	A [%]	108	91	89	103	99	98	93	102		
(1(= 5)	P [%]	6.6	5.4	2.9	1.2	5.7	6.0	4.5	1.8		
Intra-day 3 (N = 5)	A [%]	97	93	91	102	117	108	91	101		
(11-5)	P [%]	8.4	6.5	1.7	1.6	1.9	6.0	2.8	1.8		
Inter-day $(N = 15)$	A [%]	106	95	91	104	109	101	93	102		
(11 - 15)	P [%]	9.1	8.2	4.2	3.0	8.5	7.8	3.9	2.4		
Recovery [(N=6)	%]	-	96	94	98	-	111	103	109		
Stability		dry filt	er pads	extracted	filter pads	dry filt	er pads	extracted	filter pads		
(14-3)	Short term [%] (dry filter pads24h, 21°C)	88	90	103	93	97	94	106	97		
	Freeze-thaw cycle [%] (6 cycles)	93	109	86	102	93	90	104	109		
	Post-preparation stability [%] (14 Tage, Autosampler)	-	-	105	94	-	-	95	97		
	Stability of the stock solution [%]		1.32 mg/ml: 87% 1 mg/ml: 111%								
Re-Injectio (N=3 at 3 differ	n (CV [%]) ent days)	0.2 n	g: 9.6	200 n	g: 2.3	0.2 ng	g: 9.7	he retention time of the ana at the retention time of the standard is < 0.1 % of spiking: 88 - 98% ifier Ratio: 91 - 116% per filter: < LOD y Med (5 ng) (200 n 95 105 4.2 2.2 93 102 0 4.5 1.8 3 91 101 0 2.8 1.8 1 93 102 6 3.9 2.4 1 103 109 extracted filter pad 90 ng 95 97 106 97 107 104 95 97 ng/ml: 111% 200 ng: 1.0 100 ng: 97% 100 ng: 97% 100 ng: 21% 100 ng: 21%			
Matrix effe	ct [%] (Filter)	8 ng: 99		8 ng: 99 80 ng: 101		g: 101	10 ng: 98%		100 ng	g: 97%	
Matrix effe	ct [%] (Aerosol)	8 ng	: 101	80 n	g: 92	10 ng:	102%	100 ng	g: 99%		
Matrix effe	ct [%] (Smoke)	8 ng	5: 23	80 n	g: 22	10 ng	:15%	100 ng	g: 21%		

Table 22: Validation data of N-nitrosoanatabine (NAT) and N-nitrosoanabasine (NAB) in aerosol/ smoke
and e-liquid

Parameters	3		NA	AB			NAT 0.03 ng per filter 0.1 ng per filter 0.1 - 500 ng per filter (0.8) Io interference at the retention time of the analyt and the internal standard Accuracy of spiking: 100 - 104% Quan/Qualifier Ratio: 103 - 112% 500 ng per filter: < LOD LLOQ Lew Med High (0.1 ng)				
LOD			0.02 ng	per filter			0.03 ng	per filter			
LLOQ			0.1 ng p	er filter			0.1 ng p	ber filter			
calibration (CV of 3 calibr	range rations [%])		0.1 - 200 n (7	g per filter .4)			0.1 - 500 r (0	ng per filter .8)			
Selectivity		No interfer A	ence at the ret and the inter ccuracy of sp	tention time o nal standard iking: 87 - 92	of the analyt	No interfer	NAT 0.03 ng per filter 0.1 ng per filter $0.1 - 500$ ng per filter: $0.0 - 104\%$ Accuracy of spikur: $100 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 104\%$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ $0.0 - 106$ <tr< th=""></tr<>				
		Qı	an/Qualifier	Ratio: 95-11	1%	Qua	an/Qualifier F	Ratio: 103 - 1	12%		
Verschlepp	ung		200 ng per f	ilter: < LOD			500 ng per f	ilter: < LOD			
Accuracy &	& Presicion	LLOQ (0.1 ng)	Low (0.2 ng)	Med (5 ng)	High (200 ng)	LLOQ (0.1 ng)	Low (0.2 ng)	Med (5 ng)	High (200 ng)		
Intra-day 1	A [%]	114	101	96	108	LLOQ (0.1 ng) Low (0.2 ng) Med (5 ng) High (200 ng 107 106 97 106 11.5 5.0 2.1 2.5 96 96 99 109 12.5 0.1 1.7 1.5					
(N = 5)	P [%]	3.5	4.3	3.6	1.5	11.5	5.0	2.1	2.5		
Intra-day 2	A [%]	109	96	92	104	96	96	99	109		
(N = 5)	P [%]	5.4	6.7	2.7	3.2	13.5	9.1	1.7	1.5		
Intra-day 3	A [%]	105	96	90	100	106	99	101	110		
$(\mathbf{N} = 3)$	P [%]	11.8	5.3	1.7	2.0	11.0	8.6	1.2	1.7		
Inter-day	A [%]	109	97	92	104	103	100	99	108		
(14 = 15)	P [%]	7.9	5.7	3.9	3.9	12.1	8.3	2.5	2.5		
Recovery [(N=6)	%]	-	101	94	96	-	98	94	97		
Stability		dry filt	er pads	extracted	filter pads	dry filt	er pads	extracted	filter pads		
(N=3)	Short term [%] (dry filter pads24h, 21°C)	0.2 ng 76	50 ng 78	0.2 ng 94	50 ng 94	0.2 ng 85	50 ng 86	0.2 ng 93	50 ng 104		
	Freeze-thaw cycle [%] (6 cycles)	105	93	93	109	107	112	95	102		
	Post-preparation stability [%] (14 Tage, Autosampler)	-	-	92	96	-	-	95	97		
	Stability of the stock solution [%]	1.0	04 mg/ml: 109	9.6% (6.5 Jah	re)	1.0	04 mg/ml: 10	9.6% (6.5 Jah	re)		
Re-Injectio (N=3 at 3 differ	n (CV [%]) ent days)	0.2 n	g: 7.4	200 n	ıg: 1.6	0.2 ng	g: 11.3	200 r	ng: 1.7		
Matrix effe	ct [%] (Filter)	8 ng	: 102	80 ng	g: 101	7.5 ng	g: 99%	75 ng: 101%			
Matrix effe	ct [%] (Aerosol)	8 ng	g: 99	80 n	g: 99	7.5 ng	g: 90%	75 ng	: 86%		
Matrix effe	ct [%] (Smoke)	8 ng	g: 23	80 n	g: 19	7.5 ng	g:33%	75 ng	: 27%		

				Gly	cerol			
Parameter			Plasma			Urine		
LOD				0.01	µg/ml			
LLOQ				0.1 µ	ıg/ml			
(CV at LLC	OQ(N=6))			(5.0)%)			
Calibrati	on range	0.1 – 150 μg/ml						
Selectivit	y	No interferer analyte Quan/	nce at the retention and the internal s Qual Ratio: 98 -	on time of the standard 108%	nce at the retention and the internal Qual Ratio: 83 –	on time of the standard 117 %		
Carry ov	er			150 µg/n	nl: < LOD			
Accuracy	in water (N=5) [%]	Lo (0.5 µ	0W 1g/ml)	Мес (5 µ	lium g/ml)	Hi (100)	i gh µg/ml)	
		9	96	9	2	1	06	
Precision	(N=6) [%]	Low (0.3 µg/ml)	Medium (3.2 µg/ml)	High (72 µg/ml)	Low (0.3 µg/ml)	Medium (3.2 µg/ml)	High (72 µg/ml)	
	Intra-day	9.6	4.0	4.8	10.5	11.3	11.8	
	Inter-day	15.2	14.5	3.0	5.6	10.2	9.3	
Stability	Short term [%] (16h, 21°C)	94	-	102	96	-	100	
(IN=5)	Freeze-thaw [%] (6 Cycles)	89	-	94	82	-	91	
	Postpreparative stability [%] (9 days, autosampler, 10°C)	91	-	110	112	-	100	
	Stability of stock solution		24 months			24 months		
	Longterm stability of matrix samples		16 months			16 months		
Re-Inject	ion (CV [%]) (N=3 at 3 different days)	7.6	-	3.4	4.0	-	6.6	

Table 23: Validation data of glycerol and propylene glycol in plasma and urine

				Propyle	ne glycol	ol Urine 0.1 μ g/ml (100.1 %) 1 alyte and the internal standard - 108 % · 109% D Medium (1100 μ g/ml) 100 000 Medium (117.2 μ g/ml) 8.0 9.4 7.8 3.1 3.1 8.8 09 - 90 00 - 86 34 - 97 24 months 8 months				
Parameter	•		Plasma			Urine				
LOD				0.02	µg/ml					
LLOQ			0.1 µg/ml			0.1 µg/ml				
(accuracy a	at LLOQ $(N = 6 * 3))$		(92.2 %)			(100.1 %)				
Calibrati	on range			0.1 - 15	50 μg/ml					
Selectivit	y	No ir	nterference at the	e retention time of Accuracy of spil	of the analyte and king: 89 – 108 %	l O.1 µg/ml (100.1 %) (100.1 %) (100.1 %) (100.1 %) (100 µg/ml) (100 µg/ml) (100 µg/ml) (100 µg/ml) (100 Low Medium High (100 µg/ml) (117.2 µg/m 18.0 9.4 7.8 (13.1 3.1 8.8 (109 - 90) 90 - 86				
				Quan/Qual Ra	tio: 86 - 109%					
Carry ov	er			150 µg/m	nl: < LOD	Urine I 0.1 μg/ml (100.1 %) ml				
Accuracy	' in water (N=5) [%]	La (0.5 µ	0W 1g/ml)	Мес (5 µ	lium g/ml)	Hi (100)	igh ug/ml)			
		9	07	10	01	1	00			
Precision	(N=6) [%]	Low (0.9 µg/ml)	Medium (5.2 µg/ml)	High (84 µg/ml)	Low (0.3 µg/ml)	Medium (7.8 µg/ml)	High (117.2 μg/ml)			
	Intra-day	8.5	3.8	2.0	18.0	9.4	7.8			
	Inter-day	11.0	6.0	7.1	13.1	3.1	8.8			
Stability	Short term [%] (16h, 21°C)	104	-	109	109	-	90			
(19-3)	Freeze-thaw [%] (6 Cycles)	101	-	107	90	-	86			
	Postpreparative stability [%] (9 days, autosampler, 10°C)	95	-	96	84	-	97			
	Stability of stock solution [%]		24 months			24 months				
	Longterm stabilty of matrix samples		21 months	1	8 months					
Re-Inject	ion (CV [%]) (N=3 at 3 different days)	4.5	-	2.0	8.0	-	4.6			

D		Met	hods chara	acterist	ics for	the deter	mination of T	ГСА	in plasr	na and	urine	;	
Parameters	6		Plas	ma					Uri	ne			
LOD		0.07	ng/ml (QT	RAP®	6500+))	0.1	3 ng	g/ml (QT	RAP®	6500+)	
LLOQ			0.5 ng	g/ml					0.5 ng	g/ml			
calibration	range		0.5 - 200) ng/ml					0.5 - 200) ng/ml	and urine AP ® 6500^+) al		
Selectivity		No interfere	ence at the	retentic	on time	e of the	No inter	TCA in plasma and urine Urine Urine 13 ng/ml (QTRAP® 6500^+) 0.5 ng/ml 0.5 - 200 ng/ml of ng/ml Internal standard curacy of spiking: $88 - 97\%$ an/Qualifier Ratio: $87-93\%$ Internal standard (200 99 95 97 5.4 3.8 1. 103 102 100 4.5 4.2 1. 104 99 100 4.1 1.2 2. 102 98 100 4.8 4.5 4. 94 83 8. ed High 9 9 101 102 8 95 102 8 95 1.3 <td cols<="" th=""></td>					
Selectivity			internal s	tandard	l			i	internal s	tandard			
		Accu	racy of spi	king: 87	7 – 112	2	Aco	cura	cy of spil	cing: 88	- 97%	6	
		Quan/	Qualifier F	Ratio: 9	6 - 99%	0	Qu	an/Ç	Jualifier 1	Ratio: 8	7-93%	0	
Carry over						200 ng/m	l: < LOD						
Accuracy (A) & Presicion (P)	LLOQ (0.1 ng)	Low (0.2 ng)	Me (5 n	ed a)	High (200 ng)	LLOQ	0	Low	Me (5 n	d a)	High (200 ng)	
Intra-day 1	A [%]	93	92	87	7	88	94		99	95	5	97	
(N = 5)	P [%]	9.0	2.4	4.0	6	1.5	10.4		5.4	3.8	3	1.4	
Intra-day 2	A [%]	100	92	10	2	95	92		103	10	2	101	
(N = 5)	P [%]	9.7	3.5	5.2	2	2.6	11.0		4.5	4.2	2	1.5	
Intra-day 3	A [%]	102	96	98	3	85	104		104	99)	107	
(N = 5)	P [%]	4.9	2.4	1.3	3	2.0	4.5	4.5 4.1		1.2	2	2.8	
Inter-day	A [%]	99	93	96	5	89	97		102	98	;	101	
(N = 15)	P [%]	8.6	3.3	7.2	7	5.3	9.9		4.8	4.5	5	4.8	
Recovery [%]		Not app	licable			-		94	83	Me@ H g/ml etention time th get 88 - 97% (20) itio: 87-93% (20) Med H (5 ng) (20) 95 5 3.8 1 102 1 4.2 1 99 1 1.2 2 98 1 4.5 4 83 8 High 101 102 95 50 ng: 1.3 2 2 Dilutio (1/10 89 122.6 105 11.9 90 2.8		
Stability (N=3)		Med (5 ng	/ml)	Hig	gh (50	ng/ml)	M	ed			Hig	;h	
` <i>`</i>	Short term [%] (dry filter pads24h, 21°C)	113			101	l	9	9			10	1	
	Freeze-thaw cycle	101			97		9	9			10	2	
	Post-preparation												
	stability [%] (5 days, Autosampler)	107			96		9	8			95		
	Stability of the stock solution [%]				10.42	2 mg/ml: 99	9% (21 month	ns)			AP® 6500 ⁺) nl g/ml tetention time the ndard ng: 88 - 97% ttio: 87-93% Med (20) 95 55 3.8 1 102 10 4.2 1 99 10 1.2 2 98 10 4.5 4 83 8 High 101 102 95 50 ng: 1.3 50 ng: 1.3 50 105 105 11.9 90 2.8		
Re-Injectio	n (CV [%])	2 ng: 4	.4		50 ng:	1.3	2 ng	: 4.4		:	50 ng:	: 1.3	
Matrix effe	ct [%]		- 30	%					- 50	%			
Accuracy (A) and Precision (P)	Dilution 1	Diluti	on 2	Dil	lution 3	Dilution 1		Diluti	on 2	Di	lution 3	
alter unution	$\frac{\mathbf{A}[\%]}{\mathbf{A}[\%]}$	101	98	,, ;	(89	94		87	,		89	
Matrix	1 P [%]	5.8	4.0	5		11	14.2		14.	1		12.6	
Matrix '	A [%]	100	10-	4		103	96		11	0		105	
wiatrix A	P [%]	1.6	7.0)		11.1	8.2		13.	8		11.9	
Matrix 3	3 A [%] P [%]	3.0	10	2)3		94 14.8	95 5.2	95 10 5.2 14.				90 2.8	

Table 25: Validation data of thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine

Parameter			Nik	otin			Coti	nin			OH-C ₀	tinin	
LOD			0.02 1	lm/ml			0.003 1	ng/ml			0.02 n	g/ml	
DOTI			0.1 n	lm/gr			0.5 n _{	g/ml			0.5 ng	y/ml	
Calibration rs (CV [%] of 3 c	ange :alibrations)		0.1 - 10	0 ng/ml .3)			0.5 - 50	0 ng/ml 2)			0.5 - 500) ng/ml 5)	
Selectivity		No interfer	rence at the retention internal s	on time of the an standard	alyte and the	No interferen	ce at the retentio internal s	on time of the and tandard	alyte and the	No interferen	ce at the retention internal s	n time of the and tandard	lyte and the
			Accuracy of spil	king: 96 - 111%		Accui	racy of spiking a	t LLOQ: 110 - 1	20%		Accuracy of spil	cing: 80 - 94%	
			Quan/Qual Rat	tio: 94 – 100 %			Quan/Qual Rat	io: 90 - 105%			Quan/Qual Rati	o:100 - 113 %	
Accuracy (A)	and Precision (P) after dilution $(N=3)$) Dilution (1/2)	1 Dilut (1)	tion 2 /4)	Dilution 3 (1/10)	Dilution 1 (1/2)	Diluti (1/2	ion 2 4)	Dilution 3 (1/10)	Dilution 1 (1/2)	Diluti (1/2	on 2 t)	Dilution 3 (1/10)
Mether	A [%]	102	1(74	98	86	10	9	105	86	10:		98
Maurix	P [%]	5.6	.9	Γ.	2.0	1.4	.9	-	5.0	4.5	9.1		1.2
Method	3 A [%]	102	1(60	111	100	10	7	111	86	26		96
MAUTIX	P [%]	5.0	2	.7	1.8	4.7	.9	5	2.8	4.6	5.2		5.9
M. t.	, A [%]	100	=	12	113	94	36	2	95	92	94		93
Matrix	P [%]	6.4	3.	4.	3.6	8.9	2	4	6.0	5.7	2.4		4.4
Carry over			100 ng/m	il: <lod< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>500 ng/ml</th><th>l: < LOD</th><th></th><th></th><th>500 ng/ml</th><th>:<lod< th=""><th></th></lod<></th></lod<>			500 ng/ml	l: < LOD			500 ng/ml	: <lod< th=""><th></th></lod<>	
Accuracy (A)	and Precision (P)	LL0Q (0,1 ng/ml)	Low (0,3 ng/ml)	Med (5 ng/ml)	High (50 ng/ml)	LLOQ (0,5 ng/ml)	Low (1.5 ng/ml)	Med (25 ng/ml)	High (250 ng/ml)	LLOQ (0.5 ng/ml)	Low (1.5 ng/ml)	Med (25 ng/ml)	High (250 ng/ml)
Intra-day 1	A [%]	113	110	114	112	91	87	103	109	06	94	110	111
(c = N)	P [%]	9.7	7.5	1.1	2.0	4.5	2.7	3.7	3.7	6.8	1.8	1.5	0.9
Intra-day 2	[%] V	94	113	105	106	66	83	95	100	86	86	105	107
$(c = \mathbf{N})$	P [%]	16.0	3.1	6.1	3.4	4.9	4.0	2.9	2.1	9.2	1.3	3.4	3.2
Intra-day 3 $\Delta I = \epsilon$	A [%]	93	95	106	107	102	92	76	66	100	94	100	97
(c = N)	P [%]	8.3	5.8	3.1	2.2	8.4	4.9	0.8	1.9	10	3.8	2.8	2.7
Inter-day	A [%]	6.66	106	108	108	97	87	98	103	92	91	105	105
(c1 = N)	P[%]	14.6	9.3	5.4	3.6	7.6	6.1	4.5	5.4	10.4	5.1	4.8	6.3
Recovery [%]	(N=6)		59	65	65	-	56	65	67		29	32	39
Stabilität S. (N=3) S.	Short term [%] (24h, 21°C)	-	103		93	-	114	-	104	-	103	-	99
F	Freeze-thaw [%] (6 Cycles)		109	'	107	'	101	-	66	-	111	-	115
Γ	Long term stbility in matrix [%] (14 m	-	110	,	113	'	115		107	,			
S	Stanility of stock solution [%] (17 month	(si		114^{*}				120^{**}		-	-	113^{*}	-
P	Post preparative stability (autosampler, 5.	days) -	109		107		113		112		97		112
Re-Injection ((CV) [%] (N=3 at 3 different days)		4.4		3.2		8.4		2.6		4.4		3.2
Matrix effekt	[%] Analyte	'	94	'	104	'	88	ı	89	,	66		102 2-
	IS	•	106		91		96		97		111		97
** Cotinine in A	OH-cotinine in ACN should not be use ACN is not stable for 17 months A revi-	d for longer than 1 / m ew within a shorter tin	nonths. neframe is necessa	, TIV.									

Table 24: Validation data of nicotine	e, cotinine and OH-cotinine in plasma
---------------------------------------	---------------------------------------

D		Meth	ods chara	cteristi	cs for	the detern	ination of N	ITC	A in plas	sma and	l urin	e
Parameters	i		Plas	ma					Uri	ne		
LOD		0.1	ng/ml (QTI	RAP® 6	6500 ⁺)		0.1	12 ng	g/ml (QT	RAP®	6500+)
LLOQ			0.5 n	g/ml					0.5 ng/ml 0.5 - 200 ng/ml ference at the retention time the internal standard racy of spiking: 101 – 107 % /Qualifier Ratio: 96 – 112 % Low Med (10 ng) (100 ng) 92 97 1.4 2.8 99 106 6.2 2.1 99 110 6.6 2.1 97 104 112 6.2 6.5 55 94 High			
calibration	range		0.5 - 200) ng/ml					0.5 - 200) ng/ml		
Selectivity		No interfer	ence at the internal s	retentic	on time	e of the	No inte	rfere	ence at the	e retenti tandard	ion tir	ne the
		Accur	acy of spik	ing: 98	- 115	%	Accu	iracy	of spiki	ng: 101	- 107	%
		Quan/	Qualifier R	atio: 98	- 102	%	Quar	n/Qu	alifier Ra	atio: 96	- 112	%
Carry over						200 ng/m	l: < LOD					
Accuracy (A) & Presicion (P)	LLOQ (0.5 ng)	Low (1.5 ng)	Me	ed	High	LLOQ	(Low	Me	d	High
Intra-day 1	A [%]	(0.5 hg) 99	96	10	0	95	90		92	97	18)	115
(N = 5)	P [%]	2.4	5.1	5.0	0	3.4	2.1		1.4	2.8	3	0.5
Intra-day 2	A [%]	94	94	94	1	99	94		99	10	6	110
(N = 5)	P [%]	7.9	5.3	2.:	5	5.3	4.5		6.2	2.	1	1.9
Intra-day 3	A [%]	103	101	11	2	95	92		99	11	0	111
(N = 5)	P [%]	8.3	8.1	4.:	5	2.4	3.4		6.6	2.1	1	0.8
Inter-day	A [%]	99	97	10	2	96	92		97	10-	4	112
(N = 15)	P [%]	7.4	6.8	8.	8	4.2	3.8		6.2	6.0	2.2	
Recovery [(N=6)	%]		Not app	licable			-		55	55	;	
Stability (N=3)		Med (5 n	g/ml)	Hig	gh (50	ng/ml)	М	ed			Hig	h
	Short term [%] (dry filter pads24h, 21°C)	98			88		9	4			10	3
	Freeze-thaw cycle [%] (6 cycles)	106			102	2	9	8			95	
	Post-preparation stability [%] (5 days, Autosampler)	114			91		9	7			102	2
	Stability of the stock solution [%]			5 mg/	ml: 85	% (2 mont	hs); [21 mont	ths: 6	50 %]			
Re-Injectio	n (CV [%])	2 ng: 2	2.7		50 ng:	1.2	:	5		:	50 ng:	1.2
Matrix effe	ct [%]		- 33	%					- 33	%		
Accuracy (after dilution	A) and Precision (P) on (N = 3)	Dilution 1 (1/2)	Diluti (1/2	on 2 5)	Di (lution 3 (1/10)	Dilution 1 (1/2)	l	Diluti (1/5	on 2 5)	Di	lution 3 (1/10)
Motrix	A [%]	86	93	3		104	96		114	4		101
wiautix	P [%]	4.3	4.	8		6.3	4.4		11.	6		10.0
Matrix 2	$2 \qquad A [\%] \\ P [\%]$	96 8 7	10	0		106 6.1	105		10	8 7 —		101
	A [%]	8.7 9.1				101	15.0		100			91
Matrix :	P [%]	11.2	8.	3		4.0	12.3		13.	0		10

Table 26: Validation data of methyl thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine

D		Meth	ods char	acterist	ics fo	r the deter	mination of 1	ГCG	in plasr	na and	urine	;	
Parameters			Plas	ma					Uri	ne			
LOD		0.33 1	ng/ml (QT	RAP®	6500+)	0.2	25 ng	g/ml (QT	RAP®	6500+)	
LLOQ			1 ng	/ml					1 ng	/ml			
calibration	range		1 - 400	ng/ml					1 - 400	ng/ml			
Selectivity		No interfere Accura Quan/C	nce at the internal s cy of spik Qualifier R	retentic standard ing: 93 atio:79	on tim 115 - 111	e of the % %	No interf Acc Quai	eren i urac n/Qu	ce at the internal s y of spik alifier Ra	retentio tandard ing: 88 atio: 86	n tim - 114 - 114	e of the % .%	
Carry over						400 ng/m	l: < LOD						
Accuracy (A) & Presicion (P)	LLOQ	Low	Me	ed	High	LLOQ		Low	Me	d	High	
Intra-day 1	A [%]	94	100	90)	92	104		104	98	l <u>g)</u>	(200 lig) 89	
(N = 5)	P [%]	7.8	2.2	4.8	8	3.8	4.0		5.1	6.8	3	5.3	
Intra-day 2	A [%]	102	88	86	5	88	105		89	10	5	113	
(N = 5)	P [%]	7.1	8.1	1.:	5	3.6	4.7		7.3	5.1	1	1.7	
Intra-day 3	A [%]	108	101	10	4	91	102		96	87	,	101	
(N - 3)	P [%]	7.7	4.5	2.9	9	7.1	7.0 6.6			11.	7	3.8	
Inter-day	A [%]	101	96	93	3	90	104		96	97	,	101	
(14 - 15)	P [%]	9.0	8.0	8.9	9	5.0	5.1		8.7	10.	7	10.8	
Recovery [9 (N=6)	%]		Not app	licable			-	- 32 29 29				29	
Stability (N=3)		Med (5 ng	/ml)	Hig	gh (50	ng/ml)	Med (5	ng/i	ml)	Hig	sh (50	ng/ml)	
(11.5)	Short term [%] (dry filter pads24h, 21°C)	89			94	Ļ	10)6			10	3	
	Freeze-thaw cycle [%] (6 cycles)	95			87	7	9	0			86	ō	
	Post-preparation stability [%] (5 days, Autosampler)	112			89)	9	7			92	!	
Re-Injectio (N=3 at 3 different	n (CV [%]) ent days)	2 ng: 5.	2		50 ng	: 7.3	2 ng	: 5.2		:	50 ng	: 7.3	
Matrix effe	ct [%]		- 33	%					- 60	%			
Accuracy (A after dilution	A) and Precision (P) on $(N = 3)$	Dilution 1 (1/2)	Diluti (1/:	on 2 5)	Di	ilution 3 (1/10)	Dilution 1 (1/2)		Diluti (1/5	on 2 5)	Di	lution 3 (1/10)	
Matrix	A [%]	101	92	2		94	100		87	-	Med (20 ng) Hi (200 98 8 6.8 5 105 11 5.1 1 87 10 11.7 3 97 10 10.7 10 29 2 High (50 ng/m) 103 86 92 50 ng: 7.3 50 76 0 10.3 84 19.1 93 9 10.3 86 8.1		
		6.5	5	3		2.5	4.1		9.3	1		03	
Matrix 2	P [%]	6.5	4.	• 1		3.1	10.6		10	9	_	10.3	
	A [%]	104	94	1		95	108		94		at the retention time of thermal standard of spiking: 88 - 114 % ifier Ratio: 86 - 116 % 9 105 11 .3 5.1 .6 87 .6 97 .6 97 .7 10.7 .6 97 .7 10.7 .7 10.7 .6 97 .10.3 86 .92 50 ng: 7.3 .60% 0ilution 2 .101 93 .13.9 10.3 .94 86		
Matrix 3	P [%]	3.4	14.	.9		7.0	3.2	ĺ	13.	9		8.1	

Table 27: Validation data of thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine

D (Methods characteristics for the determination of MTCG in plasma and urine											
Parameters	i		Plas	ma					Uriı	ne			
LOD		0.18	ng/ml (QT	RAP®	6500+)	0.2	7 ng/	ml (QT)	RAP® 6	6500 ⁺)	
LLOQ			1 ng	/ml					1 ng/	1 ng/ml 1 ng/ml - 400 ng/ml at the retention time of the ernal standard of spiking: 93 - 103 % off spiking: 93 - 103 % fier Ratio: 78 - 121 % www Med (20 ng) High (200 ng) 5 94 103 .5 4.4 5.5 8 99 92 2 11.9 7.3 3 96 92 4 3.9 3.7 8 96 95 1 7.5 7.8 5 23 29 0 High (85 ng/ml) 101 103			
calibration	range		1 - 400	ng/ml					1 - 400	m piasma and urine Urine Il (QTRAP® 6500 ⁺) 1 ng/ml - 400 ng/ml at the retention time of the rmal standard f spiking: 93 - 103 % fier Ratio: 78 - 121 % w Med (20 ng) Hig (200 ng) 5 94 103 5 4.4 5.5 8 99 92 2 11.9 7.3 3 96 92 4 3.9 3.7 3 96 95 1 7.5 7.8 5 2.3 29 High (85 ng/ml) 101 103 97 35 ng/ml: 11 -60 % Dilution 2 Dilution 2 (1/5) (1/10) n.a. n.a.			
Selectivity		No interfer	ence at the internal s	retentic standard	on time l – 107	e of the	No interfe	erenc in	e at the iternal st	retentio tandard	e of the		
		Quan/	Qualifier R	atio: 83	- 112	%	Quan	/Qua	lifier Ra	m plasma and urine Urine Urine Il (QTRAP® 6500^+) 1 ng/ml - 400 ng/ml at the retention time of the trenal standard of spiking: 93 - 103 % fier Ratio: 78 - 121 % w Med Hit (20 ng) (20 ng) (200 fg) (20 ng) (200 fg)			
Carry over						400 ng/m	l: < LOD						
Accuracy (A	A) & Presicion (P)	LLOQ (1 ng)	Low (3 ng)	Me (20 1	ed	High (200 ng)	LLOQ (1 ng)	L (3	AOW B ng)	Me (20 n	d g)	High (200 ng)	
Intra-day 1	A [%]	99	114	10	4	101	83		85	94		103	
(N = 5)	P [%]	9.9	4.2	6.:	5	5.6	3.7	1	2.5	4.4	ļ	5.5	
Intra-day 2	A [%]	94	87	93	3	101	90		88	99		92	
(N = 5)	P [%]	6.1	5.9	11.	.0	4.9	9.8	2	3.2	11.	9	7.3	
Intra-day 3	A [%]	85	88	10	4	111	86		93	96		92	
(N = 5)	P [%]	2.8	2.9	3.:	5	2.7	6.9	4	5.4	3.9)	3.7	
Inter-day	A [%]	92	96	10	0	104	86		88	96		95	
(N = 15)	P [%]	9.2	13.9	8.	7	6.2	7.8	8	8.1	7.5	;	7.8	
Recovery [9 (N=6)	%]		Not applic	lot applicable (n.a.)			-		25	23		29	
Stability (N=3)		Med (3 n	g/ml)	Hig	gh (65	ng/ml)	Med (3 ng/ml)			Hig	h (85	ng/ml)	
× /	Short term [%] (dry filter pads24h, 21°C)	93			91		105			101			
	Freeze-thaw cycle [%] (6 cycles)	86			102	2	103			103		3	
	Post-preparation stability [%] (5 days, Autosampler)	93			98		94	4			97		
Re-Injection (N=3 at 3 different	n (CV [%]) ent days)	4 ng/ml	: 13	3	5 ng/n	nl: 11	4 ng/n	nl: 13		35	AP® 6500 ⁺) al g/ml tention time of ndard g: 93 - 103 % o: 78 - 121 % Med 1 (20 ng) (2 94 4.4 99 11.9 96 3.9 96 7.5 23 101 103 97 35 ng/ml: 1 103 97 35 ng/ml: 1 12 Diluti (1/1 n.a n.a n.a n.a n.a n.a n.a n.a		
Matrix effe	ct [%]		- 33	%				-	-60	%			
Accuracy (A after dilution	A) and Precision (P) on $(N = 3)$	Dilution 1 (1/2)	Diluti (1/:	on 2 5)	D1 (lution 3 (1/10)	Dilution 1 (1/2)		Dilutio (1/5	on 2 5)	Dı (lution 3 (1/10)	
Matrix 1	A [%]	112	10	3		89	n.a.		n.a			n.a.	
	P [%]	5.8	4.	3		92	n.a.		n.a			n.a.	
Matrix 2	2 P [%]	9.8	9.1	2		4.7	n.a.		n.a			n.a.	
Metal	A [%]	113	88	3		88	n.a.		n.a			n.a.	
Matrix 3	P [%]	9.4	3.:	3		9.3	n.a.		n.a			n.a.	

Table 28: Validation data of methyl thiazolidine carboxylic acid in plasma and urine

Subject questionnaire for Part A

	Protokoll Part A	ABE GmbH
Datum:		Probandennummer:

Sehr geehrter Proband,

bitte beantworten Sie uns die unten aufgeführten Fragen nach den Sessions 1, 5 und 10.

After Session 1

1.	 Den Geschmack des mittels E-Zigarette erzeugten Dampfes bewerte ich mit (bitte ankreuzen): 					
	∘ gut	o zufriedenstellend	o ungenügend			
2.	2. Die Inhalierbarkeit des erzeugten Dampfes war:					
	∘ gut	\circ zufriedenstellend	○ ungenügend			
3.	 3. War die Temperatur der E-Zigarette während des Dampfens o angenehm o unangenehm, wenn ja warum? 					
		Time::	Initials:			

After Session 5

1.	 Den Geschmack des mittels E-Zigarette erzeugten Dampfes bewerte ich mit (bitte ankreuzen): 				
	∘ gut	\circ zufriedenstellend	○ ungenügend		
2.	2. Die Inhalierbarkeit des erzeugten Dampfes war:				
	∘ gut	 zufriedenstellend 	 ungenügend 		
3.	3. War die Temperatur der E-Zigarette während des Dampfens				
	○ angenehm ○ unangenehm, wenn ja warum?				
		Time::	Initials:		

		Protokoll Part A	ABE GmbH		
Datur	n:		Probandennummer:		
After S	Session 10				
1.	Den Geschm	ack des mittels E-Ziga	arette erzeugten Dampfes bewerte ich mit		
	(bitte ankreuz	zen):			
	\circ gut		o ungenügend		
2.	Die Inhalierba	arkeit des erzeugten D	Dampfes war:		
	∘ gut		o ungenügend		
3.	3. War die Temperatur der E-Zigarette während des Dampfens				
	∘ angenehm		ehm, wenn ja warum?		

Time: __:__ Initials:

Seite 2 von 2

Subject questionnaire for Part B



Sehr geehrter Proband,

auf den folgenden Seiten finden Sie eine Art Tagebuch, in welchem Sie bitte die Zuganzahl und die Einstellungen an der E-Zigarette, sowie den Zeitpunkt der Urinabgabe eintragen. Außerdem bitten wir Sie, das Produkt anhand vier kurzer Fragen an jedem Studientag zu bewerten.

Hinweise:

- a. Legen Sie die Kühlakkus am Vorabend bitte immer in den Tiefkühler.
- b. Vermerken Sie bitte die Uhrzeit der morgendlichen Urinabgabe und stellen Sie das Urin-Gefäß aufrecht mit den Kühlakkus in die Kühltasche.
- c. Vermerken Sie bitte in der unten stehenden Tabelle die Anzahl der Züge stundengenau (ein Strich pro Zug).
- d. Halten Sie bitte außerdem den eingestellten Luftstrom (1-4) fest. Der Luftstrom lässt sich unterhalb des Tanks regulieren, wie die Abbildung zeigt.



- e. Bringen Sie die Kühltasche mit dem Urin-Gefäß und das ausgefüllte Tagebuch zwischen 16 und 20 Uhr in die Klinik.
- f. Bitte auf jedem Blatt des Tagebuchs unbedingt aktuelles Datum und Probanden-Nr. eintragen.
- g. Bitte am Ende jedes Versuchstages die Fragen zur Bewertung der E-Zigarette beantworten

	Protokoll Part B	A3F	GmbH	ANALYTISCH- BIOLOGISCHES FORSORUNGSLABOR MÜNCHEN
Datum:		Probandennummer:		

Tag -1

Uhrzeit	Anzahl der Züge	Leistung (in Watt)	Luftstrom (1-4)	
16:00 – 17:00				
17:00 – 18:00				
18:00 - 19:00				
19:00 - 20:00				
20:00 - 21:00				
21:00 - 22:00				
22:00 - 23:00				
23:00 - 24:00				
1. Den Geschm (bitte ankreuz	ack des mittels E-Zig en):	arette erzeugten Dam	pfes bewerte ich mit	
∘ gut	○ zufriedenstellend	o ungenü	gend	
2. Die Inhalierba	arkeit des erzeugten [Dampfes war:		
∘ gut	○ zufriedenstellen	d o ungenü	gend	
3. Ich hatte wä	hrend des abgelaufe	enen Tages das Beo	dürfnis wieder mein	
o gar nicht	o zeitweise	o immer		
 o gar nicht o zeitweise o immer 4. Ich habe während des abgelaufenen Tages versucht den Geschmack und/oder die Inhalierbarkeit des Dampfes durch Veränderungen der Einstellungen an der E-Zigarette zu verbessern: 				
\circ gar nicht	\circ nur wenige Male	e o mehrfa	ich	

Seite 2 von 8

	Protokoll Part B	A3F	GmbH	ANALYTISCH- BIOLOGISCHES FORSOHUNGSLABOR MÜNCHEN
Datum:		Probandennummer:		

Tag 1

Zeitpunkt der Urinabgabe (morgens):_____

Zeitpunkt der Speichelabgabe (morgens):_____

Uhrzeit	Anzahl der Züge	Leistung (in Watt)	Luftstrom (1-4)
0:00 - 1:00			
1:00 - 2:00			
2:00 - 3:00			
3:00 - 4:00			
5:00 - 6:00			
6:00 - 7:00			
7:00 - 8:00			
8:00 - 9:00			
9:00 – 10:00			
10:00 - 11:00			
11:00 – 12:00			
12:00 – 13:00			
13:00 – 14:00			
14:00 – 15:00			
15:00 - 16:00			
16:00 - 17:00			
17:00 - 18:00			

Seite 3 von 8

	Protokoll Part B	A3i	GmbH
Datum:		Probandennummer:	
18:00 – 19:00			
19:00 – 20:00			
20:00 - 21:00			
21:00 - 22:00			
22:00 - 23:00			
23:00 - 24:00			
5. Den Geschn (bitte ankreu ∘ gut	nack des mittels E-Zig zen): ○ zufriedenstellen	arette erzeugten Dam d ∘ ungenü	pfes bewerte ich mit gend
6. Die Inhalierb ∘ gut	arkeit des erzeugten E o zufriedenstellen	Dampfes war: d o ungenü	gend
 7. Ich hatte w eigenes Proc ○ gar nicht 	ährend des abgelaufe dukt zu benutzen: o zeitweise	enen Tages das Beo ∘ immer	dürfnis wieder mein
8. Ich habe w und/oder di Einstellunge ∘ gar nicht	ährend des abgelau e Inhalierbarkeit des n an der E-Zigarette zu ○ nur wenige Male	fenen Tages versucl s Dampfes durch u verbessern: e o mehrfa	ht den Geschmack Veränderungen der ich

Seite 4 von 8

	Protokoll Part B	A3F	GmbH	ANALYTISCH- BIOLOGISCHES FORSCHUNGSLABOR MÜNCHEN
Datum:		Probandennummer:		

Tag 2

Zeitpunkt der Urinabgabe (morgens):_____

Zeitpunkt der Speichelabgabe (morgens):_____

Uhrzeit	Anzahl der Züge	Leistung (in Watt)	Luftstrom (1-4)
0:00 - 1:00			
1:00 – 2:00			
2:00 – 3:00			
3:00 - 4:00			
5:00 - 6:00			
6:00 - 7:00			
7:00 – 8:00			
8:00 – 9:00			
9:00 – 10:00			
10:00 – 11:00			
11:00 – 12:00			
12:00 – 13:00			
13:00 – 14:00			
14:00 – 15:00			
15:00 – 16:00			
16:00 – 17:00			
17:00 – 18:00			

Seite 5 von 8

	Protokoll Part B	A37	GmbH
Datum:		Probandennummer:	
18:00 – 19:00			
19:00 – 20:00			
20:00 – 21:00			
21:00 - 22:00			
22:00 - 23:00			
23:00 - 24:00			
1. Den Geschm (bitte ankreu ○ gut	nack des mittels E-Zig zen): ○ zufriedenstellen	arette erzeugten Dam d ∘ ungenü	pfes bewerte ich mit gend
2. Die Inhalierb ∘ gut	arkeit des erzeugten E	Dampfes war: d o ungenü	gend
 3. Ich hatte wa eigenes Proc ∘ gar nicht 	ährend des abgelaufe dukt zu benutzen: ○ zeitweise	enen Tages das Beo ∘ immer	dürfnis wieder mein
 4. Ich habe w und/oder di Einstellunger ∘ gar nicht 	ährend des abgelau e Inhalierbarkeit des n an der E-Zigarette zu ○ nur wenige Male	fenen Tages versuch s Dampfes durch N u verbessern: e o mehrfa	ht den Geschmack Veränderungen der Ich

Seite 6 von 8

	Protokoll Part B	A3F	GmbH	ANALYTISCH- BIOLOGISCHES FORSCHUNGSLABOR MÜNCHEN
Datum:		Probandennummer:		

Tag 3

Zeitpunkt der Urinabgabe (morgens):_____

Zeitpunkt der Speichelabgabe (morgens):_____

Uhrzeit	Anzahl der Züge	Leistung (in Watt)	Luftstrom (1-4)
0:00 - 1:00			
1:00 – 2:00			
2:00 - 3:00			
3:00 - 4:00			
5:00 - 6:00			
6:00 - 7:00			
7:00 – 8:00			
8:00 – 9:00			
9:00 – 10:00			
10:00 - 11:00			
11:00 – 12:00			
12:00 – 13:00			
13:00 – 14:00			
14:00 – 15:00			
15:00 – 16:00			
16:00 - 17:00			
17:00 – 18:00			

Seite 7 von 8

	Protokoll Part B	A3i	GmbH
Datum:		Probandennummer:	
18:00 – 19:00			
19:00 – 20:00			
20:00 - 21:00			
21:00 - 22:00			
22:00 - 23:00			
23:00 - 24:00			
1. Den Geschma (bitte ankreuze ∘ gut	ack des mittels E-Ziga en): o zufriedenstellend	arette erzeugten Dam d ∘ ungenü	pfes bewerte ich mit Igend
2. Die Inhalierba ○ gut	rkeit des erzeugten E	Dampfes war: d o ungenü	igend
 Ich hatte wäł eigenes Produ ∘ gar nicht 	nrend des abgelaufe ukt zu benutzen: o zeitweise	enen Tages das Beo ∘ immer	dürfnis wieder mein
 4. Ich habe wä und/oder die Einstellungen o gar nicht 	hrend des abgelauf Inhalierbarkeit des an der E-Zigarette zu ○ nur wenige Male	fenen Tages versuc s Dampfes durch ' u verbessern: e o mehrfa	ht den Geschmack Veränderungen der ach

Seite 8 von 8

Adverse effects and Deviations

Table 29: Adverse events during the clinical study (ordered by subject number)

													1	1													
Outcome	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Ongoing	Ongoing	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved	Resolved
Relationship to investigational product	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	related to study procedure	No	No	related to study procedure	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Action taken	None	None	Concomitant Medication	None	Concomitant Medication	None	None	Water, supine position with feet upright	None	None	None	Supervision of the blood pressure	None	Concomitant Medication	Concomitant Medication	None	None	None	None	Concomitant Medication		Concomitant Medication	None	None	None	None	None
Event	Flatulence	Shoulder pain	Heratburn	Headache	Headache	Headache	Headpressure	Dizziness after second vaping session	Backache	Headache	Pressure sensitivity left bend of elbow	Subject fainted during the application of an intravenous vein catheter	Groin strain	Headache	Thrombophlebitis right elbow	Common cold	Headache	Thrombophlebitis left elbow	Headache	Headache	Orthostatic hypotonic	Headache	Nausea	Headache	Headache	Backache	Headache
Date	14.11.2016	21.11.2016	30.11.2016	2.12.2016	15.11.2016	21.11.2016	19.11.2016	19.11.2016	19.11.2016	20.11.2016	4.12.2016	3.12.2016	15.12.2016	6.01.2017	9.01.2017	9.01.2017	13.01.2017	14.01.2017	11.01.2017	13.01.2017	13.01.2017	13.01.2017	17.02.2017	17.02.2017	11.11.2016	12.11.2016	12.11.2016
Subject	101	101	101	101	102	102	103	104	105	105	107	109	110	114	114	115	115	116	117	117	118	118	119	119	122	123	125

Note to file	Date	Category	Topic	Description
number				
1	13.11.2016	Protocol-Deviation	Subject 123 blood sample missing	due to difficult venipuncture blood sample no. 25 was not
6	21 11 2016	Drotocol-Deviation	Freezer temperature alarm	decreasing the freezer temperature from -30°C to 35 °C to
٦	0107:11:17			accreaning the necesi temperature nom -30 C to 30 C to avoid regular alarms; approved by ABF
ε	13.11.2016	Protocol-Deviation	urine sample not assigned to	urine sample no. 26 of subject 121 not documented; however
			subject	subject 124 has an additional urine sample documented; an
				exact assignment of the sample is not possible
4	1.12.2016	Process related	Sputum-collection	two attempts for sputum collection are enough; missing
				sputum sample will be documented in the source documents
5	5.12.2016	Process related	Subject 107, urine sampling,	related to U17 – U19: all urine container were shipped to ABF;
			unclear documentation	U17 is not documented in the source documents whereas U19
				was documented twice; to clarify the container were weighed
				again
9	7.01.2017	Administrative	Subject 116, urine sampling,	related to U16: wrong container order; container U16 was
			unclear documentation	used after U12
7	14.03.2017	Protocol-Deviation	Subject 13,19 and 20 –	subjects were enrolled with BMI between 29 and 30; approved
			increased BMI	by ABF
8	4.02.2017	Process related	Day 1 Vaping Session not	related to subject 119 and 120: the liquid in the tanks flowed
			performed with fresh liquid an	out over night; tanks of subject 115 and 116 were used instead
			unused coil	
ı	20.11.2016	Process related	Subject 102, urine sampling,	Sample U18 present but not documented in source data
			missing documentation	

Table 30: Deviations to the study protocol

Raw data overview Part A and B

N 10 10 5 E-liquid consumption (mL/10 sessions) $1.26 \pm 0.29/1.34$ $1.56 \pm 0.95/1.33$ - Plasma labeled nicotine peak (mg/ml) $1.26 \pm 0.29/1.34$ $1.66 \pm 0.95/1.33$ - Plasma nicotine peak $1.38 \pm 0.70/1.28$ $1.90 \pm 1.70/1.22$ $0.96 \pm 0.27/0.92$ (ng/ml) $(0.60 = 3.17)$ $(0.73 - 5.47)$ $(0.63 - 1.33)$ Plasma nicotine peak $14.39 \pm 10.80/11.50$ $17.68 \pm 16.51/10.27$ $35.07 \pm 16.01/25.35$ (ng/mL) $(6.22 - 44.05)$ $(3.48 - 52.94)$ $(23.42 - 60.25)$ Otal Plasma nicotine $0.73 \pm 0.560.32$ $0.89 \pm 0.880.52$ $0.44 \pm 0.11/0.43$ (ng/mL x h) $(0.36 - 2.29)$ $(0.20 - 2.91)$ $(0.30 - 0.60)$ AUC labeled plasma $7.05 \pm 5.61/5.46$ $8.45 \pm 8.21/5.17$ $12.24 \pm 2.95/10.47$ nicotime (ng/mL x h) $(3.36 - 22.78)$ $(1.92 - 27.41)$ $(8.99 - 15.53)$ Calculated AUC total plasma $7.27 \pm 5.63/5.61$ $8.89 \pm 8.75/5.16$ $12.44 \pm 3.01/2.10$ nicotime (ng/mL x h) ^a $(3.61 - 22.93)$ $(2.04 - 29.12)$ $(8.45 - 16.81)$ <t< th=""><th></th><th>Vapers, 10 W</th><th>Vapers 18 W^b</th><th>Cigarette Smokers^c</th></t<>		Vapers, 10 W	Vapers 18 W ^b	Cigarette Smokers ^c
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	N	10	10	5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	E-liquid consumption	$1.26 \pm 0.29/1.34$	$1.56 \pm 0.95/1.33$	
Plasma labeled nicotine peak (ng/ml) $1.38 \pm 0.70/1.28$ $1.90 \pm 1.701.22$ $0.96 \pm 0.27/0.92$ (ng/ml)(0.60 - 3.17)(0.73 - 5.47)(0.63 - 1.33)Plasma nicotine peak(14.39 \pm 10.80/011.50)(7.68 \pm 16.51/10.27)(3.507 \pm 16.01/25.35)(ng/ml)(6.22 - 44.05)(3.48 - 52.94)(23.42 - 60.25)Total Plasma nicotine(0.73 \pm 0.56/0.32)(8.97 \pm 16.96 / 12.16)(9.95 \pm 6.64/25.59)(ng/mL)(0.36 - 2.29)(0.20 - 2.91)(0.30 - 0.60)AUC labeled plasma7.05 \pm 5.61/5.468.45 \pm 8.21/5.1712.02 \pm 2.95/10.47nicotine (ng/mL x h)(3.80 - 22.78)(1.93 - 27.41)(8.99 - 15.53)Calculated AUC total plasma7.27 \pm 5.63/5.618.89 \pm 8.75/5.1612.44 \pm 3.01/12.10nicotine (ng/mL x h)*(3.61 - 22.93)(2.04 - 29.12)(8.45 - 16.81)AUC labeled plasma cotinine3.46 57 ± 12.75/35.1849.16 ± 33.71/35.5984.48 ± 23.35/7.64.9cotinine (ng/mL x h)*(1.47 - 5.57)(1.82.8 - 96.29)(64.84 - 120.98)AUC labeled saliva cotinine2.39 ± 9.77/2.413.14 ± 2.412.111.72 ± 0.63/1.80(ng/mL x h)(0.86 - 4.27)(0.72 - 8.05)(1.02 - 2.55)Calculated AUC total saliva23.89 ± 9.77/2.413.14 ± 2.412.10948.18 ± 17.51/1.801cotinine (ng/mL x h)*(0.86 - 4.27)(0.72 - 8.05)(1.02 - 2.55)Calculated AUC total saliva23.89 ± 9.77/2.413.14 ± 2.412.111.72 ± 0.63/1.80(ng/mL x h)*(0.86 - 4.27)(0.72 - 8.05)(1.02 - 2.55)Calculate	(mL/10 sessions)	(0.74 - 1.66)	(0.60 - 3.11)	-
$\begin{array}{c cg/ml\rangle} (0.60-3.17) & (0.73-5.47) & (0.63-1.33) \\ Plasma nicotine peak (14.39 \pm 10.80/11.50) & 17.68 \pm 16.51/10.27 & 35.07 \pm 16.01/25.35 \\ (ng/mL) & (6.22-44.05) & (3.48-52.94) & (2.342-60.25) \\ \hline Total Plasma nicotine peak (15.96-31.67) & (4.25-54.66) & (9.02-14.32) \\ AUC labeled plasma nicotine & 0.73 \pm 0.56(0.32 & 0.89 \pm 0.880.52 & 0.44 \pm 0.11/0.43 \\ (ng/mL x h) & (0.36-2.29) & (0.20-2.91) & (0.30-0.60) \\ AUC unlabeled plasma nicotine & 0.73 \pm 0.56(0.32 & 0.89 \pm 0.880.52 & 0.44 \pm 0.11/0.43 \\ (ng/mL x h) & (3.80-22.78) & (1.93-27.41) & (8.99-15.53) \\ Calculated AUC total plasma & 7.27 \pm 5.63/5.61 & 8.89 \pm 8.75(5.16 & 12.44 \pm 3.01/12.10 \\ nicotine (ng/mL x h) & (3.61-22.93) & (2.04-29.12) & (8.45-16.81) \\ AUC labeled plasma cotinine & 3.46 \pm 1.28/3.52 & 4.92 \pm 3.37/3.56 & 3.02 \pm 0.83/2.73 \\ (ng/mL x h) & (1.47-5.58) & (1.83-9.63) & (2.32-4.32) \\ Calculated AUC total plasma & 34.57 \pm 12.75/3.18 & 49.16 \pm 3.71/3.55 & 3.02 \pm 0.83/2.73 \\ (ng/mL x h) & (1.47-5.579) & (18.28-96.29) & (64.84 + 120.98) \\ AUC labeled slaiva cotinine & 2.39 \pm 0.97/2.41 & 3.14 \pm 2.41/2.11 & 1.72 \pm 0.63/1.80 \\ (ng/mL x h)^3 & (0.66-4.27) & (0.72-8.05) & (1.02-2.55) \\ Calculated AUC total slaiva & (0.86-4.27) & (7.16-80.49) & (28.59-71.32) \\ AUC labeled slaiva cotinine & 2.39 \pm 0.97/2.41 & 3.14 \pm 2.41/2.19 & 48.18 \pm 17.51/18.01 \\ cotinine (ng/mL x h)^3 & (8.61-42.74) & (7.16-80.49) & (28.59-71.32) \\ AUC labeled slaiva cotinine & 2.39 \pm 0.97/2.41 & 3.14 \pm 2.41/2.109 & 48.18 \pm 17.51/18.01 \\ cotinine (ng/mL x h)^3 & (0.00-8.89) & (1.16-0.83) & (0.27-0.37) \\ Calculated AUC total slaiva & (3.39 \pm 9.74/2.407) & 31.39 \pm 2.41/2.109 & (28.59-71.32) \\ AUC labeled slaiva OH-Cot & 0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43 & 0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29 & 0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32 \\ (ng/mL x h)^3 & (0.00-8.89) & (1.16-0.83) & (0.27-0.37) \\ Calculated AUC total slaiva & (3.39 \pm 9.74/2.407) & (3.139 \pm 2.41/2.109 & (3.85 \pm -17.57)) \\ Calculated AUC total slaiva & (3.49 \pm 0.30/0.43 & 0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29 & 0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32 \\ (ng/mL x h)^3 & (0.00-8.89) & (1.16-0.83) & (0.27-0.37) \\ Calculated AUC to$	Plasma labeled nicotine peak	$1.38 \pm 0.70/1.28$	$1.90 \pm 1.70/1.22$	$0.96 \pm 0.27/0.92$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	(ng/ml)	(0.60 - 3.17)	(0.73 - 5.47)	(0.63 - 1.33)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Plasma nicotine peak	$14.39 \pm 10.80/11.50$	$17.68 \pm 16.51/10.27$	35.07 ± 16.01/25.35
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	(ng/mL)	(6.22 - 44.05)	(3.48 - 52.94)	(23.42 - 60.25)
$\begin{array}{l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l $	Total Plasma nicotine peak	$13.81 \pm 6.97/12.82$	18.97 ± 16.96 /12.16	29.95 ±6.64/25.59
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	(ng/ml)	(5.96 - 31.67)	(4.25 - 54.66)	(9.02 – 14.32)
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	AUC labeled plasma nicotine	$0.73 \pm 0.56 / 0.32$	$0.89 \pm 0.88 / 0.52$	$0.44 \pm 0.11/0.43$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	(ng/mL x h)	(0.36 - 2.29)	(0.20 - 2.91)	(0.30 - 0.60)
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	AUC unlabeled plasma	$7.05 \pm 5.61/5.46$	$8.45 \pm 8.21/5.17$	$12.02 \pm 2.95/10.47$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	nicotine (ng/mL x h)	(3.80 - 22.78)	(1.93 – 27.41)	(8.99 – 15.53)
nicotine (ng/mL x h)a $(3.61 - 22.93)$ $(2.04 - 29.12)$ $(8.45 - 16.81)$ AUC labeled plasma cotinine $3.46 \pm 1.28/3.52$ $4.92 \pm 3.37/3.56$ $3.02 \pm 0.83/2.73$ (ng/mL x h) $(1.47 - 5.58)$ $(1.83 - 9.63)$ $(2.32 - 4.32)$ Calculated AUC total plasma $34.57 \pm 12.75/35.18$ $49.16 \pm 33.71/35.59$ $84.48 \pm 23.35/76.49$ cotinine (ng/mL x h)a $(14.74 - 55.79)$ $(18.28 - 96.29)$ $(64.84 - 120.98)$ AUC labeled saliva cotinine $2.39 \pm 0.97/2.41$ $3.14 \pm 2.41/2.11$ $1.72 \pm 0.63/1.80$ (ng/mL x h) $(0.86 - 4.27)$ $(0.72 - 8.05)$ $(1.02 - 2.55)$ Calculated AUC total saliva $23.89 \pm 9.74/24.07$ $31.39 \pm 24.14/21.09$ $48.18 \pm 17.51/18.01$ cotinine (ng/mL x h)a $(8.61 - 42.74)$ $(7.16 - 80.49)$ $(28.59 - 71.32)$ AUC labeled saliva OH-Cot $0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43$ $0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29$ $0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32$ (ng/mL x h) $(0.00 - 0.89)$ $(0.16 - 0.83)$ $(0.27 - 0.37)$ Calculated AUC total saliva $4.34 \pm 3.03/4.27$ $4.22 \pm 2.71/2.87$ $8.74 \pm 1.20/9.04$ OH-cot (ng/mL x h)a $(0.31 - 1.55)$ $(0.33 - 2.30)$ $(0.36 - 0.70)$ Calculated excretion of total $8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90$ $9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89$ $13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83$ TNE, 0 - 72 h (mg)a $(0.31 - 1.55)$ $(0.32 - 2.30.3)$ $(9.96 - 19.51)$ AUC labeled plasma PG $76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88$ $92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67$ $34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35$ (ng/mL x h) $(43.33 - 104.38)$ $(18.49 - 199.79)$ $(27.45 - 41.05)$ Calculated AUC total	Calculated AUC total plasma	$7.27 \pm 5.63/5.61$	$8.89 \pm 8.75/5.16$	$12.44 \pm 3.01/12.10$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	nicotine (ng/mL x h) ^a	(3.61 – 22.93)	(2.04 – 29.12)	(8.45 - 16.81)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	AUC labeled plasma cotinine	$3.46 \pm 1.28/3.52$	$4.92 \pm 3.37/3.56$	$3.02 \pm 0.83/2.73$
Calculated AUC total plasma cotinine (ng/mL x h)a $34.57 \pm 12.75/35.18$ $(14.74 - 55.79)$ $49.16 \pm 33.71/35.59$ $(18.28 - 96.29)$ $84.48 \pm 23.35/76.49$ 	(ng/mL x h)	(1.47 – 5.58)	(1.83 – 9.63)	(2.32 – 4.32)
cotinine (ng/mL x h)a $(14.74 - 55.79)$ $(18.28 - 96.29)$ $(64.84 - 120.98)$ AUC labeled saliva cotinine $2.39 \pm 0.97/2.41$ $3.14 \pm 2.41/2.11$ $1.72 \pm 0.63/1.80$ (ng/mL x h) $(0.86 - 4.27)$ $(0.72 - 8.05)$ $(1.02 - 2.55)$ Calculated AUC total saliva $23.89 \pm 9.74/24.07$ $31.39 \pm 24.14/21.09$ $48.18 \pm 17.51/18.01$ cotinine (ng/mL x h)a $(8.61 - 42.74)$ $(7.16 - 80.49)$ $(28.59 - 71.32)$ AUC labeled saliva OH-Cot $0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43$ $0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29$ $0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32$ (ng/mL x h) $(0.00 - 0.89)$ $(0.16 - 0.83)$ $(0.27 - 0.37)$ Calculated AUC total saliva $4.34 \pm 3.03/4.27$ $4.22 \pm 2.71/2.87$ $8.74 \pm 1.20/9.04$ OH-cot (ng/mL x h)a $(0.00 - 8.89)$ $(1.64 - 8.29)$ $(7.51 - 10.37)$ Excretion of labeled TNE, $0.86 \pm 0.42/0.79$ $0.93 \pm 0.70/0.59$ $0.48 \pm 0.13/0.42$ $0 - 72$ h (mg) $(0.31 - 1.55)$ $(0.33 - 2.30)$ $(0.36 - 0.70)$ Calculated excretion of total $8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90$ $9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89$ $13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83$ TNE, $0 - 72$ h (mg)a $(3.09 - 15.54)$ $(3.25 - 23.03)$ $(9.96 - 19.51)$ AUC labeled plasma PG $76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88$ $92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67$ $34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35$ (ng/mL x h)a $(0.43 - 1.04)$ $(0.18 - 2.00)$ $(0.77 - 1.15)$ Excretion of labeled PG, $2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97$ $4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70$ $1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33$ $0 -72$ h (mg) $(1.95 - 3.88)$ $(0.85 - 10.47)$ $(0.78 - 1.51)$ Calculated excretion of total 29.4	Calculated AUC total plasma	34.57 ±12.75/35.18	$49.16 \pm 33.71/35.59$	$84.48 \pm 23.35/76.49$
AUC labeled saliva cotinine (ng/mL x h) $2.39 \pm 0.97/2.41$ ($0.86 - 4.27$) $3.14 \pm 2.41/2.11$ ($0.72 - 8.05$) $1.72 \pm 0.63/1.80$ 	cotinine (ng/mL x h) ^a	(14.74 – 55.79)	(18.28 – 96.29)	(64.84 - 120.98)
$\begin{array}{c c} (ng/mL x h) & (0.86 - 4.27) & (0.72 - 8.05) & (1.02 - 2.55) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total saliva cotinine (ng/mL x h)^a & (23.89 \pm 9.74/24.07) & (31.39 \pm 24.14/21.09) & (48.18 \pm 17.51/18.01) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total saliva OH-Cot (0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43) & (0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29) & (0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32) \\ \hline (ng/mL x h) & (0.00 - 0.89) & (0.16 - 0.83) & (0.27 - 0.37) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total saliva OH-cot (ng/mL x h)^a & (0.00 - 8.89) & (1.64 - 8.29) & (7.51 - 10.37) \\ \hline Excretion of labeled TNE, & 0.86 \pm 0.42/0.79 & 0.93 \pm 0.70/0.59 & 0.48 \pm 0.13/0.42 \\ 0 - 72 h (mg) & (0.31 - 1.55) & (0.33 - 2.30) & (0.36 - 0.70) \\ \hline Calculated excretion of total 8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90 & 9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89 & 13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83 \\ TNE, 0 - 72 h (mg)^a & (3.09 - 15.54) & (3.25 - 23.03) & (9.96 - 19.51) \\ AUC labeled plasma PG & 76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88 & 92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67 & 34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35 \\ (ng/mL x h) & (43.33 - 104.38) & (18.49 - 199.79) & (27.45 - 41.05) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total plasma & 0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82 & 0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56 & 0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91 \\ O(.43 - 1.04) & (0.18 - 2.00) & (0.77 - 1.15) \\ \hline Excretion of labeled PG, & 2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97 & 4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70 & 1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33 \\ 0 - 72 h (mg) & (1.95 - 3.88) & (0.85 - 10.47) & (0.78 - 1.51) \\ \hline Calculated excretion of total 29.40 \pm 5.20 & 41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95 & 34.40 \pm 8.20 \\ \hline \end{array}$	AUC labeled saliva cotinine	$2.39 \pm 0.97/2.41$	$3.14 \pm 2.41/2.11$	1.72 ±0.63/1.80
Calculated AUC total saliva cotinine (ng/mL x h) ^a $23.89 \pm 9.74/24.07$ (8.61 - 42.74) $31.39 \pm 24.14/21.09$ (7.16 - 80.49) $48.18 \pm 17.51/18.01$ (28.59 - 71.32)AUC labeled saliva OH-Cot (ng/mL x h) $0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43$ ($0.00 - 0.89$) $0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29$ ($0.16 - 0.83$) $0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32$ ($0.27 - 0.37$)Calculated AUC total saliva OH-cot (ng/mL x h) ^a $4.34 \pm 3.03/4.27$ ($0.00 - 8.89$) $4.22 \pm 2.71/2.87$ ($1.64 - 8.29$) $8.74 \pm 1.20/9.04$ ($7.51 - 10.37$)Excretion of labeled TNE, 0 - 72 h (mg) $0.86 \pm 0.42/0.79$ ($0.31 - 1.55$) $0.93 \pm 0.70/0.59$ ($0.33 - 2.30$) $0.48 \pm 0.13/0.42$ ($0.36 - 0.70$)Calculated excretion of total TNE, $0 - 72$ h (mg) $8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90$ ($3.09 - 15.54$) $9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89$ ($3.25 - 23.03$) $13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83$ ($9.96 - 19.51$)AUC labeled plasma PG reg(µg/mL x h) ^a $0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82$ ($0.43 - 1.04$) $0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56$ ($0.18 - 2.00$) $0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91$ ($0.77 - 1.15$)Excretion of labeled PG, reg(µg/mL x h) ^a $0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82$ ($0.43 - 1.04$) $0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56$ ($0.85 - 10.47$) $0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91$ ($0.78 - 1.51$)Calculated excretion of total regiment and the excretion of labeled PG, regiment and the excretion of total regiment and the excertion of total regiment and the excertion of labeled PG, regiment and the excretion of labeled PG, regiment and the excretion of labeled PG, regiment and the excretion of total regiment and the excretion of	(ng/mL x h)	(0.86 – 4.27)	(0.72 - 8.05)	(1.02 - 2.55)
$\begin{array}{cccc} \hline cotinine (ng/mL x h)^a & (8.61 - 42.74) & (7.16 - 80.49) & (28.59 - 71.32) \\ \hline AUC labeled saliva OH-Cot & 0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43 & 0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29 & 0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32 \\ \hline (ng/mL x h) & (0.00 - 0.89) & (0.16 - 0.83) & (0.27 - 0.37) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total saliva & 4.34 \pm 3.03/4.27 & 4.22 \pm 2.71/2.87 & 8.74 \pm 1.20/9.04 \\ OH-cot (ng/mL x h)^a & (0.00 - 8.89) & (1.64 - 8.29) & (7.51 - 10.37) \\ \hline Excretion of labeled TNE, & 0.86 \pm 0.42/0.79 & 0.93 \pm 0.70/0.59 & 0.48 \pm 0.13/0.42 \\ 0 - 72 h (mg) & (0.31 - 1.55) & (0.33 - 2.30) & (0.36 - 0.70) \\ \hline Calculated excretion of total & 8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90 & 9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89 & 13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83 \\ TNE, 0 - 72 h (mg)^a & (3.09 - 15.54) & (3.25 - 23.03) & (9.96 - 19.51) \\ \hline AUC labeled plasma PG & 76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88 & 92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67 & 34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35 \\ (ng/mL x h) & (43.33 - 104.38) & (18.49 - 199.79) & (27.45 - 41.05) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total plasma & 0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82 & 0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56 & 0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91 \\ PG (µg/mL x h)^a & (0.43 - 1.04) & (0.18 - 2.00) & (0.77 - 1.15) \\ \hline Excretion of labeled PG, & 2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97 & 4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70 & 1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33 \\ 0 - 72 h (mg) & (1.95 - 3.88) & (0.85 - 10.47) & (0.78 - 1.51) \\ \hline Calculated excretion of total & 29.40 \pm 5.20 & 41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95 & 34.40 \pm 8.20 \\ \hline \end{array}$	Calculated AUC total saliva	$23.89 \pm 9.74/24.07$	31.39 ± 24.14/21.09	$48.18 \pm 17.51/18.01$
AUC labeled saliva OH-Cot (ng/mL x h) $0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43$ $(0.00 - 0.89)$ $0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29$ $(0.16 - 0.83)$ $0.31 \pm 0.04/0.32$ $(0.27 - 0.37)$ Calculated AUC total saliva OH-cot (ng/mL x h) ^a $4.34 \pm 3.03/4.27$ $(0.00 - 8.89)$ $4.22 \pm 2.71/2.87$ $(1.64 - 8.29)$ $8.74 \pm 1.20/9.04$ $(7.51 - 10.37)$ Excretion of labeled TNE, $0 - 72$ h (mg) $0.86 \pm 0.42/0.79$ $(0.31 - 1.55)$ $0.93 \pm 0.70/0.59$ $(0.33 - 2.30)$ $0.48 \pm 0.13/0.42$ $(0.36 - 0.70)$ Calculated excretion of total TNE, $0 - 72$ h (mg) ^a $8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90$ $(3.09 - 15.54)$ $9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89$ $(3.25 - 23.03)$ $13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83$ $(9.96 - 19.51)$ AUC labeled plasma PG (ng/mL x h) $76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88$ $(13.33 - 104.38)$ $92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67$ $(18.49 - 199.79)$ $34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35$ $(27.45 - 41.05)$ Calculated AUC total plasma PG (µg/mL x h) ^a $0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82$ $(0.43 - 1.04)$ $0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56$ $(0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91)$ $(0.77 - 1.15)$ Excretion of labeled PG, $0 - 72$ h (mg) $2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97$ $(1.95 - 3.88)$ $41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95$ 34.40 ± 8.20	cotinine (ng/mL x h) ^a	(8.61 – 42.74)	(7.16 – 80.49)	(28.59 – 71.32)
$\begin{array}{c c} (ng/mL x h) & (0.00 - 0.89) & (0.16 - 0.83) & (0.27 - 0.37) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total saliva OH-cot (ng/mL x h)^a & (0.00 - 8.89) & (1.64 - 8.29) & (7.51 - 10.37) \\ \hline Excretion of labeled TNE, 0.86 \pm 0.42/0.79 & 0.93 \pm 0.70/0.59 & 0.48 \pm 0.13/0.42 \\ 0 - 72 h (mg) & (0.31 - 1.55) & (0.33 - 2.30) & (0.36 - 0.70) \\ \hline Calculated excretion of total TNE, 0 - 72 h (mg)^a & (3.09 - 15.54) & (3.25 - 23.03) & (9.96 - 19.51) \\ \hline AUC labeled plasma PG & 76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88 & 92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67 & 34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35 \\ (ng/mL x h) & (43.33 - 104.38) & (18.49 - 199.79) & (27.45 - 41.05) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total plasma PG (0.43 - 1.04) & (0.18 - 2.00) & (0.77 - 1.15) \\ \hline Excretion of labeled PG, & 2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97 & 4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70 & 1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33 \\ 0 - 72 h (mg) & (1.95 - 3.88) & (0.85 - 10.47) & (0.78 - 1.51) \\ \hline Calculated excretion of total 29.40 \pm 5.20 & 41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95 & 34.40 \pm 8.20 \\ \hline \end{array}$	AUC labeled saliva OH-Cot	$0.43 \pm 0.30/0.43$	$0.42 \pm 0.27/0.29$	$0.31 \pm 0.04 / 0.32$
$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{Calculated AUC total saliva} & 4.34 \pm 3.03/4.27 & 4.22 \pm 2.71/2.87 & 8.74 \pm 1.20/9.04 \\ \mbox{OH-cot (ng/mL x h)^a} & (0.00 - 8.89) & (1.64 - 8.29) & (7.51 - 10.37) \\ \hline \mbox{Excretion of labeled TNE,} & 0.86 \pm 0.42/0.79 & 0.93 \pm 0.70/0.59 & 0.48 \pm 0.13/0.42 \\ \mbox{O - 72 h (mg)} & (0.31 - 1.55) & (0.33 - 2.30) & (0.36 - 0.70) \\ \hline \mbox{Calculated excretion of total} & 8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90 & 9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89 & 13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83 \\ \mbox{TNE, 0 - 72 h (mg)^a} & (3.09 - 15.54) & (3.25 - 23.03) & (9.96 - 19.51) \\ \hline \mbox{AUC labeled plasma PG} & 76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88 & 92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67 & 34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35 \\ \mbox{(ng/mL x h)} & (43.33 - 104.38) & (18.49 - 199.79) & (27.45 - 41.05) \\ \hline \mbox{Calculated AUC total plasma} & 0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82 & 0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56 & 0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91 \\ \mbox{G(ug/mL x h)^a} & (0.43 - 1.04) & (0.18 - 2.00) & (0.77 - 1.15) \\ \hline \mbox{Excretion of labeled PG,} & 2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97 & 4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70 & 1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33 \\ \mbox{O - 72 h (mg)} & (1.95 - 3.88) & (0.85 - 10.47) & (0.78 - 1.51) \\ \hline \mbox{Calculated excretion of total} & 29.40 \pm 5.20 & 41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95 & 34.40 \pm 8.20 \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	(ng/mL x h)	(0.00 - 0.89)	(0.16 – 0.83)	(0.27 – 0.37)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Calculated AUC total saliva	$4.34 \pm 3.03/4.27$	$4.22 \pm 2.71/2.87$	$8.74 \pm 1.20/9.04$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	OH-cot (ng/mL x h) ^a	(0.00 - 8.89)	(1.64 - 8.29)	(7.51 – 10.37)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Excretion of labeled TNE,	$0.86 \pm 0.42 / 0.79$	$0.93 \pm 0.70 / 0.59$	0.48 ±0.13/0.42
$\begin{array}{c c} \mbox{Calculated excretion of total} & 8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90 & 9.35 \pm 7.05/5.89 & 13.50 \pm 3.73/11.83 \\ \hline TNE, 0 - 72 \ h \ (mg)^a & (3.09 - 15.54) & (3.25 - 23.03) & (9.96 - 19.51) \\ \hline AUC labeled plasma PG & 76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88 & 92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67 & 34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35 \\ \hline (ng/mL x \ h) & (43.33 - 104.38) & (18.49 - 199.79) & (27.45 - 41.05) \\ \hline Calculated AUC total plasma & 0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82 & 0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56 & 0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91 \\ \hline O(43 - 1.04) & (0.18 - 2.00) & (0.77 - 1.15) \\ \hline Excretion of labeled PG, & 2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97 & 4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70 & 1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33 \\ O - 72 \ h \ (mg) & (1.95 - 3.88) & (0.85 - 10.47) & (0.78 - 1.51) \\ \hline Calculated excretion of total & 29.40 \pm 5.20 & 41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95 & 34.40 \pm 8.20 \\ \hline \end{array}$	0 – 72 h (mg)	(0.31 – 1.55)	(0.33 – 2.30)	(0.36 – 0.70)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Calculated excretion of total	$8.56 \pm 4.16/7.90$	$9.35 \pm 7.05 / 5.89$	$13.50 \pm 3.73 / 11.83$
AUC labeled plasma PG (ng/mL x h) $76.55 \pm 19.08/81.88$ ($43.33 - 104.38$) $92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67$ ($18.49 - 199.79$) $34.22 \pm 5.79/32.35$ ($27.45 - 41.05$)Calculated AUC total plasma PG (µg/mL x h) ^a $0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82$ ($0.43 - 1.04$) $0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56$ ($0.18 - 2.00$) $0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91$ ($0.77 - 1.15$)Excretion of labeled PG, 0 - 72 h (mg) $2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97$ ($1.95 - 3.88$) $4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70$ ($0.85 - 10.47$) $1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33$ ($0.78 - 1.51$)Calculated excretion of total 29.40 ± 5.20 $41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95$ 34.40 ± 8.20	TNE, 0 – 72 h (mg) ^a	(3.09 - 15.54)	(3.25 – 23.03)	(9.96 – 19.51)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	AUC labeled plasma PG	$76.55 \pm 19.08 / 81.88$	$92.85 \pm 77.81/55.67$	34.22 ± 5.79/32.35
$ \begin{array}{c c} \mbox{Calculated AUC total plasma} & 0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82 & 0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56 & 0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91 \\ \mbox{PG } (\mu g/mL x h)^a & (0.43 - 1.04) & (0.18 - 2.00) & (0.77 - 1.15) \\ \mbox{Excretion of labeled PG,} & 2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97 & 4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70 & 1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33 \\ \mbox{0} - 72 h (mg) & (1.95 - 3.88) & (0.85 - 10.47) & (0.78 - 1.51) \\ \mbox{Calculated excretion of total} & 29.40 \pm 5.20 & 41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95 & 34.40 \pm 8.20 \\ \end{array} $	(ng/mL x h)	(43.33 – 104.38)	(18.49 – 199.79)	(27.45 - 41.05)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Calculated AUC total plasma	$0.77 \pm 0.19/0.82$	$0.93 \pm 0.78/0.56$	$0.96 \pm 0.16/0.91$
Excretion of labeled PG, $0-72 h (mg)$ $2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97$ $(1.95-3.88)$ $4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70$ $(0.85-10.47)$ $1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33$ $(0.78-1.51)$ Calculated excretion of total 29.40 ± 5.20 $41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95$ 34.40 ± 8.20	PG $(\mu g/mL x h)^a$	(0.43 - 1.04)	(0.18 - 2.00)	(0.77 - 1.15)
$\begin{array}{c ccccc} 0 - 72 \ h \ (mg) & (1.95 - 3.88) & (0.85 - 10.47) & (0.78 - 1.51) \\ \hline Calculated \ excretion \ of \ total & 29.40 \pm 5.20 & 41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95 & 34.40 \pm 8.20 \\ \hline \end{array}$	Excretion of labeled PG.	$2.94 \pm 0.52/2.97$	$4.16 \pm 3.51/2.70$	$1.23 \pm 0.29/1.33$
Calculated excretion of total 29.40 ± 5.20 $41.63 \pm 35.16/26.95$ 34.40 ± 8.20	0 - 72 h (mg)	(1.95 – 3.88)	(0.85 - 10.47)	(0.78 - 1.51)
	Calculated excretion of total	29.40 ± 5.20	41.63 ± 35.16/26.95	34.40 ± 8.20
PG, $0 - 72 h (mg)^a$ (19.52 - 38.79) (8.46 - 104.73) (21.82 - 42.38)	$PG, 0 - 72 h (mg)^{a}$	(19.52 - 38.79)	(8.46 – 104.73)	(21.82 - 42.38)

Table 31: Results for the three subgroups in Part A of the clinical study, mean ± SD / Median (range)

^a: 'Total' comprises labeled + unlabeled biomarkers and is calculated by multiplying the value for the labeled analyte with 10 for vapers (based on the ratio in the e-liquid). For cigarette smokers, the nicotine-derived biomarkers were multiplied with 28 (ratio based on AUC for plasma nicotine of smokers: unlabeled + labeled/labeled)

^b: Significance level for difference between vapers, 10 W and vapers, 18 W: *: p<0.05 ^c: Significance level for difference between all vapers (10 W and 18 W) and smokers: +: p<0.05

		Day -1	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3
E-Liquid consu	umption		$1.81 \pm 1.33/1.76$	$1.69 \pm 1.35/1.88$	$1.58 \pm 1.29 / 1.56$
(g/d)		-	(0.08 - 4.54)	(0.19 - 4.65)	(0.09 - 4.31)
Wattage set up	(W)		$10.93 \pm 4.00/10.00$	$10.99 \pm 4.06/10.00$	$10.62 \pm 3.72/10.00$
		-	(6.33 - 20.00)	(5.00 - 20.00)	(5.00 - 20.00)
Labeled plasm	a nicotine	0.0	$0.96 \pm 0.98/0.71$	$0.84 \pm 0.92/0.43$	$0.90 \pm 1.00/0.49$
(ng/mL)		0.0	(0.00 - 3.81)	(0 - 2.99)	(0.00 - 3.44)
Unlabeled plas	ma	$14.19 \pm 12.07/11.92$	15.47 ± 13.26/9.82	$13.53 \pm 10.91/11.84$	$14.49 \pm 13.47/11.53$
nicotine (ng/m	L)	(0.00 - 36.95)	(0.38 - 38.33)	(0.32 - 34.51)	(1.42 - 46.44)
Total plasma n	icotine		$9.58 \pm 9.78/7.10$	8.43 + 9.19/4.25	9.04 + 10.03/4.90
$(ng/mL)^{a}$		0.00	(0 - 38.10)	(0.00 - 29.90)	(0 - 34.40)
Labeled plasm	a cotinine		3.34 + 2.68/3.44	3.75 + 3.17/2.96	4.16 + 3.56/3.87
(ng/mL)		0.00	(0.24 - 8.75)	(0.42 - 10.74)	(0.17 - 9.53)
Unlabeled plas	ma	193 84 + 165 41/162 56	$204.69 \pm 152.44/193.28$	$183.99 \pm 130.87/142.14$	$202.67 \pm 162.73/183.71$
cotinine (ng/m	L)	(20.16 - 730.51)	(1954 - 57202)	(21.05 - 428.43)	(11.92 - 581.89)
Total plasma c	otinine	(20.10 750.51)	(1).5+ (5)(2.02) 33.43 + 26.80/34.40	37.52 + 31.70/29.65	$41.46 \pm 35.59/38.70$
(ng/mL) ^a	ounne	0.00	(2.40 - 87.50)	(4.20 - 107.40)	(1.70 - 95.30)
(lig/iliL)	• DC		(2.40 - 87.50)	(4.20 - 107.40)	(1.70 - 95.50)
Labeleu plasin	aru	0.00	(0.00 - 0.41)	(0.00, 0.26)	(0.00 - 0.20)
(μg/mL)	DC	11.25 . 10.95/5.47	(0.00 - 0.41)	(0.00 - 0.36)	(0.00 - 0.39)
Unlabeled plas	sma PG	$11.25 \pm 18.86/6.47$	$5./4 \pm 6./1/3.18$	$6.18 \pm 6.05/3.89$	$10.81 \pm 18.62/4.22$
(µg/mL)	~	(0.48 - 80.12)	(0.49 - 28.76)	(0.56 - 21.16)	(1.37 - 82.92)
Total plasma P	'G	0.00	$1.15 \pm 1.05/0.80$	$1.10 \pm 1.14/0.70$	$1.41 \pm 1.19/1.20$
(µg/mL) ^a			(0.00-4.10)	(0.00 - 3.60)	(0.00-3.90)
Labeled TNE	Morning	_	$0.36 \pm 0.94 / 0.12$	$0.42 \pm 0.43/0.36$	$0.47 \pm 0.47/0.41$
(mg/g crea)	moning		(0.01 - 4.20)	(0.02 - 1.88)	(0.03 - 1.95)
	Evening	0.00	$0.27 \pm 0.24/0.21$	$0.47 \pm 0.48 / 0.34$	0.51 - 0.49/0.43
	Lvening	0.00	(0.02 - 1.01)	(0.04 - 1.81)	(0.04 - 1.55)
Unlabeled	Morning	-	$15.72 \pm 27.64/7.16$	$8.37 \pm 7.20/6.28$	$8.53 \pm 5.67 / 7.72$
TNE			(1.01 - 119.20)	(0.57 - 24.52)	(0.48 - 21.20)
(mg/g crea)	Evening	$10.00 \pm 7.20/7.04$	$10.16 \pm 7.53/8.30$	$9.50 \pm 8.10/6.88$	$9.87 \pm 6.82/8.32$
	U	(1.16 - 27.67)	(1.16 - 26.19)	(0.86 - 31.50)	(1.23 - 26.42)
Total TNE			$3.56 \pm 9.40/1.16$	$4.18 \pm 4.32/3.63$	$4.67 \pm 4.75/4.09$
(mg/g crea) ^a	Morning	-	(0.06 - 42.05)	(0.17 - 18.84)	(0.27 - 19.53)
× 88 · · · ·			2.73 + 2.37/2.05	4.65 + 4.82/3.41	5.12 + 4.87/4.27
	Evening	0.00	(0.23 - 10.05)	(0.38 - 18.09)	(0.41 - 15.47)
Labeled	Morning	_	$1.35 \pm 1.22/1.13$	$2.61 \pm 2.32/2.86$	$2.51 \pm 2.88/0.97$
cotinine in	moning		(0.09 - 3.87)	(0.21 - 9.14)	(0.00 - 9.48)
saliva	Evening	0.00	1.72 + 1.32/1.68	$2.02 \pm 1.86/1.10$	$2.60 \pm 2.36/2.20$
(ng/mI)	Evening	0.00	(0.17 4.62)	$(0.02 \pm 1.80/1.10)$	(0.11 7.50)
(lig/lilL)	Morning		(0.17 - 4.02) 127 82 ± 105 77/111 08	(0.02 - 0.09) 122 67 ± 108 20/108 00	(0.11 - 7.50) 121 81 ± 105 81/81 10
ontining in	Monning	-	(12.82 - 270.24)	(200 - 248.62)	(0.07 - 210.61)
	F	121 41 + 107 05/116 90	(13.85 - 379.24)	(8.00 - 348.02)	(0.07 - 519.01)
saliva	Evening	$131.41 \pm 107.03/110.80$	$120.89 \pm 92.40/108.39$	$125.53 \pm 102.09/104.59$	$151.32 \pm 95.27/119.58$
		(8.93 - 383.70)	(10.32 - 322.71)	(7.32 - 408.89)	(0.91 - 330.22)
Total	Morning	-	$13.32 \pm 12.22/11.30$	$20.09 \pm 23.17/28.00$	$25.06 \pm 28.79/9.70$
cotinine in	-		(0.90 - 38.70)	(2.10 - 91.40)	(0.00 - 94.80)
saliva	Evening	0.00	$17.23 \pm 13.16/16.80$	$20.15 \pm 18.62/11.00$	$25.97 \pm 23.65/22.00$
(ng/mL)"			(1.70 - 46.20)	(0.20 - 60.90)	(1.10 - 75.00)
Labeled OH-	Morning	-	$0.27 \pm 0.36 / 0.14$	$0.63 \pm 0.84/0.39$	$0.64 \pm 0.91/0.22$
cot in saliva			(0.00 - 1.56)	(0.00 - 3.61)	(0.00 - 3.77)
(ng/mL)	Evening	0.00	$0.29 \pm 0.27/0.19$	$0.48 \pm 0.55/0.22$	$0.63 \pm 0.68/0.29$
			(0.00 - 0.85)	(0.00 - 2.17)	(0.00 - 2.39)
Unlabeled	Morning	-	$22.06 \pm 18.95/14.77$	$20.96 \pm 18.95/18.56$	$19.71 \pm 18.49/16.78$
OH-cot in			(0.20 - 76.54)	(0.25 – 73.13)	(0.00 - 78.62)
saliva	Evening	$19.35 \pm 13.27/17.99$	$18.08 \pm 13.43/15.93$	$19.19 \pm 15.82/17.16$	$22.11 \pm 16.75/19.79$
(ng/mL)		(0.23 - 53.03)	(0.27 – 48.94)	(0.24 - 53.81)	(0.20 - 62.10)
Total OU act	Morning		$2.72 \pm 3.64 / 1.40$	$6.28 \pm 8.44 / 3.90$	$6.39 \pm 9.08/2.20$
in calivo	worning	-	(0.00 - 15.60)	(0.00 - 36.10)	(0.00 - 37.70)
$(ng/mI)^a$	Evening	0.00	$2.86 \pm 2.71 / 1.90$	$4.77 \pm 5.53/2.20$	$6.31 \pm 6.83/2.90$
(ing/init)	Evening	0.00	(0.00 - 8.50)	(0.00 - 21.70)	(0.00 - 23.90)

Table 32: Results for 19 vapers in Part B of the clinical study, mean ± SD/Median (range)

Labeled PG	Morning	-	$2.48 \pm 6.77/0.82$	$1.70 \pm 2.29 / 0.89$	$1.19 \pm 1.52/0.75$
(mg/g crea)			(0.08 - 30.26)	(0.00 - 9.80)	(0.00 - 5.10)
	Evening	0.00	$1.95 \pm 1.57/1.31$	$2.11 \pm 2.17/1.48$	$1.87 \pm 1.66/1.10$
			(0.28 - 5.87)	(0.10 - 8.50)	(0.00 - 4.72)
Unlohalad	Morning	-	$57.66 \pm 120.52/13.54$	$158.07 \pm 534.55/14.12$	$68.39 \pm 167.62/17.64$
DC (ma/a	Morning		(1.20 - 496.98)	(0.52 - 2344.21)	(1.84 - 704.84)
PG (IIIg/g	Evening	$116.20 \pm 276.42/40.25$	$56.47 \pm 67.72/37.05$	$72.70 \pm 102.15/35.26$	$112.20 \pm 207.47/34.53$
ciea)	Evening	(1.24 - 1236.53)	(4.83 – 292.34)	(3.84 - 404.20)	(3.24 - 863.32)
	Morning		$24.80 \pm 67.69 / 8.17$	$16.99 \pm 22.92/8.94$	$11.94 \pm 15.17/7.51$
Total PG	Morning	-	(0.84 - 302.62)	(0.00 - 98.03)	(0.00 - 50.89)
(mg/g crea) ^a	Evening	0.00	$19.52 \pm 15.70/13.14$	$21.05 \pm 21.68/14.77$	$18.70 \pm \! 16.61 / \! 11.04$
	Evening	0.00	(2.76 - 58.72)	(0.96 - 84.99)	(0.00 - 47.17)
a (TC / 1)	. 111	1 1 1 1 11 1	1 1 1 1 1 11	1 1 1 0 1 11	1 1 1 1 1 10 0

Table 32 Continuation: Results for 19 vapers in Part B of the clinical study, mean ± SD/Median (range)

^a: 'Total' comprises labeled + unlabeled biomarkers and is calculated by multiplying the value for the labeled analyte with 10 for vapers (based on the ratio in the e-liquid). For cigarette smokers, the nicotine-derived biomarkers were multiplied with 28 (ratio based on AUC for plasma nicotine of smokers: unlabeled + labeled/labeled)

Isotopic correction

Table 33: Correction of the contribution of ¹²C-isotopes to the ¹³C-labeled metabolites using the isotopic distribution calculator in Analyst 1.6.3 (SCIEX, Darmstadt, Germany) and the experimental value derived from the calibration curve with native reference standards. The analytes are grouped by method.

		Isotopic distribution	Experimental
	Fragment	calculator (theoretical)	
		[%]	[%]
Nicotine-d ₇ in nicotine	C ₉ H ₉ N	0.0	0.0
Cotinine-d ₇ in cotinine	C ₅ H ₅ N	0.0	0.0
OH-cotinine-d ₇ in OH-cotinine	C ₅ H ₅ N	0.0	0.0
Nornicotine-d ₄ in nornicotine	C ₉ H ₈ N	0.0	0.0
Norcotinine-d ₄ in norcotinine	C ₅ H ₅ N	0.0	0.0
Nicotine-N-oxide-d ₇ in nicotine-N- oxide	C ₉ H ₇ N	0.0	0.0
Cotinine-N-oxide-d ₇ in cotinine-N- oxide	C ₅ H ₅ N	0.0	0.0
Nicotine-N-glucuronide-d ₇ in nicotine-N-glucuronide	$C_{10}H_{14}N_2$	0.0	0.0
Cotinine-N-glucuronide-d7incotinine-N-glucuronide	C ₁₀ H ₁₂ N ₂ O	0.0	0.0
OH-cotinine-N-glucuronide-d ₇ in OH-cotinine-N-glucuronide	$C_{10}H_{12}N_2O_2$	0.0	0.0
Hydroxy-(pyridyl)-butanoic acid-d ₄ in hydroxy-(pyridyl)-butanoic acid	C ₇ H ₉ N	0.0	0.0
¹³ C-TCA in TCA	C ₇ H ₁₂ NO ₂ S	9.1	8.8
¹³ C ₂ -MTCA in MTCA	C ₈ H ₁₄ NO ₂ S	5.3	5.4
¹³ C-TCG in TCG	C ₇ H ₁₂ NO ₂ S	9.1	9.0
¹³ C ₂ -MTCG in MTCG	C ₈ H ₁₄ NO ₂ S	5.3	5.3
¹³ C-formaldehyde-DNPH in formaldehyde-DMPH	C ₇ H ₅ N ₃ O ₂	9.0	8.6
¹³ C ₂ -acetaldehyde-DNPH in acetaldehyde-DNPH	$C_8H_8N_4O_4$	1.3	0.3
¹³ C ₃ -acetone-DNPH in acetone- DNPH	$C_9H_{10}N_4O_4$	0.1	0.5
¹³ C ₃ -acrolein-DNPH in acrolein- DNPH	$C_9H_8N_4O_4$	0.1	0.3
¹³ C ₃ -propionaldehyde-DNPH in propionaldehyde-DNPH	C ₉ H ₁₀ N ₄ O ₄	0.1	0.3

$^{13}C_2$ -crotonaldehyde-DNPH in	CUNO	1.5	1.0
crotonaldehyde-DNPH	$C_{10}H_{10}N_4O_4$	1.5	1.0
¹³ C ₂ -crotonaldehyde-DNPH in	CUNO	0.0	0.1
crotonaldehyde-DNPH	$C_{10}H_{10}N_4O_4$	0.0	0.1
¹³ C ₂ -methacrolein-DNPH in	CUNO	1.5	0.8
methacrolein-DNPH	$C_{10}H_{10}N_4O_4$	1.5	0.8
¹³ C ₂ -methacrolein-DNPH in	CUNO	0.0	0.0
methacrolein-DNPH	$C_{10}H_{10}N_4O_4$	0.0	0.0
NAB-d ₄ in NAB	$C_{10}H_{13}N_2$	0.0	0.0
NAT-d ₄ in NAT	$C_{10}H_{11}N_2$	0.0	0.0
NNAL-d7 in NNAL	C ₁₀ H ₁₄ NO	0.0	0.0
NNK-d ₇ in NNK	C ₇ H ₇ N ₀	0.0	0.0
NNN-d ₄ in NNN	C ₉ H ₁₁ N ₂	0.0	0.0
Derivatized ¹³ C ₃ -PG in derivatized	C II O	0.0	0.0
PG	$C_{10}\Pi_{10}O_2$	0.0	0.0
Derivatized ${}^{13}C_3$ -G in derivatized G	$C_{17}H_{14}O_4$	0.0	0.0
¹³ C ₂ -HEMA in HEMA	C_2H_4OS	4.2	5.6
¹³ C ₂ -HMPMA in HMPMA	C ₄ H ₈ OS	4.7	6.5
¹³ C ₄ -HMPMA in HMPMA	C ₄ H ₈ OS	0.0	0.0
¹³ C ₃ -2-HPMA in 2-HPMA	C ₃ H ₆ OS	0.1	0.4
¹³ C ₃ -3-HPMA in 3-HPMA	C ₃ H ₆ OS	0.1	0.2
¹³ C ₃ -DHPMA in DHPMA	C ₃ H ₆ O ₂ S	0.1	0.2